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2016 in brief
Important events

Customers demanded
hedging and risk
management services
throughout the year.

Prospera’s survey
ranked SEB as
number 1 in custo-
mer satisfaction
among Nordic
tier 1 large corpora-
tions and Nordic
tier 1 financial
institutions.

As the only Nordic bank,
SEBwas included in the
Dow Jones Sustainability
Index.

SEB increased
corporate and
property
management
lending and
commitments
by SEK 134bn.

Operating expenses
increased due to a
goodwill impairment
of SEK 5,334m.

SEB paid SEK 1,362m in
regulatory fees for finan-
cial stability purposes.

2016 2015

Operating income, SEKm 43,771 43,763
Operating profit, SEKm 14,867 20,865
Return on equity, per cent 7.8 12.2
Cost/income ratio 0.63 0.50
Earnings per share, SEK 4.88 7.57
Proposed dividend, SEK 5.50 5.25
Common Equity Tier 1 capital ratio, per cent 18.8 18.8
Leverage ratio, per cent 5.1 4.9
Liquidity Coverage Ratio (LCR), per cent 168 128

Keyfigures

Subsequent to year-end
2016,Annika Falkengren,
SEB’s president and CEO,
announced her decision
to leave the bank.Her
successor will be Johan
Torgeby, currently division
head in SEB.



Whowe are
Our commitment to create value for our customers is based
on a tradition of entrepreneurship, international outlook and
long-term perspective.As a bankwe have an important role
to play in the shift to amore sustainableworld.

Our purpose
We believe that entrepreneurial
minds and innovative companies are
key to creating a better world.We are
here to enable them to achieve their
aspirations and succeed through
good times and bad.

Our vision
To deliver world-class service
to our customers.

Our strategic
priorities
• Leading customer experience
• Maintaining resilience
and flexibility

• Growing in areas of strength

160
years in the service

of enterprise

Our financial targets
Outcome

2016 1)
Outcome

2015 1)

Dividend payout ratio
at 40 per cent or more
of earnings per share

75% 2) 66%

Common Equity Tier 1 capital
ratio of around 150
basis points over requirement

18.8% 3) 18.8%

Return on equity
competitive with peers 11.3% 4) 12.9%

1) Outcome excludes items affecting comparability. See p. 30.
2) Outcome incl. items affecting comparability is 113%.

Dividend proposal: SEK 5.50 per share (5.25).
3) Regulatory requirement at year-end 2016: 16.9%.
4) Outcome incl. items affecting comparability is 7.8%.

1) Excluding items affecting comparability.
2) Compound Annual Growth Rate (CAGR).

Operating profitExpensesIncome
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What we do
SEBplays an active part in the development of the societies in
which the bank is operating bybuilding strong customer relation-
ships. In Sweden and the Baltic countriesweofferfinancial advice
andawide rangeoffinancial services. In Denmark, Finland,
NorwayandGermany,our operations have a strong focus
on a full-service offering to corporate and institutional clients.

…comprehensive services...

In areas like:
– Commercial banking
– Investment banking
– Advisory services
– Long-term savings
– Life insurance
– Payments
– Financing

…and various channels…

219
branch offices in Sweden
and the Baltic countries

2.4
transactions online per home
bank customer per week

3.0
mobile bank transactions per
home bank customer per week

20
international sites

24/7
telephone bank services

200
client executives for large
corporates and institutions

…via SEB’smanagement of its business...

Strategy Resilience

Service

IT Risk

Governance

In meeting the requirements
and expectations from
customers, shareholders,
employees and society at large...

SEB– the leading
Nordic corporatebank

0 20 40 60 80 100

Share of income 2016, % SEB Nordic peers

Large corporates
and institutions 42 27
Life insurance (unit-linked) 10 4
Asset management 10 10
Retail banking 38 59

1) Income breakdown for Swedbank, SHB, Nordea,
Danske Bank and DNB. Business units only (indicative).

SEB

Nordic
peers1)

…value is created

SEB's total
contribution SEK57.0bn

Interest paid
to customers

Dividends paid
to 276,000
shareholders

Salaries, pensions
and benefits to
15,300 employees

Payments to
12,300 suppliers

Taxes and social
charges

Regulatory fees

16.5

11.9

12.0

8.3

6.9
1.4



This is SEB

Customers always come first. Our committed and
experienced 15,300 employeeswork as a team to serve
our customers.

Whomwe serve

Private
individuals
SEB has approximately 4 million
private individuals among its
customers in Sweden and the Baltic
countries. Of these some 1.4 million
are home bank customers.

Small andmedium
sized companies
In all, SEB serves approximately
400,000 small and mediumsized
companies in Sweden and the Baltic
countries. Of these, some 267,000
are home bank customers.

2,300
large corporations

Large
corporations
SEB’s corporate customers in the
Nordic region are among the largest
in their respective industries. In
Germany they range from large mid
corporates to large multinationals.

700
financial institutions

Financial
institutions
SEB’s institutional clients operate
both in the Nordic countries and
internationally.

1.4
million home bank customers

267,000
home bank customers



yearswe have seen increased uncertainty in
terms of subdued growth and negative inter-
est rates, calls for protectionism, changing
regulatory framework for banks, geopoliti-
cal tension andmajor political events
having unexpected outcomes such as the EU
referendumonBrexit in theUK. At the same
time, the transformative technological shift
is reshaping all businesses, disrupting
whole or parts of existing businessmodels
and lowering costs. In this environment,
SEB stands strong and can support its
customers.

Annika Falkengren, our departing CEO,
who has been at the helmof SEB formore
than 11 years, has done a tremendous job
togetherwith thewhole SEB team. She
successfully navigated SEB through the
global financial crisis and set a clear stra-
tegy forwardwhich she and the teamde-
livered onwith a unique commitment. On
behalf of the Board of Directors, Iwould
like to express our deep appreciation of her
work for close to 30 years for SEB.

SEB’s direction going forward remains
the same. Our three-year business plan
includes continued growth in core areas of
strength aswell as a clear transformation
agenda in order to capture the full oppor-
tunities of digitalisation.Wemaintain our

Our aim is to create long-term value
for our customers and thus generate
a sustainable and competitive
return for our shareholders.
As a leading corporate bank, founded 160
years ago in the service of enterprise,we in
SEB knowhow important it is to always
take a long-termperspective in everything
we do. Therefore,we safeguard a sound
financial positionwith strong capital and
liquidity buffers.We continuouslywork to
instil the highest standards for corporate
governance and business conduct.

We strongly believe in attracting people
who are both guided and inspired by our
values in their dailywork.We continuously
strive to adapt and develop our services in
close partnershipwith our customers so
thatwe can be proactive andmeet their
long-termneeds.We are convinced that by
doing sowe can live up to our ambition to
create long-term value for our customers
and thereby over time for you, our share-
holders. In 2016, total shareholder return
reached 14 per cent.

My belief is that taking this long-term
perspective is evenmore critical as the
world, and thus the business environment,
is becomingmore complex. Over the past

financial targets and long-term aspiration to
reach a return on equity of 15 per cent.

SEB’s succession planning has allowed
the Board to identify and appoint Johan
Torgeby as the bank’s next President and
CEO. Togetherwith Johan, themanagement
teamand all employees, SEB is determined
to deliver the vision ofworld-class service
and thus continue to build long-term share-
holder value.

Stockholm, February 2017

MarcusWallenberg
Chairman of the Board

» In an environment of
uncertainty SEB stands
strong and can support
its customers. «

SEB’s strategy
remains the same

SEB Annual Report 20162
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The year 2016marked the start of
a new business plan focused on
growth and transformation.

Lookingbackatmy tenure as the chief execu-
tive of this fantastic bank, Imust say it has
been an era of somany different – and all of
them exceptional – economic phases. The
first yearswere characterised by abundant
liquidity, rapid credit growth and distorted
risk-return rewards. By nowwe all know
how it ended. The deep global financial
crisiswith the acute phase following the
crash of LehmanBrothers in 2008, had
immense effects not only for the financial
system, but also for the real economy. Still
today, real global growth is not firing on all
cylinders, despite years of unconventional
monetary policywithmassive quantitative
easing programmes and even negative inter-
est rates.

In SEB,we have always been guided by
two principles:maintaining resilience
and flexibility, and staying close to our cus-
tomers. Through a strong balance sheet and
sufficient liquidity reserves,we can support
our customers in good times and bad,while
continuously developing services tomake
the customer experience evenmore con-
venient.

In the past year, the shiftingmarket environ-
ment continued to impact customer behav-
iour. Customers’ demand for advisory and
riskmanagement services remained. As
business sentiment grewmore positive
towards the end of the year, event-driven
large corporate credit demand rose and SEB
participated in a number of public equity
listings in theNordic region. However, the
low interest rate environment pushedmany
financial institutions tomove further out
on the risk curve and into less liquid invest-
ments. Both in Sweden and in the Baltic
countrieswe supported domestically
focused SMEs as they showed a growing
willingness to invest.

The shifting demographic trendswith
increasingly ageing populations increase
the needs for long-term savings. Customers
appreciated our holistic savings offering,
which nowalso includes traditional life
insurance. SEB has taken an industry-
leading approach as both private individuals
and institutional clients have higher
demands for sustainability-focused
investments.

The banking industry, just like all indus-
tries, has had to revisit businessmodels
following digitalisation and the rapidly
changing customer behaviours. Thus, 2016

marked the beginning of a three-year busi-
ness plan for SEB reflecting our belief that
going forward customer orientation and
digitalisationwill increase in importance.
We are changing ourways ofworking and
have invested in and launched new
customer interfaces in all segments, aswell
as a number of new services including
remote advice.

Iwould like to take this opportunity to
thank all employees and customers for their
commitment to and trust in SEB all through
these years. It has been lots of hardwork,
butmost of all it has beenmore than eleven
years of passion for SEB. I know that the
whole great SEB teamwill – step by step –
continue to deliver on our vision ofworld-
class service.

Stockholm, February 2017

Annika Falkengren
President and Chief Executive Officer

Worldclass
service
» Thewhole SEB team
will, step by step,
continue to deliver
on our vision. «

SEB Annual Report 2016 3
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Macro
environment
Threemajor global trends are impacting banks’ operating environment.
Customer behaviour and expectations are changingwith the digital
transformation. Global growth,with lowor negative interest rates and
new regulatory requirements, remains uncertain. Demands on banks to
take responsibility for amore sustainableworld are higher.



The global economy remained uncertain
following a number of unexpected
economic and political events during 2016.
However, therewere clear signs of economic
turnaround. Initiatives for infrastructure
investmentswere taken. The increase inUS
interest ratesmay have been a starting point
for a shift away from the very lowor nega-
tive interest rates, eventually leading to
discontinuing the central banks’massive
quantitative easing programmes. The

Complexity in
the macro environment

record-high global debt remains to be
managed for a long time, however.

The referendum in theUnitedKingdom
resulting in the favour of Brexit aswell as
the presidential election in theUnited
States contributed to increased uncertainty
around international trade and political
stability. A rapid increase in populist,
nationalist and protectionist forceswas also
seen in 2016 in a number of countries.

Conflicts and uncertainty inmany parts
of theworld have resulted inmajorwaves
ofmigration that are creating tension.

Rapid digital
transformation

The rapid technical development
is a new industrial revolution
Digitalisation is leading to new customer
behaviours and newbusinessmodels are
rewriting themap for society,many in-
dustries and for private individuals – so
too for the financial sector.

Customers expect accessible and con-
venient services. Digitalisation provides
ample opportunity to create newand easy-
to-use niche services for payments, savings
and lending. One example is the highly
successfulmobile payment service, Swish,
which is owned by the Swedish bank sector.
The transformation is putting demands on
faster development, simplified processes
and increased automation in the banking
sector andwill, over time, result in substan-
tial efficiencymeasures.

Flexible and agile companieswhich lack
heavy infrastructure and are not burdened
by the same rules and regulations as banks
are entering the financialmarkets. These
fintech companies also represent an oppor-
tunity for the financial sector and there are
many examples of partnerships building on
traditional banks’ infrastructure that lead
to innovative and effective solutions for the
customers.

There is substantial underlying public
trust in traditional universal banks and they
offer customers comprehensive solutions
and a total viewof their financial situation.
Building on this trust, SEB is striving to
meet the increasing expectations of the
customers.
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The new financial regulations that continue to be developed are creating
uncertainty about economic development, since no one today has
assessed the total effect of all rules and regulations.

Standardised risk-weights may
increase lending rates
The new, standardised risk-weight floor that
is currently being discussed by the Basel
Committee poses a challenge to theNordic
banking system,which is successfully using
individual risk classifications to assess its
capital needs.

A standardised risk-weight floor accord-
ing to theBasel Committee’s recommenda-
tion removes the incentive to use sound risk
principles,where low riskmeans lower
interest rates for the customer andhigh risk
means higher interest rates for the customer.
Thiswould lead to a dramatic rise in capital
needs inNordic banks. This, in turn,would
lead to higher rates for corporate lending,
which in turnwould have a direct impact on
growth in the real economy.

In January 2017 the Basel Committee
announced that it is postponing the publica-
tion of the risk-weight floor rules until
further notice. In a longer perspective the
uncertainty remains.

Proposed new financial tax
In the opinion of the Swedish government
banks are insufficiently taxed because
financial services are VAT-exempt. There-
fore, a 15 per cent tax onwages and benefits
that relate to the VAT-exempt financial
services is proposed. In addition, the tax
is proposed to be non-tax deductible.

If implemented, the taxwould affect not
only the financial sector but also companies
that run treasury departments and the
fintech sector.

According to calculations provided by the
Swedish Bankers’ Association asmany as
16,000 jobs in Swedenwould be threatened
if these planswere in fact carried out, since
jobsmay bemoved abroad in order to lower
staff costs.

The total estimated effect from the
proposal under discussion on SEB is around
SEK700mper year in additional costs.

New regulations
create uncertainty

The Basel Committee

Stabilising the
financial sector

Regulatory requirements on banks in
Sweden are among the strictest in theworld.
Recent Swedish regulations are designed
to further stabilise the Swedish financial
sector and further ensure banks’ contri-
bution to society.

Based on experiences fromprevious
financial crises, national governments
have established so-called resolution funds
with the purpose to finance potential future
support from the government to credit insti-
tutions.

Similarly, deposit guarantees provide
protection for retail depositors in case of
bank default.

Financial contributions
In Sweden, banks contribute to the resolu-
tion fund for stability purposes and to the
national deposit guarantee scheme.

In 2016, SEB’s total regulatory feeswere
SEK 1.4bn. In 2017,when the full resolution
fee is charged, the bank expects the fees to
amount to SEK2.1bn, the absolutemain part
ofwhich are paid in Sweden.

Risk of unfair competition

Interest on subordinated debt that quali-
fies as additional tier 1 capital and tier 2
capital is no longer deductible for
income tax purposes. The reason is that
such debt is considered to be part of
banks’ capital base and therefore should
be treated as capital for tax purposes.

Since thiswould be a tax on Swedish
banks only there is a risk of unfair
competition in relation to international
financial institutions.

The additional tax on SEB is estimated
to around SEK360m in 2017 and SEK
300m in 2018 and thereafter.

SEB Annual Report 20166
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The role of business in the shift to a
more sustainable world wasmani-
fested for the first time in 2015
when the UN 17 global sustainable
development goals were signed and
the global and legally binding
climate agreement was adopted at
the COP21meeting in Paris.

The business sector contributes to thework
with the 17 global sustainable development
goals that have been set by theUN. The
goals span awide range, frompoverty eradi-
cation to promotion of health, prosperity
and economic growth. For each goal there
are specific targets to be achieved over the
next 15 years. To reach these targets, all
partiesmust do their part, governments,
business and industry aswell as civil soci-
ety. SEBwas one of the 400 companies
which signed a global petition in support of
the climate agreement and the bank has
revised its position on climate changewith a

clear ambition to be involved and contribute
to limiting globalwarming towell below
2degrees Celsius.

The financial sector has a key role to play
in channelling investment capital to infra-
structure and fossil-free energy systems. In
doing so companies are not only helping to
address the climate threat – they also have
better prospects for sustainable growth and
thus better returns.
See also SEB’s Sustainability Report 2016.

Most countries are facing significant demo-
graphic challenges posed by ageing popula-
tions.

The dependency burden for the actively
working portion of the population is grow-
ing,which strains social security systems.
There is a growing realisation that individu-
als themselves need to take greater respon-
sibility for their financial security through
savings and insurance solutions. In this area
the financial sector canmake a contribution
by providing easily accessible advice and
long-term investment services.

Demographic
challenges

Shift to a more
sustainable world

Sustainable development goals

Stakeholder dialogue

Financialmarketsareat thecoreofcreating
economicandsocial value inamodern
society.Herebanksplayakeyrole.

SEBmaintains an active dialogue not
onlywith customers and employees but
alsowith other stakeholders such as share-
holders, suppliers, government agencies,
legislators and representatives of the local
communities in placeswhere SEB oper-
ates. In this dialogue, SEB has identified
the issues that aremost important for
stakeholders aswell as for the bank. They

are in agreement and are in linewith the
bank’s strategic direction on the base of
riskmanagement, financial strength and
resilience.

Mutual issues are:
• providing fulfilling customer experience

and good service

• maintaining high standards of business
ethics and IT security

• contributing to a society characterised
by innovation and resource efficiency.

Society

EmployeesCustomers

Shareholders

SEB Annual Report 2016 7
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SEB creates value

Meeting stakeholders’ expectations via SEB’s management of its business

Customer centricity, long-term perspectives and financial strength form
the foundation for meeting the expectations of customers, employees and
society at large. Ultimately, this creates value for the shareholders.

1.6 million corporate
and private customers
The customers’ needs are at the core of the bank’s
business. Customers’ high expectations on
service and quality advice aswell as sustainable
solutions drive the bank’s business development
and offerings.

276,000 shareholders
The capital provided by SEB’s shareholders is a
prerequisite for conducting the bank’s business.
The shareholders expect a competitive and
sustainable return on their capital.Many of the
major owners have a long-termperspective on
their engagement in the bank.

15,300 employees
SEB’s employees build and deepen customer rela-
tionships. Their commitment, skills and quality
of their dailywork are key success factors for the
bank’s business and future development.

Society at large
Banks play an integral role in society and are
vital for creating economic growth and social
value.With this comes an expectation that the
bank takes great responsibility for how it acts, to
enable society to continue to develop in a sustain-
ableway.

Long-term strategy
SEB’s strategy is built on developing deep
customer relationships with a longterm
perspective.See p. 11.

Customer-oriented offering
Proactive quality advice and a holistic
offering are provided at the customers’
convenience, based on customer insights.
See p. 18.

Secure and functional IT
The IT structure promotes stability in the daily
operation and agile development of digital prod
ucts and services.See p. 36 and p. 16 in SEB’s
Sustainability Report 2016.

Strategy

IT

Service

Employees

Customers

Society

Shareholders

SEB Annual Report 20168
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and financial valuecreates both social

Distribution of financial value
SEK 57bn for 2016

For customers
By providing proactive advice and a
wide range of financial services, SEB
supports its customers’ long-term
aspirations and adds value in all
phases of life of individuals and
development stages of companies
and institutions.
See p. 14.

For shareholders
Dividends and potential increases in
market value over time contribute to
shareholders’ financial security and
enable new investments. SEB’s
competitiveness is increased and
long-term risks are reduced through
the integration of environmental,
social and governance aspects.
See p. 26.

For employees
The employees take part in, and
value, the opportunities for learning
and further development that are
integrated in SEB’s business.
Employees also participate in the
many partnerships that SEB supports
to help communities develop and
prosper.See p. 22.

For society at large
SEB intermediates financial solu-
tions, provides payment services and
manages riskswhich promote
economic growth and prosperity.
SEB pays taxes and fees according to
local ruleswhere it operates. SEB
takes responsibility as a provider of
financing and as an assetmanager
andworks proactivelywith environ-
mental, social and governance
issues.See p. 21 and 25.

Financial strength
Financial strength gives the resilience and

flexibility required to serve customers over the
long term.See p. 29.

Solid corporate governance
Corporate governance is based on clear

allocation of responsibility, a well developed
structure for internal control and ownership

involvement.See p. 48.

Sound risk culture
Tomeet customers’ needs SEB assumes and

manages risks. These aremitigated by prudence,
risk awareness and expertise throughout the

organisation.See p. 40.

Resilience

Risk

Governance

Interest paid
to customers
SEK 16.5bn

Salaries,
pensions and
benefits to
employees
SEK 12.0bn

Taxes and
social fees
SEK 6.9bn

Dividends paid
to shareholders
SEK 11.9bn

Payments to
suppliers
SEK 8.3bn

Regulatory fees
SEK 1.4bn

SEB Annual Report 2016 9
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Worldclass
service
SEB’s long-term vision reflects a future inwhich customer orientation and
digitalisation increase in importance. In this environment, the bank’s ambi-
tion is to be the undisputed leading Nordic corporate and institutional bank
and the top universal bank in Sweden and the Baltic countries.



Leading customer experience
Develop long-term relations based on
trust so that customers feel that the
services and advice offered are insightful
about their needs, are accessible on their
terms and that SEB shares knowledge and
acts proactively in their best interest.

Resilience and flexibility
Maintain resilience and flexibility in order
to adapt operations to the prevailingmarket
conditions. Resilience is based upon capital
and liquidity strength. Cost efficiency
provides room for new investments.

The financial sector’s importance for, and
indirect impact on, sustainability issues
iswidely recognized. SEBwants to be a
rolemodel in sustainable development in
the financial industrywith focus on:

Growth in areas of strength
Focus on profitable organic growth in
areas of strength: universal banking in
Sweden and the Baltic countries and
corporate banking in homemarkets
outside Sweden.

• promoting climate-friendly and resource-
efficient solutions,

• workingwith sustainable investment and
financingwith positive impact,

• supporting entrepreneurshipwhich
creates new jobs and supports economic
development, and

• reducing the bank’s owndirect environ-
mental impact.

Aim to be a role model in sustainability

SEB’s longterm strategic priorities

The threeyear business plan (2016–2018)
Growth in areas of strength
Accelerated growth in Sweden
Further strengthen the bank’s position
across all customer segments in Sweden.
Provide awider range of services and
increasingly use customer data to pro-
actively offer new services to customers.

Nordic and German large
corporations and institutions
Expand the corporate and institutional
customer business in theNordic countries
andGermanywith focus on the full-
service offering and digital portalswhile
selectively attract targetedUK corporate
customers.

Savings offering to private indivi-
duals and corporate customers
Create growth by offering customers
convenient and advisory-based solutions
including bancassurance to cater for
customers’ need for long-term savings.

Transformation focus areas
World-class service
Focus on customer journeys in order to
create a leading customer experience
based on a personalised and convenient
full-service offeringwhere customers can
choosewhere and inwhatmanner they
want to be served.

Digitalisation
Develop customised advisory tools and
interfaces based on individual customer
needs and behaviour in various channels.
This includes transforming the first line
of service to digital solutions and portals.

SEB also digitalises and automates
internal processes in order to improve
efficiency.

Competences
Ensure a gradual competence shift broad-
ening the role for client executives and also
developing capabilities in service design
and data analytics. SEBwill continue to
invest in attracting talentswith the right
values and providing development oppor-
tunities to existing employees.

SEB Annual Report 2016 11
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Dividend payout ratio Per cent

Overall targets
and outcome

2) According to the Net Promoter Score method

1) According to Prospera
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Customer experience
and satisfaction
Various internal and external
metrics are used to measure
customer satisfaction. Customers’
willingness to recommend SEB is
one of the key measures of the
bank’s progress.

Target

Industry
average

Industry
average

SEK/share

Target

Target
Leading position in selected customer
segments.

Outcome
Customer satisfaction improved in all four
segments. Nordic large corporations ranked
SEB as no.2 in 2016 versus no.3 in 2015. In
2016, the ranking by Nordic financial institu-
tions improved to no 1, from no. 5 in 2015.

Going forward
SEBwill work to improve overall customer
satisfaction further through proactive advice
and convenient customer interfaces.

SwedishQuality Index
According to the Swedish Quality Index
measurement of customer satisfaction, trust
in the banking industry dropped significantly
among both private and business customers.
SEB was relatively unaffected when it came to
private customers and decreasedmuch less
than industry average regarding business
customers.

SEB’s estimate of the current Common
Equity Tier 1 capital requirement from the
Swedish Financial Supervisory Authority,
according to Basel III (CET1), is 16.9 per cent.

1) Including items affecting comparability 15.3 (excluding: 13.1)
2) Including items affecting comparability 12.2 (excluding: 12.9)
3) Including items affecting comparability 7.8 (excluding: 11.3)

1) Including items affecting comparability 54 (excluding: 63)
2) Including items affecting comparability 69 (excluding: 66)
3) Including items affecting comparability 113 (excluding: 75)

Customers Nordic large corporations
Customers’ willingness
to recommend 1)

Small companies
in Sweden
SEB internal measures 2)

Return on equity Per cent

Common equity
Tier 1 capital ratio Per cent

Nordic institutions
Customers’ willingness
to recommend 1)

Private individuals
in Sweden
SEB internal measures 2)

Shareholders

Financial targets
Through the resilience and flexibil-
ity that come from a strong capital
base, good access to funding, high
credit ratings and cost efficiency,
SEB can create shareholder value
in varying market conditions. The
Board of Directors sets three
financial targets which interact in
contributing to financial strength.

>30

3.73.6

>30

5.25

4.75

5.50

>35

>35

3.5

3.7

3.7

3.8

>35

>35

Target
SEB shall maintain a CET1 capital ratio that
is around 15o basis points higher than the
regulatory requirement, which currently
wouldmean around 18.4 per cent.

Outcome
The Common Equity Tier 1 capital ratio
was 18.8 per cent at year-end.

Target
40 per cent or more of earnings per share. SEB strives for long-term
dividend growth. The size of the dividend takes into account SEB’s
financial position, the prevailing economic situation, earnings, regula-
tory requirements andopportunities for growth.

Outcome
The proposed dividend corresponds to 113 per cent of earnings per
share. Excluding items affecting comparability, the proposed dividend
corresponds to 75 per cent of earnings per share.

Target
SEB strives to generate a competitive return on equity. This means
that the bank in the long term aspires to achieve a 15 per cent return
on equity.

Outcome
Return on equity was 7.8 per cent. Excluding items affecting compara-
bility, return on equity was 11.3 per cent.
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Reputation
SEBmonitors the results of the
TNS Reputation Index, which
measures the bank’s repu-
tation among consumers and
business owners.

Motivation and engagement
SEB’s annual employee survey,
Insight, measures employee
engagement, efficiency and trust.
It also measures employees’
willingness to recommend SEB
as a place to work.

Target
SEB’s target is to be themost attractive
employer in the financial sector. Progress is
measured by the employee survey Insight.

Outcome
In the 2016 survey, the results were clearly
higher than the average for the financial
sector. The outcome improved in terms of
performance excellence, but decreased
somewhat – from a high level – in terms of
employee engagement and employees’
willingness to recommend SEB as a place
to work.

Going forward
SEBwill strive for enhanced employee
engagement especially in the bank’s vision,
values and business plan.

Employees

Society

Sustainability
SEB wants to be a role model
within sustainability in the finan-
cial industry. One indicator is
whether the bank meets the crite-
ria for inclusion in sustainability
indexes. SEB also has the ambition
to lower its CO2 impact.

Sustainability index
SEBmeets the criteria
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As of 2015, a new baseline for measuring
the CO2 emissions, where additional SEB
units are included, was established. As a
consequence, the target expressed in
tonnes was changed. For details, refer to
SEB’s Sustainability Report 2016.
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Target
To be included in at least
five selected sustainability
indexes.

Outcome
SEB has been included in
STOXX, Ethibel, FTSE-
4Good and ECPI for several
years. In 2016, SEBwas also
included in the Dow Jones
sustainability index and
thereby the target wasmet.

Going forward
SEB targets being comfort-
ably included in the indexes
above.

Target
Reduce CO2 emissions
by 20 per cent between
2015 and 2020.

Outcome
The CO2 emissions were
reduced by 4 per cent
one year into the target
period.

Going forward
SEBwill continue to
focus on reducing the
CO2 emissions.

Target
Reduce the gap to no. 1 in the industry and in
the long term have the strongest reputation
among industry peers.

Outcome
Long-term positive trend in Sweden. The gap
to no. 1 is decreasing. In the Baltic countries,
scores are abovemarket average but the trend
is slightly negative. SEB ranks as no.3 in
Estonia and no. 2 in Latvia and Lithuania.

Going forward
SEBwill pursue its long-term commitment to
business ethics and public trust.
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Customers and
customer services
In a rapidly changing world, innovation and transformation
are key for SEB — new services, solutions andmeeting places
are developed in close cooperation with customers in order
to offer world-class service.



Large corporations Financial institutions
SEB serves some 2,300 large corporations in awide range of
industries and inmost caseswith an international focus. In the
Nordic countries these corporations are among the largest in their
respective industries, while inGermany and theUnitedKingdom
the customers range from the largemid-corp segment tomulti-
national corporations.

SEB serves some 700financial institutions, consisting of pension
and assetmanagers, hedge funds, insurance companies and
other banks, active in theNordic countries and internationally.

Strategy
• Aim tomake SEB a preferred partner by offering a comprehen-

sive range of financial services and advice for all aspects of a
company’s operations, using the bank’s broad expertise and
depth of industry knowledge.

• Expand businesswith the existing customer base in theNordic
countries andGermany, building on long-termpersonal rela-
tionships.

• Focus on convenient digital customer portals and process
efficiency in addition to cost and capital efficiency.

• Grow thenumber of corporate customers in theUnitedKingdom.

Strategy
• Meet the financial institutions’ needs by a specialised customer

key account organisationwhere the bank’s offerings are
combinedwith a depth of expertise in the operations of the
institutional clients.

• Focus on convenient digital client portals and process effi-
ciency in addition to cost and capital efficiency.

• Offer a comprehensive range of services to customers in the
Nordic countries andGermany and offerNordic products
globally.

Small andmediumsized companies Private individuals
SEB serves some400,000 small andmedium-sized companies in
Sweden and the Baltic countries. Of these 168,000 are home bank
customers in Sweden and 99,000 in the Baltic countries. There are
approximately 500mid-corp and public sector customers in
Sweden,manywith international operations. The public sector
includes government agencies, state-owned companies and
municipalities.

In all, SEB has approximately fourmillion private customers in
Sweden and the Baltic countries. Of these 485,000 are home
bank customers in Sweden and 904,000 in the Baltic countries.
For private customerswith sizeable capital and a need formore
qualified advice, SEB offers a comprehensive range of private
banking services. SEB has approximately 25,000 private bank-
ing customers.

Strategy
• Develop SEB’s offering based on the bank’s strong position

among large corporations in theNordic region. Offer small and
medium- sized companies convenient services and proactive
advice, based on a deep insight of their entire situation, includ-
ing the needs of both the employees and the owners.

• Serve smaller businesseswith the help of packaged services and
increased accessibility through digital interfaces.

Strategy
• Meet customers’ full needs for financial advice and services

during all phases of life.
• Strive tomake it easy for customers tomanage their personal

finances and plan for the future. Proactivity and accessibility
are key in providing convenient services.

• Provide options for long-term savings since ageing popula-
tions are putting pressure on the publicwelfare systemwhich
means that individuals need to take greater responsibility for
their financial security.

Customer
segments

TeoOttola
Konecranes

Readmore on p. 17.

Anders Parrow
Readmore on p. 20.

Katre Kõvask
Südameapteek

Readmore on p. 19.

Meet our
customers
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Tentative, but more activity towards the end of the year
In the beginning of the year, characterised
bymacroeconomic uncertainty, large
corporate customerswere cautious. There
was higher demand for lending towards
the end of the year, driven by a number of
corporate events. In addition, SEB played an
instrumental role as adviser and arranger in
for instance the listing of Arcus inNorway
andDNA in Finland. Private equity inves-
torswere increasingly active. Customers

requested advisory and riskmanagement
services in the volatilemarket environment
throughout the year. In theUnitedKing-
dom, new customers chose SEB for its
Nordic relationship bank profile.

Customer satisfaction
SEBwas ranked no. 1 among tier 1 large
corporations in theNordic region in
Prospera’s customer satisfaction survey.

Large corporations

Activity driven by low interest rates and volatile markets
Uncertainty regarding the impact of bank-
ing regulations aswell the direction of
central bank policies characterised a good
part of 2016. Activity among financial insti-
tutionswas generally lowbut increased
towards the end of the year. In times of
market turbulence, especially around the
Brexit referendumand the presidential elec-
tion in theUnited States,marketswere vola-
tile and riskmanagement activity high. The
low interest rate environment prompted

many financial institutions to take onmore
risk by investing in less liquid assets.

Institutional investors grew increasingly
interested in sustainability focused invest-
ments.

Customer satisfaction
SEBwas ranked no. 1 by tier 1 financial insti-
tutions in theNordic region in Prospera’s
customer satisfaction survey.

Financial institutions

Positive development in both Sweden and the Baltic countries
Swedish small andmedium-sized compa-
nieswere less affected by the global uncer-
tainty. The anticipated investments in in-
frastructure in Sweden created a positive
momentum. Around 9,000 new companies
chose to become home bank customers in
SEB. Their need for financing and savings
services grew and SEB’s digital services
were increasingly utilised.

Digital services
Thebusiness banking app, the internet
bank, the Swish app for payment services for
companies and e-invoice are all examples of
digital initiatives thatwere appreciated by
the small andmedium-sized customers.

Active Baltic customers
Developmentwas also positive in the Baltic
countries,where companies have been
adept at countering the effects of the
Russian sanctions. Customerweremore
positive and their financing needs increased
in all three countries.

Small and mediumsized companies

In the uncertain environment, both
large corporate customers and
institutions maintained a wait-and-
see approach, but the need for risk
management services was high.
Small andmedium-sized companies
were more positive. On the private
side, customers increasingly used
digital services for their financial
needs.

Customer
activities in 2016
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Digital services and greater need for longterm savings
With the changing demographics, private
individuals’ awareness of long-term savings
and risk insurance solutions increased.
Customers took advantage of SEB’s
improved offer in the long-term savings
area,with unit-linked and traditional life
insurance options and also appreciated the
possibility to use digital pension analysis
services.

The stockmarket’s performancewas
reflected in customers’ behaviours. Towards
the end of the year customers increasingly
chose to invest in equity and allocation
funds.

Private individuals increased their digital
presence andmobile interactionswere four
times as high as the internet banking inter-
actions in Sweden.

Household mortgages
Households in Sweden continued to invest
in newhomes in a real estatemarketwhere
the housing shortage and low interest rates
significantly pushed up prices.

The new strict amortisation requirements
thatwere implemented in Sweden in 2016
had a limited effect on SEB’s customers
since the bank has had similar internal rules
in place for some time.

Baltic region
In the Baltic countries, thereweremoder-
ately positive economic signs driven by
private consumption and activity increased
among private customers. Their demand for
both loans and savings products increased.

Youngsters appreciated SEB’s educational
seminars on personal finance.

Private individuals Support to entrepreneurs in all
phases from start-up to growth

In SEB, supporting entrepreneurship
and newbusiness start-ups goeswithout
saying. In Sweden, SEBhas established
collaborations along the entire entrepre-
neur spectrum, fromnewtoestablished
companies See p. 25.

SEBoperates the Innovation Forum–
ameeting placewhere promising
cutting-edge companieswith ties to
educational and research institutions
have anopportunity to gain access to
potential investors among SEB’s custom-
ers. The event is highly appreciated and
has led to concrete investments for about
half of the participants.

In theBaltic countries, SEBarranges
seminarswhere corporate customers get
information and anopportunity to inter-
act,with the aim tohelp eachother
realise their growth ambitions through
the power of innovation.

» SEB actswith agility, little
bureaucracy and has a
proactive approach. «

Meet one of our large
corporate customers

Finland’s Konecranes, a worldleadingmanu
facturer in the lifting business, serves
customers inmanufacturing and process
industries, shipyards, ports and terminals.

In January, the company finalised the
acquisition of Terex’s material handling and
port solutions segment, a deal which in one
stroke nearly doubled revenue, comple
mented the product offering and expanded
the installed base of cranes significantly. SEB
played a key role in developing the financing
solution.

“SEB has been a strategic partner since our
inception in themid1990s. We have a long
and extensive relationship characterised by
mutual trust. SEB’s contacts are easy to deal
with, they act with agility and little bureau
cracy and have a proactive approach”, says
Teo Ottola, Chief Financial Officer.

TeoOttola
CFO Konecranes
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With customer needs in focus and
with the bank’s vision to provide
world-class service, SEB is taking
a number of initiatives to improve
customer experience.

During 2016, SEB capitalised on the poten-
tial of digital technology and developed
and launched new services aimed at all
customer segments.

Thiswork is being conducted at a fast
pace,withmany small deliveries that are
developed in close collaborationwith
customers. Some solutions are developed
by SEB,while others rely on partnerships
with other service providers.

Customer satisfaction pilot
Toput the customer experience front and
centre, SEB is having sevenbranchoffices
testwhat happens if the operations are solely
evaluated on customer satisfactionwithout
monitoring financial key ratios. The pilot is
showingpromising results and the staff is
findingnewways to provide the best possi-
ble customer service.

New customer
services

Virtual trainee in
customer service

The virtual trainee Aida has begun
working at SEB’s customer service. For a
while now she has been answering ques-
tions, assisting customerswith simple
bankingmatters and she has learnt to
speak Swedish. Her “recruitment” is
one ofmany tests SEB is doing to
develop the customer experience and
offermore efficient banking services
with the help of artificial intelligence.

Aida is at the cutting edge of techno-
logy. In contrast to so-called chatbots,
Aida can learn to understand, conduct
a dialogue and perform tasks just like a
human.

SEB is the first bank in Europe to use
this type of artificial intelligence in its
customer service operations.

World-class custody
functionality

In 2016, SEB’s first customers gained
access to the bank’s newglobal custody
account services platform that has been
developed in partnershipwith the inves-
tor services company BrownBrothers
Harriman (BBH). The newplatform
offers improved solutions formanaging
customers’mutual funds, collateral,
corporate events, cashmanagement,
currency trading andmore.

SEB handles the customer relation-
ship and interface,while BBHprovides
the technical platform and takes re-
sponsibility for certain administrative
processes. Through this partnership
SEB gains access to cutting-edge tech-
nologywhile retaining responsibility
for the customer relationship.

The bank for
entrepreneurs

Through the 2017 launch of Greenhouse,
a broader service offering, SEBwill take
the next step toward being a stronger
business partner for growth companies.

The newoffering is based on in-depth
interviewswith high-growth enterprises
about challenges and problems in their
day-to-day operations. Tomeet their
needs, SEB offers its entire pallet of
expertise – frommergers and acquisi-
tions (M&A) to investment banking and
corporate and family law. In cooperation
with external partners SEB also offers
services relating to staffing and contrac-
tualmatters aswell as auditing, legal
counsel, consulting and advisers.

In theBaltic countries SEB is conduct-
ing joint innovation initiativeswith
customers. This strengthens thepartner-
shipswith entrepreneurs.
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The branch office evolves
The personal relationwith customers is
important and SEBwill always have branch
offices. However, in aworldwhere banking
transactions are increasingly digital, what
will the future branch office look like and
what serviceswill be provided? Part of the
answer can be found at a new type of branch
office located in Stockholm, aswell as at the
innovation centres for small andmedium-
sized companies that SEB has established in
the Baltic countries.

Initiatives like these are away of develop-
ingmeeting places in close cooperation
with customers.With the help of customer
feedback, SEB strives to design new types
of open and invitingmeeting places.

First in pensions market with
digital advisory meetings
SEBwas the first player in the Swedish
occupational pensionsmarket to offer
customers a fully digital advisorymeeting.
The process is initiatedwith customers
completing aweb-based formwith the
information needed to conduct an analysis
of their current status. During theweb-
based advisorymeeting, where the two
parties share screens, customers can see
how the outcomewould be affected by
various decisions and can set goals for
their financial security. The customers
can then sign their choices digitally.

This digitalised process allows SEB to
offer personal advice remotely nomatter
where the customer is located. This has
increased the bank’s accessibilitywhile
streamlining its advisorywork.

New convenient interface
for large corporate customers
SEB has upgraded its cashmanagement
functionality so that customers get a better
viewof not only their total cash balances –
in SEB and other banks– but also of their
most advanced global liquidity solutions.
Accessibility has been improved so that
customers canmonitor and act on their
accounts also viamobile devices.

» I appreciate SEB’ openness
to entrepreneurship and
innovation. «

Meet one of our medium-sized
corporate customers

With seven new pharmacies, sales growing
nearly three times faster than themarket and
almost doubled earnings (EBITDA), Katre
Kõvask, CEO of the Estonian pharmacy chain
Südameapteek, can look back on a good year.

An open, flexible and close relationship
with the company’s financial partner SEB is an
important part of the continued expansion.

“Bank relations is about building a partner
ship, working together and pulling in the
same direction. It is based on both parties
being open and transparent. I appreciate the
openness to promote entrepreneurship and
innovation that the bank stands for”, she
says.

Katre Kõvask
CEO Südameapteek

New services Customers
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Digital processes improve customer
experience and free up resources
To gain the full potential of the technologi-
cal development and, based on a customer
perspective, create new, automated flows, it
is often necessary to rethink processes from
scratch. SEB has identified a number of key
processes inwhich the entire chain from
customer transaction to IT system is being
redesigned.

Customers buying a home is one example.
SEB has launched its first, concrete step in
this area in the formof a newdigital func-
tion that helps customers determinewhich
home they can afford. Another example is
the annual credit reviews of corporate busi-
ness inwhich the potential savingsmay be
as high as three to fourman-weeks ofwork
per year per customer.

Investing in innovative solutions
SEB invests in high-tech companieswith
innovative solutions that could be relevant
for the bank and its customers.

In 2016 SEB invested in the fintech
companyTink,which has developed an app

that helps users get a better overviewof
their income and expenses. Its functionality
is being integrated into SEB’smobile app.
SEB also invested in Coinify, a company
with a platform for blockchain payments,
and in the companyNow Interact, which
uses artificial intelligence andmachine
learning to predict customer behaviour.
Another example is Leasify, a companywith
a digital solution for leasing arrangements
aimed at companies.

The potential of blockchain
Blockchain technology,whichwas
originally developed for the Bitcoin
cryptocurrency, is believed to havemajor
potential in streamlining payment flows
by removing the need for intermediaries.
SEB is participating in several blockchain
initiatives. In addition to its investment
in Coinify, the bank isworkingwith the
fintech companyRipple to use its block-
chain solution for payments.

Innovation
benefits customers

Promoting internal innovation

SEB encourages a culture for change and
innovation. One such initiative is SEB’s
Innovation Lab,where employees pres-
ent their ideas live to a jury consisting
of seniormanagers. If approved, the
employee can develop and prototype
the idea during a set period of time.

Several ideas have already come to
fruition, such as SEB’s virtual open
houses,which are offered in colla-
borationwith the realtor Husman&
Hagberg. Another example is a signifi-
cantly streamlined process forwelcom-
ing new customers using digital tools.

»A bank that I can
trust is a great asset. «

Meet one of our private customers

The love of boats and birds has been a theme
throughout his life. A few years ago his deci
sion – at 89 years of age – to buy a new sail
boat, specially designed for solo trips, caught
media attention. 54 years ago, the same boat
interest made Anders Parrow a customer of
SEB and he has been faithful to the bank ever
since.

Anders likes to visit the bank andmeet
with his adviser, but also appreciates the
internet bank and themobile bank app.
“I can’t imagine banking without them”,
he says. Anders regularly takes part of
SEB’s market analysis as input to his port
folio management.

Anders Parrow
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The financial sector has a large
indirect influence on the long-term
sustainable development. Stake-
holders have high expectations in
this area and SEB has raised its
ambition and aims to be a role
model within sustainability.

Green financing
The climate challenge requiresmajor invest-
ments in energy supply, the transport sector
and sustainable urban development. SEB
contributes by assisting customerswith
financing of green investments in infra-
structure and renewable energy, including
hydro power,wind power and solar energy.

SEB participated in the creation of the
world’s first green bond,whichwas issued
by theWorld Bank in 2008. Since then, the
globalmarket for green bonds has gained
momentumand grown sharply. In 2016,
green bondswere issued to a value of almost
USD95 billion – capital that has thus been
channelled to quality assured green proj-
ects. SEBwas the fourth largest arranger/
underwriter globally, with amarket share
of 4.4 per cent of this volume.

SEB applies policies that limit lending to
companies in sectors such as fossil fuels,

mining andmetals. SEB does not provide
newfinancing of coalmining and coal
powerplants. The bank’s sector policies and
position statements form a valuable base in
dialogueswith corporate customers and
help increase awareness about sustainabil-
ity aspects in various decisions.

Responsible investments
Customers increasingly expect that SEB
willmanage their assets in a responsible
manner. For a number of years the bank has
made a concerted effort to take sustainabil-
ity into account in all investment processes,
based on the conviction that this leads to
better investments and higher returns for
customers. At year-end SEBmanaged assets
at a total of SEK584billion (517) in accor-
dancewith the Principles of Responsible
Investments (PRI).

SEB excludes investments in particular
sectors and areas, such as controversial
weapons and nuclear arms, aswell as in
companies that derivemore than 20per cent

of their sales from coal production. On the
other hand, SEB is alsoworking to a greater
extentwith positive selectionwhere portfo-
liomanagers prioritise companies thatwork
according to sustainable principles.

In 2016 SEB entered into a newpartner-
shipwithHermes InvestmentManagement,
creating an opportunity to increase the
number of sustainability dialogueswith
companies outside theNordic region.

Measurement of the carbon footprint of
funds has been expanded and now includes
most of the bank’s equity funds.

Dow Jones sustainability index
SEB has high ambitions in its sustainability
work and aims to be a rolemodel in the
financial industry in this area. A sign that
the efforts are paying offwas that in 2016
SEBmet the strict criteria for inclusion and
was – as the only bank in theNordic coun-
tries – accepted as part of theDow Jones
sustainability index.

Customers expect
responsible services

Microfinancing

SEBwas the first bank in Sweden to
launchmicrofinance funds directed at
institutional investors. The aim is to offer
an attractive investment opportunitywith
a distinct social character. The fund assets
create a ripple effectwhen borrowers
invest or use other business services. This
way jobs are created leading to growth in
developing countries.

The bank’s fourmicrofinance funds
have a combined value ofmore than
SEK4billion,which reachesmore than
17million entrepreneurs in developing
countries viamicrofinance institutions.

SEB’s position statements
and sector policies

Readmore about SEB’s policies at
sebgroup.com/about-seb/who-we-are

SEB reports its sustainability work in
accordance with GRIG4. For further
information, see sebgroup.com
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Strategy Value creation

For the second year in a row, 3,000 employees gathered in Stockholm to be involved and inspired by the
initiatives taken to reach SEB’s longterm vision. Themeeting was broadcast to local events in 20 countries.

In a changing world, SEB is impacted by the rapid pace of
technological development, evolving customer behaviours,
and expectations on future employees. The bank’s role in
society is becoming increasingly important for
SEB’s attraction as an employer.

SEB’s
employees



Employee statistics
2016 2015 2014

Number of
employees, average 16,260 16,599 16,742

Sweden 8,222 8,320 8,352

Other Nordic countries 1,369 1,404 1,411

Baltic countries 5,125 5,118 5,100

Number of employees
at yearend 16,087 16,432 16,767

Average number of
fulltime equivalents 15,279 15,605 15,714

Employee
turnover,% 10.7 9.0 8,9

Sick leave,%
(in Sweden) 3.0 2.8 2.4

Femalemanagers,% 46 44 43

Insight

Employee
engagement 77 79 75

Performance
excellence 81 80 78

Committed employeeswith a service
mindset, who collaborate andwho
want to develop new competences,
is a key success factor.

SEB’s Insight employee survey for 2016
confirms that there is strong support for
the bank’s vision and strong commitment
among employees to participate and
change. Employee engagement scores
remained high in 2016 – clearly higher than
for peer companies – as did the scores for
performance excellence,which increased
for the fourth consecutive year.

Focus of improvementmeasures is to
more clearly take the customer-first perspec-
tive, further improve internal collaboration,
and to simplify processes.

Activities in order to develop these areas
have includedworkshops focusing on clari-
fying the connection between employees’
own values and the bank’s. Employees have
gained opportunities to reflect on, and
formulate, their own values, and thereafter
align them to the bank’s joint values.

Managing change
and newways of working
The employees’ and the organisation’s abil-
ity to collaborate andmanage change are
crucial for the future. In SEB this is done in
an environment characterised by involve-
ment and innovation.

Asanexample, SEB isdevelopingnewways
ofworking built on an iterative approach in
the design of services. Thismeans cross-
functional teamsmapping customer jour-
neys, based on customer needs and feedback
loops, before prototypes of new solutions
are launched to the customers. The new
agileways ofworking are aimed at drawing
full benefit of digitalisation and providing
an even better customer experience.

The agileways ofworking have also been
adopted in SEB’s IT operations. Develop-
ment and deliveries are being conducted in
small steps rather than in large projects over
a longer period of time.

In 2016, individually adapted agile train-
ing courseswere held formore than 2,000
employees, a strategic initiative to create
favourable conditions to quickly and
successfully adaptways ofworking to
the changing needs.

Planning for future competences
The digital transformation drives the need
to plan for future competences in the long
term. SEB isworking throughout the bank
to analyse and identify needs based on
selected parameters. Competence needs are
included as an integral part of the business
planning.

Areas inwhich needs are clearly rising
include digital design, data analysis and IT.
The bank has broadened its recruitment to
search for these skills via new channels and
arenas, not only among individualswith a
background in finance and business admin-
istration. Employees’ roleswill be expanded
in order to be able tomeet customer needs
for comprehensive service. Inmany cases
this requires employees towork in new
ways.

Leadership
SEB has a long tradition of identifying
and developing leaders at an early stage.
Constant changes in the business environ-
ment are putting ever-growing demands on
managers,whomust inspire, serve as role
models and establish conditions so that
employees and teams can develop the
business in the bestway possible.

During the year, Grow2Leadwas devel-
oped, a digital portal for employees inter-
ested in a future role as a leader. The portal
provides inspiration and development
opportunities, and can help employees
decide if amanager role is a suitable career
path.

For existingmanagers, the bank has global
programmes that offer opportunities to
develop their leadership qualities both as
individuals and as teammembers.

A controversial tax
For the financial sector in Sweden, a 15 per
cent tax based on grosswages is being
considered for implementation in 2018.
The total estimated financial effect on SEB
of the proposal under discussion is around
SEK700mper year. According to a report
from the Swedish Bankers’ Association, as
many as 16,000 jobswould be threatened
if these planswere in fact carried out.
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»My goal is to build highperforming teams that deliver
stellar results. This requires satisfied andmotivated
employees. There is thus no conflict between employee
satisfaction and results – they are symbiotic.

I want my leadership to be characterised by simplicity,
clarity and communication. At the same time, I want to
be transparent and sharemy insights on the total picture.
In doing so, most decisions will be natural for employees. «

Anders Lundström,manager within asset advisory services,
was named Leader of the Year (“Årets ledartröja”) by the
Financial Sector Union in SEB.

Anders Lundström–Leader of the year 2016



health index based on questions in the
Insight employee survey. This is the first
global tool formeasuringwork environ-
ment and health at both the divisional and
country levels.

In 2017, SEB’s newofficeswill be inaugu-
rated at Arenastaden outside Stockholm,
where 4,500 employeeswill be gathered. In
designing theworkplace, strong focuswas
put on enabling a positivework environ-
mentwithmodern and functionalwork
spaces, large common areas, project rooms
and quiet areas, an extensive fitness facility,
and healthy food in own restaurants.

Learning opportunities
At SEB, continuous learning is a vital
prerequisite for the ability to adapt to new
circumstances. The bank offers awide
array of training courses and, via a portal,
employees can get an overviewof the entire
offering – including training that is specific
for SEB aswell as training offered by exter-
nal providers – includingmethods and
effective tools to facilitate learning. In all,
more than 600 courses are offered.

Increasing diversity
SEB is convinced that diversity and inclu-
sion among its people help the bank achieve
greater success over time.

All employees are to be offered equal
opportunities to develop individually,
regardless of their gender, ethnicity, age,
sexual orientation or faith. SEB strives to
achieve an even gender balance at every
levelwithin the organisation and to
increase the share of employeeswith an
international background.

The bank isworking actively, both in
terms of structures and processes and in
specific initiatives, to increase the number
ofwomen in higher operative positions and
in senior leader roles.

In 2016, 46 per cent (44) of SEB’smanag-
erswerewomen. Among senior executives
this sharewas 31 per cent (27).

Health andwork environment
Ensuring employee longevity is becoming
increasingly important in pacewith an
ageing population and the possibility of a
higher retirement age. SEB isworking long
term and preventively to offer a safe and
soundworkplace in an effort to ensure
employeewell-being and a soundwork/life
balance.

The focus of the bank’swork environ-
ment initiatives is on stress, workloads and
risk identification. In Sweden, in 2016, the
bank increased its support tomanagerswith
employees on sick leave. They are offered
telephone support fromnurses at company
health services and rehabilitation special-
istswho are experienced in assessing suit-
able paths for a rapid recovery and return to
work. In Sweden, the SEB sick-leave
remains low, at 3 per cent, comparedwith
other industries and the financial sector.

During 2016, SEB introduced a global

Customers first
We put our customers’ needs
first, always seeking to
understand how to deliver
real value.

Collaboration
We achieve more
working together.

SEB’s
core
values

Commitment
We are personally dedi
cated to the success of
our customers and are
accountable for our actions.

Simplicity
We strive to simplify what
is complex.
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Stakeholders SEB’s employees

SEB’s core values

SEB’s core values serve as the foundation for the bank’sways ofworking and culture,
and in combinationwith the bank’s vision – to deliverworld-class service to our custom-
ers – they serve tomotivate and inspire employees,managers and the organisation as a
whole. These values are described in SEB’s Code of Conduct, which provides guidance
on ethicalmatters for all employees.Read the Code of Conduct at sebgroup.com
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SEB plays an active role in the
communities in which the bank
operates by promoting entrepre-
neurship and enterprise as well
as supporting young people.

SEB shares the conviction that business and
industry have a key role to play inmeeting
the global sustainable development goals
thatwere adopted by theUN’s 193member
states in 2015. Themost important contri-
butions come from the bank’s core busi-
nesses,where green financing, sustainable
investment and combating financial crime
are included. But SEB is also actively
involved in communitymatters through its
many partnerships for entrepreneurship
and youth initiatives.

Volunteers raising young people’s
knowledge of economics
SEB partnerswith organisations thatwork
to include youths in social development by
raising their knowledge of personal finance.
In the three Baltic countries, for the past few
years SEB has been participating in nation-
wide campaigns to increase financial liter-
acy among young people. In 2016 volun-
teers fromSEB visitedmore than 230
schools in an effort to give children funda-
mental skills in personal finance and
economic planning.

In Sweden, too, the bank isworking actively
to increase understanding of economics
among young people.Within the frame-
work of SEB’s partnershipwithMentor
Sweden, teams of employees participate in
the professionalmentor programme,
consisting of a series of threeworkshops at
which the bank gives young people advice
on day-to-day finances, explains business
norms and provides advice on how to apply
for jobs. In 2016 eight such programmes
were carried out at schools in Sweden’s
majormetropolitan areas. Volunteers from
SEB also serve as coaches and jurymembers
in theDreamChallenge initiative,where
young people get help on formulating a
plan for their dream careers.

Summer camp for
future entrepreneurs
SEBworkswith organisations that are dedi-
cated to spurring interest and inspiration
among youths aswell as newly arrived
immigrants in entrepreneurship and enter-
prise. These include Junior Achievement,
PrinceDaniel’s Fellowship, SIMENext,
Enterprise Agency and the International
Entrepreneur Association in Sweden.

In 2016 the bank became involved in a
newly started summer camp for teenaged
aspiring entrepreneurs. In cooperationwith
SIMENext, some 20 youthswere offered
spots at the camp for oneweek of intense
drilling in digital entrepreneurship.

Social entrepreneurs
gain insight into doing business
In 2016, a partnershipwas startedwith
Inkludera Invest, an umbrella organisation
for social entrepreneurs. The common
denominator for these is that theywork
without a profitmotive to create a better
world. However, they can still benefit
greatly from tools such as business plans,
budgets, and earnings analyses to develop
their operations.

Togetherwith Inkludera Invest, SEB
arranged a basic course in business admin-
istration and invited social entrepreneurs
to share insights around the conditions
for doing business.

Investing in
communities

Investing in communities Stakeholders

SEB supports entrepreneurs
– from business concept to
thriving companies

Role
models

Incubation
and growth

Start-ups

Business
concept

Inspiration

• Junior Achievement • Prins Daniels Fellowship • SIME Next

• Venture Cup • Business Challenge

• NyföretagarCentrum (Enterprise Agencies) • Interna
tional Enterpreneur Association in Sweden

• Sting • Connect • SUP46 • SEB Innovation Forum
• YEoS •Minc • GLab21 • BASE10 • Inkludera Invest

• Entrepreneur of the year • Guldklubban
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Stock exchange trading – SEB Class A shares Per cent Type of trading in SEB Class A shares Per cent

20152016

Nasdaq Stockholm 45 47
BATS 11 24
CXE 13 11
Boat 7 7
Turquoise 8 5
Other 16 6

20152016

Traditional trading

on Nasdaq 66 64

Off-book (trades

executed off and

registered later) 27 29

Anonymous trades

(not registered on

public exchange) 6 6

Auction 1 1

Stakeholders Shareholders and the SEB share

In 2016, the value of the SEB Class A share increased
by 7 per cent, to SEK 95.55, while the FTSE European
Banks Index dropped by 6 per cent. Earnings per share
amounted to SEK 4.88 (7.57). The Board proposes a
dividend of SEK 5.50 per share for 2016 (5.25).

Share capital
SEB’s share capital amounts to SEK21,942m, distributed on
2,194.2million shares. Each Class A share entitles to one vote
and each Class C share to 1/10 of a vote.

Stock exchange trading
The SEB shares are listed onNasdaq Stockholm, but are also traded
on other exchanges, such as BATS, CXE, Boat and Turquoise. The
share is also included in theDow Jones Sustainability Index and the
FTSE4Good Index,which facilitate investments in companieswith
globally recognised levels of corporate responsibility.

In 2016, the value of the SEBClass A share increased by 6.7 per
cent, while theOMXStockholm30 Index (OMXS30)was up by 5 per
cent and the FTSEEuropean Banks Index dropped by 6 per cent.
Total turnover in SEB shares in 2016 amounted to SEK 307bn (312),
ofwhich 134bn (142) onNasdaq Stockholm.Market capitalisation
by year-endwas SEK210bn (196).

Dividend policy
SEB strives to achieve long-termdividend growthwithout nega-
tively impacting the group’s targeted capital ratios. The annual divi-
dend per share shall correspond to 40 per cent ormore of earnings
per share. Each year’s dividend is assessed in the light of prevailing
economic conditions and the group’s earnings, growth possibili-
ties, regulatory requirements and capital position.

Dividend
The Board of Directors proposes to the Annual GeneralMeeting a
dividend of SEK5.50 (5.25) per Class A andClass C share respec-
tively for 2016,which corresponds to a 113 per cent (69) dividend
payout ratio. Excluding items affecting comparability, the dividend
payout ratiowas 75 per cent. The proposed record date for the divi-

dend is 30March 2017. If the Annual GeneralMeeting resolves in
accordancewith the proposal, the sharewill be traded ex-dividend
on 29March 2017 and dividend paymentswill be disbursed on
4April 2017.

Distribution of shares by size of holding

Size of holding No. of shares Per cent
No. of

shareholders

1 – 500 32,640,262 1.5 174,544

501 – 1,000 33,155,893 1.5 43,306

1,001 – 5,000 105,308,326 4.8 47,648

5,001 – 10,000 44,517,729 2.0 6,257

10,001 – 20,000 34,571,898 1.6 2,468

20,001 – 50,000 36,513,844 1.7 1,177

50,001 – 100,000 24,975,535 1.1 350

100,001 – 500,000 88,076,342 4.0 383

500,001 – 1,000,000 53,070,831 2.4 71

1,000,001 – 1,741,341,142 79.4 146

2,194,171,802 100.0 276,350

Number of outstanding shares, 31 December 2016

Class
A share

Class
C share

Total no.
of shares

Total number
of issued shares 2, 170 ,019 ,294 24,152,508 2,194,171,802

Hedge for long-term
incentive programmes 1) –25,177,693 – –25,177,693

Repurchased own shares 2) 0 0 0

Totalnumber
ofoutstandingshares 2,144,841,601 24 ,152,508 2,168,994,109

1) Utilization of authorization from the Annual General Meeting 2016 to
acquire own shares for the 2010–2016 long-term equity programmes.

2) 2016 AGM decision, no repurchases made.

Shareholders
and the SEB share

Source: Euroclear and Holdings

Source: FidessaSource: Fidessa
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Shareholder structure Per cent

Percentage holdings of equity on 31 Dec. 2016

Swedish shareholders 77

Institutions and foundations 47
Private individuals 12
Mutual funds 18

Foreign shareholders 23

276,000
shareholders

Shareholders and the SEB share Stakeholders

The largest shareholders 31 Dec. 2016

No. of shares

Of which
Class C
shares

Share of
capital.

%
Share

of votes%

2016 2015

Investor AB 456,198,927 4,000,372 20.8 20.8 20.8

Alecta 154,682,500 7.0 7.1 6.4

Trygg Foundation 130,673,802 6.0 6.0 6.0

Swedbank Robur Funds 92,736,980 4.2 4.3 3.6

AMF 83,905,317 3.8 3.9 3.2

SEB Funds 38,691,740 1.8 1.8 1.6

BlackRock 38,059,331 547,461 1.7 1.7 1.4

Fourth Swedish National
Pension Fund 27,141,394 1.2 1.2 1.1

Vanguard 26,915,196 1.2 1.2 1.0

SEB own shareholding 1) 25,177,693 1.1 1.2 0

Nordea Funds 22,149,174 1.0 1.0 1.2

XACT Funds 22,007,860 1.0 1.0 1.0

Didner & Gerge Funds 19,228,514 0.9 0.9 0.8

AFA Insurance 17,268,554 0.8 0.8 0.8

First Swedish National
Pension Fund 16,422,705 0.7 0.8 1.0

1) See table Number of outstanding shares on p. 26.

Source: Euroclear and Holdings

Changes in share capital

Year Transaction SEK

Change in
number of

shares

Accumulated
number of

issued shares

Share
capital
SEKm

1972 5,430,900 543

1975 Rights issue 1:5 125 1,086,180 6,517,080 652

1976 Rights issue 1:6 140 1,086,180 7,603,260 760

1977 Split 2:1 7,603,260 15,206,520 760

1981 Rights issue 1B:10 110 1,520,652 16,727,172 837

1982 Bonus issue 1A:5 3,345,434 20,072,606 1,004

1983 Rights issue 1A:5 160 4,014,521 24,087,127 1,204

1984 Split 5:1 96,348,508 120,435,635 1,204

1986 Rights issue 1A:15 1) 90 8,029,042 128,464,677 1,284

1989 Bonus issue 9A+1C:10 128,464,677 256,929,354 2,569

1990 Directed issue 2) 88:42 6,530,310 263,459,664 2,635

1993 Rights issue 1:1 20 263,459,664 526,919,328 5,269

1994 Conversion 59,001 526,978,329 5,270

1997 Non-cash issue 91:30 61,267,733 588,246,062 5,882

1999 Rights Issue 1:5 3) 35 116,311,618 704,557,680 7,046

2005 Reduction of the
share capital –17,401,049 687,156,631 6,872

2009 Rights issue 11:5 10 1,507,015,171 2,194,171,802 21,942

Data per share

2016 2015 2014 2013 2012

Basic earnings, SEK 4.88 7.57 8.79 6.74 5.31

Diluted earnings, SEK 4.85 7.53 8.73 6.69 5.29

Shareholders’ equity, SEK 65.00 65.11 61.47 56.33 49.92

Net worth, SEK 73.00 72.09 68.13 62.10 56.33

Cash flow, SEK 19.02 1.28 –61.98 –19.66 –8.92

Dividend per A and C share, SEK 5.50 1) 5.25 4.75 4.00 2.75

Year-end share price2), SEK

Class A share 95.55 89.40 99.55 84.80 55.25

Class C share 95.20 88.85 97.65 79.90 53.40

Highest price paid2), SEK

Class A share 99.75 111.50 100.60 85.10 57.95

Class C share 101.10 112.50 99.10 80.30 54.30

Lowest price paid2), SEK

Class A share 67.75 83.45 82.25 55.70 38.87

Class C share 70.35 83.75 77.45 53.20 38.74

Dividend as a percentage of
earnings (payout ratio), % 112.8 69.4 54.0 59.3 51.8

Dividend yield,% 5.8 5.9 4.8 4.7 5.0

P/E (share price at year-end/
earnings) 19.6 11.8 11.3 12.6 10.4

Number of outstanding
shares, million

average 2,177.6 2,191.2 2,186.8 2,190.8 2,191.5

at year-end 2,169.0 2,193.3 2,188.7 2,179.8 2,192.0

1) As proposed by the Board of Directors.
2)Source: Nasdaq Stockholm.

Market capitalisation

SEKm 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012

Year-endmarket
capitalisation 1) 209,645 196,146 218,384 185,947 121,183

Volume of
shares traded 133,790 142,188 113,566 94,738 85,776

1) Based on the Nasdaq Stockholm share price of SEK 95.55

The majority of the bank’s approximately 276,000 shareholders are private individuals with
small holdings. The ten largest shareholders account for 49 per cent of capital and votes.

Source: Euroclear and Holdings

1) The recorded share capital as of 31 December 1986 was SEK 1,204m.
since the proceeds from the rights issue were not paid in full until early 1987.

2) The issue was directed at the member banks of Scandinavian Banking Partners.

3) Subscribed and paid shares were not registered as share capital in the balance
sheet until the rights issue had been registered (which took place in January 2000).

Through splits in 1977 (2:1) and 1984 (5:1), the nominal value of the shares was
changed from SEK 100 to SEK 10.
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A dividend of SEK 5.50 per share is proposed for 2016,
corresponding to a payout ratio of 113 per cent.

Dividend
Earnings

Dividend
payout ratio0
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Stakeholders The investor perspective

Over the years SEB has capitalised on its long standing
strong position as the leading corporate bank in the
Nordic region and the bank’s financial strength. Over the
last five years, the share price of the SEBClass A share
increased by 73 per cent.

Long-term perspective
SEB has been a corporate bank since its establishment by
A. O.Wallenberg in 1856. To this day theWallenberg family is
deeply engaged in the bank’s current and future operations via
themain owner Investor.

There is a clear connection between themacroeconomic develop-
ment, customer activity and the development of the bank’s earn-
ings. In addition, SEB’s strategic initiatives for growth in areas of
strength – corporate business, all customer segments in Sweden
and the long-term savings offering – have amajor bearing on the
future result and therefore themarket value of the share.

An investor in SEB believes in a positive economic development
in the bank’s homemarkets – theNordic and Baltic countries and
Germany – and in the bank’s ability to capitalise on this develop-
ment over timewhilemanaging any negative development in an
effectivemanner.

Return on investment
The return on an investment in SEB is not only contributable to the
share price but also to the dividend. SEB’s Board of Directors has
proposed to the Annual GeneralMeeting that SEK5.50, 113 per cent
of earnings per share, shall be distributed for 2016. The dividend
payout ratio, excluding items affecting comparability, was 75 per
cent.

The dividend yield, i.e. the dividend in relation to the share price
at year-end 2016,was 5.8 per cent (5.9) based on the proposed
dividend.

Total shareholder return (TSR) – i.e. share price development and
reinvested dividends per share –was 14 per cent for 2016 (–6). The
average TSR for theNordic peer group in 2016was 21 per cent (3).
In the last three years, TSR for the SEB sharewas 5 per cent on
average.

Beta value and volatility
The beta value of SEB’s share price in 2016was 1.17. Themeasure
shows how the share price of a specific share changes in relation to
the stockmarket as awhole, in this case compared toOMXS30. A
beta value of 1.00 indicates that the share price development is the
same as themarket.

The volatility of SEB’s share pricewas 30 per cent for 2016. The
corresponding value for theNordic peer groupwas 28 per cent. The
measure shows the daily change in share price comparedwith its
average for a given time period. Over the past three years, the aver-
age volatility of the SEB sharewas 24 per cent, which is at the same
level as theNordic peer group.

The investor
perspective

OMXS30SEB A shares. Index is based on closing
price paid on last day of each month FTSE European Banks
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Earnings and dividend per share
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Financial review of the group Report of the Directors

High demand for risk management services and advice,
high asset quality, more active small andmedium-sized
corporate customers and, towards the end of the year,
a pick-up in corporate transactions were positive
contributors to the result. The uncertain macroeco-
nomic development and the negative interest rates
were however counteracting factors. Net profit, exclud-
ing items affecting comparability, decreased by 9 per
cent. SEB’s financial position is strong and a dividend
of SEK 5.50 per share is proposed.

Important events
and trends in 2016
First quarter
• SEB implemented a new customer-oriented organisation. The
reallocation of goodwill that followed led to a non-tax deductible
impairment of SEK5,334m.

• The Swedish central bank lowered the repo rate to –0.5 per cent,
and ECB’s Euro refinancing interest ratewas set at zero per cent.

Second quarter
• The result of theBritishEU-referendumwasunexpectedly that

theUKwill leave theEU.This increaseduncertainty andhada
temporaryhigh impact onfinancialmarkets.

• SEB’s Baltic holdings in Visa Europewere sold.

Third quarter
• As the onlyNordic bank, SEBmet the requirements andwas

included in theDow Jones Sustainability index.

Fourth quarter
• The unexpected outcomeof theUS presidential election increased

uncertaintywith a temporary high financialmarkets impact.
• Large corporate customers grewmore active as business senti-

ment improved.

Full year
• The unconventionalmonetary policywith negative interest rates

and quantitative easing affected customer activity.
• Corporate and institutional customers’ demand for hedging and

riskmanagement productswas high throughout the year.
• Baltic economies proved resilient to Russian sanctions and both

private and corporate customersweremore active.

Result and profitability
Operating profit amounted to SEK 14,867m (20,865). Net profit (after
tax) amounted to SEK 10,618m (16,581).

Excluding items affecting comparability (see box p. 30), operat-
ing profit amounted to SEK20,296m (21,767), a decrease of 7 per
cent. Net profit, excluding items affecting comparability, decreased
by 9 per cent to SEK 15,970m (17,483).

Operating income
Total operating income amounted to SEK43,771m (43,763).
Net interest income amounted to SEK 18,738m (18,938). The Swed-

ish repo ratewas –0,5 per cent and ECB’s Euro refinancing ratewas
zero for the better part of the yearwhich affected net interest
income negatively.

Customer-driven net interest income increased by SEK 1,855m to
SEK20,464myear-on-year. Lending-related net interest income
increased by SEK 1,586m, due tomargins and volumes to an equal
degree. Net interest income fromdeposits increased by SEK267m
primarily fromdepositmargins.

Net interest income fromother activities (funding, etc.)was nega-
tive at SEK–1,726m, a decrease of SEK2,055mcompared to 2015.
An item affecting comparability occurred in 2015 (see box p. 30).
Year-on-year, the lower interest rate levels led to a reduction of net
interest income by approximately SEK900m. Regulatory fees
consisted of fees to stability funds, SEK 16m (590), to deposit guar-
antee schemes, SEK 390m (429), aswell as resolution fund fees in
the amount of SEK956m (182).
Net fee and commission income decreased to SEK 16,628m (18,345).

The stockmarketwas slow although therewas a pick-up towards
the end of the year. The gross custody andmutual funds fee income
decreased by SEK 1,243mcompared to 2015, ofwhich performance
and transaction fees decreased by SEK436m to SEK275m (711).
For liquidity strategy purposes and in linewith the new regulatory
framework for liquidity, stock lending activitieswere reduced, lead-
ing to significantly lower related fee income. Card fees decreased by
an estimated SEK480mdue to the regulatory cap on interchange
fees. Net commissions relating to the life insurance business
amounted to SEK 1,039m (1,154).

Financial review
of the group



Net financial income increased to SEK7,056m (5,478). Customers
were actively seeking riskmanagement services throughout the
turbulent year, primarily in foreign exchange but also in fixed
income and equities. Net financial income relating to the traditional
life insurance operations in Sweden andDenmark increased by
SEK425myear-on-year to SEK 1,919m. Therewas a net negative
valuation adjustment from counterparty risk (CVA) and own credit
risk in derivatives (DVA) aswell as own credit risk for issued
bonds at fair value through profit and loss (OCA), amounting to
SEK –219m in total. In 2015, this itemwas SEK603m, resulting in a
negative change of SEK822myear-on-year. Valuation of the liquid-
itymanagement portfolios had a positive effect. Net financial
income 2015 included an itemwhich affected comparability
(see box below).
Net other income amounted to SEK 1,349m (1,002) reflecting a

combination of realised capital gains and unrealised valuation and
hedge accounting effects and an item affecting comparabilitywas
included in 2016 (see box below).

Operating expenses
Total operating expenses amounted to SEK27,761m (21,802). Exclud-
ing two items affecting comparability (see box below), operating
expenses amounted to SEK21,812m in linewith 2015 and below
the cost cap of SEK22bn.

Over the past seven years, SEB’s cost capwas lowered step by
step fromSEK24bn.With the change in reporting of net insurance
income (see box below), the cost capwas adjusted to SEK22bn,
fromSEK22.5bn in the business plan. The cost cap has been
extended through 2018.

Net credit losses
Net credit losses amounted to SEK993m(883). Asset quality remained
robust and the overall credit loss levelwas 7 basis points (6).

Income tax expense
Total income tax amounted to SEK4,249m (4,284). The effective
tax rate for the yearwas 28.5 per cent. Excluding items affecting
comparability (see box below), the effective tax ratewas 21 per cent.
Thiswas in linewith SEB’s expected tax rate. See note 3 and 15 for
further information on tax.

Profitability
Return on equity amounted to 7.8 per cent (12.2). Return on equity
excluding items affecting comparabilitywas 11.3 per cent (12.9).
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Items affecting comparability and restatement of financial information

As of 1 January 2016, SEB implemented a new customer-oriented
organisation,which led to an impairment of goodwill in the
amount of SEK5,334m. The impairmentwas of a technical
nature since itwas a function of evaluating the goodwill at a busi-
ness unit and geographical level, rather than at the divisional
level.

Restructuring activities in the Baltic andGerman businesses
and awrite-down (derecognition) of intangible IT assets no
longer in use resulted in an operating expense of SEK615mwith
a positive tax effect of SEK 101m.

Visa Inc. has acquired Visa Europe. SEBwas amember of Visa
Europe through several direct and indirectmemberships. In the
second quarter, the closing of the transaction of SEB’s Visa
memberships in the Baltic countries resulted in

a realisation of the fair value as a gain in the amount SEK520m,
with a tax expense of SEK24m.

In 2015, SEB’swithholding tax refund application dating back
to 2006–2008was denied by the Swiss SupremeCourt. The
effectswere a decrease of net financial income in the amount of
SEK820mand an interest expense of SEK82m.

Asof 1 January2016, the income statement line itemnet life
insurance incomewas reallocated tonet fee and commission
income, net financial incomeandnet other income. In linewith
market practice, thedeferred acquisition costswithin the life busi-
ness are nowpart of net fee and commission incomeandareno
longer reported as operating expenses. Comparable figures for
2014and2015are restated and those for 2012and2013 recalcu-
latedpro forma.
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Subsequent events
On 16 January 2017, Annika Falkengren’s resignation fromSEB
after 11 years as President and CEOwas announced.

On 8 February 2017, it was announced that Johan Torgeby,
currently co-head of the division Large Corporates& Financial
Institutions,will be her successor from29March 2017.

On 1 February 2017, it was announced that Peter Dahlgren,
Head of division Life& InvestmentManagement,would leave
SEB to pursue a position outside the bank. Nils Liljeberg, Head
of sales Life &Pension (Sweden), has been appointed acting new
Head of business area Life. Peter Branner continues in his position
asHead of business area InvestmentManagement.

Other comprehensive income
Other comprehensive income amounted to SEK–946m (2,219). The
net revaluation of the defined benefit pension plans had a negative
effect of SEK–1,875m (4,178). The changewas a net of the increase
in the pension liability – from lower discount rates – and an
increase in the value of the plan assets.

The net effect from the valuation of balance sheet items thatmay
subsequently be reclassified to the income statementwas positive in
the amount of SEK929m (–1,959).

The Visa transaction
Visa Inc. has acquired Visa Europe (amembership-owned organisa-
tion)with the purpose of creating a single global Visa company. The
transactionwas approved by the European Commission in 2016. It
consisted of a combination of consideration in cash and shares. SEB
was amember of Visa Europe through several direct and indirect
memberships.

The closing of the transaction of SEB’s Visamemberships in the
Baltic countries resulted in a gain (an item affecting comparability)
of SEK520m recognised in net other income.

In Sweden,where SEB is an indirectmember via Visa Sweden, the
holdings are classified as available-for-sale financial assets. The fair
value is booked in other comprehensive income. Once the distribu-
tion between the Swedish indirectmembers is finalised and the
transaction closes, it will be reclassified to net other income.

Key figures
2016 2015 2014 2013 2012

Return on equity,% 7.80 12.24 15.25 13.11 11.06

Return on total assets,% 0.37 0.57 0.71 0.58 0.48

Return on risk exposure amount,% 1.80 2.71 3.23 2.38

Basic earnings per share, SEK 4.88 7.57 8.79 6.74 5.31

Weighted average number of shares1), millions 2,178 2,191 2,187 2,191 2,191

Diluted earnings per share, SEK 4.85 7.53 8.73 6.69 5.29

Weighted average number of diluted shares2), millions 2,188 2,203 2,202 2,207 2,199

Credit loss level, % 0.07 0.06 0.09 0.09 0.08

Total reserve ratio individually assessed impaired loans,% 68.8 68.3 62.2 86.9 74.4

Net level of impaired loans,% 0.21 0.20 0.29 0.17 0.28

Gross level of impaired loans,% 0.33 0.35 0.49 0.35 0.58

Liquidity Coverage Ratio (LCR) 3), % 168 128 115 129

Own funds requirement, Basel III

Risk exposure amount, SEKm 609,958 570,840 616,531 598,324

Expressed as own funds requirement, SEKm 48,797 45,667 49,322 47,866

Common Equity Tier 1 capital ratio,% 18.8 18.8 16.3 15.0

Tier 1 capital ratio,% 21.2 21.3 19.5 17.1

Total capital ratio,% 24.8 23.8 22.2 18.1

Leverage ratio,% 5.1 4.9 4.8 4.2

Number of fulltime equivalents 4) 15,279 15,605 15,714 15,870 16,925

Assets under custody, SEK bn 6,859 7,196 6,763 5,958 5,191

Assets under management, SEK bn 1,781 1,700 1,708 1,475 1,328

1) The number of issued shares was 2,194,171,802. SEB owned 850,426 Class A shares for the equity-based programmes at year-end 2015. During 2016 SEB has
purchased 29,840,725 shares and 5,513,458 shares have been sold. Thus, at 31 December 2016 SEB owned 25,177,693 Class A shares with a market value of SEK 2,406m.

2) Calculated dilution based on the estimated economic value of the long-term equity-based programmes.
3) According to Swedish FSA regulations for respective period.
4) Average for the year.

 A five-year summary of the group and the parent bank’s income statements and balance sheets is available on p. 152.

 Definitions are available on p. 159.
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Insurance assets and liabilities
Financial assetswithin the insurance operations amounted to
SEK404bn (367). Out of this, financial assetswhere policyholders
carry the risk (mostly unit-linked insurance), amounted to
SEK296bn (272) and other assets (mostly traditional and risk
insurance) amounted to an additional SEK 108bn (95).

Liabilities in the insurance operations amounted to SEK404bn
(371). Out of this, SEK297bn (272)was related to financial commit-
ments for investment contracts (mostly unit-linked insurance),
while SEK 107bn (99)was related to insurance contracts (mostly
traditional and risk insurance). Insurance liabilities aremainly
covered by financial assets but also by non-financial assets such as
investment properties. The value of investment properties
amounted to SEK7bn (7).

Tangible and intangible assets
Themajor part of the tangible assets consists of real estate proper-
ties at a total amount of SEK 7.9bn (8.4).

Intangible assets totalled SEK 11.4bn (17.1), ofwhich42per cent
represented goodwill. Goodwill items are subject to a yearly impair-
ment test. In SEB’s reorganisation during 2016, goodwillwas
reallocated to the appropriate cash-generating units. The result
was an impairment of goodwill in the amount of SEK5,334m, an
itemaffecting comparability (see boxp. 30). Deferred acquisition
costs in insurance operations amounted to SEK4.0bn (4.2).

Deposits, borrowings and issued securities
The financing of the group consists of deposits from the public
(households, corporates, etc.), borrowings fromSwedish, German
and other financial institutions and issuance ofmoneymarket
instruments, bonds, covered bonds and subordinated debt.
 See p. 43 and note 17f for information on liquidity management.

Rating

Moody’s rating of SEB’s long-term senior unsecured debt is
based on SEB’s asset quality, earnings stability and diversifi-
cation aswell as increased efficiency.

S&P’s rating of SEB’s long-term senior unsecured debt is
based on the bank’s strong capital and earnings development
whichmay offset the effect of heightened economic risks in
Sweden as perceived by S&P.

Fitch’s rating of SEB’s long-term senior unsecured debt
improved fromA+ toAA– in 2016 based on SEB’s long-term
strategy, earnings stability and diversification.

Financial structure
Total assets at 31 December 2016were SEK2,621bn, an increase by
SEK 125bn year-on-year (2,496).

Loan portfolio
Loans to the public amounted to SEK 1,453bn, an increase of
SEK 100bn year-on-year (1,353). Excluding repos and debt securi-
ties, loans to the public increased by SEK99bn. Therewas growth
in allmain segments in theNordic and Baltic regions.

SEB’s total credit portfolio,which includes both on-and off
balance sheet items, amounted to SEK2,143bn (2,065). During
the year total household loans and commitments increased by
SEK21bn. The combined corporate and propertymanagement
loans and commitments increased by SEK 134bn. See p. 41 and
note 17.

Interest-bearing securities
SEB’s credit exposure in the bond portfolio (interest-bearing securi-
ties and credit derivatives and futures) amounted to SEK 168bn
(229). See note 17a.

Derivatives
The fair value of the derivative contracts are booked as assets and
liabilities on the balance sheet. They amounted to SEK212bn and
SEK 175bn respectively.

Themix and volumes of derivatives reflect the demand for deriva-
tives of the bank’s customers formanagement of their financial risk.
The bank is amarketmaker for derivatives and also uses derivatives
for the purpose of protecting the cash flows and fair value of its
financial assets and liabilities from for instance interest rate fluc-
tuations See note 42.

Moody’s
Outlook stable

Standard & Poor’s
Outlook stable

Fitch
Outlook stable

Short Long Short Long Short Long

P–1 Aaa A–1+ AAA F1+ AAA

P–2 Aa1 A–1 AA+ F1 AA+

P–3 Aa2 A–2 AA F2 AA

Aa3 A–3 AA– F3 AA–

A1 A+ A+
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OtherOther

Life insuranceLife insurance

Credit institutionsCredit institutions

Liquidity portfolio

DerivativesDerivatives
Customer trading

Customer trading

Central bank balances
Central bank deposits

Household deposits
Household lending

Equity

Short-term funding

Long-term funding

Corporate and public
sector deposits

Corporate and public
sector lending
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Assets Liabilities and equity

Balance sheet structure 31 December 2016
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Deposits and borrowings from the public amounted to SEK962bn
(884). Household deposits increased by SEK 15bnwhile corporate
deposits increased by SEK63bn during the year.

Issued securitieswith short and longmaturities amounted to
SEK669bn (639). During the year SEK87bn in long-term funding
matured (79). The bankwas able to use its favourable position from
a credit risk point of view to raise new funding at an amount of
SEK 145bn. Issued subordinated debt amounted to SEK41bn (31).

Total equity
Total equity at theopeningof 2016amounted to SEK143bn. In
accordancewith a resolutionof theAnnualGeneralMeeting in2016,
SEK 11.5bnof equitywasused for thedividend (10.4).Net profit
amounted to SEK 10.6bnandother comprehensive incomeamoun-
ted to SEK –946m.At year-end2016, total equity amounted to
SEK141bn.

Dividend
TheBoard ofDirectors proposes to theAnnualGeneralMeeting a
dividendof SEK5.50per ClassA andClass C share respectively
(5.25),which corresponds to a 113 per cent payout ratio (69). Ex-
cluding items affecting comparability (see boxp. 30), the payout
ratiowas 75per cent. The total proposeddividend amounts to
SEK 11.9bn (11.5), calculated on the total number of issued shares
as per 31December 2016, excluding repurchased shares.

Assets under management and custody
At year-end, assets undermanagement amounted to SEK 1,781bn
(1,700). The net inflowof volumeswas SEK77bn. The increase
in valuewas SEK4bn. Assets under custody amounted to
SEK6,859bn (7,196).

Ahead of 2017

In 2017, the bankwill continue itswork in accordancewith the
strategic direction and the business plan. Thismeans increasing
income through growth in core areas of strength, developing
more digital tools and services and expanding employee skills,
while at the same time keeping costs below SEK22bn.

Themacroeconomic development remains uncertain even
though the outlook is somewhatmore positive. Deflation risks are
less prominent. However, large global economic imbalances
remain and the potential reduction of liquidity support to finan-
cialmarkets from central banksworld-widemay create direct and
indirect effects that are difficult to assess. There are signs that the
Swedish central bankmay not further cut interest rates andmay
even introduce a raise in late 2017. The unexpected outcomeof the
British EU referendumand theUS presidential electionwere
factors that added to the uncertainty.

In SEB, credit,market, liquidity, IT and operational aswell as
insurance risks affect the business. SEB’s risk composition and
riskmanagement are described on p. 40-45 and in note 17, 19 and 20.

New legislation in Sweden implies that interest on subordinated
debt that qualifies as tier 1 capital and tier 2 capitalwill not be
deductible for income tax purposes. The estimated effect from the
change is an increase in tax expenses by approximately SEK 360m
in 2017 and SEK300m in 2018 and per year onwards, all else

equal. SEB has no plans to call any of the outstanding subordi-
nated tier 1 capital transactions due to this tax reason and cannot
contractually call the outstanding subordinated tier 2 capital
transactions for the same reason.

Furthermore, a tax based on salary expense in the financial
sectorwas implemented inNorway as of the start of 2017 and
a similar tax is being proposed for implementation in Sweden
in 2018. The total estimated effect on SEBwould be around
SEK700mper year.

Total regulatory fees are expected to exceed SEK2bn in 2017.
Themain reason is that the single resolution fund fee in Sweden
doubled to 9 basis points.

The newaccounting standard IFRS9 - Financial Instruments
introduces a new impairmentmodel based on expected loss
instead of the incurred lossmodel applicable today. SEB’s assess-
ment is that the new rules are likely to increase loan loss provi-
sions and decrease equity at transition 1 January 2018 and that
volatility in the credit loss line item in the income statementwill
increase. To date it is unclear how regulatorswill treat the interac-
tion of the accounting loan loss provisions and the regulatory
capital concept of expected loss. The EuropeanCommission has
proposed that incremental provisions under IFRS9 should be
phased in over a five-year period.

Deposits from
the public SEK bn

201620152014
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201620152014

Assets undermanagement SEK bn
2016 2015 2014

Start of period 1 ,700 1 ,708 1 ,475

Inflow 255 280 304

Outflow –178 –220 –212

Acquisition/disposal net 0 –75 0

Change in value 4 7 141

End of period 1 ,781 1 ,700 1 ,708
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Business volumes on the balance sheet SEKm

Business volumes outside the balance sheet (examples) in accordancewith accounting principles

Customers’ financial needs is the source of SEB’s busi-
ness volumes and result. The general relationships
between customer-driven business volumes on- and
off-balance sheet, the income statement and external
factors are outlined below.

Themacroeconomic situation is of great importance for customer
behaviour and, togetherwith the bank’s own actions, it is amajor
factor impacting the business and the result.

In times of positive economic development both businesses and
private individuals aremore likely to invest and consume. Thismay
lead to increased lending,more payments, a higher number of
corporate transactions, etcetera, all ofwhich affect net interest and
net commission income positively.

In an unfavourable part of the business cycle, customersmay be
more restrictive and growth in business and transaction volumes
may level outwhile credit lossesmay increase. On the other hand
customers hedge their risks in uncertain and volatile timeswhich
may increase net financial income.

SEB’s total result is less volatile over time than each line item in
the income statement stand-alone. For instance net fee commission
income tends to increasewhen financial income decreases and vice
versa.

Assets 2016

Central banks 217,808

Loans to other credit institutions 50,527

ofwhich Debt securities 382

Loans to the public 1,453,019

ofwhich Debt securities 14,724

Debt securities 122,192

Equity instruments 40,324

Derivatives 212,355

Insurance assets 410,155

Financial assets at fair value 785,026

Debt securities 32,698

Equity instruments 3,049

Available-for-sale financial assets 35,747

Other assets 78,519

Total assets 2,620,646

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

Income statement, simplified SEKm

2016

Net interest income 18,738

Net fee and commission income 16,628

Net financial income 7,056

Net other income 1,349

Total operating income 43,771

Total operating expenses –27,761

Credit losses and other –1,143

Income tax expense –4,249

Net profit 10,618

A

B

C

D

2 3
4 5

22 Assets under
management

Customers invest in for instancemutual
funds, SEK bn 1,781

22 Assets under
custody

The bank safekeeps securities and collects
dividends and interest on customers’ behalf,
SEK bn 6,859

22 Commitments Customers are providedwith preapproved
credits, SEK bn 655

22 Guarantees The bank assists customerswith credit risk
management, SEK bn 120

22 Payments and
cashmanagement

Customersmake payments andmanage
account balances.

22 Card transactions Customersmake card payments.

22 Securities
transactions

Customers use the bank as an intermediary in
securities transactions, for instance equities.

22 Corporate
transactions

Corporate customers seek advice
and assistance for various corporate
transactions, such as acquisitions, IPOs etc.

1) Short position – a negative item in the inventory held for customer trades.

Liabilities and equity 2016

12 Central banks 54,393

13 Deposits fromcredit institutions 65,471

14 Deposits and borrowings from the public 962,028

15 Liabilities to policyholders 403,831

16 Commercial papers/Certificates of deposit 126,480

17 Longterm debt 542,400

Debt securities issued 668,880

18
1)

Debt instruments 9,549

19
1)

Equity instruments 10,072

20 Derivatives and other 193,875

Financial liabilities at fair value 213,496

Other liabilities 70,852

21 Subordinated debt 40,719

Total equity 140,976

Total liabilities and equity 2,620,646
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Net interest
income A

Net fee and
commission income B

Net financial
income C

Net other
income D

Net interest income is the difference
between income from lending and
expenses associated with deposits
and borrowings. Interest margins
differ in variousmarkets, mainly
due to varyingmaturities and risk.
Margins and business volumes have
amajor bearing.

Net fee and commission income
increases with growing transaction
volumes. Fundrelated commissions
increasewith highermarket values.

Both themarket value and realised
gains and losses on transactions
with securities, currencies and
derivatives are part of the result.
The trend in the financial markets
plays amajor role.

Items in net other income occur
sporadically with no clear link to
macroeconomic factors.

Lo
an
s

Customer loans generate interest
income over the life of the transac
tion. Upfront fees on new loans are
treated as interest income.
1 2 4

SEB participates in, or leads, syndi
cations of loans leading to net fee
and commission income or
expenses. 4

D
eb
t

in
st
ru
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en
ts

SEBmaintains an inventory of debt
instruments – interestbearing
securities and bonds – for customer
trades and liquidity management.
They accrue interest over life.
3 5 6 10 18

1)

SEB holds debt instruments for
customer trading and liquidity
management. The customer trading
activity as well as themarket value
of the inventory affect net financial
income. 6 18

1)

Sales from the bank’s inventory of
debt instruments held for liquidity
management or investment affect
this item.
3 5 10

Eq
ui
ty

In
st
ru
m
en
ts Brokerage fees occur in

equity trading. 22
SEB holds equity instruments for
customer trading and is a counter
part in equity swaps. The customer
trading, themarket value and divi
dends affect this item. 7 19 1)

Sales from the bank’s equity hold
ings and dividends affect the item.
11

D
er
iv
at
iv
es

Interest rate derivatives that are
used by SEB to reduce volatility in the
result (hedge) accrue interest over
life. 8 20

In certain cases, SEB charges
and submits fees when trading in
derivatives. 8 20

SEB is a counterparty for customers
wishing tomanage risk (for instance
foreign exchange and interest rate
risk) using derivative instruments.
Both customer trades and the
market value of the holdings affect
financial income. 8 20

Themarket value of derivatives that
SEB uses for hedging. 8 20

D
ep
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an
d

bo
rr
ow

in
gs Customer deposits generate interest

expense. 12 13 14
Certain bank accounts generate fee
income. 14

In
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e
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d

sa
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ng

s

SEB provides savings in unitlinked
insurance, deposit insurance and
similar products where the
customer bears the risk. Invested
volumes generate fee income. In
addition, distribution generates fee
expenses. 9 15 22

SEB provides savings in traditional
pension with a certain guaranteed
return, sickness and health insur
ance and related services. The item
depends on the invested volumes as
well as the outcome of insurance
claims. 9 15

Is
su
ed

se
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rit
ie
s
an
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su
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rd
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ed

de
bt SEB’s operations are funded by long

and shortterm interestbearing
securities, all of which generate
interest expense. 16 17 21

Indexlinked bonds generating fee
income are provided for the purpose
of customer investment. 16 17

Themarket value including the
credit risk in SEB’s issued index
linked bonds affects the item. 17

Early redemption by SEB of its debt
instruments affects this item. 16 17

21
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Various customer services are
provided which generate both fee
and commission income and
expense. Most fees are fixed and
transaction based; some aremarket
value based. 22

1) Short position – a negative item in the inventory held for customer trades.
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Divisions and
business support

Division Business offering 2016 events
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Co-heads:
Joachim Alpen
and Johan Torgeby 1)

The division serves 2,300 large corporate
customers and 700 financial institutions and
offers advisory-driven commercial and invest-
ment banking services in theNordic region,
Germany and through an extensive interna-
tional presence. Customer-driven trading,
liquiditymanagement, financing, capital
markets, custody services and assetmanage-
ment sales are part of the offering.

Large corporate customersweremore active
towards the end of the year as business senti-
ment grewmore positive. SEB’s new custody
platform, InvestorWorld,was launched provid-
ing institutional clientswith state-of-the-art
functionality. SEB initiated a partnershipwith
the fintech companyRipple to enable customers
tomake real-time payments. A pilot for
payments between the SEB branches inNew
York and Stockholm is underway.
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Co-heads:
Mats Torstendahl and
Christoffer Malmer

The division serves some 1.7million private
customers and 216,000 companies in Sweden
with full banking and advisory services
throughmobile, online and telephone services
aswell as from 137 branch offices. The division
issues cards in theNordic countries under
SEB’s ownbrand aswell as for Eurocard and
Diners Club, and offers leading private banking
services to high networth individuals.

The small andmedium-sized customers’ credit
demand increased. SEB’s digital offering to
corporate customerswas top-ranked by Finans-
barometern. The development of a digital offer-
ing to private customerswas accelerated. SEB
entered into a partnershipwith the fintech
company Tink, launched a youth app to custom-
ers below the age of 18 and a digitalmortgage
calculator. SEB also launched a newbranch
office concept.

Ba
lt
ic

Head:
Riho Unt

The division provides bank products and advi-
sory services in Estonia, Latvia and Lithuania
to around 1.8million private customers and
138,000 companies throughmobile solutions,
online aswell as from the network of 82 branch
offices. SEB’s Baltic real estate holding compa-
nies are also part of the division.

SEB continued to invest in better customer offer-
ings and advisory services, for instance a remote
advisory servicewith an end-to-end process
and digital signing, newpayment options for
SEB credit card in Estonia, launch of contactless
cards in Latvia and Lithuania and smartmobile
point-of-sale in Lithuania.
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Head:
Peter Dahlgren 2)

The division provides insurance and pension
solutions for corporations, private individuals
and institutions primarily in theNordic and
Baltic regions.With the return of traditional
life insurance in Sweden the offer covers a
broad range of products. The responsibility of
the division includes themanagement of funds
and other investment portfolios,where one
important aspect is SEB’s development in the
sustainability area.

Efforts to improve the digital services continued
and SEB can nowoffer a completely digitalised
customermeeting. Ownership dialogues out-
side theNordic countries strengthened. SEB
was top-ranked for its equity and fixed income
management in PRI’s (Principles for Respon-
sible Investments) annual rating of sustainable
investments.

Unit Function
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Head:
Martin Johansson

Business Support is a cross-divisional functionwith the responsibility to support business opera-
tionswith proactive IT development and execution of back-office services aswell as to ensure stable
daily operations of the IT systems – all carried outwith focus on cost efficiency.

The IT development is done step-by-step, taking small initiatives and using agileways ofwork-
ing. In thisway fast delivery and outcome in linewith customer and business needs are ensured.

Reliable daily services are provided to SEB’s customers, by ensuring that digital channels are
runningwithout disruption and payments are processed correctly.

1) Appointed as President and CEO as of 29 March 2017. 2) Left SEB in spring 2017.
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Operating income and profit (SEK bn) Comments on the result Divisions’ relative share of:

Operating profit decreased to SEK9,133m.Net
interest income increased aftermeasures taken to
counteract the negative interest rates. Net fee and
commission incomewas lowermainly as a conse-
quence of fewer event-driven transactions and a
limitation of stock lending activities. Net financial
income increased due to higher demand for risk
management products. Operating expenses,
excluding items affecting comparability
decreased (see box on p. 30).

Operating profit increasedmarginally to
SEK 7,348m. Customerswere fairly optimistic.
Net interest income increased aftermeasures
were taken to counteract the negative interest
rates. Net fee and commission income decreased
partly due to the regulatory cap on interchange
fees on cards and net financial incomewas down.
Operating expenses increasedmarginallywhile
credit losses decreased.

Operating profit increased to SEK 1,451m.Net
interest income grewdue to increased volumes.
Net fee and commission incomewas higher as a
result of increased customer activitywhile net
financial income decreased. Operating expenses
increased partly due to an item affecting compara-
bility (see box on p. 30) and credit losseswere
down. The Baltic economic growthwas stable.

Operating profit increased to SEK3,157m.Net fee
and commission incomewas lower in a negative
stockmarket development. Net financial income
increased due to better investment results and
improved risk result in the Swedish andDanish
life insurance business. Operating expenses
decreased.

IT investments and automation Comments

Cost efficient transactions and improved customer
experiences are being achieved by continuous
organisation efficiencies and through the use of
new technology.

An increasing share of the bank’s transactions
are being automated. SEBmakes substantial
investments each year in IT development.

Operating income 1)

Operating profit 1)

Employees
Number of full-time equivalents 15,300

Large Corporates & Financial Institutions 44%

Corporate & Private Customers 35%

Baltic 8%

Life & Investment Management 13%

2016

Large Corporates & Financial Institutions 43%

Corporate & Private Customers 35%

Baltic 7%

Life & Investment Management 15%

2016

Large Corporates & Financial Institutions 14%

Corporate & Private Customers 24%

Baltic 17%

Life & Investment Management 10%

Business support 25%

Staff 10%

2016

1) Excluding business support, staff and other

1) Excluding business support, staff and other
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Market Activities 2016

Sweden
Annika Falkengren
President andCEO

Universal banking

Themarketwas characterised by the negative interest rate environ-
ment and subdued large corporate customer activity. Small and
medium-sized companiesweremore active and thewillingness to
invest in infrastructure and residential homes increased. SEB
focused on customer experience and improved digital solutions
for corporate and private customers.

Estonia
AllanParik
Countrymanager

Universal banking

SEB experienced increased household demand formortgages and a
steady inflowof new customers. The corporate customerswere
cautious due to themacro environment. SEB focused on improving
digital solutions aswell as advice to small andmedium-sized
companies. SEB is the second largest bank in Estonia.

Latvia
IevaTetere
Countrymanager

Universal banking

Household sentimentwas positivewhile business’ and entrepre-
neurs’ demand for investmentswasmodest. In SEB, the yearwas a
turning point after several years of decline as regards loan volumes.
A new core banking platformwith new customer interfaceswas
developed. SEB is the second largest bank in Latvia.

Lithuania
RaimondasKvedaras
Countrymanager

Universal banking

Despite the uncertainmarket environment, customer activity and
business volumes grew. SEB focused on strengthening the digital
presence, providing accessibility of financial services and customer
solutions via different sales channels. SEB is the biggest bank in
Lithuania.

Denmark
PeterHøltermand
Countrymanager

Corporate banking

Improved business climate led to an increased demand for financing
and several corporate transactionswere closed during the year. SEB
was ranked number 2 for large corporates and number 3 for finan-
cial institutions in Prospera’s customer survey. Investmentmanage-
ment attracted new foreign inflows of funds.

Norway
WilliamPaus
Countrymanager

Corporate banking

Customer activitywas highwhich lead to an all-time high result.
SEBwas active in several larger transactionsmainlywithin infra-
structure and renewable energy. Activitywithin the bondmarket
was high and SEB’smarket position strengthened. SEBwas ranked
number 2 for large corporates and number 3 for financial institu-
tions in Prospera’s customer survey.

Finland
MarcusNystén
Countrymanager

Corporate banking

In the subduedmacroeconomic environment, themarketwas
characterised by risk aversion but several event-driven transactions
among large corporate customersweremade, and especially advi-
sory and financing serviceswere sought after by local customers.

Germany
JohanAndersson
Countrymanager

Corporate banking

Excess liquidity, negative policy rates and a strong economyhave
made the heterogeneousGerman bankingmarket evenmore
competitive in 2016. SEB iswell positioned as an internationally
oriented corporate bank and the conversion from subsidiary to
branchwill enhance simplicity and improve profitability.

Othermarkets

The international
network

Corporate banking

Political uncertainty and economic slowdown inmany international
marketsmeant somewhat lower activity. SEB supported customers’
international activities and offered international institutions access
to theNordic capitalmarkets. The product offering strengthened
and the number of customers grew.

Geographic markets

Share of SEB’s operating
profit 2016 1) Per cent

1) Excluding items affecting comparability
2) Excluding centralised treasury operations

2016

Sweden 52
Estonia 4
Latvia 2
Lithuania 3
Denmark 11
Norway 12
Finland 5
Germany 2) 3
Other markets 8

SEK20bn
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Market shares

Per cent 2016 2015
Total market,
SEK bn, 2016

Lending to the public

Sweden 14.4 14.3 5,589

lending to households 13.2 13.7 3,516

lending to companies 16.4 15.4 2,072

Estonia 1) 23.4 23.9 153

Latvia 1) 16.7 16.8 147

Lithuania 1) 29.3 29.3 174

Deposits from the public

Sweden 15.7 15.6 2,574

deposits from households 11.6 11.4 1,654

deposits from companies 23.6 23.4 920

Estonia1) 22.9 21.1 144

Latvia 1) 10.2 9.1 214

Lithuania 1) 27.9 28.1 167

Equity trading

Stockholm 6.0 7.0 7,720

Oslo 3.1 3.7 2,223

Helsinki 2.5 3.5 2,297

Copenhagen 2.9 4.2 3,327

SEK-denominated
corporate bonds 16.7 18.9 97

Mutual funds, total volumes 2)

Sweden 11.9 12.2 3,568

Finland 3.0 3.7 1,014

Unit-linked insurance,
premium income

Sweden 16.8 16.4 60

Life insurance, premium income

Sweden 8.7 7.7 191

Denmark N/A 10.0

1) Excl. financial institutions & leasing. Estonia and Latvia per November 2016,
Lithuania per September 2016.

2) Excluding third-party funds.

Sources: Statistics Sweden, Bank of Estonia, Financial and Capital Market Commission in Latvia,
Association of Lithuanian Banks, Swedish Insurance Federation, Nasdaq etc.

Total household savings, Sweden 2016 Per cent

Market shares, Sweden Per cent

Households,Deposits

Corporates, Deposits

Households, Lending

Corporates, Lending

SEB SHB Nordea Swedbank

Customer contacts
2016 2015 2014

Number of syndicated loans in
Nordic countries 73 65 77

Number of equity capital market
transactions in the Nordic region 24 19 19

Number of Nordic mergers and acquisitions 24 17 32

International private banking branches 12 12 13

2016 2015 2014

Number of Swish payments via SEB’s app (million) 18 8 2

Online bank, number of visits (million) 174 158 173

Mobile bank, number of sessions (million) 216 165 95

Telephone bank, number of calls (million) 4.4 4.3 4.2

Number of life insurance intermediaries and brokers 2,500 2,550 2,600

Number of branch offices 219 252 277

Number of ATMs 1) 2,757 2,640 3,034

Total household savings – savings accounts, mutual funds, traditional and unit-linked
insurance and bonds but excluding directly owned equities – in Sweden amounted to
SEK 7,649bn as of 30 September 2016.
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2016

SEB 10.2%
Swedbank 11.9%
Skandia 7.3%
Nordea 10.0%
Handelsbanken 9.4%
Alecta 10.8%
AMF 7.5%
Other 32.9%

Market shares and
customer contacts

10.2
per cent

1) whereof 1,900 jointly owned by major Nordic banks
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SEB safeguards a strong financial position so that
customers’ and other stakeholders’ requirements
can bemet. Risk, liquidity and capital management
involves assuming risk to create customer value while
maintaining resilience in all potential circumstances.

Holistic management
The areas of performance and pricing aswell asmanagement of
risk, capital and liquidity are closely interconnected and form an
integral part of the bank’s strategic and long-termfinancial and
operational business plans.

Creating sustainable value is directly dependent upon the bank’s
ability to assess,monitor and price riskswhilemaintaining suffi-
cient capital and liquidity tomeet unforeseen events. Tomaximise
customer and shareholder value, the financial consequences of busi-
ness decisions are evaluated and SEB proactivelymanages opera-
tions based on threemain aspects:

1. growth, mix and risk of business volumes
2. capital and liquidity requirements driven by the business
3. profitability.

The Board of Directors decides the bank’s long-term strategic direc-
tion, financial targets and overall risk tolerance. Targets are set and
reviewed on a regular basis tomanage and optimise resources. In its
overarching risk tolerance statements, the Board conveys the direc-
tion and level of risk, funding structure, necessary liquidity buffers
and capital targets.

In its position as a leading universal bank, SEB’smain risk is
credit risk,which arises in lending and commitments to customers.
Othermaterial risks include liquidity,market, operational (includ-
ing IT and information security), business, pension and insurance

risk. In order to cover these risks SEB holds a capital buffer and
liquidity reserves in case of unforeseen events.

SEB’s President is responsible for optimising the risk profile
within the risk tolerance levels and capital adequacy targets set by
the Board as well as the overall management of SEB’s risks. SEB
strives to continuously identify andmanage potential future risks
through stress tests and scenario analysis in order to secure finan-
cial stability.

Risk review 2016
In 2016, SEB continued to demonstrate its resilience in a protracted
market environmentwith stable credit volume growth, continued
high asset quality and low credit losses, a stable liquidity position
and robust capital adequacy.

SEB’s capital strength and asset qualitywas confirmed in the
comprehensive stress test conducted by the European Banking
Authority (EBA) in 2016. In the EBA adverse stress scenario, SEB
had one of the lowest credit loss levels andwas one of two banks
in Sweden that remained above regulatory capital requirements.
The IMF, the Swedish FSA and the Swedish Central Bank also
performed stress tests during the yearwhich confirmed the strength
of the Swedish banking system.

The financialmarketswere volatile during the year, driven by the
sustained uncertainty around global economic growth prospects
and the geopolitical development, lowoil prices and continued low
interest rate policies and quantitative easing actions by central
banks. The unexpected outcomes of the Brexit referendumand the
US presidential election created short-term turmoil in themarkets
and the long-term consequences remain unclear. Interest rateswere
further lowered, and the challenges posed by negative interest rates
remained in severalmarketswhere SEB operates.

Risk tolerance statements in brief

SEB shall:
• maintain satisfactory capital strength in order to sustain

aggregated risks, and guarantee the bank’s long-term survival
and its position as a financial counterparty,while operating
safelywithin regulatory requirements andmeeting rating
targets.

• have a robust credit culture based on long-term relation-
ships, knowledge about the customers and focus on their
repayment ability. Thiswill lead to a high quality credit
portfolio.

• have a soundly structured liquidity position, a balanced
wholesale funding dependence and sufficient liquid reserves
tomeet potential net outflows in a stressed scenario.

• strive tomitigate operational risks in all business activities
andmaintain the bank’s reputation.

• achieve lowearnings volatility by generating revenues based
on customer-driven business.

Risk, liquidity and
capital management

Risk strategy
and risk
tolerance

Risk, capital
and liquidity
management

Performance
management

Pricing

Profitability
requirements

Strategic,
financial and
operational

plans

Holistic management
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Stable credit portfolio growth
Despite the uncertainty, credit demandwas stable inmost of
SEB’s keymarkets. SEB’s credit portfolio grewby 7 per cent to
SEK2,143bn (2,065), driven by growth in the corporate and prop-
ertymanagement sectors. The corporate portfolio amounted to
SEK 1,029bn (936) at year-end and consistsmainly of largeNordic
andGerman customers in awide range of industries, the largest
beingmanufacturing. This is 48 per cent of the total credit port-
folio,whichmakes SEB unique among its peers. SEB’s exposure
to small andmedium-sized companies ismainly in Sweden and
amounts to 11 per cent of the bank’s corporate portfolio. Exposure
to this segmentwas unchanged during the year.

Continued investments in residential housing in Sweden contri-
buted to SEB’s credit volume growth in themulti-family housing

sector and housing associations,which constitutes almost half of
SEB’s propertymanagement portfolio of SEK 348bn (307). The
remainder of the portfolio is commercial real estate companies,
consistingmainly of strong customerswith sound financing struc-
tures in theNordic region andGermany.

The Baltic economies developed favourably as a result of growing
exports, investments and private consumption. SEB’s Baltic port-
folio grew for the second consecutive year as the activity among
corporate and private customers continued to increase, particularly
in Estonia and Lithuania. At year-end, the portfolio amounted to
SEK 148bn (134).

Swedish household mortgage lending remains in focus
Homeprices in Sweden continued to rise in 2016, driven by low inter-
est rates and an imbalance between supply anddemand.On
1 June 2016, the Swedish government implemented a newamortisa-
tion requirement for newhouseholdmortgage loanswith a loan-to-
value (LTV) above 50per cent in an effort to slow the rapidly increas-
ing household debt. This had a slightly decelerating effect on the
growth rate of homeprices and lending during the secondhalf of the
year. SEB’s Swedish householdmortgage lending portfoliogrewby
3per cent in 2016,whichwas below themarket growthof 8 per cent.

SEBmaintains a long-termperspective also in its household
mortgage lending,with particular focus on repayment ability and
amortisation requirement. This includes a threshold for debt-to-
income of 500 per cent and a home affordability analysiswith
significantly higher interest rates. In 2016, 98 per cent of all new
loanswith an LTV above 50 per cent contained an amortisation
plan.

The portfolio,which amounts to SEK461bn (443), is of high asset
qualitywith good repayment ability among customers, lowhistori-
cal credit losses and lowLTV ratios. Property values are continu-
ously assessed andmonitored.

The EBA stress test 2016 Per cent

Common Equity Tier 1 capital ratio

18.818.8

13.2

Actual
year end

2015
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SEB

Average of 51

European banks

participated
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stress test

16.6

9.49.4

Adverse

scenario

impact

Corporates 48

Households 28

Property management 16

Public administration 3

Banks 5
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Eachbusiness unit is
responsible for the risks it
takes – thefirst line of
defence. Longterm customer
relationships and a sound risk
culture provide a solid founda
tion for SEB’s risktaking deci
sions. Initial risk assessments
aremade of both the customer
relationship and the proposed
transaction. The business units
ensure that transactions are
correctly priced and that the
assumed risks aremanaged
throughout the life of the
transaction. Larger transac
tions are reviewed by one of
the bank’s credit committees.
The business units are respon
sible for ensuring that the
activities complywith applica
ble rules. They are supported
by groupwide policies and
instructions and a clear deci
sionmaking hierarchy.

Although oil prices recovered somewhat during the year, the struc-
tural challenges remain in the oil, gas and offshore industries. The
elevated risk in the sector has resulted in some risk class deteriora-
tion of SEB’s related portfolio and the bankworks closelywith its
customers in the sector. SEB ismainly exposed to larger customers
operating in theNorth Sea region.

Lowmarket risk in volatile markets
SEB’smarket risk levelwas relatively low throughout the year,
despite high customer activity and volatility in the financial
markets. The risk in the customer-driven trading ismeasured as
Value-at-Risk (VaR)which on average amounted to SEK 112m (117)
in 2016. Thismeans that, on average, the bank is not expected to
losemore than this amount during a period of ten trading days,with
99 per cent probability. Themain risk driverswere significantly
lower Swedish and euro interest rates and volatile credit spreads.
Themarket risk in the banking book decreased gradually during the
year,mainly due to improved hedging of themortgage portfolio.

Swedish traditional occupational pension re-opened
SEB’s life insurance business consistsmainly of unit-linked prod-
ucts, where themarket risk remainswith the customer. In 2016,
unit-linked products represented 69 per cent of total premium
income. SEB’s traditional occupational pension policies in Sweden,
which have been closed for new sales since 2007,were re-opened
during the yearwith good results. SEB also offers traditional life
insurance business inDenmark. In the traditional life insurance
portfolios, buffers consisting of assets less guaranteed benefits
serve as protection against insurance risk for SEB. The buffers,

High asset quality
Asset quality for the aggregate credit portfolio remained high and
the credit loss level continued to be lowat 7 basis points (6). Non-
performing loans amounted to SEK7.6bn (8), corresponding to
0.5 per cent of total lending. Non-performing loans in the Baltic
portfolio continued to decline and amounted to SEK2.8bn (3.8),
or 2.3 per cent of total lending, at year-end.

Increased focus on climate-related risks

Climate changes are increasingly impacting the state of the
world, and there is a growing need for better understanding and
transparency of climate-related risks in the financial sector. This
is not only about internal riskmanagement, but also increas-
ingly required by customers and regulators.

One consequence of taking actions to reduce climate risks is
the so-called carbon risk, or the risk of “stranded” assets, in the
transition to net zero greenhouse gas emissions. In 2016, SEB
decided to reduce the coal exposure in itsmanaged funds by
taking a stricter approach to investing in companies involved in
thermal coal extraction and by increasing its active ownership
role through dialogueswith energy-related companies. For
several years, SEB applies a number of sector policies that limit
lending to companies in certain sectors, such as fossil fuels,
mining andmetals. SEB does not provide newfinancing of
coalmining and coal power plants.

lineofdefence

lineofdefence

lineofdefence

Three lines of defence against risk

1st
The riskandcomplianceorganisa-
tionsconstitute thesecond lineof
defence.Theseunits are independent
from thebusiness. The risk organisa
tion is responsible for identifying,
measuring,monitoring and reporting
risks. Risks aremeasuredbothon
detailed andaggregated levels. SEBhas
developedadvanced internalmeasure
mentmodels for amajor part of the
credit portfolio aswell as formarket
andoperational risk andhas approval
from theSwedish FSA touse the
models for calculating capital require
ments. Risks are controlled through
limits at transactional, desk andportfo
lio levels. Asset quality and the risk
profile aremonitored continuously, for
example through stress testing.

Thecompliancefunctionworks
proactively toensure thequalityof
complianceatSEB,andfocuseson
issuessuchascustomerprotection,
conduct in thefinancialmarket,preven
tionofmoney launderingandfinancing
of terrorism,andregulatorysystemsand
controls.

2nd
Group Internal Audit is
the third line of
defence. SEB’s risk
management is regularly
reviewed and evaluated
by Internal Audit to
ensure that it is
adequate and effective.
The internal auditors are
in turn evaluated by
external auditors. Based
on the evaluations of the
third line of defence, the
processes in the first and
second lines of defence
are continuously
strengthened. SEB’s
governance framework,
in combinationwith its
sound risk culture and
business acumen,make
up the cornerstones of
effective riskmanage
ment.

3rd

See p. 58 for a description of the Chief Risk Officer and the risk, compliance and internal audit functions and organisation.
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which are calculated for each investment portfolio, remained at
satisfactory levels throughout the year.

Solvency II, the new regulatory framework for insurance compa-
nies in the EU, took effect from 1 January 2016. The aim is to create a
harmonised regulatory framework for governance, internal control
and capital requirements across Europe.

Low losses from operational incidents
Operational risks are inherent in all businesses. SEB has an opera-
tional riskmanagement framework and strives to continuously
improve governance and risk practices tomitigate existing and
emerging risks. Important processes and tools include aNewProd-
uct Approval Process, business continuitymanagement, risk and
control self-assessments for the purpose of identifying and reducing
large risks aswell as system authoritymanagement. Regular
employee training and education is provided in key areas such as
information security, fraud prevention, anti-money laundering and
know-your-customer procedures.

SEB also has a formalisedwhistleblower procedure that encour-
ages employees to report unethical or illegal conduct. This struc-
tured approach has resulted in a decreased number of incidents and
operational losses aswell as increased risk awareness among
employees in recent years.

In 2016, themethodology for risk and control self-assessment
was updatedwith particular focus on significant processes, legal,
IT and rogue trading risks. Net losses fromoperational incidents
amounted to SEK263m (291). Benchmarking againstmembers
of theOperational RiskData eXchangeAssociation (ORX) shows
that SEB’s operational losses are belowpeer average.

A strong risk culture based on business
acumen and professional conduct
In an industry built on trust, SEB’s reputation and appropriate
conduct are essential for sustainable, long-term customer service
and satisfaction aswell as for profitability. Internationally, regula-
tors have taken extensive actions to penalise banks’misconduct,
particularly in relation to violating customers’ interests and
consumer protection. SEB’s reputation is built on strong customer
relationshipswhere the customers’ interests always come first.
Froma riskmanagement perspective, SEB’s Code of Conduct and
core values,mandatory training and discussionworkshops on ethi-
cal and value-related dilemmas aim to strengthen awareness of the
importance of conduct.

A sound liquidity and funding strategy
Access to liquidity and fundingmarkets is vital in all circumstances.
SEB’s liquidity and funding strategy ismanaged from three
perspectives: (1) by optimising the liquidity structure of the balance
sheet to ensure that less liquid assets arematchedwith stable fund-
ing, (2) bymonitoringwholesale funding dependence, and (3) by
ensuring that the bank has sufficient liquidity towithstand a
severely stressed scenario.

In 2016, SEB saw continued strongmarket demand for its new
issues of short- and long-term funding. SEB’s liquidity reserve, as
defined by the Swedish Bankers’ Association, amounted to
SEK427bn (352) at year-end. The size and composition of the
liquidity reserve is regularly analysed and assessed against
estimated needs.

Update on coming regulatory
requirements affecting capital

Several regulatory initiatives are currently under consideration
that could have an impact on the composition and level of SEB’s
capital base going forward.

1 As part of the EUCommission’s proposal inNovember
2016 to amend capital rules, aminimum requirement
for the leverage ratio (a non risk-based ratio between
Tier 1 capital and assets)was set to 3 per cent to be
applied from2021. SEB’s leverage ratiowas 5.1 per cent
at year-end (4.9). The Commission also included a
proposal for adoption of the framework for Fundamen-
tal Reviewof the Trading Book, coveringmeasuring
and reportingmarket risk, to be applied from2021.

2 Anewaccounting standard, IFRS 9,will be imple-
mented as of 1 January 2018, inwhich loan loss provi-
sionswill move froman ’incurred loss’ concept to
’expected loss’. SEB’s assessment is that the expected
credit lossmodel is likely to increase loan loss provi-
sions and decrease equity at transition and that volatil-
ity in the credit loss line item in the income statement
will increasewith the new rules. The EUCommission
has proposed that the capital effect of the incremental
provisions under IFRS 9 should be phased in over a five-
year period.

3 The EU’s BankRecovery andResolution directivewas
implemented into Swedish law in February 2016. It sets
the crisismanagement procedure for failing banks in
terms of capital, bailing-in or selling assets, and using
resolution funds. It also covers the bail-in tool and
introduces aminimum requirements for own fund and
eligible liabilities (MREL). A proposed SwedishMREL
frameworkwas presented in April 2016, by the Swedish
National Debt Office (Riksgälden),which included a
potential future requirement for subordination of debt
thatmay be bailed-in. SEB is actively participating in
discussions on this issue.

4 To address the issue of variability of risk exposure
amounts among banks, the Basel Committee has
proposed to introduce capital floors and greater restric-
tions on credit riskmodelling parameters and assump-
tions aswell as revisions to the standardised approach
for operational risk. SEB is actively participating in
discussions on this issue and promotes the internal
ratings-basedmodels.

IT risk and cyber securitymanagement
critical to digitalisation agenda

As a growing amount of banking services are offered and
conducted online, systemavailability and cybersecurity are
critical for continued customer trust. SEBprovides services
24/7 through its internet bank, telephone bank andmobile
applications, and is committed to providing the highest
possible accessibility.

Cyber threats continue to evolve as attacks becomemore tech-
nically sophisticated and the attack surface expandswith the
progress of digitalisation. SEB’s approach tomeeting these
threats is to prioritise technical protection and also to raise
awareness among employees and customers. Further, the regula-
tory framework for personal data protection andopenness of
sharing information are becoming stricter. SEB is closely follow-
ing developments and is continuously adjusting to existing and
upcoming requirements. In 2016, SEB’s governance frameworks
and controls for information and cyber securitywere further
strengthened and integrated into the riskmanagement structure.
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TheCore GapRatio, which is SEB’s internalmeasure of howwell
long-term lending ismatched by long-term funding,was
114 per cent (111) , which iswellwithin the bank’s risk tolerance of a
sound liquidity structure. SEBmanages its liquidity position in line
with the upcoming regulatoryNet Stable Funding Ratio (NSFR)
requirement of 100 per cent, which is nowanticipated to be effective
as of 2021.

The Swedish FSA’s Liquidity CoverageRatio (LCR)measures to
what extent SEB’s liquid assets are sufficient to cover short-term
cash outflows in a stressed scenario. The ratio amounted to
168 per cent in aggregate (128), and 305 (230) and 272 (226) for
US dollars and euros, respectively. This is in compliancewith the
Swedish FSA’sminimum requirement of 100 per cent.

Capital adequacy exceeds requirements
Despite strong riskmanagement and risk culture, unexpected losses
canoccur inbanking. SEB’s capitalmanagement shall ensure that the
bankhas sufficient capital to absorb suchunexpected losses. The
BoardofDirectors sets SEB’s capital target taking into consideration
financial stability requirementsby the regulators, debt investors, busi-
ness counterparties, the internal viewof capital needandadebt
ratingambition.This needs tobebalancedwith the shareholders’
required rateof return.

The Swedish FSA’s requirement for the CommonEquity Tier 1
(CET1) capital ratio consists of Pillar 1, which is a generalminimum
requirement for all institutions, and Pillar 2,which is a specific
requirement based on an individual assessment of SEB’s risk, liquid-
ity and capital positionmade in the Supervisory Review andEvalua-
tion Process. SEB estimates the Swedish FSA’s CET1 capital require-
ment to 16.9 per cent as of year-end 2016.

The Board’s capital target is to maintain a CET1 capital ratio of
around 150 basis points above the Swedish FSA’s requirement
in order to maintain a buffer against potential variability in the
capital position deriving from, in particular, changes in foreign
exchange rates and interest rate risk in the defined pension obli-
gations. This means that the CET1 capital ratio target currently is
18.4 per cent.

The CET 1 capital base increased to SEK 114.4bn (107.5)while the
risk exposure amount (REA) increased to SEK610bn (571),mainly
due to increased credit volumes and currency effects.

In 2016, the Swedish FSA introduced certain restrictions and
floors to the internalmodels for corporations,which are expected to
increase the riskweights once they are finalised. These floors have
been considered in the estimate of SEB’s capital requirement. The
capital requirements for Swedish banks are currently significantly
higher than EUminimum levels and the Swedish banks arewell
capitalised comparedwith banks elsewhere in Europe, both froma
risk-weighted and non risk-weighted perspective.

At year-end SEB’s CET1 capital ratio amounted to 18.8 percent
(18.8),which iswell in linewith regulatory requirements and the
Board’s target.
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Risk type

The risk is
identified,
measured and
managed

The risk is
controlled with
internal limits

The risk is subject
to regulatory
capital
requirements Risk description

Credit risk SEB has a wellbalanced credit portfolio, withmain focus on corporations and the
Nordic region. Over the past ten years, which includes the latest financial crisis, SEB’s
credit losses have averaged 0.18 per cent of total lending. All lending shall be based on
the customer’s cash flow and repayment ability and the bank shall have good insight into
the customers’ business and financial position on an ongoing basis.

Risk of loss due to the failure of an obligor to fulfil its obligations towards SEB.
The definition comprises loans, counterparty risk, country risk and settlement
risk. Concentration risk is also considered.

Market risk Market risk arises in the banking book when assets do not fully match the funding
maturities and sources since customers demand variousmaturity dates and currencies.
Market risk also arises in the trading book as SEB facilitates customers’ financial trans
actions. In general, market risk tolerance in SEB is low. This is confirmed by the fact that
there were only nine lossmaking days in 2016.

Market risk is the risk of losses in on and offbalance sheet positions arising
from adversemovements inmarket prices. Market risk can arise from changes
in interest rates, foreign exchange rates, credit spreads, commodity and equity
prices, implied volatilities, inflation andmarket liquidity.

Liquidity risk The primary sources of funding are customer deposits, which to a large extent are
stable, and wholesale funding. SEB has a diversified funding base – short and long
term programs inmultiple capital markets inmultiple currencies – to ensure that
payment obligations aremet as they fall due. Various risk management tools, including
stress tests, ensure that liquid assets are sufficient.

Risk that SEB is unable to refinance its existing assets or is unable tomeet
demand for additional liquidity. It also entails the risk that the bank is forced to
borrow at unfavourable rates or to sell assets at a loss in order tomeet its
payment commitments.

Operational risk Operational risks are an inherent part of all business. It is neither possible nor cost
efficient to eliminate all operational risks. Therefore, smaller losses are a normal part of
SEB’s operations. SEB continuously works tominimise operational losses and, in partic
ular, to avoid larger loss incidents. Benchmarking against members of ORX shows that
SEB’s loss level has historically been below the ORX average.

Risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes and systems,
human errors or external events. Operational risk includes legal and compli
ance risks as well as IT and information security risks.

Insurance risk SEB’s insurance business consists mainly of unitlinked insurance, where themarket risk
is borne by the customer. SEB also offers traditional life insurance products with guaran
teed returns as well as sickness and health insurance solutions, where key risks are
market risk and underwriting risk. Market risk arises in themanagement of traditional
investment assets and from the interest rate sensitivity of the liabilities. Market risk and
underwriting risk are closely monitored andmanaged through traditional analysis of
assets and liabilities as well as actuarial analysis.

All risks related to SEB’s insurance operations, mainly market risk, underwriting
risk and operational risk. Underwriting risk pertains to the risk of loss or of
negative changes in the value of insurance liabilities (technical provisions)
due to inadequate pricing and/or provisioning assumptions.

Pension risk In its defined benefit plans, SEB bears the risk of deviations in projected plan payments
due to changes in expected lifetime and future salary increases. SEB also bears the
market risk from the plan’s investments and the discount rate for the liabilities. Above
all, the defined benefit plans aremainly sensitive to interest rate changes and equity
prices. These risks aremitigated by prudent risk management procedures. The Swedish
defined benefit plan is closed for new participants.

Risk of amismatch between employee pension liabilities and designated
assets. It is related in nature to underwriting risk and contains an element of
market risk.

Business risk Business, strategic and reputational risks are inherent in doing business. Digitalisation
in the banking industry is accelerating, and new types of competitors are emerging.
The extensive new regulatory framework for banking and financial institutions is signifi
cantly impacting the industry. Sustainability plays an increasingly important part of a
company’s reputation. SEB continuously works tomitigate business, strategic and repu
tational risks inmany ways, for example, with strategic business reviews, proactive cost
management, an agile stepbystep IT development approach, an ambitious sustain
ability agenda and an active dialogue on regulatory matters.

Risk of lower revenues due to reduced volumes, price pressure or competition.
The definition includes venture decision risk, i.e., risks related to large under
takings such as acquisitions, large IT projects, reorganisations, outsourcing,
etc. Related risks include strategic and reputational risks.

SEB’s risk
profile in short

Readmore about risk, liquidity and capital management and risk development in notes 17, 19 and 20.
More detailed information is available in the Capital Adequacy and RiskManagement Report on www.sebgroup.com.
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Regulatory
requirements
The streamof new regulatory
requirements continues, although
the volumeof newEU legislation has
subsided somewhat.While the over-
all impact of regulations onbanks’
activities is large, the overall effect
on the real economyhas not yet been
assessed.

1 Financial
stability

Ensure that the financial
system canwithstand
economic shocks and distur
bances and prevent that the
failure of one financial institu
tion leads to a systemic
collapse.

2 Market
conduct

Promote efficient price
setting and execution in
financial markets, and
prevent market manipulation
through enhanced transpar
ency and improved risk miti
gation.

3 Consumer
protection

Ensure fair treatment of
customers and increase their
financial literacy through rele
vant and correct information.
This entails requirements in
terms ofmarketing and pack
aging of financial services and
investment advice services.

2016 2017 2018

La
rg
e

M
ed
iu
m

Financial stability

Impact on SEB operations

Market conduct Consumer protection

MCD –Mortgage Credit
IDD – Insurance Distribution

PAD – Payment Accounts
SEPA – Single Euro Payments Area
SFTR – Securities Financing Transactions

VINN and KRITA – Reporting of loans and securities
BCBS 239/FFFS 2014:1 Risk management

IFRS 9 – Accounting for financial instruments

IFRS 15 – Revenue Recognition

Additional capital requirements to finalise the Basel III package

IFRS 16 – Accounting for leasing

GDPR – General Data Protection

PSD 2 – Payment Services

MiFID 2 /MiFIR – Markets in Financial Instruments

CSDR – Central Securities Depositories

AML 4 – Anti-Money Laundering

PRIIPS – Packaged Retail and Insurance-Based Investment Products

New regulatory requirements being implemented 2016–2018

Main areas and aims of regulation

Implementation of new regulations
SEB continuouslymonitors regulatory
developments at the global, European and
national levels. Thiswork is conducted
through own activities and through
contactswith Swedish and foreign regula-
tors and legislators aswell as via Swedish
and international industry organisations,
such as the Swedish Bankers’ Association,

the Swedish Securities Dealers Association
and the Institute of International Finance.

In 2016, the bankworkedwithmore than
20major regulatory projects at an estimated
cost ofmore than SEK300m. In addition,
the bank implements technical require-
ments and guidelines from the three Euro-
pean supervisory authorities for banking,
insurance and securitiesmarkets.
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1 Financial
stability

Capital requirements
In 2016 the Basel Committeeworked intensively
to reach an agreement on how capital require-
ments for banks’ risks should be revised in order
to take into account issues identified during the
financial crisis. The Committeeworks to establish
greater transparency and harmonisation.
Increased harmonisation however restricts
banks’ use of internalmodels in the calculation of
risk-weighted assets andwould therefore lead to
less differentiation in terms of banks’ cost for
providing loanswith high risk comparedwith

loanswith low risk. The challenge is to find a
reasonable balancewhich does not stimulate
improper risk-taking or incorrect pricing of risks.

The regulations under discussion also address
the final design of the leverage ratio and extra
capital requirements for systemically important
institutions.

SEB iswell positionedwith a strong capital
adequacy. However, it is important that Swedish
banks operate under the same conditions as their
European competitors.

2 Market
conduct

Counteract money laundering and financing of terrorism
The purpose of the EU’s FourthMoney Launder-
ingDirective –AML4– is to update existing rules
to conform to international standards as deter-
mined by the Financial Action Task Force. The
directive sets increased requirements on banks to
be knowledgeable about their customers and to
manage risks linked to politically exposed
persons (PEPs). One important change is the
requirement for a risk-based approach to counter-
actmoney laundering and financing of terrorism.

SEB is implementingAML4 in threework
streams. The first aims at increasing the bank’s
knowledge of its customers, such aswho the
majority shareholders in a company are.

The secondwork stream entails improving SEB’s
risk assessment processes,with the aim to prevent
money laundering and financing of terrorism
more effectively. Finally, in the third stream inter-
nal control documents are revised.

The bank continuously screens transactions
and behaviours. If a transaction raises suspicion
aboutmoney laundering, SEBwill launch an
investigation. If suspicion remains, the bankwill
report it as a suspicious transaction to the finan-
cial intelligence unit of the Swedish police. In
recent years, SEB has reported some400 such
cases per year.

3 Consumer
protection

Mortgage lending
Ahouseholdmortgage is amajor component of
many people’s personal finances. The function
and stability of themortgagemarket is also impor-
tant to the economy at large.

TheEUMortgageCreditDirective aims to
strengthen consumerprotection and to create a
more efficient and competitivemortgagemarket by
settinghigher requirements for creditors. The
ambition is to strengthen thepositionof consumers
and reduce lock-in tendencies toone creditor. The
newrules entail, amongother things, clearer infor-
mation to customers, greater transparencyonhow
interest rates are determined, andabuyers’

remorse graceperiodwhen takingout amortgage.
Tomeet the new requirements, a new frame-

work has been established for householdmort-
gage advice, including a requirement that all SEB
mortgage advisers have a special Swedsec licence.
Amore comprehensive fact sheet for customers
has also been produced, providing clear informa-
tion about the interest charged and how future
interest rate changeswould affect the amount that
the customer pays. Also SEB’s customers are
offered time to reflect on a bindingmortgage offer,
allowing them to compare the offerwith other
banks.

Three
important areas

More than 20major regu-
latory projects were in
progress at SEB during the
year, aimed at making the
bank compliant with new
rules and regulations.
Three important areas
are described here.
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Report of the Directors Corporate Governance

Tomaintain the important societal function as a bank
it is of paramount importance for SEB that all stake-
holders have great confidence in the bank’s operations.
Proper business conduct and professionalism are
crucial as is maintaining a sound risk culture.

The importance of corporate governance

Corporate governance is the system through which
companies are directed and controlled.

Tomaintain trust among customers, employees, shareholders and
other stakeholders and prevent conflicts of interest, roles and
responsibilities are clearly defined for shareholders, directors,
management and other stakeholders.

SEB’sworkwith corporate governance is focused on ensuring
smooth and effective operationswith high standards, sound risk
management and internal control.

Rules and regulations
As a Swedish public limited liability financial institutionwith secu-
rities quoted onNasdaq Stockholm, SEB is subject to numerous
rules. The external framework for SEB’s corporate governance
includes the following rules and guidelines:
• the Companies Act
• the Annual Accounts Act
• theNasdaq Stockholm Issuer Rules
• the Swedish CorporateGovernance Code
• the Banking and Financing Business Act
• therulesandguidelines issuedbytheSwedishFinancialSupervisory

Authorityandotherauthorities.Seep.46.

In addition, SEB applies an internal framework,which among other
things includes the Articles of Association, adopted by theGeneral
Meeting of Shareholders. Policies and instructions that have been
drawnup to define the division of responsibilitywithin the group
are important tools for the Board and the President andChief Execu-
tiveOfficer (the President) in their governing and controlling roles.

Such policies and instructions include, among others:
• the Rules of Procedure for the Board and the Instructions for the

BoardCommittees
• the Instructions for the President and theGroup’s Activities
• theGroup’s Credit Instruction andRisk Policy
• the Instruction for Handling of Conflicts of Interest
• the Instruction for Procedures AgainstMoney Laundering and

Financing of Terrorism
• the Code of ConductAvailable on SEB’s website
• the Remuneration Policy
• the Corporate Sustainability PolicyAvailable on SEB’s website
• the Policies onAssessment of Suitability of Directors,members of

theGroupExecutive Committee (GEC) and other key function
holders.

SEB’s ethical and sustainability endeavours are an integral part of
the business, and the Board increasingly discusses these issues.
SEB’s Code of Conduct describes and lays out SEB’s values, ethics
and standards of business conduct and provides guidance on how to
live by these values. Policies and guidelines for sustainability and
various group-wide position statements and industry sector policies
addressing environmental, social and governance issues are also of
vital importance in this context.

The CorporateGovernance Report has been prepared in accor-
dancewith the Annual Accounts Act and the Swedish Corporate
Governance Code (the Code). SEB strives to follow the Codewhere
appropriate and has no deviations to report for 2016.More infor-
mation about corporate governance at SEB is available on SEB’s website.

Corporate
governance
»Thework of the Board during the yearwas shaped by
the rapid technological and regulatory development in
the financial sector. The opportunities and challenges they
imply in relation to SEB’s long-term visionwere analysed
and discussed. The Board carefullymonitored and evaluated
the subduedmacroeconomic situation and the emerging
geopolitical risks. Other important issueswere succession
planning, IT security, code of conduct and sustainability. «

MarcusWallenberg
Chairman of the Board
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Nomination Committee

The tasks of the Nomination Committee include developing
proposals for the Chairman and directors of the Board as well
as for the auditor.

As the starting point for itswork, theNomination Committee is
taskedwith assessing the degree towhich the Boardmeets the
demands thatwill be placed on the Board as a result of the bank’s
operations, organisation and future direction. Among other things,
the Board’s size and composition is reviewed in terms of industry
experience and expertise aswell as diversity, for example gender,
age and geographic origin. TheNomination Committee adheres to
the Policy onDiversity andAssessment of Suitability of Directors,
adopted by the Board. TheNomination Committeemakes recom-
mendations regarding directors’ fees, allocated among the board
members, and fees for committeework. TheNomination Commit-
tee also proposes auditor and auditor’s fee.

Pursuant to a decision by the AGM, theNomination Committee is
to be composed of the Chairman of the Board alongwith represen-
tatives of the bank’s four largest shareholders that are interested in
appointing amember. One of the independent directors shall be
appointed as an additionalmember of the committee. The composi-
tion of theNomination Committeemeets the requirements laid out
in the Code. TheNomination Committee has access to relevant
information about SEB’s operations and financial and strategic
position provided by the Chairman of the Board and the additional

Shareholders and general meetings of shareholders

The shareholders’ influence is exercised at general meetings of
shareholders by, among other things, electingmembers of the
Board and the bank’s auditor.

SEB has approximately 276,000 shareholders. Around 175,000 of
themown less than 500 shares, while 146 holdmore than
1,000,000 shares, accounting for 79 per cent of the capital and
votes. SEB’s share capital consists of two classes of shares –A shares
and C shares. Each Class A share carries one vote and each Class C
share carries one-tenth of a vote.SEB’s largest shareholders and the
shareholder structure as per 31 December 2016 are shown in the table and
graph on p. 27.

TheAnnual GeneralMeeting (AGM) of shareholders is held in
Stockholm. All shareholders listed in the shareholder register
who have duly notified their attendance have the right to participate
at the AGMand to vote for the full number of their shares. Share-
holderswho cannot attendmay appoint a representative. TheAGM
is held in Swedish. The 2016AGMwas held on 22March. A total of
1,223 persons, representing 1,748 shareholders, were in attendance
at the AGM.Theminutes from the AGMare available on SEB’s
website.

An electronic system for televoters, was used at the AGM. The
main resolutionsmade at the AGMwere:
• approval of the dividend of SEK5.25 per share
• increase of the number of directors to 13
• re-election of all current eleven directors and election of two new

directors
• re-election ofMarcusWallenberg as Chairman of the Board
• re-election of PricewaterhouseCoopers as auditor
• adoption of guidelines for remuneration for the President and the

othermembers of theGEC
• approval of two long-term equity programmes
• issuance of amandate to the Board concerning the acquisition

and sale of own shares for SEB’s securities business, for the long-
term equity programmes and for capitalmanagement purposes

• issuance of amandate to the Board to resolve on the issuance of
convertibles.

Board of Directors

President and Chief Executive Officer

p.50

p.57

Risk & Capital
Committee

Audit & Compliance
Committee

Remuneration & HR
Committee

Nomination
Committee p.49

External
Auditor p.59

p.54 p.55

CEO Committees
• Group Executive Committee

• Group Risk Committee

• Asset & Liability Committee p.57

p.58

p.57

p.55

Head of Group
Compliance p.59

Headof
GroupCredits p.58

Head of
Group Risk p.58

Head of Group
Internal Audit p.59

Shareholders/Annual General Meeting
p.49

Appointed by

Reporting to/informing

Chief Risk
Officer p.58

Corporate governance structure
SEB’s activities aremanaged, controlled
and followed up in accordance with poli
cies and instructions established by the
Board and the President and CEO.

Nomination committee for the 2017AGM

Member Representing
Votes,%

31Aug. 2016

Petra Hedengran, Chairman Investor 20.8

Magnus Billing Alecta 7.4

Lars Heikensten TryggStiftelsen 6.0

LarsÅke Bokenberger AMF 4.0

MarcusWallenberg SEB,Chairman of the Board

38.2

Urban Jansson, additional member, appointed by the Board.

Peder Hasslev represented AMF in the Nomination Committee
between 12 September and 18 November 2016,when hewas replaced
by LarsÅke Bokenberger.
Swedbank Robur Fonder, which is the bank’s fourth largest shareholder, has declined to
appoint a member of the Nomination Committee.
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Board of Directors

The Board has overall responsibility for the organisation,
management and operations of the group.

TheBoardhasadoptedRulesofProcedure that regulate theBoard’s
role andwaysofworkingaswell as special instructions for theBoard’s
committees.TheBoardhas the followingduties, amongothers:
• deciding on the nature, direction and strategy of the business as

well as the framework and objectives of the business activities
• regularly following up and evaluating the operations in relation

to the objectives and guidelines established by the Board
• ensuring that the business is organised in such away that the

accounting, treasurymanagement and the risks inherent in the
business aswell as financial conditions in all other respects are
controlled in a satisfactorymanner in accordancewith external
and internal rules

• deciding onmajor acquisitions and divestments aswell as other
major investments

member. TheNomination Committee also reviews the evaluations
of the Board and the Chairman of the Board.

An important principle is that the size and composition of the
Board should be such as to serve the bank in the best possibleway. It
is therefore crucial that the directors have requisite experience and
competence about the financial and other sectors aswell as interna-
tional experience and a contact network thatmeet the demands that
arise from the bank’s current position and future orientation. The
Nomination Committee also discusses successionmatterswith
particular emphasis on continuity and long-termperspective in
ensuring the Board’s competence and composition.

TheNomination Committee for the 2017AGMwas appointed in
the autumnof 2016. No special fee has been paid to themembers of
theNomination Committee.TheNomination Committee’s propo-
sals and a statement supporting its nomination of directors are available
on SEB’s website.

MarcusWallenberg Urban Jansson Jesper Ovesen JohanH. Andresen

Position Chairman since 2005 Deputy Chairman since 2013 Deputy Chairman since 2014 Director

Committee lRCClACClRemCo lRCC lRCC

Year elected 2002 1996 2004 2011

Born 1956 1945 1957 1961

Education B.Sc. (Foreign Service) Higher bank degree (SEB) B.Sc. (Econ.) and MBA B.A. (Government and Policy
Studies) and MBA

Other assignments Chairman of Saab and FAM.Vice
Chairman of Investor. Director of
AstraZeneca Plc., Temasek Holdings
Ltd and the Knut and AliceWallenberg
Foundation.

Chairman of EAB and 365 id. Director of
Lindéngruppen.

Director of Sunrise Communication
Group AG (Switzerland), Lundbeck A/S
(Denmark) and ConvaTec Group Plc.
(UK).

Owner and Chairman of Ferd AS.
Chairman of Council on Ethics for the
Government Pension Fund Global
(Norway). Director of SWIX Sport AS
(Norway), NMI–Norwegian
Microfinance Initiative and Junior
Achievement Europe.

Background Citibank inNewYork,DeutscheBank in
Germany,SGWarburgCo inLondonand
Citicorp inHongKong,SEBandStora
Feldmühle inGermany.ExecutiveVice
Presidentof Investor andCEOof Investor.
Several assignmentsasChairmanand
Director of largepublic companies.

SEB in various management positions.
President and CEO of HNJ Intressenter
(former subsidiary of the Incentive
Group). Executive Vice President of the
Incentive Group. President and CEO of
Ratos. Several assignments as
Chairman and Director of large public
companies.

PriceWaterhouse. Vice President and
later CEO of Baltica Bank A/S. Vice
President and Head of Finance of Novo
Nordisk A/S. CEO of Kirkbi Group. CFO
of Den Danske Bank A/S, LEGO Holding
A/S and TDC A/S. Several directorships.

International Paper Co. Partner of Ferd
AS. CEO of Ferd AS.

Nationality Swedish Swedish Danish Norwegian

Own and closely related
persons’ shareholdings

753,584 Class A shares and 720 Class C
shares

56,840 Class A shares 25,000 Class A shares 100,000 Class A shares

Independent in relation to
bank/major shareholders

Yes/No Yes/Yes Yes/Yes Yes/Yes

Attendance at Board/
Committee meetings

9 of 9 / 34 of 35 10 of 10 / 20 of 21 9 of 10 / 21 of 21 10 of 10

Remuneration, Board
meetings, SEK

2,800,000 860,000 860,000 660,000

Remuneration,Committee
meetings ,SEK

720,000 510,000 325,000 –

l Chairman lDeputy Chairman lMember

Board of Directors
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the bank’smanagement aswell as in relation to shareholders
controlling 10 per cent ormore of the shares or votes and has found
that the composition of the Boardmeets the requirements of the
Code.

Thework of the Board follows a yearly plan. In 2016, ten board
meetingswere held. The President attends all boardmeetings
except those dealingwithmatters inwhich the President has an
interest thatmay be in conflictwith the interests of the bank, such as
when the President’swork is evaluated. Othermembers ofmanage-
ment participatewhenever required.

• appointment or dismissal of the President, the Chief RiskOfficer
(CRO), themembers of theGEC and theHead ofGroup Internal
Audit, aswell as setting the remuneration for these individuals.

The Chairman of the Board organises and directs thework of the
Board and ensures among other things that the directors on a regu-
lar basis receive information and education on changes in rules
concerning the activities of SEB and on responsibilities of directors
of a listed financial company. Educational and specialisation semi-
nars are held each year, and newdirectors are offered seminarswith
information on and discussions about the group’s various opera-
tions, including information about the control functions.

The directors are elected by the shareholders at the AGM for a
one-year term. Since the 2016 AGM the Board has consisted of thir-
teen AGM-elected directors, without deputies, and of two directors
and two deputies who serve as employee representatives. In order
for a quorum to exist at a Boardmeeting, more than half of the
directorsmust be present. The President is the only AGM-elected
director employed by the bank. TheNomination Committee has
assessed the directors’ independence in relation to the bank and

Signhild Arnegård Hansen Samir Brikho Annika Falkengren Winnie Fok

Director Director Director (President and CEO) 1) Director

lRemCo lACC

2010 2013 2005 2013

1960 1958 1962 1956

B.Sc. (Human Resources) and journalism
studies

M.Sc. (Engineering, Thermal Technology) B.Sc. (Econ.) Bachelor of Commerce

Chairman of SnackCo of America Corp. Vice
Chairman of the SwedishAmerican Chamber
of Commerce (SACC) (USA). Director of
Magnora, SACC New York, Business Sweden,
ESBRI and King Carl XVI Gustaf’s Foundation
for Young Leadership.

UK Business Ambassador. CoChairman of the
UKUAE Business Council and the UKROK CEO
Forum.Member of Advisory Boards of Stena.
Chairman of theWorld Economic Forum
Disaster Resource Partnership and of the Step
Change Charity.

Chairman of the Swedish Bankers’ Association.
Director of Scania CV (subsidiary to
Volkswagen) and FAM.Member of the
Supervisory Board of Volkswagen AG.

Director of Volvo Car Corporation, G4S plc (UK)
and Kemira Oyj (Finland).Member of the
Investment Committee of HOPU Investments
Co, Ltd. (Asia), Senior Advisor to the
Wallenberg Foundations.

President of the familyowned company
Svenska LantChips. Chairman of the
Confederation of Swedish Enterprise.
Vice Chairman of Business Europe. Director
of Innventia, IFL at Stockholm School of
Economics, Research Institute of Industrial
Economics, Loomis Sverige and University of
Lund.

Broad international experience from
management and leadership, especially within
the industrial sector. Leading positions within
ABB, e.g. as Division Head and CEO of
significant subsidiaries.Member of the GEC
of ABB Ltd, (Switzerland). CEO of Amec Foster
Wheeler plc, (UK).

Various positions within SEBMerchant
Banking. Global Head of Trading and Head of
Merchant Banking. Head of Division Corporate
& Institutions and Executive Vice President of
SEB. Deputy CEO of SEB.

Broad experience from the financial business
field. Certified Public Accountant in Australia
and in Hong Kong.Member of the Institute of
Chartered Accountants in England andWales.
Industrial advisor and Senior Advisor to
Investor and Husqvarna. CEO and Senior
Partner of EQT Partners Asia Ltd and CEO of
NewAsia Partners Ltd.

Swedish Swedish Swedish British

5,387 Class A shares 0 shares 358,895 Class A shares,121,884 share rights,
359,620 conditional share rights

3,000 Class A shares

Yes/Yes Yes/Yes No/Yes Yes/Yes

10 of 10 / 8 of 8 9 of 10 8 of 9 / 19 of 26 2) 8 of 9 / 7 of 7

660,000 660,000 – 660,000

387,500 – – 200,000

1) In 2017 Annika Falkengren resigned from SEB.
2) In her capacity as President.
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Board committees
The Board’s overall responsibility cannot be delegated. However,
the Board has established committees to handle certain defined
issues and to prepare such issues for decision by the Board. At pres-
ent, there are three committees: the Risk andCapital Committee
(RCC), the Audit and Compliance Committee (ACC), and theRemu-
neration andHumanResources Committee (RemCo). These
committees report to the Board on a regular basis. An important
principle is that asmany boardmembers as possible shall partici-
pate in committeework, also as chairs. The Chairman of the Board
serves as deputy chair of the three committees. Neither the Presi-
dent nor any other officer of the bank is amember of the commit-
tees.

Directors’ fees
SEB’s 2016AGMset total fees of SEK 13,710,000 for themembers of
the Board and decided how these fees are to be distributed among
the Board and its committees. Directors’ fees are paid on a running
basis during themandate period.

Following a recommendation by theNomination Committee, the
Board has adopted a policy that recommends that boardmembers
use 25 per cent of the director’s fee to purchase and hold SEB shares
up to an amount corresponding to one year’s fee.

Birgitta Kantola TomasNicolin SvenNyman Helena Saxon

Position Director Director Director Director

Committee lACC l RCC lACC

Year elected 2010 2009 2013 2016

Born 1948 1954 1959 1970

Education LLM and Econ. Dr. H.C. B.Sc. (Econ.) and M.Sc. (Management) B.Sc. (Business and Econ.) M.Sc. (Business and Econ.)

Other assignments Director of Nobina. Chairman of Centre for Justice. Director
of Nordstjernan, Nobel Foundation,
Axel and Margaret Ax:son Johnson’s
Foundation, Research Institute of
Industrial Economics and Sällskapet
Vänner till Pauvres Honteux.Member
of the Investment Committee of Niam
Property Fund.

Chairman of RAM Rational Asset
Management. Director of RAMONE,
Consilio International, Nobel Foundation’s
Investment Committee, Stockholm School
of Economics, Stockholm School of
Economics Association and of Axel and
Margaret Ax:son Johnson’s Foundation.

CFO at Investor. Director of Swedish
Orphan Biovitrum.

Background Broad experience in banking and
finance, e.g . Nordic Investment Bank
(Executive Vice President and Head of
Finance). Vice President and CFO of
International Finance Corporation
(World Bank Group) (USA). Deputy
General Manager of Ålandsbanken
(Finland).

Broad experience in the financial sector
as CEO of Alecta, Third National
Swedish Pension Fund and E. Öhman
J:or Fondkommission as well as a
leading position in Handelsbanken.
Several directorships.

Broad experience from the financial
business field.Managerial positions within
Investor. CEO and founder of Lancelot
Asset Management and Arbitech (USA).
Several directorships.

Financial analyst at Goldman Sachs
and Investor, CFO at Syncron
International and Hallvarsson and
Halvarsson. Investment Manager at
Investor.

Nationality Finnish Swedish Swedish Swedish

Own and closely related
persons’ shareholdings

33,000 Class A shares 66,000 Class A shares 10,440 Class A shares and 10,200 Class C
shares

5,000 Class A shares

Independent in relation to
bank/major shareholders

Yes/Yes Yes/Yes Yes/Yes Yes/No

Attendance at Board/
Committee meetings

10 of 10 / 7 of 7 10 of 10 / 21 of 21 10 of 10 / 3 of 3 7 of 7 / 5 of 6

Remuneration, Board
meetings, SEK

660,000 660,000 660,000 660,000

Remuneration,Committee
meetings,SEK

387,500 325,000 – 200,000

l Chairman lDeputy Chairman lMember

Board of Directors (continued)
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Sara Öhrvall Anna-KarinGlimström HåkanWesterberg Annika Isenborg Charlotta Lindholm

Director Director, appointed by the
employees.

Director, appointed by the
employees.

Deputy Director, appointed by the
employees.

Deputy Director, appointed by the
employees.

l RemCo

2016 2016 2015 1) 2016 2) 2015

1971 1962 1968 1967 1959

M.Sc. (Econ.) University studies in mathematics,
statistics and law.

Engineering logistics. University studies in working
environment.

LLB

Director of Investor, Bonnier News,
Bonnier Books and Bisnode.

Chairman of Financial Sector Union
of SEB group and Financial Sector
UnionWestern section in SEB,
Director EBSB Fastigheter and
EBSB Holding.

Chairman of the Association of
University Graduates at SEB.

First deputy Chairman of Financial
Sector Union of SEB group and
Financial Sector Union Regional
Club group operations of SEB.

Vice Chairman of the Association of
University Graduates at SEB.
Director of the Foundation of Alma
Detthows.

Product development manager,
niche cars, at Volvo Cars, Senior Vice
President Research and
Development unit at Bonnier,
Founder of the consultancy network
MindMill Network and CEO at Differ
Brand Agency.

Officemanager and various other
positions in SEB. Various specialist
and leader roles within Trygg
Hansa. Director of SEB’s Profit
Sharing Foundation.

Sales manager at TryggHansa in
the property insurance business.
SEB in various positions in systems
management and IT development,
currently Systems Management
Advisor.

Employed at Fixed Income, group
operations. Director of SEB’s Profit
Sharing Foundation and Result
Premium Foundation.

Various client responsibility
positions in several divisions and
subsidiaries in the SEB group.
Presently client executive at Private
Banking, Foundations.

Swedish Swedish Swedish Swedish Swedish

0 shares 0 shares 3,569 Class A shares 0 shares 5,001 Class A shares

Yes/No – – – –

7 of 7 / 5 of 5 8 of 8 10 of 10 7 of 8 10 of 10

660,000 – – – –

195,000 – – – –

1)Deputy Director 2011–2014 2)Deputy Director 2014

Appointed by the employees:

Evaluation of the Board of Directors, the President and theGroupExecutive Committee

SEB uses an annual self-assessmentmethod,which among other
things includes a questionnaire, followed by discussionswithin
the Board. Through this process the activities andworkmethods
of the Board, the Chairman of the Board and the respective
committees are evaluated. Among the issues examined are:
• the extent towhich the individual boardmembers take an

active part in discussions by the Board and its committees
• whether boardmembers contribute independent opinions
• whether themeeting atmosphere facilitates open discussions.

The outcome of the evaluationwas presented to and discussed
by the Board and theNomination Committee. The evaluation
process and its outcome contribute to further improvement of the
Board’swork and help theNomination Committee to evaluate the
size and composition of the Board.

The Chairman of the Board formally evaluates each individual
director’swork once a year.MarcusWallenberg did not partici-
pate in the evaluation of the Chairman’swork,whichwas directed
byUrban Jansson, one of theDeputy Chairmen.

The Board evaluates thework of the President and theGECon a
continuous basis, without participation by the President or any
othermember of theGEC.
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Risk and Capital Committee
TheRCC supports the Board in ensuring that SEB is organised and
managed in such away that all risks inherent in the group’s business
are controlled in accordancewith the Board’s risk tolerance state-
ment aswell aswith external and internal rules. TheRCC alsomoni-
tors the group’s capital situation on a continuous basis.

TheRCC sets the principles and parameters formeasuring and
allocating risk and capitalwithin the group and oversees risk
management systems and the risk tolerance and strategy for the
near and long term. TheRCCprepares a recommendation for the
appointment and dismissal of the CRO. It also decides on individual
creditmatters ofmajor importance or of importance as to principles
and assists the RemCo in providing a risk- and capital-based view
on the remuneration system. TheRCCheld 21meetings in 2016.

The group’s Chief Financial Officer (CFO) has overall responsibil-
ity for informing and submitting proposals to the RCConmatters
related to capital and funding. The CROhas the same overall
responsibility regarding risk and creditmatters. The President, the
CFO and the CRO regularly participate in themeetings.The CRO
function is described on p. 58. Information on risk, liquidity and capital
management is provided on p. 40.

RCCmembers
Urban Jansson (Chairman),MarcusWallenberg (Deputy Chair-
man), Jesper Ovesen andTomasNicolin.

The RCC’swork in 2016:
• monitored the implementation of internal rules including the
credit policy and instruction

• monitored risk development, among other thingswith focus
on long-term stability of the Swedish homemortgagemarket

• monitored themacroeconomic development including Brexit
• preparedmatters concerningmarket and liquidity risk limits
• reviewed significant changes in the credit portfolio and of the
credit process

• reviewedmodels andmethods for riskmeasurement
• discussed adaptation to new capital requirements
• reviewed the overall capital and liquidity strategy and position
including internal capital and liquidity assessment

• preparedmatters concerning the group’s capital goals and
capitalmanagement, such as the dividend

• reviewed reports from internal audit and compliance
• held strategic discussions on holistic financial and balance
sheetmanagement

• discussed negative interest rate implications.

» Important areas addressed in 2016 include evaluation of,
and adaption to, the new capital requirements currently
being implemented. Standardised riskweights and
liquidity levels are capital requirement areas that have
attracted particular focus. TheRCChas also continued to
monitor the bank’s credit portfolio and risk tolerance,
development of the homemortgagemarket, important
macroeconomic aspects and their impact on the euro,
and the impact of negative interest rates.«

Risk and Capital Committee

Urban Jansson
Chairman of RCC

On the Board’s agenda in 2016

February
• Annual accounts, including proposal on dividend
• AGM notification and AGM proposals
• Balance sheet, capital and dividend policy
• Risk position, asset quality, credit portfolio, liquidity situation
• Internal and external audit as well as compliance
• Macroeconomic review
• 2015 Annual Report

March
• AGM
• Statutory meeting
• CEO evaluation
• Remunerationmatters
• Group talent review and succession planning

April
• Quarterly report
• Risk position, asset quality, credit portfolio, liquidity situation
• Internal capital and liquidity review
• Annual review of risk policies and instructions
• IT and digitalisation review
• Negative interest rate impact review
• Branding and image position
• Business review of payments
• Business review small andmediumsized companies
• Sustainability matters

June
• IT business and digitalisation update
• Sustainability matters
• Macroeconomic discussion relating to Brexit

July
• Macroeconomic update relating to Brexit
• Quarterly report
• Risk position, asset quality, credit portfolio, liquidity situation
• Review of employee survey (Insight) 2016

September
• Risk seminar
• Business review Corporate & Private Customers division

October
• Macroeconomic review
• Quarterly report
• Risk position, asset quality, credit portfolio, liquidity situation
• EU Recovery and Resolution plan

December
• Business plan, financial plans, forecasts
• Annual review of policies and instructions
• SEB’s Code of Conduct
• Board evaluation
• US Resolution plan

Contact the Board of Directors:
Skandinaviska EnskildaBankenAB (publ), Board Secretariat,
SE10640Stockholm, Sweden (sebboardsecretariat@seb.se)

SEB Annual Report 201654

Report of the Directors Corporate Governance



Remuneration and Human Resources Committee
TheRemCoprepares, for decision by the Board, appointments of
the President and themembers of theGEC. The Committee devel-
ops,monitors and evaluates SEB’s remuneration system and remu-
neration practice, incentive programmes, risk adjustment of
deferred variable pay and how the guidelines established by the
AGM for remuneration of the President and themembers of theGEC
are applied. An independent auditor’s review report on the adher-
ence of SEB’s remuneration system to theRemuneration Policy is
presented to the Committee annually.

TheRemCo reviews, in consultationwith the RCC, SEB’s Remu-
neration Policy and ensures that the bank’s incentive structure
takes into account the risks and the cost of capital and liquidity. The
analysis is among other things based on the risk analysis performed
jointly byGroupRisk, GroupCompliance andGroupHR.

In addition, the Committee oversees the group’s pension obliga-
tions and, togetherwith the RCC, allmeasures taken to secure the
overall pension obligations of the group, including developments in
the bank’s pension foundations. TheRemCoheld eightmeetings in
2016.

The President, togetherwith theHead ofGroupHR,makes
presentations to the Committee onmatters inwhich there are no
conflicts of interest.The Remuneration Report can be found on p. 60.

RemComembers
Signhild ArnegårdHansen (Chairman),MarcusWallenberg
(Deputy Chairman) and SaraÖhrvall.

The RemCo’swork in 2016:
• reviewed theRemuneration Policy including the definition of
categories of staffwho have amaterial impact on SEB’s risk profile

• proposed remuneration guidelines for the President andmembers
of theGEC

• developed long-term equity programmes
• proposed remuneration of the President andmembers of the
GEC in accordancewith the guidelines adopted by the AGM

• proposed remuneration of theHead of Group Internal Audit,
the CROand theHead ofGroupCompliance in accordancewith
the Remuneration Policy

• monitored remuneration principles, variable remuneration
programmes and pension obligations

• followed up the annual group talent review
• reviewed and discussed adaptations and implementation
of regulations affecting the bank’s remuneration structure.

Audit and Compliance Committee
TheACC supports the Board in itsworkwith quality assurance of
the bank’s financial reporting and internal control over the financial
reporting and reporting to supervisors.When required, the ACC
also prepares, for decision by the Board, a recommendation for the
appointment or dismissal of theHead of Group Internal Audit. The
Committeemaintains regular contactwith the bank’s external and
internal auditors and discusses the co-ordination of their activities.
The Committee also ensures that any remarks and observations
from the auditors are addressed, and evaluates the external audi-
tors’ work and independence.

In addition, the President’s proposal for appointment or dismissal
of theHead ofGroupCompliance is subject to the Committee’s
approval.

TheACCheld sevenmeetings in 2016. The CFO, the external audi-
tors, theHead of Group Internal Audit and theHead ofGroup
Compliance submitmatters and reports for the Committee’s consid-
eration. The President, the CFO and the CRO regularly participate in
themeetings.The Report on Internal Control over Financial
Reporting can be found on p.62.

ACCmembers
Birgitta Kantola (Chairman),MarcusWallenberg (Deputy Chair-
man),Winnie Fok andHelena Saxon.

The ACC’swork in 2016:
• reviewed the annual accounts and interim reports aswell as
audit reports

• managed accounting aspects relating to the reorganisation
in the beginning of the year

• monitored the group’s internal audit
• monitored compliance issues
• monitored internal control over financial reporting
• monitored internal control over supervisory reporting
• monitored services, other than auditing services, procured from
the external auditors

• drafted a recommendation to theNomination Committee for
election of the external auditor by the AGM

• adopted an annual audit plan for the Internal Audit function,
co-ordinatedwith the external audit plan

• approved the annual GroupCompliance plan
• held discussionswith representatives of the external auditors
on several occasions,without the President or any othermember
of the bank’smanagement being present.

» The financial crisis has led to an evermore challenging
regulatory environment. For the ACC in 2016 itmeant
further intensifiedmonitoring of the quality of the on-
going financial reporting and internal controls. Tighten-
ing taxation of financial transactions surfaced as an area
of concern inmany countries, which required special
attention. Other important issues for the ACCwere IT
security including access controls and newmarket abuse
regulation.Many compliancematters fromprevious
years continued to require the ACC’s attention.«

»Digitalisationand thegeneral developmentof thebusiness
environment areputtingnewdemandson future leaders
andcreatingan increasedneed for specialist knowledge
withindifferent fields.A critical task for theRemCocontin-
ues tobe todevelop stable remuneration systemsandgood
remunerationpractices thatwill ensure thebank’s ability
to attract the right competencebothnowand in the future.
In2016, theRemCoaddressed remunerationmatters,
successionplanning, thegroup talent reviewandother
human resources issues. «

Audit and Compliance Committee Remuneration and Human Resources Committee

Birgitta Kantola
Chairman of ACC

Signhild ArnegårdHansen
Chairman of RemCo
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Group Executive Committee

Group Staff & Control Functions (CFO, CRO, Strategy, HR, Legal, Marketing and Communications)

Business Support (IT Service Delivery, IT Services and Operations)

Life & Investment Management

President & CEO

Large Corporates & Financial Institutions BalticCorporate & Private Customers

SEB’s organisation

Annika Falkengren Magnus Carlsson Jeanette Almberg JoachimAlpen

Position President and CEO since 2005. 1) Deputy President & CEO since 2014 Head of Group Human Resources since
2016

Cohead of the Large Corporates
& Financial Institutions division
since 2016

GECmember since 2000 2005 2016 2014

SEB employee since 1987 1993 2008 2001

Born 1962 1956 1965 1967

Education B.Sc. (Econ.) B.Sc. (Econ.) B.Sc. (Econ.) MBA,M.A. (International relations)

Nationality Swedish Swedish Swedish Swedish

Own and closely related
persons’ shareholdings

358,895ClassAshares,121,884share
rights and 359,620 conditional share
rights.

54,998 Class A shares, 31,415 share
rights and 198,181 conditional share
rights.

19,664 Class A shares, 11,451 share
rights and 34,105 conditional share
rights.

5,933 Class A shares, 109,712 share
rights, 51,725 conditional share rights
and 6,325 deferral rights.

VivekaHirdman-Ryrberg Martin Johansson ChristofferMalmer David Teare

Position Head of Group Communications since
2009. Chairman of the Corporate
Sustainability Committee.

Head of Business Support since 2011 Cohead of the Corporate & Private
Customers division since 2016

Chief Risk Officer since 2016

GECmember since 2009 2009 2014 2011

SEB employee since 1990 2005 2011 2006

Born 1963 1962 1975 1963

Education B.Sc. and Lic.Sc. (Econ.) B.Sc. (Econ.) B.A. (International business) B. Comm.

Nationality Swedish Swedish Swedish British

Own and closely related
persons’ shareholdings

62,761 Class A shares, 21,937 share
rights and 60,219 conditional share
rights.

44,237 Class A shares, 50,686 share
rights and 147,389 conditional share
rights.

59,142 Class A shares, 48,021
conditional share rights and 4,497
deferral rights.

54,675ClassAshares,30,217share rights
and99,103 conditional share rights.

1) In 2017 Annika Falkengren resigned from SEB.
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consultswith theGEConmatters ofmajor importance or of impor-
tance as to principles. TheGECdealswith, among other things,
matters of common concern to several divisions, strategic issues,
business plans aswell as financial forecasts and reports. TheGEC
held 24meetings in 2016.

The Asset and Liability Committee (ALCO)
TheALCO, chaired by the President andwith the CFO as deputy
chair, is a group-wide decision-making,monitoring and consulta-
tive body. TheALCO,which held elevenmeetings in 2016, handles
the followingmatters, among others:
• financial stability, particularly in the new regulatory framework
• strategic capital and liquidity issues, including internal capital

allocation and principles for internal pricing
• structural issues and issues related to the bank’s balance sheet

and business volumes
• financing ofwholly-owned subsidiaries
• the balance sheet and funding strategy for the SEB group.

The President
TheBoardhas adoptedan instruction for thePresident’s duties and
role. ThePresident,who is also theChief ExecutiveOfficer, is respon-
sible for administrating thebank’s business and risk in accordance
with the strategy, directives, policies and instructions establishedby
theBoard. ThePresident reports to theBoard and submits at each
boardmeeting a report on, amongother things, theperformanceof
thebusiness in relation todecisionsmadeby theBoard.

The President appoints theHeads of Divisions, theHead of Busi-
ness Support andHeads of the various staff and support functions
that report directly to the President.

The President’s committees
The President has threemain committees at her disposal for the
purpose ofmanaging the operations:

The Group Executive Committee (GEC)
To safeguard the interests of the group as awhole, the President

Additional members

Jan Erik Back Peter Dahlgren Johan Andersson Peter Høltermand Rasmus Järborg

Executive Vice President, Chief
Financial Officer since 2008

Head of the Life & Investment
Management division since 2016. 2)

Country Manager SEB Germany
since 2016

Country Manager SEB Denmark
since 2002

Chief Strategy Officer since 2015

2008 2014 2009 2011 2015

2008 2008 1980 1997 2008

1961 1972 1957 1963 1976

B.Sc. (Econ.) B.Sc. (Econ.) B.Sc. (Econ.) M.Sc. (Econ.)

Swedish Swedish Swedish Danish Swedish

60,968 Class A shares, 62,873 share
rights and 181,391 conditional share
rights.

58,751 Class A shares, 25,156 share
rights and 77,622 conditional share
rights.

49,824 Class A shares, 22 Class C
shares and 725 conditional share
rights.

25,239 Class A shares, 725
conditional share rights, 4,497
deferral rights and 51,246
conditional phantom shares.

5,419ClassAshares,22,095 share
rights and44,966conditional share
rights.

Johan Torgeby Mats Torstendahl Marcus Nystén William Paus RihoUnt

Cohead of the Large Corporates &
Financial Institutions division since
2016.3)

Executive Vice President, Cohead of
the Corporate & Private Customers
division since 2016

Country Manager SEB Finland since
2010

Country Manager SEB Norway since
2010

Head of the Baltic division since
2016

2014 2009 2014 2011 2016

2009 2009 1998 1992 2001

1974 1961 1960 1967 1978

B.Sc. (Econ.) M.Sc. (Engineering Physics) M.Sc. (Econ.) M.Sc. (Econ.) MBA,MA(PublicAdministration)

Swedish Swedish Finnish Norwegian Estonian

5,390 Class A shares, 53,292 share
rights,48,799 conditional share rights
and 4,497deferral rights.

104,218 Class A shares, 63,357 share
rights and 179,127 conditional share
rights.

102,354 Class A shares, 4,497
deferral rights and 35,784
conditional phantom shares.

33,310 Class A shares, 4,779
deferral rights and 30,545
conditional phantom shares.

43,485ClassAshares,3,866share
rightsand21,519conditional share
rights.

2) In 2017 Peter Dahlgren resigned from SEB. 3) Johan Torgeby will become President and CEO of SEB starting 29March 2017.
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The CRO function
TheCRO function is independent from the business and is responsi-
ble for identifying,measuring, analysing and controlling SEB’s risks.

The Chief RiskOfficer (CRO) is appointed by the Board and
reports to the President. The CROkeeps the Board, the RCC, the
ACC, theGEC, the ALCOand theGRC regularly informed about
riskmatters.

The CROhas global functional responsibility, and the activities
of the CROare governed by and set out in an instruction adopted by
the Board. The CRO function is organised in two units: GroupRisk
andGroupCredits.

GroupRisk handles the group’s risks. It aggregates and analyses
risk data across risk types and the group’s credit portfolios, handles
models for riskweighting aswell as generalmatters surrounding
risk governance and risk disclosure.

GroupCredits is responsible formanaging the credit approval
process, for certain individual credit decisions and formonitoring
compliancewithpolicies set by theRCCand theBoard. Its activities
are regulatedby thegroup’sCredit Instruction, adoptedby theBoard.
Thechairs of the respectivedivisional credit committeeshave the
right toveto credit decisions.Material exceptions to thegroup’s
Credit Policymustbeescalated toahigher level in thedecision-
makinghierarchy.

TheHead ofGroupRisk and theGroupCredit Officer are
appointed by the President, upon recommendation by the CRO,
and report to the CRO. For further information about risk, liquidity
and capital management.Seep. 40 and notes 17, 19 and 20.

The Group Risk Committee (GRC)
TheGRC, chaired by the President andwith the CROas deputy
chair, is a group-wide, decision-making committee that addresses
all types of risk at group level in order to evaluate portfolios, prod-
ucts and customers froma comprehensive risk perspective. The
GRCheld 63meetings in 2016.

TheGRC is taskedwith:
• making important credit decisions
• ensuring that all risks inherent in the group’s activities are identi-

fied, defined,measured,monitored and controlled in accordance
with internal and external rules

• supporting the President in ensuring that decisions regarding
the group’s long-term risk tolerance are followed in the business
organisation

• ensuring that the Board’s guidelines for riskmanagement and
risk control are implemented and that the necessary rules and
policies for risk-taking in the group aremaintained and enforced.

Divisions and business areas
The Board regulates the activities of the group through an instruc-
tion concerning the group’s operations and has laid down rules
establishing how the group’s divisions, including the international
activities conducted through branches and subsidiaries, are to be
governed and organised.

SEB’s business is organised in four divisions. Each division is
responsible for the subsidiaries designated to the division. TheHead
or Co-heads of Division have overall responsibility for the activities
in the business areas and appoint, after consultationwith the Presi-
dent, heads of the business unitswithin the division.

A CountryManager is appointed in the respective countries
where SEB operates. The CountryManager co-ordinates the group’s
business locally and reports to a specially designatedmember of the
GEC.

Business support and staff functions
Business Support is a cross-divisional function established to lever-
age economies of scale in processes and IT. Business Support covers
such areas as transaction processing, development,maintenance
and operation of IT systems, andmanagement of SEB’s IT portfolio.

SEB’s staff functions have global responsibility and support the
organisation.

Sustainability aspects

Special committeesmay be formed to dealwith specificmatters
when needed. For instance, an operational steering committee
has been assigned by the President to decide on principles for,
and tomonitor, the bank’s sustainabilitywork. The committee
is chaired by theHead of GroupCommunications,who is a
member of theGroupExecutive Committee. It is supported by
the bank’s Sustainability function,which co-ordinates the
overall sustainability agenda. Responsibility for ensuring that
sustainability activities are carried out lieswith the heads of
business areas and group functions.

On theGEC agenda in 2016

• Macroeconomic updates, among other things relating to Brexit
• Review and discussions regarding effects of negative interest rates
• Discussions regarding new regulations, suchMiFID II and

PSD II– consequences and actions
• Annual accounts and quarterly reports
• AGMpreparations
• Reviews of the bank’s various businesses and homemarkets
• Followup on current Business Plan 2016-2018 and discussions on

newBusiness Plan
• Discussion on capital requirements, asset quality and risk
• Review and discussions of IT, including investments and security
• Review and discussions of the digitalisationwork including

development and launch of enhanced customer functionality
(such as InvestorWorld, the youth app, payment solutions) as
well as internal automation initiatives

• Discussions regarding strategic investments and co-operation
with fintech and digitalisation companies such as Tink and
CoinifySeep. 20.

• Discussions regarding customer satisfaction, branding and image
position aswell as Customer insightwork

• Reviewof SEB’s revised Code of Conduct
• Employee Insight survey 2016 – discussions of survey result and

actions
• Sustainability including newgoals in respect of carbon emissions

and electricity use aswell as credit granting policies
• Handling of customer complaints
• Internal Audit and Compliance
• Annual reviewof policies and instructions
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Group Compliance
The Compliance function in the SEB group (Compliance) is inde-
pendent from the business organisation. The tasks of Compliance
are to inform, control and followup on compliancematters. The
Compliance function also advises the business andmanagement,
thereby securing that SEB’s business is carried out in compliance
with regulatory requirements, and promote trust from customers,
shareholders and the financialmarkets.

Special areas of responsibility are:
• consumer protection
• market conduct
• prevention ofmoney laundering and financing of terrorism
• regulatory systems and controls.

TheHeadofGroupCompliance,who is appointed by the President
after approval by theACC, reports regularly on compliancematters
to the President, theGECand theACC, and annually to theRCCand
theBoard. Basedon an analysis of the group’s risks in this area, the
President adopts, after approval by theACC, an annual compliance
plan. The Instruction for Compliance is adopted by theBoard.

Group Internal Audit
Group Internal Audit is a group-wide assurance and control func-
tion commissioned by the Board to independently evaluate the
group’s activities. TheHead of Group Internal Audit is appointed by
the Board.

Themain task of Group Internal Audit is to evaluate and give
assurance to the Board and President that governance, riskmanage-
ment and internal controls are adequate and effective. Thework is
performedwith a risk-based approach in accordancewith themeth-
odology developed by the Institute of Internal Auditors.

Each year the ACC adopts a plan for thework of Internal Audit.
TheHead of Internal Audit reports the findings of completed audits,
actions taken and the status of previously reported findings quar-
terly to the ACC and also provides reports to the RCC and the Board.

The President andGEC are regularly informed about internal
auditmatters. Group Internal Audit’swork is evaluated in a quality
assessment, at least every fifth year, by an independent party.

Group Internal Audit co-ordinates itswork covering the bank’s
financial reportingwith the bank’s external auditors. The bank’s
external auditors rely to some extent on thework of Group Internal
Audit in its assignment to review the group’s financial reporting.
This requires that the external auditors evaluateGroup Internal
Audit’swork. The conclusion of this evaluation is reported to the
ACC andGroup Internal Audit.

Peter Nyllinge
Born 1966; Auditor of SEB, Partner in charge as of 2012.
Authorised Public Accountant, President of PwC Sweden.
Other major assignments: Electrolux and Fagerhult.
Previousmajor assignments: Ericsson, Securitas and Assa Abloy

Information about the auditor
According to SEB’s Articles of Association, the bank shall have at
least one and notmore than two auditorswith atmost an equal
number of deputies. A registered accounting firmmay be
appointed auditor.

PricewaterhouseCoopers AB has been the bank’s auditor since
2000 andwas re-elected in 2016 for the period up to and includ-
ing the 2017AGM. The partner in charge, as from the 2012AGM,
is PeterNyllinge, Authorised Public Accountant.

The fees charged by the auditors for the auditing of 2015 and
2016 financial years and for other assignments invoiced during
these periods are shown in the table below.

Auditor

Peter Nyllinge
PricewaterhouseCoopers

Fees to the auditors SEKm
2016 2015

Audit assignment 27 26

Auditrelated services 16 20

Tax advisory 11 20

Other 4 5

Total 1) 58 71

1) Of which PricewaterhouseCoopers SEK 55m (69).
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SEB aims to attract and retain committed and competent employ-
eeswho contribute to the bank’s long-term success. Employee
remuneration should encourage high performance, sound and
responsible behaviour based on SEB values, and risk-taking that is
alignedwith the level of risk tolerance set by the Board of Directors.
It should promote the employees’ long-term commitment to creat-
ing sustainable value for customers and shareholders.

The total remuneration reflects the complexity, responsibility and
leadership skills required in each position aswell as the perfor-
mance of the individual employee. Performance is evaluated on the
basis of financial and non-financial goals, with SEB’s values as a
starting point.

Remuneration policy
The principles for determining, applying and following up remuner-
ation at SEB are laid out in SEB’s Remuneration Policy,which is
revised annually. The Board’s Remuneration andHumanResources
Committee (RemCo) drafts a proposed, revised version for adoption
by the Board. The policy aims to ensure that remuneration is
alignedwith the bank’s strategy, goals, values and long-term inter-
ests, and that conflicts of interest are avoided. The policy also
reflects Swedish and international rules and regulations.

The Performance andDevelopmentDiscussion (PDD) process
applied by the bank,with transparent and individual goals aswell
as individual evaluation, is used as a foundation for setting
employee remuneration.

In consultationwith the Risk andCapital Committee (RCC),
RemCo reviews SEB’s Remuneration Policy and verifies that the
remuneration structure takes into account the bank’s risks aswell
as its liquidity and cost of capital. This review is based on, among
other things, a risk analysis performed jointly byGroupRisk, Group
Compliance andGroupHR.For information on RemCo, see p. 55.

TheRemuneration Policy lays out the principles for identifying
employees in positionswith amaterial impact on the group’s risk
profile (Identified Staff), forwhom specific remuneration rules have
been laid out. In 2016, a total of 1,167 positions at SEBwere catego-
rised as Identified Staff. Finally, the policy defines employeeswho
can impact the risk profiles ofmutual funds aswell as employees
who provide investment advice or have amaterial impact on the
services and products offered.

Remuneration structure
SEB’s remuneration structure consists of base pay, equity-based
remuneration (in the formof collective profit-sharing and equity-
based programmes), and pensions and other benefits.
Base pay, which is themain remuneration component, shall be

competitive and commensuratewith the employee’s experience,
responsibility and long-termperformance. It shall also be in line
with industry peers in the respective geographicalmarkets in
which SEB operates.
Equity-based remuneration is ameans to attract and retain

staffwith key competences. It is also an incentive for employees
to become shareholders of SEB,which creates a long-term
commitment that is alignedwith the shareholders’ interests.
Regulatory requirements for financial institutions require that
variable remuneration shall consist largely of equity or equity-
related instruments.

Less than tenper cent of employees are eligible for individual
cash-basedvariable remuneration (Short-TermIncentive–STI),
only inoperationswhere it is commonmarket practice, suchas in
investmentbanking. STI is usedonlywhen it entails loworno resid-
ual risk for SEB. For employeeswho receive variable remuneration
abovea certain level, a portionof this remunerationmust bedeferred.
In2016, STI accounted for 3per cent (2)of SEB’s total staff costs. In
order tobuild long-termcommitment, SEBhasover thepast several
year proactively decreasedSTI remuneration in favourof long-term
equityprogrammes.

Employees in control functions are compensated in amanner that
is independent of the business areas that they oversee, is commen-
suratewith their key role in the organisation, and is based on objec-
tives that are alignedwith their functions.

Remunerationmodels
All variable remuneration is based on SEB’s risk-adjusted perfor-
mance. The variable remunerationmodels are adapted to applicable
rules governing, among other things, themaximum level in relation
to the employee’s base pay, the deferred portion of remuneration,
and the right to reduce andwithhold deferred remuneration that
has not yet been paid out. For Identified Staff, variable remunera-
tionmay not exceed 100 per cent of their base pay.

The variable remunerationmodels are based on financial and
non-financial key ratios at the group and business unit levels aswell
as an annual evaluation of performance and behaviours at an indi-
vidual level. Non-financial goals include development of customer
satisfaction, compliance and sustainability. At the individual level,
compliancewith rules and policies for risk-taking in the group,
SEB’s Code of Conduct, and demands on the business areas’ internal
controls are key parameters.

All Employee Programmes (AEP)
2016 1) 2015 2)

Number of participants 15,000 15,000

Outcome in relation tomaximumamount,% 56 85

Shares allotted, thousands 2,666 3,511

Market value per 31 Dec. 2016, SEKm 255 314

Payout year: 1) 2020 2) 2019

Share Deferral Programmes (SDP)
2016 2015

Number of participants 1,374 1,329

Shares allotted, thousands 5,611 4,321

Market value per 31 Dec. 2016, SEKm 536 379

Ownership transferred to the individual after 3 or 5 years.

Remuneration
report

Staff costs SEKm

Pensions 1,368
Social charges 2,638

Other staff costs 1,065

All Employee Programme 573
Individual variable salary 813
Base salary 8,105

2016
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Payment of the deferred portion of variable remuneration normally
requires that the employee remains employed by SEB during the
first three years of the programme, afterwhich an additional period
of up to three-years of restricted right of disposal applies. The remu-
nerationmay be forfeited if the results onwhich it is based are not
sustainable and/or the individual has been found responsible for
actions that are incompatiblewith internal rules and regulations.

Long-term equity programmes 2016
SEB’s long-term equity programmes are evaluated on a continuous
basis throughout the year byRemCo,which alsomonitors the
employees’ participation in the programmes. SEB conducts a
dialoguewith institutional investors on the structure and content of
the programmes. The 2016Annual GeneralMeeting (AGM) resolved
in favour of two separate programmes for the year – a profit-sharing
programme (All Employee Programme–AEP) and a ShareDeferral
Programme (SDP).

The SEBAll EmployeeProgramme2016 is a profit-sharing
programme for all employees inmost of the countrieswhere SEB
operates. Half of the outcome is paid in cash, and the other half is
deferred for three years. The deferred amount is paid out in SEB
Class A shares to employees in Sweden and in cash, adjusted for the
total return on the Class A share, to employees outside of Sweden.
TheAEP targets are set in SEB’s business plan and consist of the
financial goals return on equity and cost development, and of the
non-financial goal for customer satisfaction.

The SEBShareDeferral Programme2016 is a programme for
members of theGroupExecutive Committee (GEC), certain other
seniormanagers and a number of other key employees, up to 2,000
in total. The participants are granted an individually determined
number of conditional share rights based on the fulfilment of prede-
termined group, business unit and individual targets outlined in
SEB’s business plan. In addition to theAEP targets, the ShareDeferral
Programme is based on parameters such as compliance, employee
commitment, SEB’s sustainability and riskmanagement.

Formembers of theGEC the initial allotmentmay not exceed 100
per cent of base pay. For seniormanagers, ownership of 50 per cent
of the share rights is transferred to the participant after a three-year
qualification period, and 50per cent after five years. For other partici-
pants, ownership of the share rights is transferred after three years.
After each respective qualification period there is an additional hold-
ing period of one year afterwhich the share rightsmay be exercised
during a period of three years. For participants outside of Sweden,
the final outcomemay be paid out in cash adjusted for the total share-
holder return for SEB’s Class A shares (so called phantom shares).

In both theAEP and the ShareDeferral Programme there is a possi-
bility of risk adjustment for both current and future risks. The final
outcome can therefore be reduced partially or completely afterwards
in accordancewith current regulations, among other things taking
the bank’s earnings and the capital and liquidity required for the
business operations into account.For further information about the
programmes, see note 9 and the corporate governance pages onwww.
sebgroup.com

Remuneration to the President andmembers
of the Group Executive Committee (GEC)
SEB’s Board of Directors decides on the remuneration for the Presi-
dent and othermembers of theGECbased on a recommendation by
RemCo. Their remuneration shall be in linewith the guidelines set
by the AGM.

Total remuneration for themembersof theGEC is basedon the three
main components basepay, long-termequity-based remuneration
(ShareDeferral Programme), andpensions andotherbenefits.No
cash-basedvariable remuneration is paid, and themembersof theGEC
arenot eligible for theAEP.Thepensionplans for themembersof the
GECaredefinedcontribution solutions,with the exceptionof adefined
benefit componentprovidedunder a collective agreement. Thepension
plans are in linewith the SEBgroup’sPensionPolicy.

For terminationof employment initiatedby thebank, amaximumof
12months’ severancepay is payable, after thenoticeperiod. SEBhas
the right todeduct incomeearned fromother employment fromany
severancepay.Detailed information about executives’ remuneration is
provided in note 9c.

RemCo evaluates the guidelines for salary and other benefits paid
to the President and other GECmembers on a continuous basis
throughout the year. To perform this evaluation, RemCoobtains
information from theHead ofGroupHumanResources, Head of
Group Internal Audit and the external auditors, andwith respect
toGECmembers, also from the President.

In addition, comparative studies aremade yearlywith relevant
sectors andmarkets. The result of such studies is a significant factor
in setting the total level of remuneration formembers of theGEC.
This internal and external information facilitates RemCo in itswork
on ensuring that remuneration at SEB is alignedwith themarket
and is competitive. Prior to the 2016AGM the bank’s external audi-
tor issued a statement to the Board assuring that SEB has adhered to
the guidelines for salary and other remuneration for the President
and other GECmembers set by the 2015AGM.The statement can
be found on the AGMpages onwww.sebgroup.com.

Remuneration in SEB in 2016 SEK thousands

Base pay
Cashbased variable

compensation

Expensed amount
equitybased
programmes Benefits Total Pensions

President and CEO, Annika Falkengren 11,500 6,343 1,425 19,268 5,000

Other members of the GEC 1) 48,855 21,997 1,650 72,502 15,347

Total 60,355 0 28,340 3,075 91,770 20,347

SEB excluding GEC 8,045,057 683,978 674,016 91,304 9,494,355 1,347,352

SEB Total 8,105,412 683,978 702,356 94,379 9,586,125 1,367,699

1) The number and composition differ somewhat during the year but on average eleven members are included.
During the year the President and CEO has excercised rights to a value of SEK 6,398,251.
The corresponding value for the GEC excluding the President is SEK 8,181,695.
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Internal Control over Financial Reporting (ICFR) is an established
process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding reli-
ability of financial reporting and reduce the risk ofmisstatement.
ICFR is based on the framework established by the Committee of
SponsoringOrganizations of the TreadwayCommission (COSO)
and is conducted by SEB in a yearly cycle as described below.

1 Perform risk assessment

In order to identify and understand the risks in the financial report-
ing process, assessments are performed at the SEB group and legal
entity levels. These risk assessments are used to determinewhich
legal entities, processes and systems are to be covered by the ICFR
process in the coming year.

2 Identify risks and expected controls

Expertisewithin the business and finance functions continuously
validate that themost significant risks pertaining to the processes
are identified, and that the controls in place appropriatelymitigate
the risks. In this step it is important to evaluate if the controls are
effective, if new risks have been identified and if there is a need for
new controls thatmitigate the risksmore efficiently. The controls
are continuously communicated to involved partieswithin the
bank, to set expectations and responsibilities. The framework
consists of group-wide controls aswell as process and IT controls,
for example validation of the valuation of financial instruments,
account reconciliations and controls of system access.

3 Plan

Every year a plan is prepared based on the risk assessments and
expected controls. The plan clarifies who at SEB is responsible for
evaluating the respective controls within each legal entity, what
type of evaluation should be conducted and how the result is to be
reported. The plan is co-ordinatedwith the audit plans of internal
and external audit.

4 Evaluate controls

The controls are evaluated on a continuous basis throughout the
year by control owners through self-assessments. Risk indicators
are also reported. In thisway the bank’sweaknesses can be identi-
fied and compensating controls and improvements can be initiated.
Furthermore, quarterly reporting is done by all CFOs to gain an
assurance of the reported figures for each legal entity, to identify
anymaterial financial reporting risks, and to comment onmaterial
deviations compared to earlier quarters.

5 Report

The results from the evaluations of the controls are analysed to
assess the risk for misstatements in the financial reporting. The
ICFRmonitoring report is communicated to the SEB group CFO in
connectionwith the quarterly external financial reporting. The
results are also reported to the Audit and Compliance Committee
(ACC) once a year. The report describes the residual risk, includ-
ing a description of identified control gaps, howwell these
controls are compensated for by other controls, and how thework
with gap remediation activities is progressing. The group level
ICFR report contributes to transparency in the SEB organisation
and enables prioritisation of improvement activities based on the
residual risk.

In addition to this process, Internal Audit independently tests the
ICFRprocess in accordancewith a plan adopted by theACC.

Internal control over
financial reporting
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over financial reporting

In 2016, significant improvementsweremade in the following
main areaswithin the ICFR framework:
• monitoring of internal control for supervisory reporting

through a new framework, Internal Control over Supervisory
Reporting (ICSR)

• management of operational risk in significant processes accord-
ing to requirements from the Swedish Financial Supervisory
Authority.
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Income Statement

SEBGroup
SEKm Note 2016 2015 Change,%

Interest income 35,202 37,726 –7
Interest expense –16,464 –18,788 –12

Net interest income 4 18,738 18,938 –1
Fee and commission income 22,500 24,340 –8
Fee and commission expense –5,872 –5,995 –2

Net fee and commission income 5 16,628 18,345 –9
Net financial income 6 7,056 5,478 29
Dividends 170 169 1
Profit and loss from investments in associates 218 66
Gains less losses from investment securities 891 553 61
Other operating income 70 214 –67

Net other income 7 1,349 1,002 35

Total operating income 43,771 43,763 0

Staff costs 9 –14,562 –14,436 1
Other expenses 10 –6,703 –6,355 5
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment of tangible and intangible assets 11 –6,496 –1,011

Total operating expenses –27,761 –21,802 27

Profit before credit losses 16,010 21,961 –27

Gains less losses from tangible and intangible assets 12 –150 –213 –30
Net credit losses 13 –993 –883 12

Operating profit 14,867 20,865 –29

Income tax expense 15 –4,249 –4,284 –1

NETPROFIT 10,618 16,581 –36

Attributable tominority interests
Attributable to shareholders 10,618 16,581 –36

Basic earnings per share, SEK 16 4.88 7.57
Diluted earnings per share, SEK 16 4.85 7.53
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Statement of
comprehensive income
SEBGroup
SEKm 2016 2015 Change,%

NETPROFIT 10,618 16,581 –36

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
Valuation gains (losses) during the year 968 –963
Income tax on valuation gains (losses) during the year –84 215
Transferred to profit or loss for the year1) 103 13
Income tax on transfers to profit or loss for the year 3 16 –81

Available-for-sale financial assets 990 –719

Valuation gains (losses) during the year –1,064 –971
Income tax on valuation gains (losses) during the year 234 214 9
Transferred to profit or loss for the year2) 24 116 –79
Income tax on transfers to profit or loss for the year –5 –26 –81

Cashflowhedges –811 –667 22

Translation of foreign operations 327 –239
Taxes on translation effects 423 –334

Translation of foreign operations 750 –573

Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss:
Remeasurement of pension obligations, including special salary tax –3,624 3,687
Valuation gains (losses) on plan assets during the year 1,183 1,713 –31
Deferred tax on pensions 566 –1,222

Definedbenefit plans –1,875 4,178

OTHERCOMPREHENSIVE INCOME –946 2,219

TOTALCOMPREHENSIVE INCOME 9,672 18,800 –49
1) Other income.
2) Net interest income.

Attributable tominority interests
Attributable to shareholders 9,672 18,800 –49

Themethod used to hedge currency risks related to foreign operations creates a tax expense (tax income) in the parent company. Fair value changes on the hedging instru
ments impact the taxable result contrary to the currency revaluation of the foreign operations. In the Group this tax effect is reported in Other comprehensive income.
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Balance sheet statement

SEBGroup
31 December, SEKm Note 2016 2015 Change,%

Cash and cash balances at central banks 18 151,078 101,429 49
Other lending to central banks 66,730 32,222 107
Loans to credit institutions 18, 19 50,527 58,542 –14
Loans to the public 19 1,453,019 1,353,386 7
Securities held for trading 162,516 239,906 –32
Derivatives held for trading 198,271 199,085 0
Derivatives held for hedging 14,084 16,466 –14
Financial assets – designated at fair value through profit or loss 410,155 371,488 10

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 22 785,026 826,945 –5
Fair value changes of hedged items in a portfolio hedge 111 104 7
Availableforsale financial assets 23 35,747 37,331 –4
Investment accounted for using the equitymethod 268 260 3
Other investments in associates 970 958 1

Investments in subsidiaries and associates 24,25 1,238 1,218 2
Intangible assets 11,405 17,069 –33
Property and equipment 908 825 10
Investment properties 7,845 8,309 –6

Tangible and intangible assets 28 20,158 26,203 –23
Current tax assets 5,978 6,966 –14
Deferred tax assets 1,329 1,516 –12

Tax assets 15 7,307 8,482 –14
Trade and client receivables 7,635 13,124 –42
Other financial assets 29,239 22,363 31
Other non-financial assets 12,244 13,814 –11

Other assets 29 49,118 49,301 0
Noncurrent assets classified as held for sale 48 587 801 –27

TOTALASSETS 2,620,646 2,495,964 5

Deposits from central banks and credit institutions 119,864 118,506 1
Deposits and borrowing from the public 962,028 883,785 9
Liabilities to policyholders – investment contracts 296,618 271,995 9
Liabilities to policyholders – insurance contracts 107,213 98,714 9

Liabilities to policyholders 30 403,831 370,709 9
Debt securities issued 668,880 639,444 5
Liabilities held for trading 38,845 40,746 –5
Derivatives held for trading 173,348 188,062 –8
Derivatives held for hedging 1,303 1,977 –34

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 31 213,496 230,785 –7
Fair value changes of hedged items in a portfolio hedge 1,537 1,608 –4
Current tax liabilities 2,184 2,082 5
Deferred tax liabilities 8,474 9,468 –10

Tax liabilities 15 10,658 11,550 –8
Trade and client payables 8,926 11,496 –22
Other financial liabilities 30,609 29,138 5
Other non-financial liabilities 16,889 22,900 –26

Other liabilities 32 56,424 63,534 –11
Provisions 33 2,233 1,873 19
Subordinated liabilities 34 40,719 31,372 30

Total liabilities 2,479,670 2,353,166 5

Minority interests
Share capital 21,942 21,942 0
Other reserves 5,439 6,385 –15
Retained earnings 113,595 114,471 –1

Shareholders’ equity 140,976 142,798 –1

Total equity 140,976 142,798 –1

TOTAL LIABILITIESANDEQUITY 2,620,646 2,495,964 5
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SEBGroup
SEKm Other reserves

2016
Share

capital 3)

Available-
for-sale
financial
assets

Cash
flow

hedges

Translation
of foreign

operations

Defined
benefit
plans

Retained
earnings

Total
Shareholders’

equity
Minority
interests

Total
Equity4)

Opening balance 21,942 648 3,210 –1,943 4,470 114,471 142,798 0 142,798
Change in valuation of insurance contracts –440 –440 –440

Adjusted opening balance 21,942 648 3,210 –1,943 4,470 114,031 142,358 0 142,358

Net profit 10,618 10,618 10,618
Other comprehensive income (net of tax) 990 –811 750 –1,875 –946 –946

Total comprehensive income 990 –811 750 –1,875 10,618 9,672 0 9,672

Dividend to shareholders 1) –11,504 –11,504 –11,504
Equitybased programmes2) 433 433 433
Change in holding of own shares 17 17 17

CLOSINGBALANCE 21,942 1,638 2,399 –1,193 2,595 113,595 140,976 0 140,976

2015

Opening balance 21,942 1,367 3,877 –1,370 292 108,435 134,543 33 134,576
Net profit 16,581 16,581 16,581
Other comprehensive income (net of tax) –719 –667 –573 4,178 2,219 2,219

Total comprehensive income –719 –667 –573 4,178 16,581 18,800 0 18,800

Dissolvement ofminority interest –33 –33
Dividend to shareholders 1) –10,400 –10,400 –10,400
Equitybased programmes2) –164 –164 –164
Change in holding of own shares 19 19 19

CLOSINGBALANCE 21,942 648 3,210 –1,943 4,470 114,471 142,798 0 142,798

1) Dividend paid in 2016 for 2015was SEK 5.25 (4.75) per Class A share and SEK 5.25 (4.75) per Class C share. Proposed dividend for 2016 is SEK 5.50. Further information can be found in the chapter Share
holders and the SEB share on page 26–28. Dividend to shareholders is reported excluding dividend on own shares.

2) The item includes changes in nominal amounts of equity swaps used for hedging of longterm incentive programmes in 2015. As of 31 December 2014 SEB owned 5.5million Class A shares for the long
term incentive programmes. In 2015 8.0million Class A shares were been sold as stock options were exercised. During 2015, SEB also repurchased 3.4million Class A shares. As of 31 December 2015 SEB
owned 0.9million Class A shares with amarket value of SEK 76m. Another 5.5million Class A shares were been sold during 2016 as stock options were exercised. During 2016, SEB repurchased 29.8million
Class A shares. As of 31 December 2016 SEB owned 25.2million Class A shares with amarket value of SEK 2,406m.

3) 2,170,019,294 Class A shares (2,170,019,294); 24,152,508 Class C shares (24,152,508).
4) Information about capital requirements can be found in Note 20 Capital adequacy.

Statement of changes in equity
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SEBGroup
SEKm 2016 2015 Change,%

Interest received 35,507 38,652 –8
Interest paid –17,515 –20,007 –12
Commission received 22,500 22,340 1
Commission paid –5,872 –5,463 7
Net received fromfinancial transactions –7,621 13,218
Other income 74 2,826 –97
Paid expenses –21,464 –20,682 4
Taxes paid –3,159 –3,309 –5

Cashflow from the profit and loss statement 2,450 27,575 –91

Increase (–)/decrease (+) in portfolios 62,438 75,834 –18
Increase (+)/decrease (–) in issued shortterm securities 30,524 –49,679
Increase (–)/decrease (+) in lending to credit institutions and central banks –31,024 16,967
Increase (–)/decrease (+) in lending to the public –104,145 –2,664
Increase (+)/decrease (–) in liabilities to credit institutions 1,361 3,408 –60
Increase (+)/decrease (–) in deposits and borrowings from the public 78,243 –59,128
Increase (–)/decrease (+) in insurance portfolios 329 52
Change in other assets 3,281 8,645 –62
Change in other liabilities –866 –8

Cashflow fromoperating activities 42,591 21,002 103

Sales of shares and bonds 1,075 1,180 –9
Sales of intangible and tangible fixed assets 110 84 31
Dividends received 170 169 1
Investments/divestments in shares and bonds –52 161
Investments in intangible and tangible assets –451 –691 –35

Cashflow from investing activities 852 903 –6

Issue of securities and newborrowings 243,292 275,501 –12
Repayment of securities –233,986 –284,203 –18
Dividend paid –11,504 –10,400 11

Cashflow fromfinancing activities –2,198 –19,102 –88

NETCHANGE INCASHANDCASHEQUIVALENTS 41,245 2,803

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 110,770 105,848 5
Exchange rate differences on cash and cash equivalents 6,300 2,119 197
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 41,245 2,803

CASHANDCASHEQUIVALENTSATENDOFPERIOD1) 158,315 110,770 43

1) Cash and cash equivalents are disclosed in note 18.

Cash flow statement
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Income Statement
In accordancewith the Swedish Financial SupervisoryAuthority regulations

Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken
SEKm Note 2016 2015 Change,%

Interest income 4 29,022 30,092 –4
Leasing income 4 5,443 5,439 0
Interest expense 4 –15,223 –16,043 –5
Dividends 6,581 8,028 –18
Fee and commission income 5 11,648 12,258 –5
Fee and commission expense 5 –2,805 –3,058 –8
Net financial income 6 4,642 3,428 35
Other income 7 817 1,137 –28

Total operating income 40,125 41,281 –3

Administrative expenses 8 –15,039 –13,458 12
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment of tangible and intangible assets 11 –5,775 –5,447 6

Total operating expenses –20,814 –18,905 10

Profit before credit losses 19,311 22,376 –14

Net credit losses 13 –789 –520 52
Impairment of financial assets1) –3,841 –775

Operating profit 14,681 21,081 –30

Appropriations 14 2,437 781
Income tax expense 15 –2,877 –3,679 –22
Other taxes 15 137 –138

NETPROFIT 14,378 18,045 –20

1) As a result of impairment test in SEBGroup, impairment of shares in subsidiaries has affected the parent company in Q1 2016with an amount of SEK 2,687m.
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Statement of
comprehensive income
In accordancewith the Swedish Financial Supervisory Authority regulations

Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken
SEKm 2016 2015 Change,%

NETPROFIT 14,378 18,045 –20

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
Valuation gains (losses) during the year 982 –798
Income tax on valuation gains (losses) during the year –85 176
Transferred to profit or loss for the year1) 299 256 17
Income tax on transfers to profit or loss for the year –66 –57 16

Available-for-sale financial assets 1,130 –423

Valuation gains (losses) during the year –1,064 –969 10
Income tax on valuation gains (losses) during the year 234 213 10
Transferred to profit or loss for the year2) 24 116 –79
Income tax on transfers to profit or loss for the year –5 –25 –80

Cashflowhedges –811 –665 22

Translation of foreign operations 25 –41
Taxes on translation effects

Translation of foreign operations 25 –41

OTHERCOMPREHENSIVE INCOME 344 –1,129

TOTALCOMPREHENSIVE INCOME 14,722 16,916 –13

1) Other income.
2) Net interest income.

Themethod used to hedge currency risks related to foreign operations creates a tax expense (tax income) in the parent company. Fair value changes on the hedging instru
ments impact the taxable result contrary to the currency revaluation of the foreign operations. In the Group this tax effect is reported in Other comprehensive income.
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Balance sheet statement

Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken
31December, SEKm Note 2016 2015 Change,%

Cash and cash balances at central banks 18 70,671 55,712 27
Loans to credit institutions 18,19 287,059 166,267 73
Loans to the public 19 1,172,095 1,080,438 8
Securities held for trading 162,335 234,106 –31
Derivatives held for trading 147,124 165,964 –11
Derivatives held for hedging 12,649 15,042 –16
Other financial assets at fair value through profit and loss 87 209 –58

Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss 22 322,195 415,321 –22
Availableforsale financial assets 23 12,063 12,985 –7
Investments in associates 24 1,025 1,001 2
Shares in subsidiaries 25 50,611 52,398 –3
Intangible assets 2,023 2,424 –17
Property and equipment 35,163 38,153 –8

Tangible and intangible assets 28 37,186 40,577 –8
Current tax assets 2,990 1,643 82

Tax assets 2,990 1,643 82
Trade and client receivables 7,234 12,871 –44
Other financial assets 29,177 22,132 32
Other non-financial assets 7,538 5,260 43

Other assets 29 43,949 40,263 9

TOTALASSETS 1,999,844 1,866,605 7

Deposits from central banks and credit institutions 168,852 134,816 25
Deposits and borrowing from the public 782,584 690,301 13
Debt securities issued 664,186 632,403 5
Liabilities held for trading 38,845 40,487 –4
Derivatives held for trading 132,861 160,619 –17
Derivatives held for hedging 972 1,685 –42

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit and loss 31 172,678 202,791 –15
Current tax liabilities 855 835 2
Deferred tax liabilities 677 906 –25

Tax liabilities 1,532 1,741 –12
Trade and client payables 7,945 11,011 –28
Other financial liabilities 29,922 28,044 7
Other non-financial liabilities 8,211 12,736 –36

Other liabilities 32 46,078 51,791 –11
Provisions 33 80 144 –44
Subordinated liabilities 34 40,719 31,372 30

Total liabilities 1,876,709 1,745,359 8

Untaxed reserves 35 21,761 23,466 –7

Share capital 21,942 21,942 0
Restricted reserves 12,701 12,260 4
Other reserves 3,571 3,227 11
Retained earnings 48,782 42,306 15
Net profit 14,378 18,045 –20

Total equity 101,374 97,780 4

TOTAL LIABILITIES,UNTAXEDRESERVESANDTOTALEQUITY 1,999,844 1,866,605 7
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Statement of changes in equity

Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken
SEKm Restricted equity Non-restricted equity4)

2016
Share

capital 3)
Restricted
reserves

Available-for-sale
financial assets

Cash flow
hedges

Translation
of foreign

operations
Retained
earnings Total Equity

Opening balance 21,942 12,260 328 3,211 –312 60,351 97,780
Net profit 14,378 14,378
Other comprehensive income (net of tax) 1,130 –811 25 344

Total comprehensive income 1,130 –811 25 14,378 14,722

Dividend to shareholders1) –11,504 –11,504
Equitybased programmes 2) 342 342
Change in holding of own shares 34 34
Other changes 441 –441

CLOSINGBALANCE 21,942 12,701 1,458 2,400 –287 63,160 101,374

2015

Opening balance 21,942 12,260 751 3,876 –271 52,905 91,463
Net profit 18,045 18,045
Other comprehensive income (net of tax) –423 –665 –41 –1,129

Total comprehensive income –423 –665 –41 18,045 16,916

Dividend to shareholders1) –10,400 –10,400
Equitybased programmes 2) –218 –218
Change in holding of own shares 19 19

CLOSINGBALANCE 21,942 12,260 328 3,211 –312 60,351 97,780

1) Dividend paid in 2016 for 2015was SEK 5.25 (4.75) per Class A share and SEK 5.25 (4.75) per Class C share. Proposed dividend for 2016 is SEK 5.50. Further information can be found in the chapter
Shareholders and the SEB share on page 26–28. Dividend to shareholders is reported excluding dividend on own shares.

2) The item includes changes in nominal amounts of equity swaps used for hedging of longterm incentive programmes in 2015. As of 31 December 2014 SEB owned 5.5million Class A shares for the long
term incentive programmes. In 2015 8.0million Class A shares were been sold as stock options were exercised. During 2015, SEB also repurchased 3.4million Class A shares. As of 31 December 2015 SEB
owned 0.9million Class A shares with amarket value of SEK 76m. Another 5.5million Class A shares were been sold during 2016 as stock options were exercised. During 2016, SEB repurchased 29.8million
Class A shares. As of 31 December 2016 SEB owned 25.2million Class A shares with amarket value of SEK 2,406m.

3) 2,170,019,294 Class A shares (2,170,019,294); 24,152,508 Class C shares (24,152,508).
4) The opening balance is equivalent to Distributable items according to Regulation (EU) No 575/2013 (CRR).
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Cash flow statement

Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken
SEKm 2016 2015 Change,%

Interest received 29,464 31,831 –7
Interest paid –11,028 –16,607 –34
Commission received 11,884 12,878 –8
Commission paid –3,064 –3,649 –16
Net received fromfinancial transactions –7,811 11,194
Other income –3,634 –1,104
Paid expenses –14,050 –12,399 13
Taxes paid –3,531 –1,684 110

Cashflow from the profit and loss statement –1,770 20,460

Increase (–)/decrease (+) in trading portfolios 74,866 47,842 56
Increase (+)/decrease (–) in issued shortterm securities 32,852 –49,371
Increase (–)/decrease (+) in lending to credit institutions –122,367 45,016
Increase (–)/decrease (+) in lending to the public –93,180 –28,990
Increase (+)/decrease (–) in liabilities to credit institutions 34,094 –9,847
Increase (+)/decrease (–) in deposits and borrowings from the public 92,301 –15,991
Change in other assets –5,987 12,808
Change in other liabilities –5,924 2,074

Cashflow fromoperating activities 4,885 24,001 –80

Dividends received 6,581 8,028 –18
Investments/divestments in shares and bonds 2,079 773 169
Investments in intangible and tangible assets –742 –810 –9

Cashflow from investment activities 7,918 7,991 –1

Issue of securities and newborrowings 239,266 283,182 –16
Repayment of securities –229,959 –291,813 –21
Dividend paid –11,504 –10,400 11

Cashflow fromfinancing activities –2,197 –19,031 –88

NETCHANGE INCASHANDCASHEQUIVALENTS 10,606 12,961 –18

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 77,493 60,745 28
Exchange rate differences on cash and cash equivalents 3,833 3,787 1
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 10,606 12,961 –18

CASHANDCASHEQUIVALENTSATENDOFPERIOD 1) 91,932 77,493 19

1) Cash and cash equivalents are disclosed in note 18.
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Notes to the financial statements
SEKm, unless otherwise stated.

1 Accounting policies

Significant accounting policies for the Group

STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE
The Group’s consolidated accounts have been prepared in accordance with the
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and interpretations of these
standards as adopted by the EU. The accounting also follows the Annual Accounts
Act for Credit Institutions and Securities Companies (1995:1559) and the regulation
and general guidelines issued by the Swedish Financial Supervisory Authority,
Annual Reports in Credit Institutions and Securities Companies (FFFS 2008:25). In
addition to this the Supplementary Accounting Rules for Groups RFR 1 and the addi
tional UFR statements issued by the Swedish Financial Reporting Board have been
applied.

BASIS OF PREPARATION
The consolidated accounts are based on amortised cost, except for the fair value
measurement of availableforsale financial assets, financial assets and liabilities
measured at fair value through profit or loss including derivatives and investment
properties measured at fair value. The carrying amount of financial assets and lia
bilities subject to hedge accounting at fair value has been adjusted for changes in
fair value attributable to the hedged risk. The financial statements are presented in
million Swedish kronor (SEKm) unless indicated otherwise.

CONSOLIDATION
Subsidiaries
The consolidated accounts combine the financial statements of the parent company
and its subsidiaries. Subsidiaries are companies, over which the Group has control.
The Group controls an entity when it is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns
from its involvement and has the ability to use its power to affect the amount of the
returns. Control is deemed to exist when the parent company holds, directly or indi
rectly, more than 50 per cent of the voting rights, unless there is evidence that
another investor has the practical ability to unilaterally direct the relevant activities
of the entity. Companies in which the parent company or its subsidiaries holdmore
than 50 per cent of the votes, but are unable to exercise control due to contractual
or legal reasons, are not included in the consolidated accounts. The Group also
assesses if control exists when it holds less than 50 per cent of the voting rights.

This may arise if the Group has contractual arrangements with other vote holders.
The size and dispersion of holdings of other vote holders may also indicate that
the Group has the practical ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee.

When voting rights are not relevant in deciding who has power over an entity,
such as interests in some funds or special purpose entities (SPE), all facts and
circumstances are considered in determining if the Group controls the entity.
In the assessment whether to consolidate SPEs and any entities where there is not
immediately clear where control rests, an analysis is made to identify which party
has power over the activities whichmost affects the returns of the entity and if that
party is significantly exposed or have significant rights to the returns from that
entity.

The financial statements of the parent company and the consolidated sub
sidiaries refer to the same period and have been drawn up according to the account
ing policies applicable to the Group. A subsidiary is included in the consolidated
accounts from the time of acquisition, being the date when the parent company
gains control over the subsidiary. The subsidiary is included in the consolidated
accounts until the date when control over the company ceases to exist.

The consolidated accounts are prepared in accordance with the acquisition
method. The acquisition value is measured as the fair value of the assets given,
equity instruments issued and liabilities incurred or assumed.

The identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities and contingent liabilities
assumed in a business combination aremeasured initially at their fair values on
acquisition date, irrespective of anyminority interest. The excess of the considera
tion transferred for the acquisition over the fair value of the Group’s share of the
identifiable acquired net assets is recorded as goodwill. If the consideration trans
ferred is less than the fair value of the net assets of the acquired subsidiary, the
difference is recognised directly against profit or loss.

Goodwill is allocated between the cashgenerating units or groups of units which
are expected to generate cash flows. The cashgenerating units to which goodwill is
allocated correspond to the lowest level within the Group in which goodwill is moni
tored for internal management purposes.

Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised gains and losses on transac
tions between Group companies are eliminated. Theminority interest of the profit
in subsidiaries is included in the reported profit in the consolidated income state
ment, while theminority share of net assets is included in equity.

Corporate information
The SEB Group provides corporate, retail, investment and private banking services.
The Group also provides asset management and life insurance services.

Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB (publ.) is the parent company of the Group.
The parent company is a Swedish limited liability company with its registered office
in Stockholm, Sweden.

The parent company is included in the Large Cap segment of the NASDAQ Stock
holm stock exchange.

The consolidated accounts for the financial year 2016 were approved for publica
tion by the Board of Directors on 21 February and will be presented for adoption at
the 2017 Annual General Meeting.

Exchange rates used for convertingmain currencies in theGroupConsolidation

Profit and loss account Balance sheet

2016 2015 Change,% 2016 2015 Change,%

DKK 1.272 1.254 1 1.286 1.232 4
EUR 9.470 9.356 1 9.558 9.195 4
NOK 1.020 1.047 –3 1.051 0.955 10
USD 8.561 8.433 2 9.054 8.416 8
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Associated companies
The consolidated accounts also include associated companies that are companies
in which the Group has significant influence, but not control. Significant influence
means that the Group can participate in the financial and operating policy decisions
of the company, whilst not determining or controlling such financial and operating
policies. A significant influence is generally deemed to exist if the Group, directly
or indirectly, holds between 20 and 50 per cent of the voting rights of an entity.

According to themain principle, associated companies are consolidated in
accordance with the equity method. This means that the holding is initially reported
at its acquisition cost. Associated companies are subsequently carried at a value
that corresponds to the Group’s share of the net assets. However, the Group has
chosen to designate investments in associates held by the Group’s venture capital
organisation at fair value through profit or loss on the basis that these aremanaged
and evaluated based on fair value.

ASSETS HELD FOR SALE
Assets (or disposal groups) are classified as held for sale at the time when a non
current asset or group of assets (disposal group) are available for immediate sale in
its present condition and its sale is deemed to be highly probable. At the time of the
classification, a valuation of the asset or disposal group is made at the lower of its
carrying amount and fair value, less costs to sell. Any subsequent impairment losses
or revaluations are recognised directly in profit or loss. No gains are recognised in
excess of accumulated impairment losses of the asset recognised previously. From
the time of classification, no depreciation is made for property and equipment or
intangible assets originating from assets held for sale. Assets and liabilities held
for sale are reported separately in the balance sheet until they are sold.

SEGMENT REPORTING
An operating segment is identified on the basis of internal reports about compo
nents of the Group that are regularly reviewed by the chief operating decisionmaker
in order to allocate resources to the segments and to assess their performance. The
business divisions are identified as separate operating segments. Business Support,
Group Staff, Group Treasury and Group wide items are included in the segment
Other. In the context of defining the segments the President and Chief Executive
Officer (CEO) is the Group’s chief operating decisionmaker.

FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the appropriate functional cur
rency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. On sub
sequent balance sheet dates monetary items in foreign currency are translated
using the closing rate. Nonmonetary items, which aremeasured in terms of histori
cal cost in foreign currency, are translated using the exchange rate on the date of
the transaction. Nonmonetary items, which aremeasured at fair value in a foreign
currency, are translated applying the exchange rate on the date on which the fair
value is determined.

Gains and losses arising as a result of exchange rate differences on settlement
or translation of monetary items are recognised in profit or loss. Translation differ
ences on nonmonetary items, classified as financial assets or financial liabilities
at fair value through profit or loss, are included in the change in fair value of those
items. Translation differences from nonmonetary items, classified as availablefor
sale financial assets, are recognised in other comprehensive income. Exchange rate
differences referring tomonetary items comprising part of a net investment in a for
eign operation are reported in other comprehensive income.

The income statements and balance sheets of Group entities, with a functional
currency other than the Group’s presentation currency, are translated to SEK in the
consolidated accounts. Assets and liabilities in foreign Group entities are translated
at the closing rate and income and expenses in the income statement are translated
at the average exchange rate for the year. The exchange rate differences are recog
nised as a separate component of other comprehensive income.

Goodwill arising in conjunction with acquisitions of foreign Group entities, as
well as adjustments to the fair value of assets and liabilities made in conjunction
with acquisitions are included in the assets and liabilities of the foreign entity in
question are translated at the closing rate.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
Financial assets
Financial assets are recognised on the balance sheet when the Group becomes a
party to the contractual provisions of the instrument and aremeasured at fair value
on initial recognition. Transaction costs are included in the fair value on initial rec
ognition except for financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss
where transaction costs are expensed in profit or loss. Financial assets are derecog
nised when the rights to receive cash flows have expired or the Group has trans
ferred substantially all risks and rewards. Transfers of financial assets with retention
of all or substantially all risks and rewards include for example repurchase transac
tions and securities lending transactions.

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following categories: financial
instruments at fair value through profit or loss; loans and receivables and available
forsale financial assets.

Financial assets are recognised on the balance sheet on the trade date, with
exception of loans and receivables, which are recognised on the settlement date.

Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss consist of financial assets classi
fied as held for trading and financial assets which, upon initial recognition, have
been designated at fair value through profit or loss (fair value option). Financial
assets are classified as held for trading if they are held with the intention to be sold
in the shortterm and for the purpose of generating profits. Derivatives are classi
fied as held for trading unless designated as hedging instruments.

The fair value option can be applied to contracts including one ormore embed
ded derivatives, investments that aremanaged and evaluated on a fair value basis
and situations in which such designation reducesmeasurement inconsistencies.
The nature of the financial assets which have been designated at fair value through
profit or loss and the criteria for such designation are described in the relevant
notes to the financial statements.

Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value are reported in the income
statement on an ongoing basis under the itemNet financial income.

Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are nonderivative financial assets with fixed or determinable
payments that are not quoted in an activemarket. Loans and receivables aremeas
ured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. The balance sheet items
Cash balances with central banks, Loans to credit institutions and Loans to the pub
lic are included in this category.

Available-for-sale financial assets
Availableforsale financial assets are nonderivative financial assets that are
designated as availableforsale and are not classified into any of the other catego
ries described above. Availableforsale financial assets aremeasured at fair value.
Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value are reported in other compre
hensive income and accumulated in equity. In the case of sale or impairment of an
availableforsale financial asset, the accumulated gains or losses previously
reported in equity are recognised in profit or loss. Interest on interestbearing avail
ableforsale financial assets is recognised in profit or loss, applying the effective
interest method. Dividends on equity instruments, classified as availableforsale,
are also recognised in profit or loss.

Investments in equity instruments without a quotedmarket price in an active
market aremeasured, if possible, at fair value on the basis of a recognised valuation
method. Investments in equity instruments without a quotedmarket price in an
activemarket andwhose fair value cannot be reliablymeasured aremeasured at cost.

Reclassification
In rare circumstances nonderivative trading financial assets that are no longer held
for the purpose of selling it in the near termmay be reclassified out of the held for
trading category. Financial assets held in the availableforsale categorymay be
reclassified to loans and receivables or heldtomaturity if SEB has the intention and
ability to hold the financial asset for the foreseeable future or until maturity. The
reclassified assets mustmeet the definition of the category to which it is reclassified
at the reclassification date.

Reclassifications aremade at fair value as of the reclassification date. The fair
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value becomes the new carrying amount. Effective interest rates for financial assets
reclassified to loans and receivables are determined at the reclassification date.
Increases in estimates of cash flows of reclassified financial assets adjust effective
interest rates prospectively, whereas decreases in the estimated cash flows are
charged to the profit or loss.

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities aremeasured at fair value on initial recognition. In the case of
financial liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs
directly attributable to the acquisition or the issuance of the financial liability are
recognised in profit or loss. For other financial liabilities direct transaction cost are
recognised as a deduction from the fair value.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when extinguished, that is, when the
obligation is discharged, cancelled or expired.

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are either classified as held for
trading or designated as fair value through profit or loss on initial recognition (fair
value option). The criteria for classification of financial liabilities under the fair value
option are the same as for financial assets. Liabilities to policyholders and some
Debt securities are included in this category. Financial liabilities held for trading are
primarily short positions in interestbearing securities, equities and derivatives not
designated as hedging instruments.

Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value are reported in the income
statement on an ongoing basis under the itemNet financial income.

Other financial liabilities
The category other financial liabilities primarily include the Group’s shortterm
and longterm borrowings. After initial recognition other financial liabilities are
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method. The balance sheet
items Deposits from credit institutions, Deposits and borrowings from the public
and Debt securities are included in this category.

Offsetting financial transactions
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the balance
sheet when there is a legal right to offset transactions and an intention to settle net
or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Fair valuemeasurement
Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to
transfer a liability in an orderly market betweenmarket participants at themeasure
ment date.

The fair value of financial instruments quoted in an activemarket is based on
quotedmarket prices. If the asset or liability measured at fair value has a bid price
and an ask price, the price within the bidask spread that is most representative of
fair value in the circumstances is used.

The fair value of financial instruments that are not quoted in an activemarket is
determined by applying various valuation techniques withmaximum use of observ
able inputs. The valuation techniques used are for example discounted cash flows,
option pricingmodels, valuations with reference to recent transactions in the same
instrument and valuations with reference to other financial instruments that are
substantially the same.When valuing financial liabilities at fair value own credit
standing is reflected.

Any differences between the transaction price and the fair value calculated using
a valuation technique with unobservable inputs, the Day 1 profit, is amortised over
the life of the transaction. Day 1 profit is then recognised in profit or loss either when
realised through settlement or when inputs used to calculate fair value are based on
observable prices or rates.

Fair value is generally measured for individual financial instruments. In addition
portfolio adjustments aremade to cover market risks and the credit risk of each of
the counterparties on groups of financial assets and liabilities on the basis of the net
exposure to these risks. When assets and liabilities have offsettingmarket risks
midmarket prices are used for establishing fair value of the risk positions that off
set each other. To reflect counterparty risk and own credit risk in OTC derivatives,
adjustments aremade based on the net exposure towards each counterpart.

Embedded derivatives
Some combined contracts contain both a derivative and a nonderivative compo
nent. In such cases, the derivative component is termed an embedded derivative.
Where the economic characteristics and risks of the embedded derivatives are not
closely related to those of the host contract, and the host contract itself is not car
ried at fair value through profit or loss, the embedded derivative is bifurcated and
reported at fair value with gains and losses being recognised in the income state
ment.

Certain combined instruments are classified as financial assets or financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss according to the fair value option. The
designation implies that the entire combined instrument is measured at fair value
through profit and loss.

Hedge accounting
Derivatives are used to hedge interest rate, exchange rate and equity exposures.
Where derivatives are held for risk management purposes and when transactions
meet the required criteria, the Group applies fair value hedge accounting, cash flow
hedge accounting or hedging of a net investment in a foreign operation as appropri
ate to the risks being hedged. The Group documents and designates at inception
the relationship between the hedged item and the hedging instrument as well as
the risk objective and hedge strategy. The Group also documents its assessment,
both at inception and on an ongoing basis, whether the derivatives used are both
prospectively, and retrospectively highly effective in offsetting the hedged risk. As
part of the prospective test the Group also assesses and documents that the likeli
hood of forecasted transactions to take place is highly probable.More informa-
tion regarding hedge accounting can be found in note 7 Net other income.

Hedge accounting is applied when derivatives are used to reduce risks such as
interest rate risks and currency risks in financial instruments. Furthermore, hedge
accounting can be applied to liabilities hedging currency risk in net investments in
subsidiaries. The Group applies different hedge accountingmodels depending on
the purpose of the hedge:
– Hedges of fair value of recognised assets or liabilities (fair value hedge)
– Hedges of the fair value of the interest rate risk of a portfolio (portfolio hedge)
– Hedges of highly probable future cash flows attributable to recognised assets or
liabilities (cash flow hedge)

– Hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation (net investment hedge).

The Group discontinues hedge accounting when:
– The derivative has ceased to be highly effective as a hedging instrument;
– The derivative expires, is sold, terminated, or exercised;
– The hedged itemmatures, is sold or repaid; or
– The forecast transaction is no longer deemed highly probable.

Fair value hedge
Fair value hedges are used to protect the Group against undesirable exposures to
changes in themarket prices of recognised assets or liabilities. Changes in fair value
of derivatives that qualify and are designated as hedging instruments are recorded
in the income statement, together with changes in the fair value of the hedged asset
or liability that are attributable to the hedged risk as Net other income.

Where the Group hedges the fair value of interest rate exposure in a portfolio
including financial assets or financial liabilities, so called portfolio hedging of inter
est rate risk, the gains or losses attributable to the hedged item are reported as a sep
arate item under assets or as a separate item under liabilities in the balance sheet.

When hedge relationships are discontinued, any adjustment to the carrying
amount of the hedged item is amortised to profit or loss over the period tomaturity
of the hedged item.

Cash flow hedge
Cash flow hedging is applied for the hedging of exposure to variations in future
interest payments on assets or liabilities with variable interest rates. The portion
of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument that is determined to be an effective
hedge is recognised in other comprehensive income. The ineffective portion of the
gain or loss on the hedging instrument is recognised in profit or loss as Net other
income.

Gains or losses on hedging instruments that have been accumulated in equity
are recognised in profit or loss in the same period as interest income and interest
expense from the hedged asset or liability.

When cash flow hedges are discontinued but future cash flows still are expected
to occur, accumulated gains or losses from the hedging instrument will remain as a
separate item in equity until the hedged future cash flows occur. Accumulated gains
or losses are subsequently reported in profit or loss in Net interest income in the
same period in which the previously hedged interest flows are recognised in profit
or loss.

Net investment hedge
Hedge of a net investment is applied to protect the Group from translation differ
ences due to net investments in foreign subsidiaries. Foreign currency loans consti
tute the major portion of hedging instruments in these transactions. The transla
tion differences arising on the hedging instruments are recognised in other compre
hensive income and accumulated in equity as translation of foreign operations, to
the extent the hedge is effective. Any ineffective part is recognised as Net financial
income.When a foreign operation is partially disposed of or sold, exchange
differences accumulated in equity are recognised in the income statement as part
of the gain or loss on the sale.

INTEREST INCOME AND INTEREST EXPENSE
The effective interest method is applied to recognise interest income and interest
expenses in profit or loss for financial assets and financial liabilities measured at
amortised cost.

The effective interest method is amethod of calculating the amortised cost of a
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financial asset or a financial liability and of allocating interest income and interest
expenses. The effective interest rate is the rate that discounts estimated future cash
payments or receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument to the net
carrying amount of the financial instrument. When calculating future payments, all
payments included in the terms and conditions of the contracts, such as advance
payments, are taken into consideration. However, future credit losses are not taken
into account. The calculation of the effective interest rate includes fees and points
to be received and paid that are an integral part of the effective interest rate.

Once a financial asset or a group of similar financial assets has been written
down as a result of an impairment loss, interest income is subsequently recognised
applying the rate of interest used to discount the future cash flows for the purpose
of measuring the impairment loss.

COMMISSIONS AND FEES
Commission income and income in the form of fees on financial instruments are
accounted for in different ways, depending upon the financial instrument fromwhich
the income is derived.When commission income and fees are included in the calcu
lation of the effective interest rate of a financial instrumentmeasured at amortised
cost, such interest and fees are allocated over the expected tenor of the instrument
applying the effective interestmethod and presented in Net interest income.

Commission income and fees from asset management and advisory services are
reported in accordance with the economic substance of each agreement. This
income is recognised during the period in which the service is provided. Commis
sion and fees from negotiating a transaction for a third party, such as arrangement
of acquisitions or purchase or sale of a business, is recognised on completion of the
transaction. Performancebased fees are reported when the income can be reliably
calculated.

Fees from loan syndications in which SEB acts as arranger are reported as income
feewhen the syndication is completed and the Group has retained no part of the loan
or retained a part of the loan at the same effective interest rate as other participants.

DIVIDEND INCOME
Dividends are recognised when the entity’s right to receive payment is established.

REPURCHASE AGREEMENTS
Securitiesmay be lent or sold subject to a commitment to repurchase them (a ‘repo’)
at a fixed price and at a predetermined date. Such securities are retained on the bal
ance sheet and in addition included separately as collateral pledged for own liabili
ties when cash consideration is received. Depending on the counterparty, payment
received is recognised under Deposits by credit institutions or as Deposits and bor
rowing from the public.

Similarly, where the Group borrows or purchases securities subject to a commit
ment to resell them (a ‘reverse repo’), the securities are not included in the balance
sheet. Paymentsmade are recognised as Loans to credit institutions or as Loans to
the public.

The difference between sale and repurchase price is accrued over the life of the
agreements using the effective interest method.

SECURITIES BORROWING AND LENDING
Securities borrowing and lending transactions are entered into on a collateralised
basis. Fair values of securities received or delivered aremonitored on a daily basis
to require or provide additional collateral. Cash collateral delivered is derecognised
from the balance sheet and a corresponding receivable is recognised. Cash collat
eral received is recognised in the balance sheet and a corresponding obligation to
return it, is recognised. Securities lent remain on the balance sheet and are in addi
tion reported as pledged assets. Borrowed securities are not recognised as assets.
When borrowed securities are sold (short position), an amount corresponding to the
fair value of the securities is booked as a liability. Securities received in a borrowing
or lending transaction are disclosed as offbalance sheet items.

IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS
All financial assets, except those classified at fair value through profit or loss, are
tested for impairment.

At each balance sheet date the Group assesses whether there is objective evi
dence that financial assets not carried at fair value through profit or loss are
impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assets are impaired and impair
ment losses are incurred if there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of
one or more events occurring after the initial recognition of the asset, and if that
loss event will have an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial
asset or a group of financial assets that can be reliably measured.

Examples of objective evidence that one or more events have occurred whichmay
affect estimated future cash flows include:
– significant financial difficulty of the issuer or obligor,
– concession granted to the borrower as a consequence of financial difficulty, which
normally would not have been granted to the borrower,

– a breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in the payment of interest or
principal,

– the probability that the borrower will go bankrupt or undergo some other kind of
financial reconstruction

– deterioration in the value of collateral and
– a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of an equity instrument below
its cost.

An impairment loss is reported as a write off, if it is deemed impossible to collect the
contractual amounts that have not been paid and/or are expected to remain unpaid,
or if it is deemed impossible to recover the acquisition cost by selling any collateral
provided. In other cases, a specific provision is recorded in an allowance account.
As soon as the noncollectible amount can be determined and the asset is written
off, the amount reported in the allowance account is dissolved. Similarly, the provi
sion in the allowance account is reversed if the estimated recovery value exceeds
the carrying amount.

Assessment of impairment
Individual assessment of impairment
Loss events indicating objective evidence of impairment of individually assessed
assets are when scheduled payments are past due bymore than 90 days, or if the
counterparty is expected to be in default or any other combination of events that are
deemed so negative that there will be a probable payment default in the foreseeable
future. The debt instrument is impaired if the cash flows including the value of the
collateral does not cover outstanding exposure.

Collective assessment of impairment when assets are not individually impaired
Assets assessed for impairment on an individual basis and found not impaired are
included in a collective assessed, of incurred but not identified, impairment. The
collective assessment of incurred but not identified credit losses is based on the
SEB counterpart rating scale.

Loans assessed on a portfolio basis
Loans with limited value and similar risk, homogenous groups, are assessed for
impairment on a portfolio basis. In assessing collective impairment the Group uses
statistical models based on the probability of default and the amount of loss
incurred, considering collaterals and recovery rates. The outcome is adjusted for
management’s judgement as to whether current economic and credit conditions
are such that the actual losses are likely to be greater or less than suggested by the
models. Default rates and loss rates are regularly benchmarked against actual out
comes to ensure that they remain appropriate.

Recognition of impairment loss on assets carried at amortised cost
An impairment of an individually assessed financial asset in the category loans and
receivables carried at amortised cost is calculated on the basis of the original effec
tive interest rate of the financial instrument. The amount of the impairment is meas
ured as the difference between the carrying amount of the asset and the present
value of estimated future cash flows (recoverable amount). If the terms of an asset
are restructured or otherwisemodified due to financial difficulties on behalf of the
borrower or issuer, impairment is measured using the original effective interest rate
beforemodification of the terms and conditions. Cash flows relating to shortterm
receivables are not discounted if the effect of the discounting is immaterial. The
entire outstanding amount of each loan for which a specific provision has been
established is included in impaired loans, i.e. including the portion covered by col
lateral.

Recognition of impairment loss on Available-for-sale financial assets
When there is a decline in the fair value and there is objective evidence of impairment
in an availableforsale financial instrument, the accumulated loss shall be reclassi
fied from equity to profit or loss. Equity instruments are considered impairedwhen
a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value has occurred. The amount of the
accumulated loss that is transferred from equity and recognised in profit or loss is
equal to the difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair value, with
a deduction of any impairment losses on that financial asset which had been previ
ously recognised in profit or loss.

The incurred impairment of unquoted equities, measured at acquisition cost,
is calculated as the difference between the carrying amount and the present value
of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the current market rate of return for
similar equities.

Impairment losses on bonds or other interestbearing instruments classified
as availableforsale are reversed via profit or loss if the increase in fair value can
be objectively attributed to an event taking place subsequent to the writedown.
Impairment losses for equity instruments classified as availableforsale are not
reversed through profit or loss following an increase in fair value but are recognised
in other comprehensive income.

Restructured loans
Portfolio assessed loans that would have been considered past duemore than
60 days if they were not restructured.
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SEIZED ASSETS
Seized assets are assets taken over to protect a claim. SEBmay refrain from a loan
receivable and instead seize the asset that served as collateral for the loan. Seized
assets may consist of financial assets, properties and other tangible assets. Seized
asset are recognised on the same line item in the balance sheet as similar assets
that have been acquired otherwise. Seized financial assets are categorised as
Availableforsale financial assets. At inception seized assets aremeasured at fair
value. The fair value at initial recognition becomes the acquisition value. Subse
quently seized assets aremeasured according to type of asset with the exception
of impairment on tangible seized assets that is reported as Gains less losses from
tangible and intangible assets rather than as Depreciation, amortisation and
impairment of tangible and intangible assets. The purpose is to better reflect the
similar character of impairment of assets that are taken over to protect claims on
counterparties and credit losses.

TANGIBLE ASSETS
Tangible assets, with the exception of investment properties held in insurance oper
ations, aremeasured at cost and are depreciated according to plan on a straight line
basis over the estimated useful life of the asset. Themaximum depreciation period
for buildings is 50 years. The depreciation period for other tangible fixed assets is
between 3 and 8 years.

Tangible fixed assets are tested for impairment whenever there is an indication
of impairment.

LEASING
A finance lease is a lease that transfers, from the lessor to the lessee, substantially
all risks and rewards incidental to the ownership of an asset. In the Group, essen
tially all leasing contracts in which the Group is the lessor are classified as finance
leases. Finance leases are reported as lending, which implies that the leasing
income is reported within net interest income.

INVESTMENTPROPERTIES
Investments in properties held in order to receive rental income and/or for capital
appreciation are reported as investment properties. The recognition andmeasure
ment of such properties differs, depending upon the entity owning the property.
Investment properties held in the insurance operations, used tomatch liabilities
providing a yield directly associated with the fair values of specified assets, includ
ing the investment properties themselves, are accounted for using the fair value
model. Holdings of investment properties in the banking operations aremeasured
at depreciated cost.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Intangible assets are identifiable, nonmonetary assets without physical substance.
For an intangible asset to be recognised an entity must be able to demonstrate con
trol of the intangible asset, which implies that the entity has the ability to ensure
that the future economic benefits flowing from the underlying resource will accrue
to the company. Intangible assets, other than goodwill, are only recognised in the
balance sheet if it is probable that the future economic benefits attributable to the
asset will accrue to the Group and if the acquisition cost of the asset can bemeas
ured in a reliable manner.

Intangible assets aremeasured initially at acquisition cost, and thereafter at cost
less any accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses.

Intangible assets with finite useful lives, i.e. all intangible assets except goodwill,
are amortised on a straight line basis over their useful lives and tested for impair
ment annually and whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the carrying amountmay not be recoverable. Customer lists are amortised over
20 years and internally generated intangible assets, such as software development,
are amortised over a period of between 3 and 8 years.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives, i.e. goodwill, are not amortised but
tested for impairment annually and whenever there is an indication that the intangi
ble asset may be impaired. As regards goodwill, an impairment loss is recognised in
profit or loss whenever the carrying amount, with respect to a cashgenerating unit
or a group of cashgenerating units to which the goodwill is attributed, exceeds the
recoverable amount. Impairment losses attributable to goodwill are not reversed,
regardless of whether the cause of the impairment has ceased to exist.

The recoverable amount of an intangible asset is determined if there is indication
of a reduction in the value of the asset. An impairment loss is recognised if the car
rying amount exceeds the recoverable amount of the asset.

PROVISIONS
Provisions are recognised for present obligations arising as consequences of past
events where it is more likely than not that a transfer of economic benefit will be
necessary to settle the obligation, and it can be reliably estimated. Provisions are
determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at pretax rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and, where appro
priate, the risks specific to the liability.

Provisions aremade for undrawn loan commitments and similar facilities if it is
probable that the facility will be drawn by a debtor in financial difficulties.

Provisions are evaluated at each balance sheet date and are adjusted as
necessary.

FINANCIAL GUARANTEES
Financial guarantees are contracts that require the Group tomake specified pay
ments to reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor
fails tomake payment when due in accordancewith the terms of a debt instrument.
Financial guarantee liabilities are initially recognised at their fair value, whichmost
often equals the premium received. The initial fair value is amortised over the life
of the financial guarantee. The guarantee liability is subsequently carried at the
higher of this amortised amount and the best estimate of the expenditure required to
settle any financial obligation arising as a result of the guarantee at the balance sheet
date. Provisions and changes in provisions are recognised in the income statement
as Net credit losses. The contractual amounts according to financial guarantees are
not recognised in the balance sheet but disclosed as offbalance sheet items.

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
Pensions
There are both defined contribution and defined benefit pension plans within the
Group, of whichmost have plan assets. A defined benefit plan is a pension plan that
defines an amount of pension benefit that an employee will get on retirement
depending on factors such as age, years of service and compensation. A defined
contribution plan is a pension plan where the Group pays a contribution to separate
entities and has no further obligation once the contribution is paid.

The pension commitments of the Group with respect to defined benefit plans are
covered by the pension funds of the Group or through insurance solutions.

The defined benefit obligation is calculated quarterly by independent actuaries
using the Projected Unit Credit Method. The assumptions upon which the cal-
culations are based are found in note 9b addressing Staff costs.

All changes in the net defined benefit liability (asset) are recognised as they
occur, as follows: (i) service cost and net interest in the income statement; and (ii)
remeasurements of both defined benefit obligations and plan assets in other com
prehensive income.

Pension costs for defined contribution pension plans are recognised as an
expense during the period the employees carry out the service to which the pay
ment relates.

Share-based payments
The Group operates a number of sharebased incentive programmes, under which
it awards SEB equity instruments to its employees. Equitysettled sharebased
incentive programmes entitle employees to receive SEB equity instruments. Cash
settled sharebased incentive programmes entitle employees to receive cash based
on the price or value of equity instruments of SEB. Fair value of these rights is deter
mined by using appropriate valuationmodels, taking into account the terms and
conditions of the award and the Group’s estimate of the number of rights that will
eventually vest, which is reassessed at each reporting date. Social security costs are
accounted for over the vesting period and the provision for social security costs is
reassessed on each reporting date to ensure that the provision is based on the
rights’ fair value at the reporting date.

The cost of equitysettled sharebased incentive programmes is measured by
reference to the fair value of equity instruments on the date they are granted and
recognised as an expense on a straightline basis over the vesting period with a cor
responding increase in equity. The vesting period is the period that the employees
have to remain in service in SEB in order for their rights to vest. For cashsettled
sharebased incentive programmes, the services acquired and liability incurred are
measured at the fair value of the liability and recognised as an expense over the
vesting period, during which the employees render service. Until settlement, the
fair value of the liability is remeasured, with changes in fair value recognised in the
income statement.

TAXES
The Group’s tax for the period consists of current and deferred tax. Current tax
assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods aremeasured at the amount
expected to be paid to or from tax authorities using the tax rates and tax laws that
have been enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date. Current tax
is calculated based on the taxable results for the period. Deferred tax arises due to
temporary differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their car
rying amounts.

Current tax and deferred tax are generally recognised in profit or loss. However,
tax that relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income is also reported
directly in other comprehensive income. Examples of such items are changes in the
fair value of availableforsale financial assets and gains or losses on hedging
instruments in cash flow hedges.

Deferred tax assets are recognised in the balance sheet to the extent that it is
probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they can be uti
lized. The Group’s deferred tax assets and tax liabilities have been calculated at the
tax rate of 22 per cent (22 per cent) in Sweden and at each respective country’s tax
rate for foreign companies.
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INSURANCE AND INVESTMENT CONTRACTS
Insurance contracts are contracts under which the Group accepts significant
insurance risk – defined as a transfer of an absolute risk of minimum 5 percent of
the underlying value – from the policyholder by agreeing to compensate the policy
holder or other beneficiaries on the occurrence of a defined insured event. Invest
ment contracts are financial instruments that do not meet the definition of an insur
ance contract, as they do not transfer significant insurance risk from the policy
holder to the Group.

Insurance contracts
Insurance contracts are classified as shortterm (nonlife) or longterm (life). Short
term insurance comprise sickness, disability, healthcare, and rehabilitation insur
ance. Longterm insurance comprisesmainly traditional life insurance within the
Danish subsidiary, SEB Pension. In the Group accounts shortterm and longterm
insurance are presented aggregated as Insurance contracts. Some 95 per cent of
the insurance liability is related to longterm insurance contracts.

Measurement of short-term insurance contracts (non-life)
The provision for unearned premiums is intended to cover the anticipated cost of
claims and operating expenses arising during the remaining policy period of the
insurance contracts in force. The provision for unearned premiums is usually strictly
proportional over the period of the insurance contracts. If premiums are judged to be
insufficient to cover the anticipated cost for claims and operating expenses, the pro
vision for unearned premiums is strengthenedwith a provision for unexpired risks.

For anticipated future claims that have been incurred but not yet paid, provision
for claims outstanding is recognised. The provision is intended to cover the antici
pated future payment of all claims incurred, including claims incurred but not
reported (IBNR provisions). This provision should also cover all costs for claims set
tlement. The provision for claims outstanding is not discounted, with the exception
of provisions for sickness annuities, which are discounted using standard actuarial
methods.

Measurement of long-term insurance contracts (life)
For longterm life insurance contracts, a liability for contractual benefits that are
expected to be incurred in the future is recorded when the premiums are recog
nised. The liability equals the sum of the discounted value of expected benefit pay
ments and future administration expenses, less any outstanding future contractual
premium payments. Liabilities for longterm life insurance are discounted using
standard actuarial methods.

Liability adequacy test
Swedish actuarial procedures involve performing liability adequacy tests on insur
ance liabilities. This is to ensure that the carrying amount of the liabilities is sufficient
in the light of estimated future cash flows. The carrying amount of a liability is the
value of the liability itself less any related intangible asset or asset for deferred acqui
sition costs. The current best estimates of future contractual cash flows, as well as
claims handling and administration costs, are used in performing these liability ade
quacy tests. These cash flows are discounted and compared to the carrying amount
of the liability. Any deficit is immediately recognised in profit or loss.

Revenue recognition
Premiums for insurance contracts are recognised as revenue when they are paid by
the policyholders. For contracts where insurance risk premiums received during a
period are intended to cover insurance claims arising in that period those premiums
are recognised as revenue proportionally during the period of coverage.

Recognition of expenses
Costs for insurance contracts are recognised as an expense when incurred, with the
exception of commissions and other variable acquisition costs that vary with and
are directly related to securing new contracts and the renewal of existing contracts.
These costs are capitalised as deferred acquisition costs. These costs aremainly
incremental acquisition costs paid to sales personnel, brokers and other distribu
tion channels. Deferred acquisition costs are amortised as the related revenue is
recognised. The asset is tested for impairment every accounting period, ensuring
that the economic future benefits expected to arise from the contracts exceed its
face amount. All other costs, such as nonincremental acquisition costs or mainte
nance costs, are recognised in the accounting period in which they arise. Insurance
compensation is recorded as an expense when incurred.

Reinsurance
Contracts with reinsurers, whereby compensation for losses is received by the
Group, are classified as ceded reinsurance. For ceded reinsurance, the benefits to
which the Group is entitled under the terms of the reinsurance contract are reported
as the reinsurers’ share of insurance provisions. Amounts recoverable from re
insurers aremeasured consistently with the amounts associated with the reinsur
ance contracts and in accordance with the terms of each reinsurance contract.

Investment contracts
Themajority of the Group’s unitlinked insurance is classified as investment con
tracts. No significant insurance risk is transferred from the policyholder to the
Group. Aminor part of the Group’s unit linked insurance business, the portion refer
ring to the Danish insurance subsidiary, is classified as insurance contracts.

Measurement
Investment contracts are financial commitments whose fair value is dependent on
the fair value of the underlying financial assets. The underlying assets and related
liabilities are designated at fair value through profit or loss (fair value option). The
choice to use the fair value option has beenmade for the purpose of eliminating the
measurement inconsistency that would occur if different bases for measurement
would have been used for assets and liabilities. The fair value of the unit linked
financial liabilities is determined using the fair value of the financial assets linked to
the financial liabilities attributed to the policyholder on the balance sheet date.
However, if the liability is subject to a surrender option, the fair value of the financial
liability is never less than the amount payable on surrender.

Revenue recognition
Amounts received from and paid to policyholders are reported in the balance sheet
as deposits or withdrawals. Fees charged for managing investment contracts are
recognised as revenue. The revenue for thesemanagement services is evenly dis
tributed over the tenor of the contracts.

Recognition of expenses
Variable expenses directly attributable to securing a new investment contract are
deferred. These costs are primarily variable acquisition costs paid to sales person
nel, brokers and other distribution channels. Deferred acquisition costs are
reported in profit or loss as the related revenue is recognised. The asset is tested for
impairment during each accounting period to ensure that the future economic ben
efits expected to arise from the contract exceed the carrying amount of the asset.
All other costs, such as fixed acquisition costs or ongoing administration costs, are
recognised in the accounting period in which they arise.

CONTRACTSWITHDISCRETIONARYPARTICIPATION FEATURES (DPF)
Some traditional pension saving contracts include a discretionary participation fea
ture. This feature entitles the policyholder to receive, as a supplement to guaran
teed benefits, additional benefits or bonuses. All contracts that include a dis
cretionary participation feature are reported as insurance contracts. The amounts
referring to the guaranteed element and to the discretionary participation feature
are reported as liabilities to policyholders.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES IMPLEMENTED 2016
The following changes have been implemented in 2016:
IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements and IAS 28 Investments in associates

and Joint Ventures together with IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities
have been amended with clarifications to the accounting for interests in investment
entities and applying the consolidation exemption.
IAS 27 Separate Financial Statements have been amended regarding the equity

method in separate financial statements.
IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements have been amended regarding accounting for acqui

sitions of interests in joint operations.
IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment and IAS 38 Intangible Assets have been

clarified regarding acceptablemethods of depreciation and amortisation.
IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements has been amended with clarifications

of, for example, materiality and disclosure requirements.
Annual Improvements 2012–2014 Cycle has narrowly amended several IFRS

standards.
These changes have not had amaterial impact on the financial statements of the

Group or on capital adequacy and large exposures.
IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts allows nonuniform accounting policies for insurance

contracts. A change in accounting policies for calculating insurance liabilities in
Denmark wasmade as of 1 January 2016 to be aligned with Solvency II principles.

The reorganisation as of 1 January 2016 amended the reportable segments of the
Group and goodwill was reallocated to business unit and geographical level rather
than the divisional level in accordance with IFRS 8 Operating Segments and IAS 36
Impairment of Assets.

FUTURE ACCOUNTING DEVELOPMENTS
Consideration will be given in the future to the implications, if any, of the following
new and revised standards and interpretations, if adopted by the EU.
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments – IFRS 9will replace IAS 39 Financial Instruments:

Recognition and Measurement. The standard includes a revisedmodel for classifi
cation andmeasurement of financial instruments, a new impairmentmodel based
on expected loss and an amended approach for general hedge accounting. The
standard is endorsed by the EU. SEB will not early adopt the standard. However,
SEB is evaluating the option allowing the presentation of fair valuemovements
of own credit risk from issued debt instruments designated at fair value in other
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comprehensive income prior to adopting IFRS 9 in full 2018.
Within SEB an IFRS 9 Implementation Programme has been set up for implemen

tation of IFRS 9. The Programme is jointly sponsored by the Chief Financial Officer
and the Chief Risk Officer. A Steering Committee comprising senior representatives
fromGroup Risk, Group Finance, IT and the Divisions has been established.

The new approach for classification andmeasurement of financial assets focuses
on the businessmodel with respect to how financial assets aremanaged and
whether contractual cash flows represent only nominal amounts and interest.
IFRS 9 requirements on the classification andmeasurement of financial liabilities
remain largely unchanged compared to IAS 39. However, where issued debt instru
ments are designated at fair value, the changes in the fair value attributable to own
credit risk will be recognised in other comprehensive income (OCI) and not in profit
or loss as required by IAS 39. Following an initial assessment of contractual cash
flows and businessmodel, SEB expects that themeasurement basis of themajority
of the Group’s financial assets will be unchanged on application of IFRS 9.

IFRS 9 introduces an expected credit loss (ECL) model with a threestage
approach based on changes in the credit risk. A 12month ECL, Stage 1, applies to
all items, unless there is a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition.
For items where there is a significant increase in credit risk (Stage 2) or in default
(Stage 3), lifetime ECL applies. The assessment of credit risk, and the estimation
of expected credit loss, are required to be unbiased and probabilityweighted, and
should incorporate all available information which is relevant to the assessment,
including information about past events, current conditions and reasonable and
supportable forecasts of future events and economic conditions at the reporting
date. The IFRS 9 impairment model will be applicable to all financial assets at amor
tised cost, financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income and
offbalance sheet items such as loan commitments and financial guarantees.

SEB’s IFRS 9methodology for ECLmeasurement will leverage off existing internal
ratingbased Basel models. The design of the IFRS 9models entails adjusting from
the regulatory oneyearloss horizon and throughthecycle modelling to lifetime
loss horizon and pointintimemodelling. SEB plans to use internally developed
macroeconomic forecasts as the basis for the forwardlooking information incor
porated in the ECLmeasurement.

SEB’s assessment is that the expected credit loss model is likely to increase loan
loss allowances at transition, compared to the current incurred lossmodel. To date
it is unclear how regulators will treat the interaction of the accounting loan loss
allowance and the regulatory capital concept of expected loss. Under current regu
lation, any deficit between regulatory expected loss and IAS 39 loan loss allowance
is deducted from CET1 capital, while any surplus is added back to Tier 2 capital. The
European Commission has proposed that incremental provisions under IFRS 9
should be phased in over a five year period.

For general hedge accounting, IFRS 9 introduces amodel more aligned with risk
management strategies and objectives. SEB is evaluating the accounting policy
choice in IFRS 9, whether to continue with the IAS 39 hedge accounting or to imple
ment IFRS 9.
IFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with customers – IFRS 15 replaces all present rev

enue standards and related interpretations including IAS 11 Construction Contracts
and IAS 18 Revenue but does not apply to financial instruments, insurance con
tracts or leasing contracts. IFRS 15 establishes the principles for reporting informa
tion about the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows
from contract with customers. The standard introduces a fivestep revenue recog
nitionmodel. IFRS 15 is endorsed by EU and should be applied from 1 January 2018,
earlier application is permitted. SEB will not early adopt the standard.

SEB is currently evaluating the nature and impact of the change to the financial
statements of the Group. SEB has identified that the treatment of contract costs for
investment contracts within Life will change. According to the newmore specific
requirements a smaller part of deferred acquisition costs will be recognised as an
asset. SEB is currently assessing the quantitative impact. The change will affect the
financial statements of the Group at transition, but not the capital adequacy and
large exposures.
IFRS 16 Leases replaces IAS 17 Leases and related interpretations and was pub

lished in January 2016. Themost significant effect of the new requirements is that a
lessee will recognise a lease asset (rightofuse asset) and a financial liability, repre
sentingmainly the present value of leased premises, in the balance sheet. In the
income statement, the straightline operating lease expense will be replaced by a
depreciation charge for the lease asset and an interest expense on the financial lia
bility. Currently the lessees’ operating leases are not recorded in the balance sheet.
SEB is currently evaluating the impact of the change to the financial statements of
the Group. The Standard should be applied from 1 January 2019 and is not endorsed
by EU.
IAS 12 Income Taxes has been amended regarding recognition of deferred tax

assets for unrealised losses. IAS 7 Statements of Cash flows have been amended
within the disclosure initiative. These amendments should be applied from 1 January
2017 and have not been endorsed by EU. The changeswill not have amaterial effect
on the financial statements of the Group or on capital adequacy and large exposures
IFRS 2 Share-based Payment have been amended regarding classification and

measurement of sharebased payment transactions. IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts has

been amended regarding applying IFRS 9 Financial Instrumentswith IFRS 4 Insur-
ance Contracts. These amendments should be applied from 1 January 2018 and
have not been endorsed by EU. The changes will not have amaterial effect on the
financial statements of the Group or on capital adequacy and large exposures.

Significant accounting policies of the parent company
Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken (SEB) AB is a public limited liability company with
corporate number 5020329081 and with registered office in Stockholm, Sweden.

The financial statements of SEB AB are prepared in accordance with the Annual
Accounts Act for Credit Institutions and Securities Companies (1995:1559), the reg
ulation and general guidelines issued by the Swedish Financial Supervisory
Authority, Annual Reports in Credit Institutions and Securities Companies (FFFS
2008:25) and statements from the Swedish Financial Reporting Board, RFR 2 and
the additional UFR statements.

In accordance with the Financial Supervisory Authority’s regulation, the parent
company applies statutory IFRS. This means that the International Financial Report
ing Standards (IFRS) and interpretations of these standards as adopted by the EU
have been applied to the extent that is possible within the framework of Swedish
legislation and considering the close tie between financial reporting and taxation.
The accounting principles of the parent company differ, in certain aspects, from the
accounting principles applied by the SEB Group. The essential differences are
described below.

CHANGED ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The changed Group accounting policies also applies to the parent company. The
Swedish Annual Accounts Act for Credit Institutions and Securities Companies and
the regulations and general guidelines issued by the Swedish Financial Supervisory
Authority have been updated with effective date 1 January 2016. Themain changes
relates to alignment to IFRS regarding presentation and disclosures of contingent
liabilities. Further a restricted reserve within equity has been implemented for
intangible assets related to internally generated development expenses. In all other
material aspects the accounting policies, basis for preparation and presentation for
the parent company are unchanged in comparisonwith the annual report for 2015.

PRESENTATION FORMAT
The presentation format for the balance sheet and the profit and loss account
according to the Annual Accounts Act for Credit Institutions and Securities Compa
nies is not in conformity with IFRS. Credit institutions and securities companies
applying IFRS as adopted by the EU in their consolidated financial statements have
the option to deviate from the presentation format for the balance sheet as stipu
lated by law, but may not deviate from the stipulated profit and loss account.

HOLDINGS IN SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATED COMPANIES
Shares and participating interests in subsidiaries and associated companies are
measured at cost. Dividends on shares in subsidiaries and associated companies are
recognised as income in profit or loss. Merger of subsidiaries through absorption are
accounted for at consolidated values. Themerger effect is reported in equity.

LEASING
Leasing contracts which are classified as finance leases in the consolidated
accounts are accounted for as operating leases in the parent company.

PENSIONS
The parent company does not apply the provisions of IAS 19 concerning accounting
for defined benefit plans. Instead, pension costs are calculated on an actuarial basis
in the parent company in accordancewith the provisions of the Act on Safeguarding
PensionObligations and the Swedish Financial Supervisory Authority’s regulations.
In Sweden, actuarial pension commitments are guaranteed by a pension foundation.

The recognised net cost of pensions is calculated as pensions paid and pension
premiums less any compensation from the pension foundation. The net pension
cost for the year is reported under Staff costs in the parent company’s profit and loss
account. Excess amounts as a result of the value of the plan assets exceeding the
estimated pension obligations are not recognised as an asset in the parent compa
ny’s balance sheet. Deficits are recognised as a liability.

GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS
In accordance with IAS 38, goodwill is not amortised in the consolidated financial
statements. In the parent company financial statements goodwill is amortised as
any other intangible asset on a straight line basis.

TAXES
In the parent company, untaxed reserves are recognised as a separate item in the
balance sheet. Untaxed reserves comprise accelerated depreciation under tax
regulations, including the deferred tax component. In the consolidated financial
statements, untaxed reserves are reported in retained earnings and deferred tax
liability.
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GROUP CONTRIBUTIONS
The net of Group contributions received and paid is reported in the parent company
as appropriations.

Critical judgements in applying the accounting policies
Applying the Group’s accounting policies requires in some cases the use of esti
mates and assumptions that have amaterial impact on the amounts reported in the
financial statements. The estimates are based on expert judgements and assump
tions that management believes are true and fair. Themanagement continuously
evaluates these judgements and estimates. Themost significant assumptions and
estimates are associated with the areas described below:

CONSOLIDATIONOFMUTUAL LIFE INSURANCECOMPANIES AND FUNDS
Within the life insurance operations of the SEB Group Gamla Livförsäkrings AB SEB
Trygg Liv operates as a mutual life insurance company. The entity is not consoli
dated, as the judgement of the Group is that it does not have control of the entity.
Control is seen to imply the power to govern the financial and operating policies of
an entity in order to affect the amount of its returns from the entity. Life insurance
entities operated asmutual life insurance companies cannot pay dividends which is
why the Group deems that it cannot obtain benefits. In Gamla Livförsäkrings AB SEB
Trygg Liv there are specific policies specifying the composition of the board, which
implies that the SEB Group is not able to govern the financial and operating policies
of the entity.

In the assessment whether to consolidate funds an assessment is made whether
the Group is considered to be an agent or a principal. The Group is considered a
principal, and hence controls the fund, when it is the fundmanager, cannot be
removed without cause, has significant right to returns from the fund by holding
units and earning fee income and has the practical ability to influence its return by
using its power. Fundsmanaged by the Group in which entities within the Group
ownsmore than 20 per cent are analysed further for consolidation.

The policyholders in SEB’s unitlinked company choose to invest in a variety of
funds. The insurance company providing unitlinked products invests in the funds
chosen by the customers. By doing so SEBmight, in some cases, holdmore than 50
per cent of the funds, which it holds on behalf of the customers for whom it acts as
investmentmanager. Due to the legislation regarding fund operations, SEB consid
ers that it does not have the power to govern the financial and operating policies of
such investment funds to obtain benefits. This applies irrespective of whether the
funds held on behalf of customers are greater or less than 50 per cent of a fund. It is
the policyholders who carry the investment risk, not SEB. Consequently, the policy
holders are entitled to all of the returns generated by the funds. SEB only charges
fees, onmarket conditions, for managing the funds. SEB has come to the conclusion
that these funds which it manages should not be consolidated. However, the shares
that the Group holds in such funds on behalf of its customers are recognised in the
balance sheet.

FAIR VALUEMEASUREMENT OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The objective of the fair valuemeasurement is to arrive at the price at which an
orderly transaction would take place betweenmarket participants at themeasure
ment date under current market conditions. The best evidence of fair value is a
quoted price for the instrument beingmeasured in an actively tradedmarket. Where
themarket for a financial instrument is not active, fair value is calculated using an
established valuation technique. These valuation techniques involve a degree of
estimation, the extent of which depends on the instrument’s complexity and the
availability of marketbased data. When valuing financial liabilities at fair value own
credit standing is reflected. Given the uncertainty and subjective nature of valuing
financial instruments at fair value, it is possible that the outcomes in the next finan
cial year could differ from the assumptions used.

For some of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities, especially for certain
derivatives, quoted prices are not available, and valuationmodels are used to
estimate fair value. As part of the fair valuemeasurement, valuation adjustments
aremade when valuing derivative financial instruments, to incorporate counter
party and own credit risk. Themethodologies for estimating valuation adjustments
are continuously revised as a result of changingmarket practices in response to reg
ulatory and accounting policy changes, as well as general market developments.

The Group has an established control environment for the determination of fair
values of financial instruments that includes a review, independently from the busi
ness, of valuationmodels and prices. If the validation principles are not adhered to,
the Head of Group Finance shall be informed. Exceptions withmaterial and principal
importance require approval from the Valuation Committee and the SEB ASC
(Accounting Standards Committee).
 For disclosure purposes, fair values are classified in a fair value hierarchy
according to the level of observability of the inputs, see note 21 Fair value measure-
ment.

IMPAIRMENT TESTING OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND GOODWILL
Financial assets
When calculating loan impairment allowances on both individually assessed and
collectively assessed loans critical judgements and estimates are applied. Assess
ing financial assets individually for impairment requires judgement to establish the
counterparty’s repayment capacity and the realisable value of any collateral. The
most important aspect when testing a group of financial assets collectively for
impairment is to identify the events that indicate incurred losses. In assessing col
lective impairment the Group uses statistical models based on the probability of
default and the amount of loss incurred, considering collaterals and recovery rates.
The outcome is adjusted for management’s judgement as to whether current eco
nomic and credit conditions are such that the actual losses are likely to be greater or
less than suggested by themodels. Default rates and loss rates are regularly bench
marked against actual outcomes to ensure that they remain appropriate.

Adjustingmodels for collective impairment testing to current market situation
also require a high degree of expert judgement to ensure a reliable estimate. The
assessment and assumptions are regularly reviewed by the credit organisation of
the Group.

Goodwill
Judgement is involved in determining the cashgenerating units. The annual impair
ment test of goodwill is based on the value in usewith forecasted cash flows for five
years. The cash flows beyond five years are determined based on sustainable growth.

The estimation of future cash flows and the calculation of the rate used to dis
count those cash flows involves a number of judgmental areas: the preparation of
cash flow forecasts for periods that are beyond the normal requirements ofmanage
ment reporting and the assessment of the discount rate appropriate to the business.
 Note 28 describe tangible and intangible assets in more detail.

CALCULATIONOF INSURANCE LIABILITIES
Calculation of the Group’s insurance liabilities is based on a number of estimations
and assumptions, both financial and actuarial, such as interest rates, mortality,
health, expenses, inflation and taxes. One of the important financial assumptions is
the interest rate used for discounting future cash flows.

Assumption on interest rates is based on regulations from each local Financial
Supervisory Authority (FSA). All other assumptions are based on internally acquired
experience.

FAIR VALUE OF INVESTMENT PROPERTY
Investment properties in the insurance operations are fair valued with the assis
tance of external expertise. The valuationmethod appliedmeans that the related
expected cash flows are discounted to present value. The assumptions concerning
expected cash flows are based on assumptions on future rents, vacancy levels,
operating andmaintenance costs, yield requirement andmarket interest. Assump
tions are in line with the assessments that themarket can be expected tomake
under current market conditions. The yield requirement is based on local analysis of
comparable property purchases.

VALUATION OF DEFERRED TAX ASSETS
Deferred tax assets that are relying on future profitability can be recognised only to
the extent they can be offset against future taxable income and the valuation of
deferred tax assets is influenced bymanagement’s assessment of SEB’s future prof
itability, future taxable profits and future reversals of existing taxable temporary
differences. The expected outcome of uncertain tax positions is determined as the
single most likely outcome.

PROVISIONS
Judgement is involved in determining whether a present obligation exists, and i n
estimating the probability, timing and amount of any outflows. Provisions for claims
in civil lawsuits and regulatory matters typically require a higher degree of judge
ment than other types of provisions.

ACTUARIAL CALCULATIONS OF DEFINED BENEFIT PLANS
The calculation of the Group’s expense and obligations for defined benefit plans is
based on actuarial, demographic and financial assumptions that have a significant
impact on the recognised amounts. One of the important financial assumptions is
the interest rate used for discounting future cash flows. The estimation of the dis
count rate is subject to uncertainty around whether corporate bondmarkets are
deep enough, of high quality and also in connection to the extrapolation of yield
curves to relevant maturities. The discount rate is based on high quality corporate
bonds in a deepmarket, in Sweden covered bonds. The covered bonds in Sweden
are at least AAArated and thematurity is in line with the estimatedmaturity of obli
gations for post employment benefits. The discount rate for the defined benefit
obligation is revised quarterly and other assumptions are revised each year or when
a significant change has occurred.
 Note 9b describing staff costs contain a list of the most critical assumptions
used when calculating the defined benefit obligation.
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2 Operating segments

Group business segments

Income statement, 2016

Large Corporates
& Financial
Institutions

Corporate
&Private

Customers Baltic

Life &
Investment

Management Other1) Eliminations Total

Interest income 12,640 10,378 2,509 –3 14,730 –5,052 35,202
Interest expense –4,333 –1,396 –364 –57 –15,378 5,064 –16,464

Net interest income 8,307 8,982 2,145 –60 –648 12 18,738
Fee and commission income 11,722 7,117 1,671 7,641 125 –5,776 22,500
Fee and commission expense –5,627 –1,703 –500 –3,582 –90 5,630 –5,872

Net fee and commission income 6,095 5,414 1,171 4,059 35 –146 16,628
Net financial income 4,187 394 218 1,764 332 161 7,056
Net other income 389 55 –23 –17 957 –12 1,349

Total operating income 18,978 14,845 3,511 5,746 676 15 43,771
ofwhich internally generated –1,138 7,545 –5 –2,231 –4,186 15

Staff costs –4,062 –3,339 –755 –1,560 –4,895 49 –14,562
Other expenses –5,080 –3,713 –1,027 –984 4,165 –64 –6,703
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment
of tangible and intangible assets –140 –69 –66 –45 –6,176 –6,496

Total operating expenses –9,282 –7,121 –1,848 –2,589 –6,906 –15 –27,761

Gains less losses on disposals of tangible and intangible assets –156 6 –150
Net credit losses –563 –376 –56 2 –993

OPERATINGPROFIT 9,133 7,348 1,451 3,157 –6,222 14,867

Business equity, SEK bn 62.4 37.3 7.9 11.6
Return on business equity,% 11.3 15.2 16.2 23.5
Risk exposure amount, SEK bn 375 117 67 4 47 610
Lending to the public 2), SEK bn 546 710 117 2 1,375
Deposits from the public 2), SEK bn 404 372 106 79 961

2015

Interest income 14,530 10,044 2,596 22,448 –11,892 37,726
Interest expense –6,577 –1,691 –591 –43 –21,751 11,865 –18,788

Net interest income 7,953 8,353 2,005 –43 697 –27 18,938
Fee and commission income 15,539 7,479 1,644 2,617 132 –3,071 24,340
Fee and commission expense –8,750 –1,679 –529 1,983 –84 3,064 –5,995

Net fee and commission income 6,789 5,800 1,115 4,600 48 –7 18,345
Net financial income 3,987 522 241 1,339 –624 13 5,478
Net other income 528 67 29 85 296 –3 1,002

Total operating income 19,257 14,742 3,390 5,981 417 –24 43,763
ofwhich internally generated –1,376 8,506 –76 –1,748 –5,282 –24

Staff costs –3,860 –3,418 –729 –1,669 –4,809 49 –14,436
Other expenses –5,008 –3,463 –967 –1,144 4,252 –25 –6,355
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment
of tangible and intangible assets –109 –134 –69 –58 –641 –1,011

Total operating expenses –8,977 –7,015 –1,765 –2,871 –1,198 24 –21,802

Gains less losses on disposals of tangible and intangible assets 1 –216 2 –213
Net credit losses –299 –459 –128 3 –883

OPERATINGPROFIT 9,982 7,268 1,281 3,110 –776 20,865

Business equity, SEK bn 66.4 38.1 7.9 8.7
Return on business equity,% 11.6 14.7 14.4 30.3
Risk exposure amount, SEK bn 350 106 64 6 45 571
Lending to the public 2), SEK bn 501 669 104 2 1,276
Deposits from the public 2), SEK bn 357 346 94 1 79 877

1) Profit and loss fromassociated companies accounted for under the equitymethod are recognised inNet other income at an amount of SEK 19m (28). The aggregated investments are SEK 229m (223).
2) Excluding repos and debt securities.

Balance sheet, 2016

Assets 1,315,760 808,608 150,496 492,705 1,222,051 –1,368,974 2,620,646
Liabilities 1,235,317 761,015 141,797 479,199 1,231,316 –1,368,974 2,479,670
Investments 46 145 164 1,162 726 2,243

2015

Assets 1,216,889 771,060 132,615 449,593 1,017,312 –1,091,505 2,495,964
Liabilities 1,139,526 725,765 124,790 438,963 1,015,627 –1,091,505 2,353,166
Investments 149 28 103 1,356 804 2,440
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Note 2 continued Operating segments

Parent company business segments

2016

Large Corporates
& Financial
Institutions

Corporate
&Private

Customers Baltic

Life &
Investment

Management Other Eliminations Total

Gross income 1) 25,089 13,645 16 241 29,088 –9,926 58,153
Assets 1,074,815 734,433 1,452 231 1,011,986 –823,073 1,999,844
Investments 41 62 649 752

2015

Gross income 1) 23,777 13,271 14 3,739 32,772 –13,191 60,382
Assets 1,000,272 699,328 1,319 2,284 794,546 –631,144 1,866,605
Investments 131 27 661 2 821

Business segment
The Business segments are presented on amanagement reporting basis. The differ
ent divisions assist different groups of customers. The customers’ demands decide
the type of products that are offered. Large Corporates & Financial Institutions
offers wholesale and investment banking services to large corporations and institu
tions. Corporate & Private Customers offers products mainly to retail customers
(private customers and small andmediumsized corporates). Division Baltic offers

products mainly to retail customers (private customers and small andmedium
sized corporates) and private banking services in the Baltic countries. Life & Invest
ment Management performs asset management and private banking activities and
Life offers life, sickness and healthcare and pension insurance and perform asset
management. Other consists of business support units, treasury and staff units.
Eliminations of internal transactions between the business segments are reported
separately.

Gross incomeby product for external customers

Group Parent company

2016 2015 2016 2015

Core banking 33,920 36,227 22,691 24,189
Capital market 13,678 11,889 11,199 8,903
Assetmanagement 7,580 8,784 2,114 2,579
Life insurance and pension 3,572 3,046
Other 7,357 8,600 22,149 24,711

TOTAL 66,107 68,546 58,153 60,382

Core banking consists of loan, leasing, card and payment related products. Capital
market consists of trading and issues on financial markets. Asset management con
sists of advisory, custody and fundmanagement. Life insurance and pension con

sists of unitlinked and traditional life insurance products. Other consists of income
from treasury operations and other activities.

3 Geographical information

Group by country

2016 2015

Gross Income 1)
Operating

profit 2)
Income tax
expense 3) Assets Investments Gross Income 1)

Operating
profit 2)

Income tax
expense 3) Assets Investments

Sweden 41,662 4,916 –1,845 2,138,812 1,488 44,458 11,682 –2,344 1,967,473 1,415
Norway 5,178 2,366 –622 115,284 26 5,531 2,126 –539 100,024 79
Denmark 3,467 2,142 –417 324,547 299 3,309 1,423 –477 342,779 382
Finland 2,110 1,043 –217 80,469 10 2,335 1,081 –221 73,695 6
Estonia6) 1,680 916 –47 50,405 58 1,531 727 –20 43,702 52
Latvia 1,349 468 –57 33,738 48 1,194 256 –45 32,116 56
Lithuania 2,212 831 –58 71,098 76 2,067 495 –95 62,406 92
Germany 4) 6) 3,312 507 –420 34,454 3 4,345 1,255 –112 44,095 6
Poland 165 31 –14 5,305 2 164 24 –17 4,899 1
Ukraine 58 7 –4 700 68 13 –6 311
China 407 98 –18 23,045 3 435 149 –28 11,693
Great Britain 1,799 727 –196 70,291 5 1,748 714 –156 56,936 103
Ireland 567 171 –29 66,154 139 583 185 –22 60,325 183
Luxembourg 2,644 322 –39 73,747 6 3,319 369 –81 27,949 5
Russia 313 26 –15 3,950 2 304 12 –15 2,856 2
Singapore 573 94 –23 27,488 1 585 131 –25 19,213
United States 1,603 55 –310 109,109 1,093 319 –107 83,959
Other countries5) 6) 3,098 147 82 209,357 77 2,995 –96 26 208,290 58
Group eliminations –6,090 –817,307 –7,518 –646,757

TOTAL 66,107 14,867 –4,249 2,620,646 2,243 68,546 20,865 –4,284 2,495,964 2,440

1) Gross income in theGroup is defined as the sumof Interest income, Fee and commission income, Net financial income, Net life insurance income andNet other income according to IFRS. The basis for the
income allocation is SEB’s presence in each country, with the exception of when the local companies / branches serve as sales offices and receive commission payments and the transaction is booked in
the central unit.

2) Before tax.
3) Formore information about tax see note 15.
4) Excluding treasury operations.
5) Cayman Island, Hong Kong, Netherlands, Switzerland and treasury operations in Germany.
6) In Estonia no income tax is paid unless profit is distributed as dividend. In Germany, tax losses carry forward, not previously recognised, have been utilised both in 2015 and 2016. On Cayman Island,

the parent company is represented by a branch office and therefore tax is payable in Sweden.
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Note 3 continued Geographical information

Parent company by country

2016 2015

Gross Income 1) Assets Investments Gross Income 1) Assets Investments

Sweden 46,702 1,754,444 696 50,160 1,575,142 634
Norway 3,402 55,616 26 3,226 66,763 79
Denmark 1,979 76,074 3 1,586 106,365
Finland 1,168 9,888 9 1,301 26,714 4
Other countries 4,902 103,822 18 4,109 91,621 104

TOTAL 58,153 1,999,844 752 60,382 1,866,605 821

1) Gross income in the parent company is defined as the sumof Interest income, Leasing income, Dividends, Fee and commission income, Net Financial income andOther income according to SFSA account
ing regulations. The basis for the income allocation is SEB’s presence in each country, with the exception of when the local companies / branches serve as sales offices and receive commission payments
and the transaction is booked in the central unit.

Transfer pricing
The internal transfer pricing objective in the SEB Group is tomeasure net interest
income, to transfer interest rate risk and liquidity and tomanage liquidity. The inter

nal price is based on SEB’s actual or impliedmarketbased cost of funds for a spe
cific interest and liquidity term. Transactions between Business segments are con
ducted at arm’s length.

4 Net interest income
Group Parent company

2016 Average balance Interest Interest rate Average balance Interest Interest rate

Loans to credit institutions and central banks 408,155 1,233 0.30% 619,500 1,349 0.22%
Loans to the public 1,430,412 25,360 1.77% 1,040,096 18,694 1.80%
Interest earning securities1) 221,880 1,916 0.86% 211,324 1,731 0.82%

Total interest earnings assets 2,060,447 28,509 1.38% 1,870,920 21,774 1.16%

Derivatives and other assets 773,214 6,693 410,818 7,248

Total assets 2,833,661 35,202 2,281,738 29,022

Deposits from credit institutions 186,347 –372 –0.20% 280,008 –838 –0.30%
Deposits and borrowing from the public 1,071,015 –3,760 –0.35% 926,570 –1,880 –0.20%
Debt securities issued2) 719,551 –10,799 –1.50% 675,678 –10,859 –1.61%
Subordinated liabilities 34,270 –1,463 –4.27% 33,796 –1,463 –4.33%

Total interest bearing liabilities 2,011,183 –16,394 –0.82% 1,916,052 –15,040 –0.78%

Derivatives and other liabilities 686,312 –70 272,383 –183
Equity 136,166 93,303

Total liabilities and equity 2,833,661 –16,464 2,281,738 –15,223

Net interest income 18,738 13,799

Net yield on interest earning assets 0.91% 0.74%

1) of which, measured at fair value 1,641 1,735
2) of which, measured at fair value –664 –705
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Note 4 continued Net interest income

Group Parent company

2015 Average balance Interest Interest rate Average balance Interest Interest rate

Loans to credit institutions and central banks 402,886 1,285 0.32% 608,397 1,558 0.26%
Loans to the public 1,376,765 26,808 1.95% 1,022,141 19,563 1.91%
Interest earning securities1) 282,174 2,927 1.04% 174,146 2,417 1.39%

Total interest earnings assets 2,061,825 31,020 1.50% 1,804,684 23,538 1.30%

Derivatives and other assets 853,535 6,706 538,283 6,554

Total assets 2,915,360 37,726 2,342,967 30,092

Deposits from credit institutions 184,494 –395 –0.21% 285,388 –728 –0.26%
Deposits and borrowing from the public 1,082,106 –4,219 –0.39% 922,888 –1,932 –0.21%
Debt securities issued 2) 736,754 –11,633 –1.58% 507,781 –11,367 –2.24%
Subordinated liabilities 34,417 –1,556 –4.52% 33,322 –1,556 –4.67%

Total interest bearing liabilities 2,037,771 –17,803 –0.87% 1,749,379 –15,583 –0.89%

Derivatives and other liabilities 742,117 –985 503,915 –460
Equity 135,472 89,673

Total liabilities and equity 2,915,360 –18,788 2,342,967 –16,043

Net interest income 18,938 14,049

Net yield on interest earning assets 0.92% 0.78%

1) of which, measured at fair value 2,442 2,346
2) of which,measured at fair value –569 –406

In the table above Loans and Deposits are presented excluding debt securities. This
is different from the Income statement and Balance sheet in which the classification
is done based on accounting category.

Net interest income

Parent company

2016 2015

Interest income 29,023 30,092
Income from leases 1) 5,443 5,439
Interest expense –15,223 –16,043
Depreciation of leased equipment 1) –4,704 –4,598

TOTAL 14,539 14,890

1) In theGroupNet income from leases is classified as interest income. In the parent company depreciation of leased equipment is reported asDepreciation, amortisation and impairment of tangible and
intangible assets.

5 Net fee and commission income
Group Parent company

2016 2015 2016 2015

Issue of securities 484 602 838 1,020
Secondarymarket 2,878 2,970 1,670 2,025
Custody andmutual funds 7,264 8,507 3,391 3,923

Securities commissions 10,626 12,079 5,899 6,968

Payments 1,677 1,634 1,334 1,270
Card fees 3,526 3,887 392 266

Payment commissions 5,203 5,521 1,726 1,536

Life insurance commissions 1,653 1,686

Advisory 316 232 282 213
Lending 2,527 2,445 2,065 2,042
Deposits 221 200 59 64
Guarantees 527 529 353 367
Derivatives 475 380 530 377
Other 952 1,268 734 691

Other commissions 5,018 5,054 4,023 3,754

Fee and commission income 22,500 24,340 11,648 12,258

Securities commissions –2,248 –2,620 –1,378 –1,519
Payment commissions –1,940 –2,086 –604 –542
Life insurance commissions –614 –532
Other commissions –1,070 –757 –823 –997

Fee and commission expense –5,872 –5,995 –2,805 –3,058

Securities commissions, net 8,378 9,459 4,521 5,449
Payment commissions, net 3,263 3,435 1,122 994
Life insurance commissions, net 1,039 1,154
Other commissions, net 3,948 4,297 3,200 2,757

TOTAL 16,628 18,345 8,843 9,200
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6 Net financial income
Group Parent company

2016 2015 2016 2015

Gains (losses) on financial assets and liabilities held for trading, net 6,026 3,939 5,425 3,167
Gains (losses) on financial assets and liabilities designated at fair value
through profit and loss, net –857 179 –783 261
Other life insurance income,net 1,919 1,360
Impairments of availableforsale financial assets –32

TOTAL 7,056 5,478 4,642 3,428

Gains (losses) on financial assets and liabilities held for trading, net

Equity instruments and related derivatives 1,149 –29 1,165 –223
Debt securities and related derivatives 1,109 –25 1,017 –27
Currency related 3,699 3,831 3,186 3,263
Other 69 162 57 154

TOTAL 6,026 3,939 5,425 3,167

Gains (losses) on financial assets and liabilities held for trading are presented on
different rows based on type of underlying financial instrument. Changes in the
treasury result are due to changes in interest rates and credit spreads. The net
effect from trading operations is fairly stable over time, but shows volatility

between rows. There were effects from structured products offered to the public
in the amounts of approximately SEK 555m (215) in equity related derivatives and
a corresponding effect in debt securities of SEK –180m (–180).

Gains (losses) on financial assets and liabilities designated at fair value through profit and loss, net

Group Parent company

2016 2015 2016 2015

Equity instruments and related derivatives 24 –112
Debt securities and related derivatives –881 291 –783 261

TOTAL –857 179 –783 261

Valuation changes arising fromcounterparty credit risk and own credit standing

Derivatives – counterparty risk –190 60 13 101
Derivatives – own credit standing 21 129 –189 101
Issued securities designated at fair value through profit or loss – own credit standing –50 414 –50 371

TOTAL –219 603 –226 573

7 Net other income
Group Parent company

2016 2015 2016 2015

Dividends1) 170 169

Investments in associates 218 66
Gains less losses from investment securities 930 862 217 361
Gains less losses from tangible assets 2) 14 28
Gains less losses fromdivestment of shares in subsidiaries3) –39 –309
Other income 70 214 586 748

TOTAL 1,349 1,002 817 1,137

1) Reported separately in the Income Statement for parent company.
2) See note 12 for the Group.
3) Includes the sale of SEB AssetManagement AG 2015.

Dividends

Availableforsale investments 170 169 51 56
Investments in associates 70 8
Dividends from subsidiaries 6,460 7,964

TOTAL 170 169 6,581 8,028
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Note 7 continued Net other income

Gains less losses from investment securities

Group Parent company

2016 2015 2016 2015

Availableforsale financial assets – Equity instruments 668 530 178 448
Availableforsale financial assets – Debt securities 529 653
Loans 40

Gains 1,197 1,183 218 448

Availableforsale financial assets – Equity instruments –131 –13
Availableforsale financial assets – Debt securities –14 –140
Loans –122 –168 –1 –87

Losses –267 –321 –1 –87

TOTAL 930 862 217 361

Other income

Fair value adjustment in hedge accounting –260 –211 –323 –346
Operating result fromnonlife insurance, run off 158 69
Other income 172 356 909 1 094

TOTAL 70 214 586 748

Fair value adjustment in hedge accounting

Fair value changes of the hedged items attributable to the hedged risk 298 –31 316 1,870
Fair value changes of the hedging derivatives –650 –335 –658 –2,227

Fair value hedges –352 –366 –342 –357

Fair value changes of the hedging derivatives 13 11 13 11

Cash-flowhedges – ineffectiveness 13 11 13 11

Fair value changes of the hedged items 261 223 135 –50
Fair value changes of the hedging derivatives –182 –79 –129 50

Fair value portfolio hedge of interest rate risk – ineffectiveness 79 144 6

TOTAL –260 –211 –323 –346

Fair value hedges and portfolio hedges
The Group hedges a portion of its existing interest rate risk in financial assets, pay
ments and financial liabilities with fixed interest rates against changes in fair value
due to changes in the interest rates. For this purpose the Group uses interest rate
swaps, crosscurrency interest rate swaps and in some situations also options.
The hedges are executed either item by item or grouped bymaturity.

Cash flow hedges
The Group uses interest rate swaps to hedge future cash flows from deposits and
lending with floating interest rates. Interest flows from deposits and lending with

floating interest rates are expected to be amortised to profit or loss during the
period 2017 to 2037.

Net investment hedges
The Group hedges the currency translation risk of net investments in foreign opera
tions through currency borrowings and currency forwards. Borrowing in foreign
currency at an amount of SEK 39,001m (38,839) and currency forwards at an
amount of SEK 2,507m (3,043) were designated as hedges of net investments in
foreign operations. Ineffectiveness in the hedges has been reported in Net financial
income (note 6).

8 Administrative expenses
Group Parent company

2016 2015 2016 2015

Staff costs –14,562 –14,436 –10,466 –8,999
Other expenses –6,703 –6,355 –4,573 –4,459

TOTAL –21,265 –20,791 –15,039 –13,458
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9 Staff costs
Group Parent company

2016 2015 2016 2015

Base salary –8,105 –8,368 –5,402 –5,544
Cashbased variable compensation –684 –660 –541 –324
Longterm equitybased compensation –702 –662 –637 –342

Salaries and other compensations –9,491 –9,690 –6,580 –6,210

Social charges –2,638 –2,546 –1,955 –1,768
Defined benefit retirement plans 1) –313 –606 –686
Defined contribution retirement plans 1) –1,055 –766 –766 –525
Benefits and redundancies 2) –584 –321 –160 –160
Education and other staff related costs –481 –507 –319 –336

TOTAL –14,562 –14,436 –10,466 –8,999

1) Pension costs in the Group are accounted for according to IAS 19 Employee benefits. Pension costs in Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken are calculated in accordancewith the Act on Safeguarding Pensions
Obligations and the Swedish Financial Supervisory Authority’s regulations. Nonrecurring costs of SEK 0m (169) for early retirement have been charged to the pension funds of the Bank.

2) Includes costs for redundancies of SEK 490m (211) for the Group and SEK 113m (112) for the parent company.

9 a Remuneration
Presented in note 9a is the statement of remuneration for the Consolidated situation
and significant units within the Group according to Regulation on prudential require
ments for credit institutions and investment firms. In the SEB Group 1,167 (1,193)

positions are defined as Identified Staff. SEB has chosen to include the remuneration
also in the insurance operations that are not part of the Financial group of undertak
ings but part of the SEB Group.

Remuneration by division

Group Parent company

Fixed1) Variable 1) Fixed 1) Variable 1)

2016 Remuneration FTEs Remuneration FTEs Remuneration FTEs Remuneration FTEs

Large Corporates & Financial Institutions –2,658 2,134 –688 2,009 –1,990 1,689 –625 1,620
Corporate & Private Customers –2,353 3,667 –192 3,647 –1,665 2,920 –152 2,920
Baltic –502 2,565 –64 2,565
Life & InvestmentManagement –1,115 1,468 –108 1,432
Other 2) –3,429 5,445 –334 4,663 –3,359 4,147 –401 3,517

TOTAL –10,057 15,279 –1,386 14,316 –7,014 8,756 –1,178 8,057
whereof collective variable pay 3) –573 14,316

2015

Large Corporates & Financial Institutions –2,778 2,293 –572 2,150 –1,965 1,709 –405 1,642
Corporate & Private Customers –2,516 3,796 –138 3,682 –1,579 2,992 –102 2,965
Baltic –498 2,678 –49 2,599
Life & InvestmentManagement –1,184 1,554 –136 1,477
Other 2) –3,086 5,284 –427 4,768 –2,684 4,110 –159 3,677

TOTAL –10,062 15,605 –1,322 14,676 –6,228 8,811 –666 8,284
whereof collective variable pay 3) –599 14,676

SEBAG, Germany SEBPank AS, Estonia

Fixed 1) Variable1) Fixed 1) Variable1)

2016 Remuneration FTEs Remuneration FTEs Remuneration FTEs Remuneration FTEs

Large Corporates & Financial Institutions –509 323 –46 303
Baltic –150 741 –18 734
Other4) –378 250 –15 199 –79 308 –16 284

TOTAL –887 573 –61 502 –229 1,049 –34 1,018

2015

Large Corporates & Financial Institutions –462 381 –43 355
Baltic –148 767 –15 758
Life & InvestmentManagement –84 84 –16 78
Other4) –282 287 –16 237 –76 305 –8 290

TOTAL –828 752 –75 670 –224 1,072 –23 1,048
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Note 9a continued Remuneration

SEB Banka AS, Latvia SEB bankas AB, Lithuania

Fixed 1) Variable1) Fixed 1) Variable1)

2016 Remuneration FTEs Remuneration FTEs Remuneration FTEs Remuneration FTEs

Baltic –132 691 –16 679 –193 1,085 –27 1,076
Other4) –60 260 –9 234 –78 366 –12 328

TOTAL –192 951 –25 913 –271 1,451 –39 1,404

2015

Baltic –119 704 –11 690 –194 1,154 –16 1,142
Other4) –50 258 –5 240 –75 365 –9 343

TOTAL –169 962 –16 930 –269 1,519 –25 1,485

1) Variable pay is defined as shortterm cashbased remuneration and longterm equitybased remuneration. All other remuneration is reported as fixed remuneration and includes: base pay, pensions,
severance pay, fees and benefits such as e.g. company car and domestic services, in accordancewith FFFS 2016:25. The reported remuneration does not include social charges.

2) Including Life & InvestmentManagement and Baltic in the parent company.
3) Share Savings Programme and collective shortterm and longterm remuneration. Collective shortterm and longterm remuneration compared to expected outcome is reported in Other.
4) Including Life & InvestmentManagement in Baltic countries. In Lithuania also Large Corporates & Financial Institutions are included.

Remuneration by category

Group Parent company

2016

Remuneration FTEs Remuneration FTEs

Identified
Staff 6)

Other
employees Total

Identified
Staff 6)

Other
employees Total

Identified
Staff 6)

Other
employees Total

Identified
Staff 6)

Other
employees Total

Fixed remuneration 1) –1,173 –8,884 –10,057 1,080 14,199 15,279 –988 –6,026 –7,014 788 7,968 8,756
Variable pay 1) –373 –1,013 –1,386 788 13,528 14,316 –313 –865 –1,178 487 7,570 8,057
whereof:
Shortterm cashbased –167 –517 –684 –121 –420 –541
Longterm equitybased 2) –206 –496 –702 –192 –445 –637

Deferred variable pay3) –219 –495 –192 –445 –637
Accrued and paid remuneration4) –1,619 –9,897 –1,251 –6,998 –8,249
Severance pay 5) –498 741 –122 130
Agreed not yet paid
severance pay –436 266 –96 105
Highest single amount –7 –3

2015

Fixed remuneration 1) –1,263 –8,799 –10,062 1,063 14,542 15,605 –994 –5,234 –6,228 808 8,003 8,811
Variable pay 1) –376 –946 –1,322 616 14,060 14,676 –313 –353 –666 481 7,803 8,284
whereof:
Shortterm cashbased –166 –494 –660 –131 –193 –324
Longterm equitybased 2) –210 –452 –662 –182 –160 –342

Deferred variable pay3) –225 –452 –677 –182 –160 –342
Accrued and paid remuneration4) –1,711 –9,745 –11,456 –1,366 –5,586 –6,952
Severance pay 5) –215 592 –117 146
Agreed not yet paid
severance pay –146 238 –80 106
Highest single amount –5 –5

SEBAG, Germany SEBPank AS, Estonia

Remuneration FTEs Remuneration FTEs

2016
Identified

Staff 6)
Other

employees Total
Identified

Staff 6)
Other

employees Total
Identified

Staff 6)
Other

employees Total
Identified

Staff 6)
Other

employees Total

Fixed remuneration 1) –90 –797 –887 71 502 573 –12 –217 –229 15 1,034 1,049
Variable pay1) –18 –43 –61 37 465 502 –1 –33 –34 6 1,012 1,018
whereof:
Shortterm cashbased –9 –13 –22 –16 –16
Longterm equitybased 2) –9 –30 –39 –1 –17 –18

Deferred variable pay3) –9 –30 –39 –1 –17 –18
Accrued and paid remuneration4) –112 –840 –952 –13 –250 –263
Severance pay5) –307 114 –3 42

2015

Fixed remuneration 1) –121 –707 –828 100 652 752 –13 –211 –224 19 1,053 1,072
Variable pay1) –21 –54 –75 51 619 670 –1 –22 –23 7 1,041 1,048
whereof:
Shortterm cashbased –11 –38 –49 –13 –13
Longterm equitybased 2) –10 –16 –26 –1 –9 –10

Deferred variable pay3) –10 –16 –26 –1 –9 –10
Accrued and paid remuneration4) –146 –761 –907 –14 –233 –247
Severance pay5) –42 23 –1 31



90

Financial statements Notes

SEB Annual Report 2016

Note 9a continued Remuneration

SEBBanka AS, Latvia SEB bankas AB, Lithuania

2016

Remuneration FTEs Remuneration FTEs

Identified
Staff 6)

Other
employees Total

Identified
Staff 6)

Other
employees Total

Identified
Staff 6)

Other
employees Total

Identified
Staff 6)

Other
employees Total

Fixed remuneration 1) –16 –176 –192 29 922 951 –17 –254 –271 23 1,428 1,451
Variable pay 1) –2 –23 –25 13 900 913 –3 –36 –39 12 1,392 1,404
whereof:
Shortterm cashbased –11 –11 –17 –17
Longterm equitybased 2) –2 –12 –14 –3 –19 –22

Deferred variable pay 3) –2 –12 –14 –3 –19 –22
Accrued and paid remuneration 4) –18 –199 –217 –20 –290 –310
Severance pay 5) –2 53 –15 306

2015

Fixed remuneration 1) –13 –156 –169 29 933 962 –18 –251 –269 26 1,493 1,519
Variable pay 1) –1 –15 –16 10 920 930 –2 –23 –25 11 1,474 1,485
whereof:
Shortterm cashbased –9 –9 –15 –15
Longterm equitybased 2) –1 –6 –7 –2 –8 –10

Deferred variable pay 3) –1 –6 –7 –2 –8 –10
Accrued and paid remuneration 4) –14 –171 –185 –20 –274 –294
Severance pay 5) –13 302

1) Variable pay is defined as shortterm cashbased remuneration and longterm equitybased remuneration. All other remuneration is reported as fixed remuneration and includes: base pay, pensions,
severance pay, fees and benefits such as e.g. company car and domestic services, in accordancewith FFFS 2016:25. The reported remuneration does not include social charges.

2) Longterm equity based remuneration encompasses four different programmes; a Share Savings Programme and All Employee Programme and also a ShareMatching Programme and a Share Deferral
Programme for a selected group of key employees.

3) The deferred variable pay is locked the first year. Shortterm cashbased remuneration can thereafter be paid pro rata over three or five years after a possible risk adjustment. Longterm equitybased
programmes are locked for aminimumof three years.

4) In Accrued and paid remuneration amounts paid within the first quarter after the accrual is included. Deferred variable pay has been subject to risk adjustment.
5) The amount also includes signon.
6) Employees withmaterial impact on SEB’s risk profile, in accordancewith FFFS 2016:25.

Loans to Executives

Group Parent company

2016 2015 2016 2015

Managing Directors andDeputyManaging Directors 1) 94 124 20 25
Boards of Directors 2) 407 400 120 130

TOTAL 501 524 140 155

1) Comprises current President andDeputy President in the Parent company andManaging Directors andDeputyManaging Directors in subsidiaries. Total number of executives was 53 (64)
of which 12 (18) female.

2) Comprises current Boardmembers and their substitutes in the Parent company and subsidiaries. Total number of personswas 181 (177) of which 55 (50) female.

Pension commitments to Executives

Pension disbursementsmade 136 130 64 54
Change in commitments 56 41 20 22
Commitments at yearend 1,871 1,651 848 762

The above commitments are covered by the Bank’s pensions funds or through
Bankowned endowment assurance schemes. They include active and retired

Presidents and vice Presidents in the parent company andManaging directors and
Deputy Managing directors in subsidiaries, in total 118 persons (115).
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9 b Pensions
Retirement benefit obligations
The Group has established pension schemes in the countries where business is per
formed. There are both defined benefit plans and defined contribution plans. The
major pension schemes are final salary defined benefit plans and are funded. The
defined benefit plan in Sweden is closed to new employees and a defined contribu
tion plan was established during 2013. The defined contribution plans follow the
local regulations in each country. Multiemployer defined benefit plans exist for em
ployees in some parts of the Group. These plans are accounted for as defined contri
bution plans since sufficient information of SEB’s share of the liability/asset and cost
is not available.

Defined benefit plans
The major defined benefit plans exist in Sweden and Germany and cover most
employees in these countries. Independent actuarial calculations according to the
Projected Unit Credit Method (PUCM) are performed quarterly to decide the value
of the defined benefit obligation. The benefits covered include retirement benefits,
disability, death and survivor pensions according to the respective countries’ collec

tive agreements. The plan assets are kept separate in specific pension foundations.
In case of a deficit in the pension obligation according to local rules SEB is obliged to
meet this with contribution to the foundation or insure a deficit. The asset allocation
is determined to meet the various risks in the pension obligations and is decided by
the board/trustees in the pension foundations. The assets are booked at market va
lue. The pension and interest costs are presented in Staff costs.

Defined contribution plans
Defined contribution plans exist both in Sweden and abroad. In Sweden a smaller part
of the closed collective retirement agreement is defined contribution based. Over a
certain salary level the employees could also choose to leave the defined benefit plan
and replace it by a defined contribution plan. The current plan for new employees is
fully contribution based. Most other countries have defined contribution plans except
for the Baltic countries where the company to a limited extent contributes to the em
ployees retirement. The defined contribution plans are not recognised in the balance
sheet but accounted for as an expense among Staff costs.

DEFINEDBENEFIT PLANS IN SEBGROUP

Net amount recognised in the Balance sheet
2016 2015

Sweden 1) Foreign 1) Group 1) Sweden 1) Foreign 1) Group 1)

Defined benefit obligation at the beginning of the year 19,693 5,366 25,059 22,480 6,210 28,690
Curtailment, acquisitions and reclassification –153 –153
Service costs 442 38 480 570 48 618
Interest costs 606 127 733 515 116 631
Benefits paid –691 –277 –968 –686 –258 –944
Exchange differences 153 153 –96 –96
Remeasurements of pension obligation 3,237 387 3,624 –3,186 –501 –3,687

Definedbenefit obligation at the end of the year 23,287 5,794 29,081 19,693 5,366 25,059

Fair value of plan assets at the beginning of the year 25,252 4,982 30,234 23,683 5,271 28,954
Curtailment, acquisitions and reclassification 37 37 –1 –1
Calculated interest on plan assets 783 118 901 545 98 643
Benefits paid/contributions –277 –277 –670 –256 –926
Exchange differences 199 199 –148 –148
Valuation gains (losses) on plan assets 1,166 17 1,183 1,694 18 1,712

Fair value of plan assets at the end of the year 27,201 5,076 32,277 25,252 4,982 30,234

Change in the net assets or net liabilities

Defined benefit obligation at the beginning of the year 5,559 –384 5,175 1,203 –939 264
Curtailment, acquisitions and reclassification 37 37 152 152
Total expense in staff costs –265 –47 –312 –540 –66 –606
Pension paid 691 277 968 686 258 944
Benefits paid/contributions –277 –277 –670 –256 –926
Exchange differences 46 46 –52 –52
Remeasurements –2,071 –370 –2,441 4,880 519 5,399

NETAMOUNTRECOGNISED INTHEBALANCE SHEET 3,914 –718 3,196 5,559 –384 5,175

1) The net defined benefit obligation is recognised in the balance sheet either as an asset or liability depending on the situation for each legal entity.

In 2016 a contribution of SEK 38m (45) was paid to the German pension foundation.
Contribution to the foundations can not be ruled out in 2017 due to uncertainty in
interest rate levels.
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Note 9b continued Pensions

Principal actuarial assumptions used

2016 2015

Sweden Foreign Sweden Foreign

Discount rate 2.4% 1.7% 3.1% 2.4%
Inflation rate 1.5% 1.8% 1.5% 1.8%
Expected rate of salary increase 3.5% 2.5% 3.5% 3.0%
Expected rate of increase in the income basis amount 3.0% 3.0%

The discount rate is based set on highquality corporate bonds in a deepmarket,
in Sweden covered bonds which are at least AArated. An extrapolation of thematu
rity of the covered bonds is made based on government bonds and checked against
swaps. This extrapolatedmaturity is in line with the estimatedmaturity of obliga
tions for post employment benefits. Life expectancy assumptions in Sweden for
2016 are established by the Actuarial Research Board (FTN) and are based on
DUS14 for whitecollar workers. 2015 the Swedish life expectancy assumptions
followed the insurance supervisory authority (FFFS 2007:31) regulations which are
based on DUS06 for the entire population. In Germany the Heubeck Sterbetafeln
is used. Weighted average duration for the obligation is 24 years in Sweden and
14 years in Germany

A decrease of the discount rate for Sweden of 0.5 per cent would imply an in
crease of the Swedish pension obligation by SEK 2,404mwhile the same change in
the inflation assumption for Sweden would have the opposite effect and decrease

the obligation by SEK 1,753m. An increase of the discount rate by same ratio would
reduce the obligation with SEK 2,077m and an increased inflation rate of 0.5 per
cent gives an increased obligation of SEK 2,043m. A decrease in assumption for
expected salary increase in Sweden of 0.5 per cent would have a positive effect on
the obligation by SEK 314m an increase would have a negative effect of SEK 373m.

The obligation in Germany would increase with SEK 432m if the discount rate
was reduced by 0.5 per cent. An increase by the same percentage would decrease
the obligation by SEK 384m. If the inflation assumption for Germany increases by
0.25 per cent the pension obligation would increase by SEK 73m and corresponding
decrease would be SEK 70m at a lower inflation assumption. A change in expected
salary increases in Germany by 0.25 per cent would with a higher rate give an in
crease of the obligation with SEK 92m andwith a lower rate reduce the obligation
with SEK 111m.

Allocation of plan assets

2016 2015

Sweden Foreign Group Sweden Foreign Group

Cash and cash equivalents 873 50 923 423 90 513
Equity instruments with a quoted market price in an active market 15,239 15,239 15,031 833 15,864
Equity instruments not listed in an activemarket 6,520 887 7,407 4,763 4,763
Debt instrumentswith a quotedmarket price in an activemarket 630 630
Debt instruments not listed in an activemarket 2,355 3,509 5,864 2,904 4,059 6,963
Properties 2,214 2,214 2,131 2,131

TOTAL 27,201 5,076 32,277 25,252 4,982 30,234

The pension plan assets include SEB shares with a fair value of SEK 1,199m (1,013). Buildings in Sweden are occupied by SEB.

Amounts recognised in Income statement

2016 2015

Sweden Foreign Group Sweden Foreign Group

Service costs –442 –38 –480 –570 –48 –618
Interest costs –606 –127 –733 –515 –116 –631
Calculated interest on plan assets 783 118 901 545 98 643

INCLUDED IN STAFFCOSTS –265 –47 –312 –540 –66 –606

Amounts recognised inOther comprehensive income

Remeasurements of pension obligation –3,237 –387 –3,624 3,186 501 3,687
where of experience adjustments 262 178 440 –1 106 105
where of due to changes in financial assumptions –2,672 –565 –3,237 3,187 395 3,582
where of due to changes in demographic assumptions –827 –827

Valuation gains (losses) on plan assets 1,166 17 1,183 1,694 18 1,712
Deferred tax pensions 456 110 566 –1,073 –148 –1,221

INCLUDED INOTHERCOMPREHENSIVE INCOME –1,615 –260 –1,875 3,807 371 4,178

DEFINEDCONTRIBUTIONPLANS IN SEBGROUP

Net amount recognised in Income statement
2016 2015

Sweden Foreign Group Sweden Foreign Group

Expense in Staff costs including special salary tax –812 –243 –1,055 –512 –254 –766
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Note 9b continued Pensions

DEFINEDBENEFIT PLANS IN SKANDINAVISKAENSKILDABANKEN

Parent company

Net amount recognised in the Balance sheet 2016 2015

Defined benefit obligation at the beginning of the year 22,699 18,859
Imputed pensions premium 330 357
Interest costs and other changes 902 3,984
Early retirement 172 169
Pension disbursements –686 –670

DEFINEDBENEFITOBLIGATIONATTHE ENDOFTHEYEAR 23,417 22,699

Fair value of plan assets at the beginning of the year 24,368 22,899
Return on assets 1,881 2,142
Benefits paid –673

FAIRVALUEOFPLANASSETSATTHE ENDOFTHEYEAR 26,249 24,368

The above defined benefit obligation is calculated according to Tryggandelagen.
Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken consequently adopts the discount rate set by the
Swedish FSA before yearend. The obligation is fully covered by assets in the pen
sion foundation and is not included in the balance sheet.

The assets in the foundation aremainly equity related SEK 20,998m (19,036) and to
a smaller extent interest earning SEK 3,115m (2,793). The assets include SEB shares
at amarket value of SEK 1,157m (975) and buildings occupied by the company val
ued at SEK 2,136m (2,131). The return on assets was 8 per cent (9) before pension
compensation.

Amounts recognised in Income statement

Parent company

2016 2015

Pension disbursements –686 –670
Compensation frompension foundations 673

TOTAL –686 3

Principal actuarial assumptions used,%

Gross interest rate 0.7% 0.8%
Interest rate after tax 0.6% 0.7%

The actuarial calculations are based on salaries and pensions on the balance sheet date.

DEFINEDCONTRIBUTIONPLANS IN SKANDINAVISKA ENSKILDABANKEN

Parent company

Net amount recognised in Income statement 2016 2015

Expense in Staff costs including special salary tax –766 –525

Pension foundations

Pension commitments Market value of asset

2016 2015 2016 2015

SEBStiftelsen, Skandinaviska Enskilda Bankens Pensionsstiftelse 23,417 22,699 26,249 24,368
SEB Kort AB:s Pensionsstiftelse 916 871 952 884

TOTAL 24,333 23,570 27,201 25,252
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9 c Remuneration to the Board and the Group Executive Committee

Guidelines for remuneration
The guidelines for remuneration to the President and the other members of the
Group Executive Committee (GEC) were prepared by the Board of Directors and
its Remuneration and Human Resources Committee and approved by the Annual
General Meeting 2016.

The remuneration structure for the President and the other members of the
GEC is in accordance with the remuneration policy for the Bank. The remuneration
is based upon threemain components; base pay, equitybased remuneration and

pensions. Other benefits may also be included, such as company car and domestic
services.
 For more information, see page 60–61.

Specially regulated staff
The President and all other members of the GEC are considered employees who
have amaterial impact on SEB’s risk profile according to the Swedish Financial
Supervisory Authority regulations (FFFS 2016:25).

Remuneration to the Board1), SEK

2016 Base pay Directors’ fee Benefits2) Total

Chairman of the Board,MarcusWallenberg 3,520,000 3,520,000
Othermembers of the Board 3) 10,190,000 10,190,000
President and CEO,Annika Falkengren 11,500,000 1,425,479 12,925,479

TOTAL 11,500,000 13,710,000 1,425,479 26,635,479

2015

Chairman of the Board,MarcusWallenberg 3,465,000 3,465,000
Othermembers of the Board 3) 8,525,000 8,525,000
President and CEO,Annika Falkengren 10,500,000 1,262,267 11,762,267

TOTAL 10,500,000 11,990,000 1,262,267 23,752,267

1) The number of Boardmembers decided by the AGM in 2016 is thirtheen (eleven).
2) Includes benefits as domestic services and company car.
3) Directors’ fee to the Boardmembers on individual level is presented on page 50–53.

Remuneration to theGEC, SEK1)

Base pay Benefits Total

2016 48,854,904 1,649,688 50,504,592
2015 33,306,041 1,260,287 34,566,328

1) GEC excluding the President and CEO. Themembers partly differ between the years but on average eleven (eight)members are included. At the end of the year the number ofmembers were eleven (eleven).
Additionalmembers are not included.

Long-term equity programmes
Under the Share Deferral Programme members of the GEC may be granted an indi
vidual number of conditional share rights based on the fulfilment of predetermined
Group, business unit and individual target levels as outlined in SEB’s business plan.
The targets are set on an annual basis as a mix of the financial targets Return on
Equity/Return on Business Equity and cost development and the nonfinancial target
customer satisfaction among others. For GEC the initial allotment may not exceed
100 per cent of the base pay.

Ownership of 50 per cent of the share rights are transferred to the participant
after a qualification period of three years and 50 per cent after a qualification period

of five years. After each respective qualification period there is an additional holding
period of one year after which the share rights can be excercised during a period
of three years. Each share right carries the right to receive one Class A share in the
Bank. A requirement for vesting is normally that the participant remains with SEB
during the first three years. A further requirement for vesting is that the participant
holds shares in SEB equal to a predetermined amount, for GEC equivalent to one year
salary net of taxes, acquired no later than on a prorata basis during the initial three
year vesting period.

GEC is not participating in the SMP 2012–2014 nor the All Employee Programme
(AEP) except for outstanding rights earned before being member of GEC.

Long-termequity programmes (expensed amounts for ongoing programmes), SEK

2016
Share

matching
Share

deferral Total

President and CEO,Annika Falkengren 6,342,656 6,342,656
Othermembers of the GEC 1) 1,524,005 20,472,638 21,996,643

TOTAL 1,524,005 26,815,294 28,339,299

2015

President and CEO,Annika Falkengren 5,791,905 5,791,905
Othermembers of the GEC 1) 551,466 14,508,343 15,059,809

TOTAL 551,466 20,300,248 20,851,714

1) GEC excluding the President and CEO. Themembers partly differ between the years but in average eleven (eight)members are included. At the end of the year the number ofmembers were eleven (eleven).
Additionalmembers are not included.

Some of the GECmembers have received rights in the AEP programme and participated in the Share Savings Programme before beingmember of the GEC. The corresponding calculated costs and number of
outstanding rights/shares are not included in the tables.
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Note 9c continued Remuneration to the Board and the Group Executive Committee

Number outstanding by 2016-12-31

Number outstanding

President and CEO
Annika Falkengren

Othermembers
of the GEC Total

First day of
exercise Performance criteria

2012: Sharematching rights 73,159 73,159 20142) final vesting 100%1)

2013: Sharematching rights 115,001 115,001 20152) final vesting 92%
2014: Sharematching rights 15,319 15,319 20162) vesting level 27%
2012: Conditional share rights 147,101 325,078 472,179 2016;20183) –
2013: Conditional share rights 96,661 262,907 359,568 2017;20193) –
2014: Conditional share rights 75,503 193,557 269,060 2018;20203) –
2015: Conditional share rights 67,036 237,536 304,572 2019;20213) –
2016: Conditional share rights 89,780 375,577 465,357 2020;20223) –

1) ShareMatching Programme 2012 vested in 2015with 100%matching, since the programme had reached its cap. The outcome after adjustment related to the capwas 92%.
2) As soon as practically possible following the end of the performance period.
3) The qualification period ends after three or five years respectively and are followed by a additional holding period of one year, after which there is an exercise period of three years.

During the year the President and CEO has excercised rights to a value of SEK 6,398,251 (6,327,622). The corresponding value for the GEC excluding the President is
SEK 8,181,695 (5,271,357).

Pension and severance pay
The pension agreement of the President is contributionbased and inviolable. The
pension contribution is a fixed amount.

Termination of employment by the Bank is subject to amaximum 18month period
of notice and entitles to a severance pay of 6months’ salary.

As regards pension benefits and severance pay the following is applicable to the
members of the GEC excluding the President. The pension plans are inviolable and
defined contributionbased except for a portion in the collective agreement.

Termination of employment by the Bank is subject to amaximum 12month period
of notice and entitles to a severance pay of 12months’ salary.

Pension costs (service costs, interest costs and defined contribution premiums), SEK

President and CEO,
Annika Falkengren

Othermembers
of the GEC 1) Total

2016 5,000,000 15,347,119 20,347,119
2015 5,000,000 13,556,900 18,556,900

1) GEC excluding the President and CEO. Themembers partly differ between the years but on average eleven (eight) members are included. At the end of the year the number ofmembers were eleven (eleven).
Additionalmembers are not included.

For information about related parties see note 27.

9 d Sharebased payments

Long-termequity-based programmes

2016
All employee
programme

Share deferral
programme

Sharematching
programme 1)

Share savings
programme

Performance
shares

Outstanding at the beginning of the year 7,807,319 8,614,625 3,044,974 2,120,938 2,135,647
Granted 2) 3,136,319 6,148,319 3,122,508 133,626
Forfeited 3) –541,269 –451,853 –25,963 –1,773
Exercised 4) –260,354 –264,494 –3,183,722 –2,120,270 –978,067
Expired –668 –15,414

OUTSTANDINGATTHE ENDOFTHEYEAR 10,142,015 14,046,597 2,957,797 1,274,019

ofwhich exercisable 433,324 2,642,985 1,274,019

2015

Outstanding at the beginning of the year 4,485,839 4,484,102 2,811,500 4,077,914 3,200,069
Granted 2) 3,698,872 4,538,945 5,843,614 137,718
Forfeited 3) –261,945 –387,528 –7,212
Exercised 4) –115,447 –20,894 –5,602,928 –1,956,945 –1,194,874
Expired –31 –7,266

OUTSTANDINGATTHE ENDOFTHEYEAR 7,807,319 8,614,625 3,044,974 2,120,938 2,135,647

ofwhich exercisable 1,875,248 2,135,647

1) Numbers include investments done by participants, as well as allocatedmatching share rights.
2) Including compensation for dividend.
3)Weighted average exercise price forfeited SMP, SDP SEK 0.00 (0.00).
4)Weighted average exercise price exercised SMP, SDP SEK 0.00 (0.00) and PSP SEK 10.00 (10.00).Weighted average share price for PSP, SMP and SDP at exercise SEK 80.85 (104.88).
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Note 9d continued Sharebased payments

Total Long-termequity-based programmes

Original no
of holders 3)

Noof issued
(maximum
outcome)

No of
outstanding

20164)

Noof
outstanding

20154)
A-share per

option/share
Exercise

price Validity
First date of

exercise

2009: Performance shares 344 5,493,837 207,892 1 10 2009–2016 20121)

2010: Performance shares 698 18,900,000 1,274,019 1,927,755 1 10 2010–2017 20131)

2009: Share savings programme 5,600 2,326,652 3,677 1 2009–2014 20130218
2010: Share savings programme 5,200 2,285,536 7,444 1 2010–2015 20140211
2011: Share savings programme 5,050 1,888,248 981,551 1 2011–2016 20150216
2012: Share savings programme 4,770 1,274,947 1,128,266 1 2012–2017 20160212
2012: Sharematching programme 432 7,024,168 1,545,814 1,875,248 4 2012–2019 20152)

2013: Sharematching programme 213 3,485,088 1,097,171 849,433 4 2013–2020 20162)

2014: Sharematching programme 96 1,300,288 314,812 320,293 4 2014–2021 20172)

2012: Share deferral programme– equity settled 86 1,199,504 1,019,822 1,095,470 1 2012–2021 2015/20173)

2013: Share deferral programme– equity settled 263 1,361,861 1,457,480 1,387,754 1 2013–2022 2016/20183)

2014: Share deferral programme– equity settled 622 1,909,849 1,912,528 1,889,398 1 2014–2023 2017/20193)

2015: Share deferral programme– equity settled 816 2,603,843 2,546,169 2,540,609 1 2015–2024 2018/20203)

2015: Share deferral programme– cash settled 513 1,717,150 1,674,045 1,701,394 2015–2021 2018/20203)

2016: Share deferral programme– equity settled 874 3,593,155 3,494,730 1 2016–2025 2019/20213)

2016: Share deferral programme– cash settled 500 2,017,622 1,941,823 2016–2022 2019/20213)

2013: All employee programme– equity settled 8,347 1,255,838 1,171,517 1,202,698 1 2013–2016 2017
2013: All employee programme– cash settled 5,358 532,184 435,600 482,096 2013–2016 2017
2014: All employee programme– equity settled 8,709 1,786,471 1,684,487 1,730,683 1 2014–2017 2018
2014: All employee programme– cash settled 5,216 964,436 824,822 881,020 2014–2017 2018
2015: All employee programme– equity settled 8,319 2,290,359 2,221,704 2,290,359 1 2015–2018 2019
2015: All employee programme– cash settled 6,745 1,220,463 1,138,059 1,220,463 2015–2018 2019
2016: All employee programme– equity settled 8,209 1,731,922 1,731,922 1 2016–2019 2020
2016: All employee programme– cash settled 6,517 933,905 933,905 2016–2019 2020

TOTAL 69,097,326 28,420,429 23,723,503

1) As soon as practically possible following the end of the performance period, the establishing of the final outcome and registration of the final number of Performance shares in Equate plus.
2) As soon as practically possible following the end of the performance period, the establishing of the outcome of number ofMatching Shares and the allocation of the Ashares and, if applicable,

theMatching Shares.
3) As soon as possible following the end of the performance period the outcome is established . For the equitysettled programmes the ownership of the performance shares is transferred upon registration,

but the shares are withheld for one additional year. Cashsettled programmes are paid out in connectionwith the following payroll run.
4) In total approximately 10 900 individuals (10,800) participated in any of the programmes, All Employee Programme excluded.
5) Including additional deferral rights for dividend compensation.

Long-termequity-based programmes

The Annual General meeting 2016 decided on two Longterm equity based pro
grammes, one Share Deferral Programme and one All Employee Programme.

The first Share Deferral Programmewas introduced in 2012 for the Group Execu
tive Committee and certain other executivemanagers and key employees with criti
cal competences. The participants are granted an individual number of conditional
share rights based on predetermined Group, division/business unit and individual
target levels, both financial (Return on Equity/Return on Business Equity and cost
development) and nonfinancial (customer satisfaction), set on an annual basis.

For GECmembers and other senior executives 50 per cent of the share rights
ownership is transferred to the participant after a qualification period of three years
and 50 per cent after a qualification period of five years. For other participants the
qualification period is three years. The requirement for vesting is that the partici
pant remains with SEB during the first three years and that the participant holds
shares in SEB equal to a predetermined amount, acquired no later than on a prorata
basis during the initial three year period. After each respective qualification period
there is an additional holding period of one year after which the share rights can be
exercised during a period of three years. Each share right carries the right to receive
one Class Ashare in the Bank. In most countries outside Sweden the paritcipants
receives so called phantom shares that gives the right to receive cash adjusted for
total shareholder return in the SEB Ashare at the end of the holding period.

The holders are compensated for dividends to the shareholders during the dura
tion of the Programme. Thus, the number of share rights will be recalculated, after
the Annual General Meeting each year, taking the dividend into account. The share
rights are not securities that can be sold, pledged or transferred to others. However,
an estimated value per share right has been calculated for 2016 to SEK 67 (79)
(based upon an average closing price of one SEB Class Ashare at the time of grant).

In 2013 an All Employee Programmewas introduced for most employees, where
50 per cent of the outcome is paid in cash and 50 per cent is deferred for three years
and paid in SEB Ashares. Deferrals will normally only be obtained under the condi
tion that the employee remains with SEB. In Sweden the deferred part is paid out in
SEB Ashares, adjusted for dividends. In all other countries the deferred part is paid
out in cash adjusted for total shareholder return in the SEB Ashare. Outcome is
capped at amaximum amount, which was adjusted in 2016, for each geography and
is based on the fulfilment of predetermined Group targets outlined in SEB’s busi
ness plan, both financial (Return on Equity and cost development) and nonfinan
cial (customer satisfaction). The outcome in 2016 year’s programmewas 56 per cent
(85) of themaximum amount. In Sweden themaximum amount is SEK 75,000 from
2016 and previously it was SEK 55,000.

Previously alloted programmes
From 2005 to 2010 the programmes were based on performance shares. They all
have amaximum term of seven years, a vesting period of three years and an exercise
period of four years. The number of allotted performance shares that can be exer
cised depends on the development of two predetermined performance criteria of
equal importance. All programmes are vested and the exercise period for the 2010
years programme ends in 2017.

Between 2008 and 2012 a Share Savings Programme for all employees in
selected countries has been run. In the Share Savings Programmes the participants
saved amaximum of five per cent of their gross base salary during a twelvemonths
period. For the savings amount, Class Ashares were purchased at current stock
exchange rate four times a year following the publication of the Bank’s interim
reports. If the shares are retained by the employee for three years and the employee
remains with SEB, the employee receives one Class Ashare for each retained share.
All programmes are vested and the exercise period for the 2012 years programme
ends in 2017.

Between 2009 and 2014 a Share Matching Programme for a number of selected
senior executives and other key employees has been run. The programmes are based
on performance, have a vesting period of three years and are settledwith SEB Class
Ashares. All programmes require own investment in Class Ashares. The investment
amount is predetermined and capped for each participant. After three years, if still
employed, the participant receives one Class Ashare for each invested share and a
conditional number of performance basedmatching shares for each invested share.
From2012 the settlement is in the form of share rights with an exercise period of four
years. The 2013 programmewas closed in 2016with 92 per centmatching.

In the 2014 years programme the number of performance basedmatching shares
depend on the development of two predetermined performance criteria; measured
as total shareholder return (TSR) in relation to themarkets required return based on
the interest of Swedish government 10 year bonds i.e. longterm risk free interest
rate (LTIR), two thirds, and the total shareholder return in relation to SEB’s competi
tors, one third. The current expected vesting in 2014 year’s programme is approxi
mately 27 per cent. Maximum outcome for the participants is three performance
basedmatching shares. The outcome is also subject to risk adjustment.

The holders are compensated for dividends to the shareholders during the exer
cise period. Thus, the number of share rights will be recalculated, after the Annual
General Meeting each year during the exercise period, taking the dividend into
account.

Matching rights are not securities that can be sold, pledged or transferred to
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another party. However, an estimated value permatching right has been calculated
for 2014 to SEK 65 and for the performance basedmatching rights to SEK 39. Other
inputs to the options pricingmodel are; exercise price SEK 0; volatility 46 (based on
historical values); expected dividend approximately 4 per cent; risk free interest rate
1.13 and expected early exercise of 3 per cent. In the value of the option the expected
outcome of the performance criteria described above are taken into account.

The programme is subject to a cap, if the share price at the time of vesting has
more than doubled the number of matching shares and performance basedmatch
ing shares that are transferred to a participant will be reduced proportionately so
that the value corresponds to the doubled share price capped value.
 Further details of the outstanding programmes are found in the table above.

9e Number of employees
Average number of employees Group Parent company

2016 Men Women Total Men Women Total

Sweden 4,046 4,175 8,221 3,542 3,568 7,110
Norway 259 167 426 206 97 303
Denmark 379 261 640 166 70 236
Finland 154 148 302 109 94 203
Estonia 305 928 1,233
Latvia 413 1,102 1,515 131 239 370
Lithuania 727 1,650 2,377 278 405 683
Germany 359 258 617 2 2
Poland 17 38 55 14 30 44
Ukraine 22 40 62
China 12 33 45 12 33 45
Great Britain 93 49 142 94 49 143
Ireland 55 64 119
Luxembourg 123 106 229
Russia 24 67 91
Singapore 36 66 102 31 58 89
United States 33 20 53 24 18 42
Other countries1) 17 14 31 14 9 23

TOTAL 7,074 9,186 16,260 4,623 4,670 9,293

2015

Sweden 4,104 4,216 8,320 3,627 3,630 7,257
Norway 261 170 431 207 98 305
Denmark 385 272 657 169 67 236
Finland 160 156 316 112 99 211
Estonia 310 947 1,257
Latvia 402 1,117 1,519 115 216 331
Lithuania 705 1,637 2,342 233 356 589
Germany 447 342 789 3 1 4
Poland 21 47 68 14 29 43
Ukraine 24 42 66
China 14 30 44 14 30 44
Great Britain 103 55 158 102 56 158
Ireland 52 60 112
Luxembourg 121 111 232
Russia 25 67 92
Singapore 37 68 105 32 61 93
United States 36 19 55 26 17 43
Other countries1) 21 15 36 15 11 26

TOTAL 7,228 9,371 16,599 4,669 4,671 9,340

1) Brazil and Hong Kong.

Number of hours worked in parent company 15,276,311 (15,208,572).

10 Other expenses
Group Parent company

2016 2015 2016 2015

Costs for premises 1) –1,636 –1,572 –1,133 –1,108
Data costs –2,992 –2,756 –1,962 –1,746
Stationery –60 –78 –42 –46
Travel and entertainment –387 –414 –278 –292
Postage –120 –149 –43 –123
Consultants –637 –687 –440 –494
Marketing –339 –371 –161 –196
Information services –549 –533 –470 –474
Other operating costs 2) 17 205 –44 20

TOTAL –6,703 –6,355 –4,573 –4,459
1) Of which rental costs –1,228 –1,146 –895 –861

2) Net after deduction for capitalised costs, see also note 29.
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Note 10 continued Other expenses

Fees and expense allowances to appointed auditors and audit firms 1)

Group Parent company

2016 2015 2016 2015

Audit assignment –26 –26 –10 –10
Audit related services –16 –20 –2 –3
Tax advisory –10 –19 –8 –13
Other services –3 –4 –3 –4

PricewaterhouseCoopers –55 –69 –23 –30

Audit assignment –1
Tax advisory –1 –1
Other services –1 –1

Other audit firms –3 –2

TOTAL –58 –71 –23 –30

1) The parent company includes the foreign branches.

Audit assignment is defined as the audit of annual financial statements, the admin
istration of the Board of Directors and the President, other tasks resting upon the
auditor as well as consulting and other assistance, which have been initiated by
the findings in performing audit work or implementation of such tasks. The audit
related services include quarterly reviews, regulatory reporting and services in

connection with issuing of certificates and opinions. Tax advisory include general
expatriate services and other tax services work. Other services include consultation
on financial accounting, services related tomergers and acquisitions activities,
operational effectiveness and assessments of internal control.

11 Depreciation, amortisation and impairment of tangible and intangible assets
Group Parent company

2016 2015 2016 2015

Depreciation of tangible assets –271 –410 –106 –165
Depreciation of equipment leased to clients1) –4,704 –4,598
Amortisation of intangible assets –489 –559 –410 –600
Impairment of tangible assets –3 –1
Impairment of intangible assets –17
Impairment of goodwill –5,334 –200
Retirement and disposal of intangible assets –399 –24 –355 –84

TOTAL –6,496 –1,011 –5,775 –5,447

1) In the GroupNet income from leases is classified as interest income. In the parent company depreciation of leased equipment is reported as Depreciation, amortisation and impairment of tangible and
intangible assets.

12 Gains less losses tangible and intangible assets
Group

2016 2015

Properties 94 77
Other tangible assets 16 7

Gains 110 84

Properties –254 –295
Other tangible assets –6 –2

Losses –260 –297

TOTAL –150 –213

13 Net credit losses
Group Parent company

2016 2015 2016 2015

Provisions:
Net collective provisions for individually assessed loans –218 74 –202 –165
Net collective provisions for portfolio assessed loans 260 362 14
Specific provisions –734 –1,058 –407 –481
Reversal of specific provisions no longer required 338 507 102 362
Net provisions for contingent liabilities 43 3 21

Net provisions –311 –112 –472 –284

Write-offs:
Total writeoffs –1,480 –2,256 –471 –1,031
Reversal of specific provisions utilized forwriteoffs 584 1,301 60 723

Writeoffs not previously provided for –896 –955 –411 –308
Recovered frompreviouswriteoffs 214 184 94 72

Netwrite-offs –682 –771 –317 –236

TOTAL –993 –883 –789 –520
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14 Appropriations
Parent company

2016 2015

Compensation frompension funds, pension disbursements 673
Pension disbursements –670

Pension compensation 3

Group contribution 732 1,141
Accelerated tax depreciation 1,705 –363

Appropriations 2,437 778

TOTAL 2,437 781

15 Taxes

Major components of tax expense
Group Parent company

2016 2015 2016 2015

Current tax –4,052 –3,997 –2,877 –3,679
Deferred tax –161 –176

Tax for current year –4,213 –4,173 –2,877 –3,679
Current tax for previous years –36 –111 137 –138

INCOMETAX EXPENSE –4,249 –4,284 –2,740 –3,817

Relationship between tax expenses and accounting profit

Net profit 10,618 16,581 14,378 18,045
Income tax expense 4,249 4,284 2,740 3,817

Accounting profit before tax 14,867 20,865 17,118 21,862

Current tax at Swedish statutory rate of 22.0 per cent –3,271 –4,590 –3,766 –4,810
Tax effect relating to other tax rates in other jurisdictions 246 83
Tax effect relating to not tax deductible expenses –1,422 –727 –990 –782
Tax effect relating to non taxable income 464 797 1,879 1,913
Tax effect relating to a previously recognised tax loss,
tax credit or temporary difference 476 55
Tax effect relating to a previously unrecognised tax loss,
tax credit or temporary difference –545 385

Current tax –4,052 –3,997 –2,877 –3,679

Tax effect relating to origin and reversal of tax losses,
tax credits and temporary differences –475 –56
Tax effect relating to changes in tax rates or
the imposition of new taxes 4
Tax effect relating to a previously unrecognised tax loss,
tax credit or temporary difference 314 –138
Tax effect relating to impairment or reversal of previous
impairments of a deferred tax asset 14

Deferred tax –161 –176

Current tax for previous years –36 –111 137 –138

INCOMETAX EXPENSE 1) –4,249 –4,284 –2,740 –3,817

1) Total income tax expensewas SEK 4,249m (4,284). The effective tax rate for the year was 28.5 per cent (20.5). Excluding the items that affect comparability, the effective tax rate was 21 per cent. This was
in line with SEB’s expected tax rate.

Deferred tax incomeand expense recognised in income statement

Accelerated tax depreciation 300 –88
Pension plan assets, net –163 145
Tax losses carry forwards –322 –73
Other temporary differences 24 –95

TOTAL –161 –111

Deferred tax assets and liabilities, where the change is not reported as a change in deferred tax, amount to SEK 125m (7) and is
explained by a currency translation effect.
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Note 15 continued Taxes

Current tax assets

Group Parent company

2016 2015 2016 2015

Other 5,976 6,966 2,990 1,643

Recognised in profit and loss 5,976 6,966 2,990 1,643

Other 2

Recognised in Shareholders' equity 2

TOTAL 5,978 6,966 2,990 1,643

Deferred tax assets

Tax losses carry forwards 208 530
Pension plan assets, net 1 –16
Other temporary differences1) 271 436

Recognised in profit and loss 480 950

Pension plan assets, net 853 730
Unrealised losses in availableforsale financial assets –4 –164

Recognised in Shareholders’ equity 849 566

TOTAL 1,329 1,516

1) Temporary differences are differences between the carrying amount of an asset or liability in the balance sheet and its tax base.
Taxable temporary differences give rise to deferred tax assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets on tax losses carried forward relates mainly to the Baltic coun
tries and are based on SEB’s assessment of future earnings in respective entity.

Tax losses carried forward in the SEB Group for which the tax assets are not rec
ognised in the balance sheet amount to SEK 4,537m (3,545) gross. These are not

recognised due to the uncertainty in the possibility to use them. This includes losses
where the amount can only be used for trade tax. The potential tax asset not recog
nised is SEK 920m (626).

All losses carried forward are without time limit.

Current tax liabilities

Group Parent company

2016 2015 2016 2015

Other 2,184 2,082 694 584

Recognised in profit and loss 2,184 2,082 694 584

Group contributions 161 251

Recognised in Shareholders’ equity 161 251

TOTAL 2,184 2,082 855 835

Deferred tax liabilities

Accelerated tax depreciation 6,525 6,825
Unrealised profits in financial assets at fair value 23 30
Pension plan assets and obligations, net –32 –212
Other temporary differences1) 293 350

Recognised in profit and loss 6,809 6,993

Pension plan assets and obligations, net 44 1,446
Unrealised profits in cash flowhedges 1,526 905 677 906
Unrealised profits in availableforsale financial assets 95 124

Recognised in Shareholders’ equity 1,665 2,475 677 906

TOTAL 8,474 9,468 677 906

1) Temporary differences are differences between the carrying amount of an asset or liability in the balance sheet and its tax base. Taxable temporary differences give rise to deferred tax assets and liabilities.

In Estonia no income tax is paid unless profit is distributed as dividend. No deferred
tax liability is recognised related to possible future tax costs on dividends from
Estonia. The tax rate applicable to dividends is 20 per cent (20).
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16 Earnings per share
Group

2016 2015

Net profit attributable to shareholders, SEKm 10,618 16,581
Weighted average number of shares,millions 2,178 2,191
Basic earnings per share, SEK 4.88 7.57

Net profit attributable to shareholders, SEKm 10,618 16,581
Weighted average number of diluted shares,millions 2,188 2,203
Diluted earnings per share, SEK 4.85 7.53

Dilution1)

Weighted average number of shares,millions 2,178 2,191
Adjustment for dilutedweighted average number of
additional Class Ashares,millions 10 12
Weighted average number of diluted shares,millions 2,188 2,203

1) Calculated dilution based on the estimated economic value of the longterm incentive programmes.

17 Risk disclosures

SEB’s profitability is directly dependent upon its ability to evaluate, manage and
price the risks encountered, while maintaining an adequate capitalisation and
liquidity tomeet unforeseen events. Risk and capitalrelated issues are identified,
monitored andmanaged at an early stage in order to secure the Group’s financial
stability. Risk and capital management is an integral part of the longterm strategic

planning and business planning processes.
 Further information about SEB’s risk, liquidity and capital management is
available on pages 40–45, notes 19–20 and in SEB’s report under Pillar 3: Capital
Adequacy and Risk Management Report (available on www.sebgroup.com).

17 a Credit risk

Definition
Credit risk is the risk of loss due to the failure of an obligor to fulfil its obligations
towards SEB. The definition also comprises counterparty risk derived from the trad
ing operations, country risk and settlement risk. Credit concentration risk is also
considered.

The predominant risk in SEB is credit risk, which arises through the lending activi
ties and commitments to customers, including corporates, financial institutions,
public sector entities and private individuals. In addition to the credit portfolio, SEB’s
credit exposure consists of debt instruments and repos.

Risk management
Credit policy and approval process
Themain principle in SEB’s credit policy is that all lending is based on credit analysis
and is proportionate to the customer’s cash flow and ability to repay. The customer
shall be known by the bank and the purpose of the loan shall be fully understood.

A credit approval is based on an evaluation of the customer’s creditworthiness
and type of credit. Relevant factors include the customer’s current and anticipated
financial position and protection provided by covenants and collateral. A credit
approval takes the proposed transaction into account as well as the customer’s total
business with the bank. The process differs depending on the type of customer (e.g.,
retail, corporate or institutional), risk level, and size and type of transaction. Inde
pendent and professional credit analysis is particularly important for large corporate
customers. For households and small businesses, the credit approval is often based
on credit scoring systems. Every credit decision of significance requires approval
from an independent credit officer.

Credit decisionmaking is based on a hierarchical structure, with the Group Risk
Committee being the highest credit granting body, subject to limited exceptions.
Below the Group Risk Committee are Divisional Credit Committees and, in turn, local
credit committees depending on the location of the customer, with small approval
authorities for certain specified bank officers. The approvalmandates for each level
are set on a risk adjusted basis using both quantitative and qualitative criteria.

SEB’s credit policies reflect the Group’s approach to sustainability as described in
the Corporate Sustainability Policy, the Environmental Policy and the Credit Policy
on Corporate Sustainability. Position statements on climate change, child labour
and access to fresh water as well as a number of industry sector policies shall be
considered in the credit granting process and are also used in customer dialogues.

Limits and monitoring
Tomanage the credit risk for individual customers or customer groups, a limit is
established that reflects themaximum exposure that SEB is willing to accept. Limits
are also established for total exposure in countries in certain risk classes, certain
customer segments and for settlement risks in the trading operations.

SEB continuously reviews the quality of its credit exposures. All total limits and risk
classes are reviewed at least annually by a credit approval body (a credit committee

consisting of at least two bank officers as authorised by the Group’s Credit Instruc
tion, adopted by the Board).Weak or impaired exposures are subject tomore fre
quent reviews. The objective is to identify at an early stage credit exposures with an
elevated risk of loss and towork together with the customer towards a solution that
enables the customer tomeet its financial obligations and SEB to avoid or reduce
credit losses.

Loans where the contractual terms have been amended in favour of the customer
due to financial difficulties are referred to as forborne loans. Forbearancemeasures
range from amortisation holidays (themost commonmeasure) to refinancing with
new terms and debt forgiveness. Changes in contractual termsmay be so significant
that the loan can also be considered impaired. A relevant credit approval body shall
approve the forbearancemeasures as well as the classification of the loan as being
forborne or not.

In its coremarkets, SEBmaintains local workout teams that are engaged in prob
lem exposures. These are supported by a global workout function with overall
responsibility for managing problem exposures.

Impairment provisioning process
Provisions aremade for probable credit losses on individually assessed loans and
for portfolio assessed loans. Loans to corporate, real estate and institutional coun
terparties are primarily individually assessed and specific provisions aremade for
identified impaired loans (individually assessed impaired loans).

Loans that have not been deemed to be impaired on an individual basis andwhich
have similar credit risk characteristics are grouped together and assessed collectively
for impairment. Valuations of loans to private individuals and small businesses are to
a large extentmade on a portfolio basis (portfolio assessed loans). For a further
description of the different categories of impaired loans, refer to note 1 and note 19.

Risk mitigation
SEB reduces risk in its credit portfolio through a number of credit risk mitigation
techiques. Themethod used depends on its suitability for the product and the cus
tomer in question, its legal enforceability, and on SEB’s experience and capacity to
manage and control the particular technique. Themost important credit risk mitiga
tion techniques are collateral pledges, guarantees and netting agreements. The
most common types of pledges are real estate, floating charges and financial secu
rities. In the trading operations, daily margin arrangements are frequently used to
mitigate net open counterparty exposures at any point in time. For large corporate
customers, credit risk is oftenmitigated by the use of covenants.

Credit portfolio analysis and stress tests
The risk organisation regularly reviews and assesses the aggregate credit portfolio
based on industry, geography, risk class, product type, size and other parameters.
Risk concentrations in geographic and industry sectors as well as in large single
names are thoroughly analysed, both in respect of direct and indirect exposures and
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in the form of collateral, guarantees and credit derivatives. As of yearend, the 20
largest corporate exposures (including property management) corresponded to
86 per cent of the capital base (87).

Stress tests of the credit portfolio, including reverse stress tests, are performed
regularly as a part of SEB’s annual internal capital adequacy assessment process.
Specific analyses and stress tests of certain sectors or subportfolios are performed
as required.

Risk measurement
Credit risk is measured for all exposures, both in the banking book and the trading
book. An internal ratingsbased (IRB) risk classification system approved by the
regulator is used for the majority of the bank’s portfolios and reflects the risk of
default on payment obligations. SEB received approval for a significant amend
ment of its risk classification system for the nonretail portfolio in the parent
company at the end of 2015 and in SEB AG in 2016. The approval for SEB’s Baltic
subsidiaries is still pending.

The risk classification system contains specific rating tools and PD (probability
of default) scales for significant nonretail segments, including large corporates,
property management and SMEs. The segments are measured on a scale of 1–16,
while the SME portfolios are measured on a scale of 1–12. Defaulted counterpar
ties are given the highest risk class, and the three risk classes prior to default are
defined as “watch list”. For each risk class scale, SEB makes individual oneyear,
throughthecycle probability of default estimates, which are based on up to more
than 20 years of internal data, and external data.The risk distribution of SEB’s
non-retail credit portfolio (excluding households) is shown on page 104.

For private individuals and small businesses, SEB uses credit scoring systems
to estimate PD for the customer. To achieve greater accuracy, SEB uses different
credit scoring models for different regions and product segments, as both data
accessibility and customer characteristics normally vary by country and product.
PD for the household portfolio is estimated at 0.49 per cent through the cycle.

The risk distribution of the household portfolio is shown on page 104.
The exposure weighted PD of the total credit portfolio decreased to 0.55 per

cent at yearend (0.58).

Counterparty risk in derivative contracts
SEB enters into derivatives contracts primarily to support customers in themanage
ment of their financial exposures. SEB also uses derivatives to protect cash flows and
fair values of financial assets and liabilities in its own book frommarket fluctuations.

Counterparty risk in derivative contracts is the risk of a counterparty not living up
to its contractual obligations where SEB has a claim on the counterparty. The claim
on the counterparty corresponds to a net positive exposure in favour of SEB. Since
themarket value of a derivative fluctuates during the term tomaturity, the uncer
tainty of futuremarket conditionsmust be taken into account. The potential future
exposure (PFE) is calculated by applying an addon to current market value. The
addon is generated either through simulation (internal model method) or by apply
ing a standard addon which is set by a fixed value depending on product type and
time tomaturity which reflects potential market movements for the specific con
tract (standardisedmethod).

Counterparty risk in derivative contracts is reduced through the use of closeout
netting agreements, where all positive and negativemarket values under an agree
ment can be netted at the counterparty level, and through collateral arrangements.

SEB’s simulationbased approach for calculating potential future exposure (inter
nal model method) is approved by the Swedish FSA for external capital reporting of
counterparty credit risk of repos, interest rate derivatives and FX derivatives in the
parent company.

Counterparty risk in derivative contracts also affects the profit and loss through
credit/debit valuation adjustments (CVA/DVA) reflecting the credit risk associated
with derivative positions. These adjustments depend onmarket risk factors such as
interest rate, foreign exchange rates and credit spreads. There is also an external
capital requirement for credit valuation adjustments under Basel III.

Credit exposure by industry

Total credit exposure comprises the Group’s credit portfolio (loans, leasing agree
ments, contingent liabilities and counterparty risks arising from derivative con
tracts), repos and debt instruments. Exposures are presented before reserves.
Interest rate and foreign exchange derivatives and repos are calculated using the
internal model method. Other derivatives are reported after netting of market

values but before collateral arrangements and include standardised addons for
potential future exposure. Debt instruments comprise all interestbearing instru
ments at nominal amounts, considering credit derivatives and futures. Debt instru
ments in the Life and Investment Management division are excluded.

Loans Contingent liabilities Derivative instruments1) Total

Group 2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015

Banks 50,475 50,369 25,284 17,417 31,025 100,667 106,784 168,453

Finance and insurance 65,282 57,838 39,056 33,271 28,715 37,179 133,053 128,288
Wholesale and retail 56,622 48,792 34,733 31,143 1,618 981 92,973 80,916
Transportation 26,961 28,038 19,913 19,332 2,226 5,021 49,100 52,391
Shipping 55,619 50,889 14,322 17,875 2,377 2,504 72,318 71,268
Business and household services 114,020 85,011 88,171 75,889 4,366 4,387 206,557 165,287
Construction 12,646 10,797 20,497 15,400 950 692 34,093 26,889
Manufacturing 87,152 87,143 148,604 138,909 15,390 13,756 251,146 239,808
Agriculture, forestry and fishing 13,208 11,580 2,213 1,827 407 285 15,828 13,692
Mining, oil and gas extraction 26,608 22,248 24,554 24,941 3,221 2,686 54,383 49,875
Electricity, gas andwater supply 39,734 41,857 40,643 30,039 5,186 5,863 85,563 77,759
Other 26,357 24,072 7,171 5,783 734 355 34,262 30,210

Corporates 524,209 468,265 439,877 394,409 65,190 73,709 1,029,276 936,383

Commercial real estatemanagement 157,838 142,023 20,160 15,098 7,120 6,509 185,118 163,630
Residential real estatemanagement 92,199 80,981 9,147 7,125 7,986 5,638 109,332 93,744
Housing cooperative associations, Sweden 50,119 45,864 3,505 4,022 6 15 53,630 49,901

PropertyManagement 300,156 268,868 32,812 26,245 15,112 12,162 348,080 307,275

Public Administration 30,089 40,069 24,418 31,642 7,790 5,299 62,297 77,010

Householdmortgage 482,531 466,682 30,859 25,820 513,390 492,502
Other 41,331 41,236 41,897 41,616 63 36 83,291 82,888

Households 523,862 507,918 72,756 67,436 63 36 596,681 575,390

Credit portfolio 1,428,791 1,335,489 595,147 537,149 119,180 191,873 2,143,118 2,064,511

Repos 386 1,367

Debt instruments 167,969 228,612

TOTAL 2,311,473 2,294,490

1) The figures are not fully comparable between years due to the implementation of the internalmodelmethod for interest and foreign exchange derivatives in the parent company.

Note 17a continued Credit risk
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Note 17a continued Credit risk

Credit portfolio by industry and geography 1)

Total credit portfolio comprises the Group’s loans, leasing agreements, contingent
liabilities and counterparty risks arising fromderivative contracts. Exposures are pre
sented before reserves. Interest rate and foreign exchange derivatives and repos are

calculated using the internal modelmethod. Other derivatives are reported after net
ting ofmarket values but before collateral arrangements and include standardised
addons for potential future exposure.

Group, 2016 Sweden Denmark Norway Finland Estonia Latvia Lithuania Germany Other Total

Banks 69,802 2,701 2,869 2,798 310 98 350 11,748 16,108 106,784

Finance and insurance 83,451 968 3,513 1,676 568 11 398 23,937 18,531 133,053
Wholesale and retail 43,811 9,380 1,665 784 5,807 2,771 11,986 9,199 7,570 92,973
Transportation 26,768 1,770 2,839 1,669 1,085 2,720 2,818 9,219 212 49,100
Shipping 61,597 1,285 1,059 163 244 179 1 7,790 72,318
Business and household services 144,116 3,754 6,857 801 2,146 2,692 3,129 39,790 3,272 206,557
Construction 22,319 852 1,579 614 994 788 1,523 3,231 2,193 34,093
Manufacturing 168,255 7,507 4,533 8,620 3,562 2,452 4,889 35,387 15,941 251,146
Agriculture, forestry and fishing 9,636 186 5 55 1,801 2,403 1,629 91 22 15,828
Mining, oil and gas extraction 46,480 5 5,711 402 1,163 59 129 1 433 54,383
Electricity, gas andwater supply 43,164 845 1,063 10,046 2,447 1,222 6,635 19,325 816 85,563
Other 27,166 979 1,318 886 211 158 187 3,273 84 34,262

Corporates 676,763 27,531 30,142 25,716 20,028 15,455 33,324 143,453 56,864 1,029,276

Commercial real estatemanagement 128,736 141 2,274 1,775 7,445 4,294 8,695 31,756 2 185,118
Residential real estatemanagement 103,397 49 280 5 5,601 109,332
Housing cooperative associations, Sweden 53,608 22 53,630

PropertyManagement 285,741 141 2,323 1,775 7,445 4,574 8,700 37,357 24 348,080

Public Administration 26,870 11 698 1,340 3,753 629 895 28,098 3 62,297

Householdmortgage 461,221 2,186 18,000 7,039 19,881 5,063 513,390
Other 42,880 4,547 23,111 1,993 3,133 2,392 2,445 16 2,774 83,291

Households 504,101 4,547 25,297 1,993 21,133 9,431 22,326 16 7,837 596,681

TOTAL 1,563,277 34,931 61,329 33,622 52,669 30,187 65,595 220,672 80,836 2,143,118

2015

Banks 72,019 51,151 7,801 2,659 233 226 933 18,885 14,546 168,453

Finance and insurance 80,221 1,553 3,314 1,575 310 12 250 19,783 21,270 128,288
Wholesale and retail 38,989 5,506 1,395 1,021 4,846 2,394 10,851 9,217 6,697 80,916
Transportation 32,546 611 2,981 1,716 1,134 1,598 2,382 9,310 113 52,391
Shipping 59,264 1,640 1,332 372 257 126 126 45 8,106 71,268
Business and household services 114,950 1,124 5,041 578 2,342 2,434 2,502 33,634 2,682 165,287
Construction 16,124 423 1,161 788 1,086 740 1,093 3,563 1,911 26,889
Manufacturing 161,363 3,979 3,846 9,962 3,872 2,091 4,862 34,762 15,071 239,808
Agriculture, forestry and fishing 8,645 66 5 57 1,666 2,023 1,120 87 23 13,692
Mining, oil and gas extraction 42,084 15 5,862 229 1,284 114 27 260 49,875
Electricity, gas andwater supply 41,689 276 586 9,674 2,484 1,487 4,581 16,043 939 77,759
Other 24,005 802 1,290 634 181 166 160 690 2,282 30,210

Corporates 619,880 15,995 26,813 26,606 19,462 13,185 27,954 127,134 59,354 936,383

Commercial real estatemanagement 110,204 101 1,673 1,298 6,049 3,940 7,933 32,430 2 163,630
Residential real estatemanagement 86,139 8 358 6 7,233 93,744
Housing cooperative associations, Sweden 49,901 49,901

PropertyManagement 246,244 101 1,681 1,298 6,049 4,298 7,939 39,663 2 307,275

Public Administration 22,140 9 418 1,319 3,731 728 1,107 46,877 681 77,010

Householdmortgage 442,960 4,270 15,893 6,606 17,673 5,100 492,502
Other 44,866 4,376 21,093 1,949 2,960 2,315 2,277 34 3,018 82,888

Households 487,826 4,376 25,363 1,949 18,853 8,921 19,950 34 8,118 575,390

TOTAL 1,448,109 71,632 62,076 33,831 48,328 27,358 57,883 232,593 82,701 2,064,511

1) The geographical distribution is based onwhere the loan is booked. Amounts before provisions for credit losses.



104

Financial statements Notes

SEB Annual Report 2016

Note 17a continued Credit risk

Credit portfolio by risk class 1)

Group, 2016 Total, excluding households Households

Category PDRange S&P/Moody's2) Banks Corporates
Property

Management
Public
Admin. Total PDRange

Investment grade 0 < 0.01% AAA/Aaa 5.7% 0.7% 0.0% 25.9% 1.9%
0.01 < 0.03% AA/Aa 46.3% 12.1% 3.5% 60.9% 14.5% 0 < 0.2% 66.1%
0.03 < 0.12% A/A 31.3% 27.4% 18.4% 10.3% 25.0% 0.2 < 0.4% 15.9%
0.12 < 0.46% BBB/Baa 9.7% 36.8% 51.5% 2.4% 36.8% 0.4 < 0.6% 0.3%

0.46 < 1.74% BB/Ba 3.5% 18.0% 24.2% 0.1% 17.6% 0.6 < 1% 10.8%
1.74 < 7% B/B 1.9% 3.3% 1.6% 0.4% 2.7% 1 < 5% 4.4%

Watch list 7 < 9% B/B 0.2% 0.7% 0.1% 0.0% 0.5% 5 < 10% 1.0%
9 < 22% CCC/Caa 1.2% 0.5% 0.3% 0.0% 0.5% 10 < 30% 0.7%

22 < 100% C/C 0.1% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 30 < 50% 0.3%

Default 100% D 0.0% 0.5% 0.4% 0.0% 0.4% 50 < 100% 0.5%

TOTAL 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% TOTAL 100%

2015

Investment grade 0 < 0.01% AAA/Aaa 3.5% 0.4% 0.0% 19.2% 1.7%
0.01 < 0.03% AA/Aa 43.1% 13.0% 4.5% 71.3% 17.4% 0 < 0.2% 66.8%
0.03 < 0.12% A/A 19.6% 24.0% 16.9% 6.3% 21.1% 0.2 < 0.4% 15.5%
0.12 < 0.46% BBB/Baa 31.2% 39.5% 58.4% 2.3% 40.5% 0.4 < 0.6% 0.2%

0.46 < 1.74% BB/Ba 0.9% 18.2% 16.4% 0.0% 15.1% 0.6 < 1% 10.1%
1.74 < 7% B/B 0.9% 3.6% 2.2% 0.2% 2.9% 1 < 5% 4.8%

Watch list 7 < 9% B/B 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 5 < 10% 1.0%
9 < 22% CCC/Caa 0.6% 0.6% 0.6% 0.7% 0.6% 10 < 30% 0.7%

22 < 100% C/C 0.2% 0.1% 0.1% 0.0% 0.1% 30 < 50% 0.3%

Default 100% D 0.0% 0.6% 0.9% 0.0% 0.6% 50 < 100% 0.6%

TOTAL 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% TOTAL 100%

1) Compilation is based on credit portfolio including repos. Household exposure based on internal ratings based (IRB) reported exposure in the event of a default (EAD– exposure at default).
2) Estimated link between internal PDs and external ratings based on comparison of historical default outcomes.

Credit portfolio protected by guarantees, credit derivatives and collaterals1)

Group Parent company

2016
Credit

portfolio

Protection via
guarantees
and credit
derivatives

Protection
via pledged
collaterals

Ofwhich,
financial

collaterals
Credit

portfolio

Protection via
guarantees
and credit
derivatives

Protection
via pledged
collaterals

Ofwhich,
financial

collaterals

Banks 106,784 3,582 9,415 7,793 92,923 1,434 7,461 6,585
Corporates and PropertyManagement 1,377,356 50,102 475,067 30,360 1,080,970 47,719 398,257 28,090
Public Administration 62,297 30,601 611 611 27,273 24,291 7 7
Households 596,681 2,600 501,279 2,891 486,000 448,234

TOTAL 2,143,118 86,885 986,372 41,655 1,687,166 73,444 853,959 34,682

2015

Banks 168,453 4,020 15,259 13,376 105,849 1,766 13,877 12,559
Corporates and PropertyManagement 1,243,658 44,252 429,992 29,013 970,221 42,934 357,491 26,738
Public Administration 77,010 35,413 849 849 22,957 29,482 228 228
Households 575,390 2,673 479,627 2,612 470,152 433,047 33

TOTAL 2,064,511 86,358 925,727 45,850 1,569,179 74,182 804,643 39,558

1) Only riskmitigation arrangements eligible in capital adequacy reporting are represented in the tables above.
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Loan portfolio by industry and geography1)

The loan portfolio comprises the Group’s loans and leasing agreements.

2016 Sweden Denmark Norway Finland Estonia Latvia Lithuania Germany Other Total

Banks 29,647 271 414 425 260 82 285 7,447 11,644 50,475

Finance and insurance 45,506 339 1,006 204 252 10 194 9,344 8,427 65,282
Wholesale and retail 26,393 7,878 1,026 664 3,795 1,577 7,729 2,154 5,406 56,622
Transportation 13,331 649 2,052 1,499 778 1,668 2,330 4,590 64 26,961
Shipping 48,359 7 519 163 240 173 1 6,157 55,619
Business and household services 85,926 930 3,032 279 1,927 2,242 2,453 16,615 616 114,020
Construction 10,963 233 170 17 380 167 522 187 7 12,646
Manufacturing 55,434 2,729 861 3,698 2,330 1,823 3,150 7,487 9,640 87,152
Agriculture, forestry and fishing 8,097 15 53 1,683 2,054 1,304 2 13,208
Mining, oil and gas extraction 25,146 5 86 402 676 48 51 194 26,608
Electricity, gas andwater supply 20,655 24 1 8,236 1,329 827 4,112 4,420 130 39,734
Other 21,006 937 579 591 188 137 161 2,734 24 26,357

Corporates 360,816 13,746 9,332 15,806 13,578 10,726 22,007 47,531 30,667 524,209

Commercial real estatemanagement 106,902 11 1,345 451 6,868 4,148 7,893 30,220 157,838
Residential real estatemanagement 86,746 41 276 5 5,131 92,199
Housing cooperative associations, Sweden 50,097 22 50,119

PropertyManagement 243,745 11 1,386 451 6,868 4,424 7,898 35,351 22 300,156

Public Administration 7,573 11 85 1,123 1,058 393 641 19,205 30,089

Householdmortgage 431,245 2,186 17,596 6,944 19,497 5,063 482,531
Other 23,545 2,407 5,907 1,044 2,578 1,835 1,855 15 2,145 41,331

Households 454,790 2,407 8,093 1,044 20,174 8,779 21,352 15 7,208 523,862

TOTAL 1,096,571 16,446 19,310 18,849 41,938 24,404 52,183 109,549 49,541 1,428,791

Reverse repos 64,438
Debt instruments reclassified 15,106
Reserves –4,789

TOTAL LENDING 1,503,546

2015

Banks 20,883 3,107 278 463 179 211 869 13,392 10,987 50,369

Finance and insurance 41,576 41 791 58 149 10 66 6,397 8,750 57,838
Wholesale and retail 24,200 4,654 981 374 2,689 1,458 7,065 2,510 4,861 48,792
Transportation 16,548 415 2,091 1,310 828 1,473 1,918 3,397 58 28,038
Shipping 43,216 288 683 372 255 123 125 45 5,782 50,889
Business and household services 64,418 871 845 154 2,095 2,197 1,374 12,457 600 85,011
Construction 8,707 287 104 6 455 190 398 647 3 10,797
Manufacturing 55,291 3,061 802 3,205 2,531 1,525 3,093 8,377 9,258 87,143
Agriculture, forestry and fishing 7,209 11 37 1,584 1,832 904 3 11,580
Mining, oil and gas extraction 21,099 15 100 229 686 92 27 22,248
Electricity, gas andwater supply 22,833 35 5 7,571 1,426 897 3,831 5,051 208 41,857
Other 19,660 769 444 471 163 153 145 583 1,684 24,072

Corporates 324,757 10,447 6,846 13,787 12,861 9,950 18,946 39,464 31,207 468,265

Commercial real estatemanagement 93,945 6 932 358 5,755 3,850 7,184 29,993 142,023
Residential real estatemanagement 73,738 2 313 6 6,922 80,981
Housing cooperative associations, Sweden 45,864 45,864

PropertyManagement 213,547 6 934 358 5,755 4,163 7,190 36,915 268,868

Public Administration 5,346 9 81 1,111 1,205 354 789 30,493 681 40,069

Householdmortgage 418,420 3,559 15,683 6,578 17,343 5,099 466,682
Other 24,977 2,354 4,798 993 2,402 1,714 1,717 34 2,247 41,236

Households 443,397 2,354 8,357 993 18,085 8,292 19,060 34 7,346 507,918

TOTAL 1,007,930 15,923 16,496 16,712 38,085 22,970 46,854 120,298 50,221 1,335,489

Reverse repos 60,316
Debt instruments reclassified 21,001
Reserves –4,878

TOTAL LENDING 1,411,928

1) The geographical distribution is based onwhere the loan is booked.
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Debt instruments

At yearend 2016, SEB’s credit exposure in the bond portfolio amounted to SEK 168bn (229). The exposure comprises all interestbearing instruments at nominal amounts
including certain credit derivatives and futures.

Distribution by geography

Central & local
governments Corporates Covered bonds

Asset-backed
securities Financials Total

2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015

Germany 23.8% 20.9% 0.1% 0.1% 0.1% 0.4% 3.6% 0.0% 2.7% 0.1% 30.3% 21.5%
Sweden 10.3% 25.4% 0.7% 0.3% 16.0% 20.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.2% 0.4% 27.2% 46.1%
Denmark 2.7% 0.2% 0.1% 0.2% 9.5% 9.7% 0.0% 0.0% 0.7% 0.3% 13.0% 10.4%
Norway 3.4% 3.6% 0.1% 0.3% 3.1% 0.0% 0.0% 0.6% 0.9% 0.0% 7.5% 4.5%
US 7.1% 2.0% 0.0% 0.3% 0.0% 0.0% 0.2% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 7.3% 2.3%
Luxembourg 3.3% 2.1% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 2.4% 0.0% 0.0% 3.3% 4.5%
Finland 2.8% 0.7% 0.0% 0.1% 0.0% 1.5% 0.0% 0.0% 0.1% 0.7% 2.9% 3.0%
Netherlands 0.8% 0.5% 0.0% 0.1% 0.5% 0.3% 0.1% 0.1% 0.3% 0.3% 1.7% 1.3%
Spain 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.6% 0.4% 0.4% 0.1% 0.1% 0.5% 1.1%
Ireland 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.1% 0.1% 0.0% 0.0% 0.1% 0.1%
Italy 0.1% 0.1% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.1% 0.0% 0.0% 0.1% 0.2%
Portugal 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.1% 0.1% 0.0% 0.0% 0.1% 0.1%
Greece 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%
Europe, other 4.2% 2.6% 0.2% 0.9% 0.0% 0.0% 0.3% 0.5% 0.2% 0.1% 4.9% 4.1%
Rest ofworld 1.1% 0.8% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 1.1% 0.8%

TOTAL 59.6% 58.9% 1.2% 2.3% 29.2% 32.5% 4.8% 4.3% 5.2% 2.0% 100.0% 100.0%

Distribution by rating

AAA 38.6% 46.9% 0.1% 0.2% 28.3% 31.7% 3.4% 2.9% 2.6% 0.6% 73.0% 82.3%
AA 11.4% 6.7% 0.0% 0.0% 0.5% 0.3% 0.1% 0.2% 1.0% 0.1% 13.0% 7.3%
A 2.7% 2.1% 0.1% 0.3% 0.0% 0.5% 0.7% 0.7% 0.2% 0.5% 3.7% 4.1%
BBB 0.0% 0.1% 0.4% 0.5% 0.0% 0.0% 0.4% 0.3% 0.1% 0.1% 0.9% 1.0%
BB/B 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.1% 0.0% 0.0% 0.2% 0.2% 0.0% 0.0% 0.2% 0.3%
CCC/CC 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%
No issue rating 1) 6.9% 3.1% 0.6% 1.2% 0.4% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 1.3% 0.7% 9.2% 5.0%

TOTAL 59.6% 58.9% 1.2% 2.3% 29.2% 32.5% 4.8% 4.3% 5.2% 2.0% 100.0% 100.0%

1) Mainly German local governments (Bundesländer).

17 b Market risk
Definition
Market risk is the risk of losses in on and offbalance sheet positions arising from
adversemovements inmarket prices. Market risk can arise from changes in interest
rates, foreign exchange rates, credit spreads, commodity and equity prices, implied
volatilities, inflation andmarket liquidity. A clear distinction is made betweenmar
ket risks related to trading activity, i.e., trading book risks, and structural market and
net interest income risks, i.e., banking book risks. Whereas the trading book is
under a daily marktomarket regime, positions in the banking book are typically
held at amortised cost.

Risk management
Market risks in the trading book arise from SEB’s customerdriven trading activity
and in the liquidity portfolio. The trading activity is carried out by the Large Corpo
rates & Financial Institutions division in its capacity asmarket maker in international
foreign exchange, equity and debt capital markets. The liquidity portfolio, which is
managed by the treasury function, is part of SEB’s liquidity reserve and consists of
investments in pledgeable and highly liquid bonds.

Market risk in the banking book arises as a result of balance sheet mismatches in
currencies, interest terms and interest rate periods. The treasury function has over
all responsibility for managing these risks, which are consolidated centrally.

Market risk also arises in the bank’s traditional insurance operations and the
defined benefit plans for employees as a result of mismatches between themarket
value of assets and liabilities. Market risks in the pension obligations and the life
insurance business are not included in themarket risk figures below. Refer to
note 17e for information onmarket risk in the life insurance business.

The Board of Directors defines howmuchmarket risk is acceptable by setting the
overall market risk tolerance, risk limits and general instructions. Themarket risk tol
erance and limits are defined for the trading book, banking book and defined benefit
plans. The trading book risks aremanaged at the different trading locations within
a comprehensive set of limits in VaR, sensitivities, stoploss and stress tests. The
Group Risk Committee delegates themarket riskmandate to the divisions and the
treasury function, which in turn further allocate the limits internally.

The risk organisationmeasures, follows up and reports themarket risk taken by
the various units within the Group on a daily basis. The risk organisation also inde
pendently verifies the valuation of positions held at fair value and calculates the
capital buffer for prudent valuation. The risk control function is present in the trad
ing rooms andmonitors limit compliance andmarket prices at closing as well as
valuation standards and the introduction of new products. Market risks are reported
at least on amonthly basis to the Group Risk Committee and the Board’s Risk and
Capital Committee.

SEB is exposed to the followingmarket risk types:

Risk type Defined as the risk of loss or reduced income due to Source

Interest rate risk Changes in interest rates Inherent in all banking business

Credit spread risk A change in the creditworthiness of an issuer of,
for instance, a bond or a credit derivative

Primarily present in the bank’s bond holdings

Foreign exchange risk Variations in the exchange rates Foreign exchange trading and the bank's operations in variousmarkets

Equity price risk Variations in equity prices Market making and customer activity in equities and equity derivatives

Commodity price risk Variations in commodity prices Customerdriven activities in commodities

Volatility risk Changes in implied volatility Market making and customer activity of options across all asset classes

Inflation Change in inflation Bond holdings, value of assets on balance sheet

Market liquidity Bidask spread widenings Sale of assets or closing of positions

Credit value adjustment1) Variations in the counterparty credit risk based on
the expected future exposure

OTC derivative contracts

1) Credit value adjustment is fundamentally credit risk, but the exposure is calculated usingmarket risk drivers (interest rate, currency, etc.).
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Risk measurement
When assessingmarket risk exposure, SEB usesmeasures that capture losses under
normal market conditions as well as measures that focus on extrememarket situa
tions. Market risks under normal market circumstances aremeasured using Value at
Risk (VaR) as well as specificmeasures that are relevant for the various types of risk.
Thesemeasures are complemented by stress tests and scenario analyses, in which
potential losses under extrememarket conditions are estimated. Since nomeasure
mentmethod can cover all risks at all times, several approaches are used, and the
results are assessed based on judgment and experience.

Value at Risk and Stressed Value at Risk
VaR expresses themaximum potential loss that could arise during a certain time
period with a given degree of probability. SEB uses a historical simulation VaR
model with a tenday time horizon and 99 per cent confidence interval tomeasure,

limit and report VaR. Themodel aggregatesmarket risk exposure for all risk types
and covers a wide range of risk factors in all asset classes. SEB also uses a stressed
VaRmeasure, where VaR is calculated for the current portfolio usingmarket data
from a historic, turbulent time period covering the Lehman Brothers’ default. The
VaRmodel is validated using backtesting analysis.

A limitation of SEB’s VaRmodel is that it uses historical data to estimate potential
market changes. As such it may not predict all outcomes, especially in a rapidly
changingmarket. Also, VaR does not take into account any actions to reduce risk as
themodel assumes that the portfolio is unchanged.

SEB’s VaR and stressed VaRmodels have been approved by the Swedish FSA for
calculation of regulatory capital requirements for all the general market risks in the
bank’s trading book in the parent bank and the subsidiary Skandinaviska Enskilda
Banken S.A. in Luxembourg.

Value at Risk

Trading Book (99%, ten days)
2016 31Dec Average Average

Min Max 2016 2016 2015

Interest rate risk 37 120 61 72 95
Credit spread risk 54 44 61 63 66
Foreign exchange rate risk 6 78 9 32 34
Equity price risk 11 56 40 26 29
Commodities risk 9 60 27 22 17
Volatilities risk 10 34 12 17 34
Diversification –118 –121 –158

TOTAL 83 182 92 111 117

Banking Book (99%, ten days)

Interest rate risk 127 336 127 232 189
Credit spread risk 14 82 51 60 97
Foreign exchange rate risk 10 6 1
Equity price risk 29 98 29 58 28
Volatilities risk
Diversification –53 –110 –98

TOTAL 153 320 160 240 217

Stress tests and scenario analysis
Scenario analysis and stress tests are a key part of the riskmanagement framework,
complementing the VaRmeasure. In particular, they test the portfolios using sce
narios other than those available in the VaR simulation window, and cover longer
time horizons. SEB stresses its portfolios by applying extrememovements inmarket
factors which have been observed in the past (historical scenarios) as well as
extrememovements that could potentially happen in the future (hypothetical or
forwardlooking scenarios). Reverse stress tests are also used for the total trading
portfolio as well as for individual divisions and business units, to identify scenarios
that would lead to a given significant loss, for instance, the breach of a stoploss
limit. This type of analysis providesmanagement with a view on the potential impact

that largemarket moves in individual risk factors, as well as broader market scenar
ios, could have on a portfolio. The risk tolerance framework includes limits on differ
ent stress test scenarios.

Specific risk measures
VaR and stress tests are complemented by specific risk measures including Delta
1% for interest risk, and single and aggregated FX for currency risk.

In addition, all units that handle risk for financial instruments valued at market
are limited by a stoploss limit. The stoploss limit indicates themaximum loss a unit
can incur beforemitigating actions are taken.

CVA/DVA sensitivities

The credit and debit valuation adjustments (CVA/DVA) are sensitive tomarket
movements, in particular tomovements in interest rates, credit spreads and foreign
exchange rates.

In order tomonitor this sensitivity, SEB stresses these asset classes on a regular
basis and calculates the impact on the valuation adjustments. This is done by com

paring the original CVA/DVA numbers with the stressed CVA/DVA numbers where
the current rates and credit spreads have beenmoved up 100 basis points and
where SEK has appreciated 5 per cent to all other currencies compared with the cur
rent level.

2016 CVA DVA Total

Interest rates + 100bp 180 75 255
Credit spreads + 100bp –928 384 –544
SEK+ 5% –22 6 –16

2015

Interest rates + 100bp 169 85 254
Credit spreads + 100bp –798 392 –406
SEK+ 5% 11 11
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Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk refers to the risk that the value of the Group’s assets, liabilities and
interestrelated derivatives will be negatively affected by changes in interest rates
or other relevant risk factors.

Themajority of the Group’s interest rate risks are structural and arise within the
banking operations when there is amismatch between the interest fixing periods

of assets and liabilities, including derivatives.
The table below shows the sensitivity to a +100 bp change in the interest rates

on the banking and trading book by currency and in different buckets ofmaturity.
This is calculated as the value change for a shift of 1 bp and then scaled up to reflect
a 100 bpmove.

Interest rate sensitivity in trading book per time buckets

2016 < 3months 3–12months 1–2 years 2–5 years >5 years Total

EUR 11 –27 –38 164 165 275
SEK 23 3 –386 286 172 98
USD –112 –39 16 –17 –53 –205
Other –2 –112 128 –94 –71 –151

TOTAL –80 –175 –280 339 213 17

2015

EUR –20 255 38 –11 –1 261
SEK –118 179 –22 97 –65 71
USD –41 –43 –11 17 3 –75
Other 14 –158 –196 10 112 –218

TOTAL –165 233 –191 113 49 39

Interest rate sensitivity in banking book per time buckets*

2016 < 3months 3–12months 1–2 years 2–5 years >5 years Total

EUR 30 –348 191 –382 –3 –512
SEK –249 –722 –74 –524 –239 –1,808
USD 80 99 163 25 13 380
Other –26 –57 –13 –44 –5 –145

TOTAL –165 –1 028 267 –925 –234 –2,085

2015

EUR –56 –222 –181 –224 267 –416
SEK –665 –172 –399 –505 –143 –1,884
USD 209 1 11 32 134 387
Other –58 –12 –5 –28 –7 –110

TOTAL –570 –405 –574 –725 251 –2,023

* by currency SEKm/100 bp

17 c Operational risk
Definition
Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal pro
cesses, people and systems (e.g., breakdown of IT systems, mistakes, fraud, other
deficiencies in internal control) or from external events (natural disasters, external
crime, etc.). The definition includes compliance, legal and financial reporting, infor
mation security, security and venture execution risk, but excludes strategic and
reputational risk.

Risk management
Operational risk is inherent in all of SEB’s operations and the responsibility toman
age operational risks rests with all managers throughout the bank. SEB aims to
maintain a sound risk culture with low operational risk and loss level through an
effective internal control environment by ensuring a structured and consistent
usage of risk mitigating tools and processes.

All new or changed products, processes and/or systems as well as reorganisa
tions are evaluated in a groupcommonNew Product Approval Process (NPAP). The
aim is to identify potential operational risks and ensure that proactivemeasures are
taken to protect SEB from entering into unintended risktaking that cannot be
immediately managed by the organisation.

All business units with significant risk embedded in their operations shall regu
larly complete Risk and Control SelfAssessments (RCSA) according to a group
widemethodology. The assessments are designed to identify andmitigate signifi
cant operational risks embedded in SEB’s various business and support processes.
There is comprehensive participation by each business unit throughout the organi
sation. The RCSA framework is used to analyse SEB’s operational risk profile and
help achieve operational excellence and high performance.

SEB ensures that the organisation is prepared to respond to and operate
throughout a period of major disruption by identifying critical activities andmain
taining updated and tested business continuity plans in a groupwide system for
this purpose.

All employees are required to escalate and register riskrelated events or inci
dents so that risks can be properly identified, assessed, monitored, mitigated and
reported. SEB uses a groupwide IT application to capture risk events and other
operational risk data for analysis.

SEB conducts regular training and education in key areas, including information
security, fraud prevention, antimoney laundering, knowyourcustomer proce
dures and SEB’s Code of Business Conduct. SEB also has a formal whistleblower
procedure that encourages employees to report improprieties and unethical or
illegal conduct.

Cybercrime and other organised crime continues to develop and SEBworks
continuosly to improve processes and controls.

The risk organisation is responsible for measuring and reporting SEB’s opera
tional risks. Significant incidents and the risk level, both on Group and divisional/
site level, is analysed and reportedmonthly to the Group Executive Committee,
the Group Risk Committee and the Board’s Risk and Capital Committee as well as
local/divisional management. The total losses from operational incidents in 2016
amounted to SEK 263m (291).

Risk measurement
SEB uses the AdvancedMeasurement Approach (AMA) to calculate the regulatory
capital requirement for operational risk.
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17 d Business risk
Definition
Business risk is the risk of lower revenues due to reduced volumes, price pressure or
competition. Business risk includes venture decision risk (related to undertakings
such as acquisitions, large IT projects, transformations, outsourcing, etc.). Strategic
risk is close in nature to business risk, but focuses on largescale or structural risk
factors. Reputational risk is the risk arising from negative perception of SEB or the
industry in general.

Risk management
Business, strategic and reputational risks are inherent in doing business. Digitisa
tion of the banking industry is accelerating and new types of competitors are
emerging. The extensive new regulatory framework for banking and financial insti
tutions is significantly impacting the industry. Corporate sustainability plays an
increasingly important part of a company’s reputation. SEB continuously works to
mitigate business, strategic and reputational risks inmany ways, for example, with
regular strategic business reviews, proactive cost management, an agile stepby
step IT development approach, an ambitious corporate sustainability agenda and
active dialogues on regulatory matters.

17 e Insurance risk
Definition
Insurance risk in SEB consists of all risk related to the Group’s insurance operations.
SEB’s life insurance operations consist of unitlinked insurance and traditional life
insurance. Themain risks includemarket risk, underwriting risk and operational risk.

Market risk in the insurance business is the risk for losses on traditional life insur
ance policies with guaranteed benefits due to changes in fair value of assets and lia
bilities. Such changes in fair value can be caused by changes in interest rates, credit
spreads, equity prices, property values, exchange rates and implied volatilities.

Underwriting risk pertains to the risk of loss or of negative changes in the value
of insurance liabilities (technical provisions) due to inadequate pricing and/or provi
sioning assumptions. It includes factors such as averagemortality, longevity, disa
bility/morbidity (including risks that result from fluctuation in the timing and
amount of claim settlements), catastrophe risk (e.g., extreme or irregular events),
expense risk and lapse risk (i.e., policyholder behaviour risk).

Risk management and measurement
In unitlinked insurance, themarket risk is borne by the policyholder, while the
underwriting risk is limited. However, there is an indirect exposure tomarket risk
through the policyholders´ investments, since a significant part of the future
income stream of the life insurance business is based on assets under management.
Market risk in the traditional life insurance products with guaranteed returns is
mitigated through standardmarket risk hedging schemes andmonitored through
asset/liability management (ALM) riskmeasures and stress tests. This is supple
mented bymarket risk tools such as VaR and scenario analysis.

Underwriting risks are controlled through the use of actuarial analysis and stress
tests of the existing insurance portfolio. Mortality and disability/morbidity risks are
reinsured for large individual claims or for several claims attributable to the same

event. Underwriting risk parameters are validated annually. Policyholders within
certain traditional life insurance products are free tomove their policies from SEB.
The utilisation of this option has been very low historically. Nevertheless, to safe
guard against unplanned cash outflows the bankmaintains sufficient liquid invest
ments. Furthermore, continuous cash flow analysis is conducted tomitigate this risk.

In the traditional products, the difference between asset values and the guaran
teed obligations constitutes a buffer which is intended to cover SEB’s risk. In the unit
linked business, the profitability for existing and new business is closelymonitored,
and lookthrough of funds is implemented to the extent possible for better calcula
tion of capital requirements under the Solvency regime.

The risk organisation is responsible formeasuring and controlling the risks
inherent in SEB’s life insurance operations. Measurement andmonitoring of ALM
riskmeasures, VaR, scenario analysis and stress tests are performed on a regular
basis for each insurance company. The risk organisation also forms part of the inde
pendent riskmanagement function in the respective insurance companies from a
Solvency II perspective. Key risks are reported to the Group Risk Committee, the
Board’s Risk and Capital Committee and to the boards of each insurance company.

Solvency II, the new regulatory framework for insurance companies in the EU,
became operational from 1 January 2016. The purpose of Solvency II is to create a
harmonised regulatory framework with respect to governance, internal control and
capital requirements across Europe. Stress tests conducted during the first year
of Solvency II show that SEB’s life companies are financially strong and resilient to
different stresses. Solvency II calculations are performed at leastmonthly and the
required reporting is submitted to the financial supervisor in each relevant country
on a quarterly basis. Solvency figures are closelymonitored over time and the out
come has been in line with expectations.

17 f Liquidity risk
Definition
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group is unable to refinance its existing assets or is
unable tomeet the demand for additional liquidity. Liquidity risk also entails the risk
that the Group is forced to borrow at unfavourable rates or is forced to sell assets at
a loss in order tomeet its payment commitments.

Liquidity management and risk measurement
The Board of Directors has established a comprehensive framework for managing
the bank’s liquidity requirements in the short and longterm. The aim of SEB’s
liquidity risk management is to ensure that the Group has a controlled liquidity risk
situation, with adequate volumes of liquid assets in all relevant currencies tomeet
its liquidity requirements in all foreseeable circumstances, without incurring sub
stantial cost.

The liquidity risk is managed through the limits set by the Board which are further
allocated by the Group Risk Committee. Liquidity limits are set for the Group,
branches and specific legal entities, as well as for exposures in certain currencies.
The treasury function has the overall responsibility for liquidity management and
funding, supported by local treasury centres in the Group’s major markets. The risk
function regularly measures and reports limit utilisation based on different market
conditions and liquidity stress tests to the Group Risk Committee and the Board’s
Risk and Capital Committee.

Liquidity management and the structuring of the balance sheet from a liquidity
point of view are built on three basic perspectives: (i) the structural liquidity per
spective, in which stable funding is put in relation to illiquid assets; (ii) the bank’s
tolerance for shortterm stress in the form of a shutdown of the wholesale and

interbank fundingmarkets (wholesale funding dependence); and, (iii) the bank’s
tolerance to a severe stress scenario where, in addition to a shutdown of the funding
market, the bank experiences a severe outflow of deposits.

Structural liquidity risk
In order tomaintain a sound structural liquidity position, the structure of the liability
side should be based on the composition of assets. Themore longterm lending and
other illiquid assets, themore stable funding is required. In SEB, this is measured as
the Core Gap ratio, which is conceptually equivalent to the Basel Committee’s Net
Stable Funding Ratio (NSFR), i.e., a ratio between stable funding (over 1 year matu
rity) and illiquid assets (over 1 year maturity). The difference between the internal
Core Gap ratio and the external NSFR is that the Core Gap ratio is calculated and
parameterised on amore detailed level, based on internal statistics resulting in dif
ferent weightings of available stable funding and required stable funding.

Wholesale funding dependence
Oneway ofmeasuring tolerance for deterioratingmarket conditions is to assess the
time that SEB’s liquid assets would last if the wholesale and interbank fundingmar
kets were closed. Thismeasure, thematuring funding ratio, captures the bank’s liq
uid assets in relation towholesale funding and net interbank borrowings that come
tomaturity over the comingmonths, or as the number ofmonths it would take to de
plete the liquid assets in a scenario where all maturing fundingmust be repaid from
liquid assets.Wholesale funding dependence is alsomeasured as the loan to deposit
ratio, excluding repos and reclassified debt securities.
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Note 17 f continued Liquidity risk

Stressed survival horizon
Severe stress can bemodelled by combining assumptions of a wholesale funding
market shutdownwith assumptions of deposit outflows and drawdowns on com
mitments, etc. The outcome is captured by the regulatory defined Liquidity Cover
age Ratio (LCR) where, in a stressed scenario, modelled net outflows during a
30day period are related to the amount of total liquid assets. SEB alsomeasures
the time it would take for the liquid assets to be depleted in a severely stressed sce
nario, expressed as the stressed survival horizon. In addition, SEBmonitors various
rating agencies’ survival metrics.

Internal liquidity adequacy assessment process
Liquidity risk is not primarily mitigated by capital. However, there are strong links
between a bank’s capital and liquidity position. Hence, an internal liquidity ade
quacy assessment process (ILAAP) complements the ICAAP. The ILAAP is designed
to identify potential gaps against SEB’s longterm desired level of liquidity ade
quacy, taking into account that effective liquidity management is a continuous
process.

Liquidity reserve 1)

2016 2015

SEK EUR USD Other Total SEK EUR USD Other Total

Cash and holdings in central banks 61,808 83,837 55,755 16,409 217,809 25,136 53,378 46,678 8,459 133,651
Deposits in other banks available overnight 242 1,377 2,536 3,601 7,756 1,143 2,997 3,963 5,392 13,495
Securities issued or guaranteed by sovereigns,
central banks ormultilateral development banks 3,465 35,387 18,902 11,091 68,845 28,193 6,962 2,560 37,715
Securities issued or guaranteed bymunicipalities
or other public sector entities 5,307 3,347 7,411 171 16,236 6,687 18,937 8,650 194 34,468
Covered bonds issued by other institutions 52,419 1,274 193 49,731 103,617 53,974 4,874 69 64,372 123,289
Covered bonds issued by SEB 2,212 2,212 1,576 190 1,766
Securities issued by nonfinancial corporations 5,276 5,276 51 4,883 458 2 5,394
Securities issued by financial corporations
(not including covered bonds) 2,923 2,559 5,482 1,142 1,003 2,145

TOTAL 125,453 133,421 87,356 81,003 427,233 88,567 114,594 67,783 80,979 351,923

1) The liquidity reserve is presented in accordancewith the template defined by the Swedish Bankers’ Association. Assets included in the liquidity reserve should comply with the following: Assets shall be
under the control of the Treasury function in the bank, not be encumbered and be pledgeable with central banks. Furthermore, bonds shall have amaximum risk weight of 20%under the standardised
approach to credit risk of the Basel II framework and a lowest rating of Aa2/AA–. Assets are disclosed usingmarket values.

Liquidity riskmanagementmeasures

2016 2015

Core Gap ratio1) 114% 111%
Loan to deposit ratio 143% 146%
Liquidity Coverage Ratio (defined by the Swedish FSA) 168% 128%

1) Core Gap ratio represents the parent company, SEB AG (Germany), SEB Pank AS (Estonia), SEB Banka AS (Latvia) and SEB bankas AB (Lithuania).

Contractualmaturities

The following tables present cash flows by remaining contractual maturities at the
balance sheet date and applies the earliest date on which the Group can be required
to pay regardless of probability assumptions. The cash flows are not discounted.

Derivatives are reported at fair value. Offbalance sheet items such as loan commit
ments are reported as when the obligationmatures.
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Group, 2016

Balance sheet
(contractualmaturity dates)

Payable on
demand < 3months 1) 3–12months 1–5 years >5 years

Not
distributed Insurance2) Subtotal

Discount
effect Total

Cash and cash balanceswith
central banks 151,078 151,078 151,078
Loans to central banks 24 66,366 289 66,679 51 66,730
Loans to credit institutions 5,898 29,142 7,001 6,949 993 118 314 50,415 112 50,527
ofwhich eligible debt securities 380 380 2 382
ofwhich other debt securities
of which repos 795 117 912 2 914

General governments 476 1,428 7,385 19,763 4,164 1 33,217 1,613 34,830
Households 793 62,012 167,270 258,432 40,261 182 528,950 20,227 549,177
Corporates 44,124 161,309 148,752 375,423 101,650 3,211 834,469 34,543 869,012

Loans to the public 45,393 224,749 323,407 653,618 146,075 3,394 1,396,636 56,383 1,453,019
ofwhich eligible debt securities 9,614 2,697 12,311 385 12,696
ofwhich other debt securities 7 7 214 1,562 1,790 106 1,896
ofwhich repos 63,242 63,242 282 63,524

Debt securities 18,041 16,605 109,411 13,876 76,955 234,888 3,449 238,337
ofwhich eligible debt securities 5,296 8,267 46,779 9,534 43,805 113,681 1,710 115,391
ofwhich other debt securities 12,008 8,328 62,577 4,323 32,587 119,823 1,739 121,562

Equity instruments 43,436 30,737 74,173 74,173
Derivatives 41,208 24,972 50,328 39,429 56,418 212,355 212,355
Financial assets – policyholders
bearing the risk 295,908 295,908 295,908

Financial assets at fair value 59,249 41,577 159,739 53,305 43,436 460,018 817,324 3,449 820,773
Other 44 37,883 390 1,575 178 32,079 6,341 78,490 29 78,519
ofwhich other financial assets 36,717 14 44 52 3 126 36,956 29 36,985

Total assets 202,437 417,389 372,664 821,881 200,551 79,027 466,673 2,560,622 60,024 2,620,646
ofwhich accrued interest loans 2,093 2,093 2,093
ofwhich accrued interest debt
securities 1,516 1,516 1,516

Deposits fromcentral banks
and credit institutions 25,058 61,155 20,449 2,180 2,234 8,892 119,968 –104 119,864
ofwhich repos 737 118 855 855

General governments 26,590 2,884 1,676 438 4,255 35,843 –113 35,730
Households 239,979 29,446 6,214 1,135 2 276,776 –52 276,724
Corporates 536,292 64,501 9,111 23,609 16,749 650,262 –688 649,574

Deposits and borrowings
from the public 802,861 96,831 17,001 25,182 21,006 962,881 –853 962,028
ofwhich deposits 369,042 69,732 6,271 2,815 9,253 457,113 –324 456,789
ofwhich borrowing 1,067 9 13 159 1,248 –5 1,243
ofwhich repos 740 740 –1 739

Liabilities to policyholders 296,618 296,618 296,618
Certificates 47 61,960 62,700 2,826 127,533 –1,058 126,475
Covered bonds 1,366 44,857 257,656 36,727 340,606 –13,621 326,985
Other bonds3) 8,519 21,004 181,004 13,141 223,668 –8,248 215,420

Debt securities issued 47 71,845 128,561 441,486 49,868 691,807 –22,927 668,880
Debt securities 155 53 6,270 3,661 10,139 –590 9,549
Equity instruments 10,071 10,071 10,071
Derivatives 41,687 21,073 41,146 24,203 46,542 174,651 174,651
Other liabilities 1,338 1,656 16,378 19,372 –147 19,225

Financial liabilities at fair value 43,180 22,782 63,794 27,864 10,071 46,542 214,233 –737 213,496
Other 97 41,826 259 598 2,128 20,735 112,459 178,102 –37 178,065
ofwhich other financial liabilities 38,768 54 282 1,240 2 76 40,422 –37 40,385

Subordinated liabilities 510 52,231 52,741 –12,022 40,719
Equity 140,976 140,976 140,976

Total Liabilities and Equity 828,063 315,347 189,052 533,240 155,331 171,782 464,511 2,657,326 –36,680 2,620,646
ofwhich accrued interest deposits
and borrowing 1,971 1,971 1,971
ofwhich accrued interest issued
securities 4,772 4,772 4,772

Offbalance sheet items

Loan commitments 12,715 116,411 38,625 228,258 23,420 419,429 419,429
Acceptances and other
financial facilities 49,228 26,064 15,771 20,436 39 111,538 111,538
Operating lease commitments 109 286 441 912 44 1,792 1,792

Total liabilities, equity and
off-balance sheet items 840,887 481,272 254,182 778,181 199,231 171,821 464,511 3,190,085 –36,680 3,153,405
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Group, 2015

Balance sheet
(contractualmaturity dates)

Payable on
demand < 3months 1) 3–12months 1–5 years >5 years

Not
distributed Insurance2) Subtotal

Discount
effect Total

Cash and cash balances
with central banks 101,429 101,429 101,429
Loans to central banks 20 32,053 123 32,196 26 32,222
Loans to credit institutions 10,095 28,038 8,014 7,746 1,328 3,188 58,409 133 58,542
ofwhich eligible debt securities 1,046 357 1,403 12 1,415
ofwhich other debt securities 95 1,281 1,376 10 1,386
ofwhich repos 1,754 1,754 1 1,755

General governments 5,129 3,796 11,093 17,953 7,022 44,993 2,211 47,204
Households 721 67,434 143,604 261,702 35,434 508,895 21,447 530,342
Corporates 41,159 159,950 142,936 311,085 87,999 743,129 32,711 775,840

Loans to the public 47,009 231,180 297,633 590,740 130,455 1,297,017 56,369 1,353,386
ofwhich eligible debt securities 432 1,368 5,663 5,736 13,199 612 13,811
ofwhich other debt securities 7 196 717 2,965 3,885 253 4,138
ofwhich repos 58,274 1 58,275 285 58,560

Debt securities 59,852 21,240 111,647 14,343 67,452 274,534 4,408 278,942
ofwhich eligible debt securities 49,495 4,432 30,189 6,544 38,992 129,652 1,480 131,132
ofwhich other debt securities 9,366 16,800 81,319 7,757 27,879 143,121 2,928 146,049

Equity instruments 82,058 16,149 98,207 98,207
Derivatives 45,396 20,982 59,919 51,504 37,750 215,551 215,551
Financial assets – policyholders
bearing the risk 271,613 271,613 271,613

Financial assets at fair value 105,248 42,222 171,566 65,847 82,058 392,964 859,905 4,408 864,313
Other 36,637 74 1,551 136 26,867 20,778 86,043 29 86,072
ofwhich other financial assets 35,336 10 73 19 10 113 35,561 29 35,590

Total assets 158,553 433,156 348,066 771,603 197,766 108,925 416,930 2,434,999 60,965 2,495,964
ofwhich accrued interest loans 1,895 1,895 1,895
ofwhich accrued interest debt
securities 2,011 2,011 2,011

Deposits fromcentral banks
and credit institutions 30,419 54,186 27,979 2,303 2,641 1,103 118,631 –125 118,506
ofwhich repos 1,569 877 2,446 –1 2,445

General governments 17,456 5,197 1,953 189 4,736 29,531 –139 29,392
Households 217,057 34,859 8,175 1,499 4 261,594 –72 261,522
Corporates 452,066 83,953 11,799 28,136 17,777 593,731 –860 592,871

Deposits and borrowings
from the public 686,579 124,009 21,927 29,824 22,517 884,856 –1,071 883,785
ofwhich deposits 303,497 87,287 9,666 2,817 9,664 412,931 –397 412,534
ofwhich borrowing 7,501 1 20 185 7,707 –12 7,695
ofwhich repos 7,171 7,171 –7 7,164

Liabilities to policyholders 271,995 271,995 271,995
Certificates 113,283 30,709 2,869 168 45 147,074 –931 146,143
Covered bonds 12,536 48,196 226,149 50,382 337,263 –14,216 323,047
Other bonds3) 10,975 18,287 130,654 17,278 177,194 –6,940 170,254

Issued securities 136,794 97,192 359,672 67,828 45 661,531 –22,087 639,444
Debt securities 128 111 5,720 5,222 11,181 –739 10,442
Equity instruments 12,927 12,927 12,927
Derivatives 47,062 19,572 51,197 36,781 35,427 190,039 190,039
Other liabilities 15,757 1,640 17,397 –20 17,377

Financial liabilities at fair value 62,947 21,323 56,917 42,003 12,927 35,427 231,544 –759 230,785
Other 43,096 297 740 1,964 25,836 105,387 177,320 –41 177,279
ofwhich other financial liabilities 39,383 94 481 1,140 2 87 41,187 –41 41,146

Subordinated liabilities 802 40,256 41,058 –9,686 31,372
Equity 142,798 142,798 142,798

Total Liabilities and Equity 716,998 421,834 168,718 449,456 177,209 181,606 413,912 2,529,733 –33,769 2,495,964
ofwhich accrued interest deposits
and borrowing 2,330 2,330 2,330
ofwhich accrued interest issued
securities 7,256 7,256 7,256

Offbalance sheet items

Loan commitments 227,039 25,062 201,840 29,235 483,176 483,176
Acceptances and other
financial facilities 53,591 30,407 13,851 21,484 119,333 119,333
Operating lease commitments 250 863 843 156 2,112 2,112

Total liabilities, equity and
off-balance sheet items 716,998 702,714 225,050 665,990 228,084 181,606 413,912 3,134,354 –33,769 3,100,585

1) Includes items available overnight.
2) The cash flows from insurance assets aremonitored on a regular basis in order to be sufficient tomeet the cash flows from the insurance liabilities at all times.
3) The Group issues equity index linked bonds, which contains both a liability and an equity component. The Group has chosen to designate issued equity index linked bonds, with fair values amounting to

SEK 30,992m (34,774), as at fair value through profit or loss, since they contain embedded derivatives. The corresponding amounts for the parent company are SEK 28,940m (32,315). This choice implies
that the entire hybrid contract ismeasured at fair value through profit or loss. Fair value for those financial instruments is calculated using a valuation technique, exclusively based on quotedmarket prices.
The Group’s contractual liability is SEK 28,871m (32,356) and for the parent company SEK 27,111m (30,199). The accumulated impact from reflecting the Group’s own credit standing in the fair valuemeas
urement amounts to SEK 230m (177), of which SEK –53m (–417) relates to 2016. The corresponding amount for the parent company is SEK 148m (98), of which SEK –50m (–371) relates to 2016.
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Parent company, 2016

Balance sheet
(contractualmaturity dates)

Payable on
demand < 3months 1) 3–12months 1–5 years >5 years

Not
distributed Subtotal

Discount
effect Total

Cash and cash balanceswith central banks 70,805 70,805 –134 70,671
Loans to credit institutions 21,453 173,899 34,792 57,157 205 287,506 –447 287,059
ofwhich other debt securities
of which repos 1,237 1,237 –1 1,236

General governments 192 491 1,402 7,175 176 9,436 –354 9,082
Households 749 48,479 167,027 262,740 12,472 491,467 –15,195 476,272
Corporates 46,693 146,375 126,379 320,381 71,977 711,805 –25,064 686,741

Loans to the public 47,634 195,345 294,808 590,296 84,625 1,212,708 –40,613 1,172,095
ofwhich eligible debt securities 6,992 6,992 –302 6,690
ofwhich other debt securities 229 1,872 2,101 –220 1,881
ofwhich repos 63,809 63,809 –286 63,523

Debt securities 14,232 12,378 95,325 12,287 134,222 –2,901 131,321
ofwhich eligible debt securities 2,835 3,939 27,282 7,400 41,456 –1,057 40,399
ofwhich other debt securities 10,733 8,439 67,986 4,887 92,045 –1,784 90,261

Equity instruments 93,775 93,775 93,775
Derivatives 41,897 25,173 54,028 38,675 159,773 159,773

Financial assets at fair value 56,129 37,551 149,353 50,962 93,775 387,770 –2,901 384,869
Other 36,507 77 267 585 47,714 85,150 85,150
ofwhich other financial assets 36,507 77 267 585 37,436 37,436

Total assets 139,892 461,880 367,228 797,073 136,377 141,489 2,043,939 –44,095 1,999,844
ofwhich accrued interest loans 1,627 1,627 1,627
ofwhich accrued interest debt securities 793 793 793

Deposits by credit institutions 63,648 62,763 27,022 13,539 2,326 169,298 –446 168,852
ofwhich repos 738 738 –1 737

General governments 21,110 109 338 229 2,179 23,965 –75 23,890
Households 195,909 12,432 1,674 420 210,435 –408 210,027
Corporates 481,242 54,574 4,450 2,549 6,971 549,786 –1,119 548,667

Deposits and borrowings
from the public 698,261 67,115 6,462 3,198 9,150 784,186 –1,602 782,584
ofwhich deposits 698,261 66,048 6,462 3,198 9,150 783,119 –1,601 781,518
ofwhich borrowing 1,066 1,066 –1 1,065
ofwhich repos 739 739 739

Certificates 61,939 62,704 2,825 127,468 –1,104 126,364
Covered bonds 1,366 44,878 255,635 36,682 338,561 –14,123 324,438
Other bonds1) 8,417 20,942 181,042 11,413 221,814 –8,430 213,384

Issued securities 71,722 128,524 439,502 48,095 687,843 –23,657 664,186
Debt securities 178 29 6,037 3,305 9,549 9,549
Equity instruments 10,072 10,072 10,072
Derivatives 42,400 21,163 45,391 24,879 133,833 133,833
Other liabilities 1,313 1,675 16,236 19,224 19,224

Financial liabilities at fair value 43,891 22,867 67,664 28,184 10,072 172,678 172,678
Other 37,845 22 9,823 47,690 47,690
ofwhich other financial liabilities 37,845 22 37,867 37,867

Subordinated liabilities 510 54,143 54,653 –13,934 40,719
Untaxed reserves 21,761 21,761 21,761
Equity 101,374 101,374 101,374

Total Liabilities and Equity 761,909 283,846 184,897 523,903 141,898 143,030 2,039,483 –39,639 1,999,844
ofwhich accrued interest deposits and borrowing 1,223 1,223 1,223
ofwhich accrued interest issued securities 4,768 4,768 4,768

Offbalance sheet items

Loan commitments 43,549 33,522 189,699 19,467 286,237 286,237
Acceptances and other financial facilities 38,577 16,968 8,398 10,470 74,413 74,413

Total liabilities, equity and
off-balance sheet items 761,909 365,972 235,387 722,000 171,835 143,030 2,400,133 –39,639 2,360,494
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Note 17 f continued Liquidity risk

Parent company, 2015

Balance sheet
(contractualmaturity dates)

Payable on
demand < 3months 1) 3–12months 1–5 years >5 years

Not
distributed Subtotal

Discount
effect Total

Cash and cash balanceswith central banks 55,857 55,857 –145 55,712
Loans to credit institutions 22,065 65,167 26,608 52,805 116 166,761 –494 166,267
ofwhich other debt securities 95 1,294 1,389 –3 1,386
ofwhich repos 1,439 1,439 –1 1,438

General governments 177 905 2,389 4,981 2,691 11,143 –589 10,554
Households 674 53,743 144,060 269,468 10,738 478,683 –15,929 462,754
Corporates 42,342 142,443 113,298 265,689 66,491 630,263 –23,133 607,130

Loans to the public 43,193 197,091 259,747 540,138 79,920 1,120,089 –39,651 1,080,438
ofwhich eligible debt securities 1,399 4,336 2,608 8,343 –527 7,816
ofwhich other debt securities 194 757 3,628 4,579 –468 4,111
ofwhich repos 58,836 58,836 –281 58,555

Debt securities 57,770 20,157 97,449 11,813 187,189 –4,955 182,234
ofwhich eligible debt securities 47,836 3,415 19,823 5,101 76,175 –1,383 74,792
ofwhich other debt securities 8,952 16,743 77,626 6,712 110,033 –3,570 106,463

Equity instruments 117,464 117,464 117,464
Derivatives 45,894 21,024 59,850 54,238 181,006 181,006

Financial assets at fair value 103,664 41,181 157,299 66,051 117,464 485,659 –4,955 480,704
Other 35,049 278 469 208 47,480 83,484 83,484
ofwhich other financial assets 35,049 278 469 208 36,004 36,004

Total assets 121,115 400,971 327,814 750,711 146,295 164,944 1,911,850 –45,245 1,866,605
ofwhich accrued interest loans 1,482 1,482 1,482
ofwhich accrued interest debt securities 1,161 1,161 1,161

Deposits by credit institutions 34,253 55,666 30,024 10,180 5,032 135,155 –339 134,816
ofwhich repos 1,569 1,569 –1 1,568

General governments 7,097 487 951 83 2,455 11,073 –53 11,020
Households 177,306 19,896 3,136 507 200,845 –389 200,456
Corporates 392,036 72,649 5,449 2,580 7,095 479,809 –984 478,825

Deposits and borrowings from
the public 576,439 93,032 9,536 3,170 9,550 691,727 –1,426 690,301
ofwhich deposits 576,439 85,537 9,536 3,170 9,550 684,232 –1,423 682,809
ofwhich borrowing 7,496 7,496 –4 7,492
ofwhich repos 7,168 7,168 –4 7,164

Certificates 113,437 30,718 2,871 175 147,201 –1,315 145,886
Covered bonds 12,102 46,977 227,281 52,235 338,595 –19,885 318,710
Other bonds2) 10,919 18,155 132,395 15,871 177,340 –9,533 167,807

Issued securities 136,458 95,850 362,547 68,281 663,136 –30,733 632,403
Debt securities 127 109 5,340 4,703 10,279 10,279
Equity instruments 12,831 12,831 12,831
Derivatives 49,096 19,694 52,404 41,110 162,304 162,304
Other liabilities 15,742 1,635 17,377 17,377

Financial liabilities at fair value 64,965 21,438 57,744 45,813 12,831 202,791 202,791
Other 39,028 17 9 14,622 53,676 53,676
ofwhich other financial liabilities 39,028 17 9 39,054 39,054

Subordinated liabilities 802 41,317 42,119 –10,747 31,372
Untaxed reserves 23,466 23,466 23,466
Equity 97,780 97,780 97,780

Total Liabilities and Equity 610,692 389,951 156,865 433,650 169,993 148,699 1,909,850 –43,245 1,866,605
ofwhich accrued interest deposits and borrowing 1,205 1,205 1,205
ofwhich accrued interest issued securities 5,837 5,837 5,837

Offbalance sheet items

Loan commitments 140,699 20,687 163,462 26,072 350,920 350,920
Acceptances and other financial facilities 43,353 19,425 9,256 14,274 86,308 86,308

Total liabilities, equity and
off-balance sheet items 610,692 574,003 196,977 606,368 210,339 148,699 2,347,078 –43,245 2,303,833

1) Includes items available overnight.
2) The Group issues equity index linked bonds, which contains both a liability and an equity component. The Group has chosen to designate issued equity index linked bonds, with fair values amounting to

SEK 30,992m (34,774), as at fair value through profit or loss, since they contain embedded derivatives. The corresponding amounts for the parent company are SEK 28,940m (32,315). This choice implies
that the entire hybrid contract ismeasured at fair value through profit or loss. Fair value for those financial instruments is calculated using a valuation technique, exclusively based on quotedmarket prices.
The Group’s contractual liability is SEK 28,871m (32,356) and for the parent company SEK 27,111m (30,199). The accumulated impact from reflecting the Group’s own credit standing in the fair valuemeas
urement amounts to SEK 230m (177), of which SEK –53m (–417) relates to 2016. The corresponding amount for the parent company is SEK 148m (98), of which SEK –50m (–371) relates to 2016.



115

Notes Financial statements

SEB Annual Report 2016

Note 17 f continued Liquidity risk

Group Parent company

Average remainingmaturity (years) 2016 2015 2016 2015

Loans to credit institutions 0.78 0.78 0.81 1.27
Loans to the public 2.72 2.65 2.36 2.35
Deposits from credit institutions 0.41 0.48 0.83 1.05
Deposits from the public 0.24 0.29 1.32 1.12
Borrowing from the public 1.39 0.36 0.13 0.13
Certificates 0.43 0.29 0.43 0.29
Covered bonds 3.38 3.52 3.37 3.52
Other bonds 3.04 3.20 2.99 3.13

18 Cash and cash equivalents
Group Parent company

2016 2015 2016 2015

Cash 1,957 2,075 156 168
Cash balances at central banks 149,121 99,354 70,515 55,544
Other demand deposits 1) 7,237 9,341 21,261 21,781

TOTAL 158,315 110,770 91,932 77,493

1) Balance receivables on demandwith credit institutions.

19 Loans
Group Parent company

2016 2015 2016 2015

Loans to credit institutions 1) 50,527 58,542 287,059 166,267
Loans to the public 1) 1,453,019 1,353,386 1,172,095 1,080,438

TOTAL 1,503,546 1,411,928 1,459,154 1,246,705

1) Including debt instruments classified as Loans.

Loans

Performing loans 1,500,692 1,408,779 1,457,416 1,245,585

Individually assessed impaired loans 5,037 4,900 3,228 2,060
Portfolio assessed loans, past due > 60 days 2,597 2,922 720 805
Portfolio assessed loans, restructured 9 205

Nonperforming loans 7,643 8,027 3,948 2,865

Loans prior to reserves 1,508,335 1,416,806 1,461,364 1,248,450

Specific reserves for individually assessed loans –1,928 –2,044 –1,044 –775
Collective reserves for individually assessed loans –1,539 –1,304 –908 –698
Collective reserves for portfolio assessed loans –1,322 –1,530 –258 –272

Reserves –4,789 –4,878 –2,210 –1,745

TOTAL 1,503,546 1,411,928 1,459,154 1,246,705

Specific and collective reserves –4,789 –4,878 –2,210 –1,745
Contingent liabilities reserves –44 –81 –22

TOTALRESERVES –4,833 –4,959 –2,210 –1,767

Gross level of impaired loans 0.33% 0.35% 0.22% 0.17%
Net level of impaired loans 0.21% 0.20% 0.15% 0.10%
Specific reserve ratio for individually assessed impaired loans 38.3% 41.7% 32.3% 37.6%
Total reserve ratio for individually assessed impaired loans 68.8% 68.3% 60.5% 71.5%
Reserve ratio for collectively assessed loans 50.7% 48.9% 35.8% 33.8%
NPL coverage ratio 63.2% 61.8% 56.0% 61.7%
NPL per cent of lending 0.5% 0.6% 0.3% 0.2%
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Loans by category of borrower

Group, 2016
Credit

institutions Corporates
Property

Management
Public

Administration Households Total

Performing loans 50,527 567,810 299,617 34,835 547,903 1,500,692

Individually assessed impaired loans 3,812 1,066 159 5,037
Portfolio assessed loans, past due > 60 days 163 2,434 2,597
Portfolio assessed loans, restructured 9 9

Nonperforming loans 3,975 1,066 2,602 7,643

Loans prior to reserves 50,527 571,785 300,683 34,835 550,505 1,508,335

Specific reserves for individually assessed impaired loans –1,391 –441 –96 –1,928
Collective reserves for individually assessed loans –1,446 –86 –5 –2 –1,539
Collective reserves for portfolio assessed loans –91 –1,231 –1,322

Reserves –2,928 –527 –5 –1,329 –4,789

TOTAL 50,527 568,857 300,156 34,830 549,176 1,503,546

2015

Performing loans 58,548 506,221 267,997 47,211 528,802 1,408,779

Individually assessed impaired loans 1 3,065 1,657 177 4,900
Portfolio assessed loans, past due > 60 days 229 2,693 2,922
Portfolio assessed loans, restructured 205 205

Nonperforming loans 1 3,294 1,657 3,075 8,027

Loans prior to reserves 58,549 509,515 269,654 47,211 531,877 1,416,806

Specific reserves for individually assessed impaired loans –1,243 –696 –105 –2,044
Collective reserves for individually assessed loans –7 –1,192 –90 –8 –7 –1,304
Collective reserves for portfolio assessed loans –107 –1,423 –1,530

Reserves –7 –2,542 –786 –8 –1,535 –4,878

TOTAL 58,542 506,973 268,868 47,203 530,342 1,411,928

Parent company, 2016
Credit

institutions Corporates
Property

Management
Public

Administration Households Total

Performing loans 286,936 440,508 245,092 9,086 475,794 1,457,416

Individually assessed impaired loans 123 2,856 187 62 3,228
Portfolio assessed loans, past due > 60 days 720 720

Nonperforming loans 123 2,856 187 782 3,948

Loans prior to reserves 287,059 443,364 245,279 9,086 476,576 1,461,364

Specific reserves for individually assessed impaired loans –880 –118 –46 –1,044
Collective reserves for individually assessed loans –904 –4 –908
Collective reserves for portfolio assessed loans –258 –258

Reserves –1,784 –118 –4 –304 –2,210

TOTAL 287,059 441,580 245,161 9,082 476,272 1,459,154

2015

Performing loans 166,137 403,552 203,127 10,562 462,207 1,245,585

Individually assessed impaired loans 137 1,715 153 55 2,060
Portfolio assessed loans, past due > 60 days 805 805

Nonperforming loans 137 1,715 153 860 2,865

Loans prior to reserves 166,274 405,267 203,280 10,562 463,067 1,248,450

Specific reserves for individually assessed impaired loans –612 –122 –41 –775
Collective reserves for individually assessed loans –7 –682 –5 –4 –698
Collective reserves for portfolio assessed loans –272 –272

Reserves –7 –1,294 –127 –4 –313 –1,745

TOTAL 166,267 403,973 203,153 10,558 462,754 1,246,705
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Loans by geographical region 1)

Group, 2016
TheNordic

region Germany
The Baltic

region Other Total

Performing loans 1,218,235 113,641 115,771 53,045 1,500,692

Individually assessed impaired loans 2,967 463 1,469 138 5,037
Portfolio assessed loans, past due > 60 days 1,310 1,287 2,597
Portfolio assessed loans, restructured 9 9

Nonperforming loans 4,277 463 2,765 138 7,643

Loans prior to reserves 1,222,512 114,104 118,536 53,183 1,508,335

Specific reserves for individually assessed impaired loans –985 –158 –748 –37 –1,928
Collective reserves for individually assessed loans –1,108 –69 –236 –126 –1,539
Collective reserves for portfolio assessed loans –535 –787 –1,322

Reserves –2,628 –227 –1,771 –163 –4,789

TOTAL 1,219,884 113,877 116,765 53,020 1,503,546

2015

Performing loans 1,126,933 126,751 104,654 50,441 1,408,779

Individually assessed impaired loans 1,849 910 2,067 74 4,900
Portfolio assessed loans, past due > 60 days 1,414 1,508 2,922
Portfolio assessed loans, restructured 205 205

Nonperforming loans 3,263 910 3,780 74 8,027

Loans prior to reserves 1,130,196 127,661 108,434 50,515 1,416,806

Specific reserves for individually assessed impaired loans –696 –357 –963 –28 –2,044
Collective reserves for individually assessed loans –923 –73 –199 –109 –1,304
Collective reserves for portfolio assessed loans –554 –976 –1,530

Reserves –2,173 –430 –2,138 –137 –4,878

TOTAL 1,128,023 127,231 106,296 50,378 1,411,928

Parent company, 2016
TheNordic

region Germany
The Baltic

region Other Total

Performing loans 1,413,794 43,622 1,457,416

Individually assessed impaired loans 2,967 261 3,228
Portfolio assessed loans, past due > 60 days 720 720

Nonperforming loans 3,687 261 3,948

Loans prior to reserves 1,417,481 43,883 1,461,364

Specific reserves for individually assessed impaired loans –932 –112 –1,044
Collective reserves for individually assessed loans –783 –125 –908
Collective reserves for portfolio assessed loans –258 –258

Reserves –1,973 –237 –2,210

TOTAL 1,415,508 43,646 1,459,154

2015

Performing loans 1,205,329 40,256 1,245,585

Individually assessed impaired loans 1,849 211 2,060
Portfolio assessed loans, past due > 60 days 805 805

Nonperforming loans 2,654 211 2,865

Loans prior to reserves 1,207,983 40,467 1,248,450

Specific reserves for individually assessed impaired loans –663 –112 –775
Collective reserves for individually assessed loans –589 –109 –698
Collective reserves for portfolio assessed loans –272 –272

Reserves –1,524 –221 –1,745

TOTAL 1,206,459 40,246 1,246,705

1) The geographical distribution is based onwhere loans are booked.
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Past due loans that are not impaired

Group Parent company

2016 Corporates Households Other Total Corporates Households Other Total

< 30 days 3,967 1,609 21 5,597 2,981 341 1 3,323
31 – 60 days 836 671 11 1,518 726 414 1,140
>60 days1) 517 286 803 213 41 254

TOTAL 5,320 2,566 32 7,918 3,920 796 1 4,717

2015

< 30 days 3,071 1,764 24 4,859 1,602 345 8 1,955
31 – 60 days 463 744 1 1,208 184 367 551
>60 days1) 411 94 1 506 227 13 240

TOTAL 3,945 2,602 26 6,573 2,013 725 8 2,746

1) Excluding portfolio assessed loans past duemore than 60 days which are included in previous table.

Reserves, Group

Loans to credit institutions Loans to the public Total

Specific loan loss reserves 1) 2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015

Opening balance 0 –1 –2,044 –2,833 –2,044 –2,834
Reversals for utilisation 1 584 1,300 584 1,301
Provisions –734 –1,058 –734 –1,058
Reversals 338 507 338 507
Exchange rate differences –72 40 –72 40

Closing balance 0 0 –1,928 –2,044 –1,928 –2,044

1) Specific reserves for individually appraised loans.

Collective loan loss reserves 2)

Opening balance –7 –7 –2,827 –3,316 –2,834 –3,323
Net provisions 7 35 436 42 436
Exchange rate differences 0 –69 53 –69 53

Closing balance 0 –7 –2,861 –2,827 –2,861 –2,834

2) Collective reserves for individually appraised loans, reserves for loans
assessed on a portfolio basis and country risk reserves.

Contingent liabilities reserves

Opening balance –81 –87 –81 –87
Net provisions 43 3 43 3
Reversal for utilisation 0 5 0 5
Exchange rate differences –6 –2 –6 –2

Closing balance –44 –81 –44 –81

TOTAL 0 –7 –4,833 –4,952 –4,833 –4,959
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Reserves, parent company

Loans to credit institutions Loans to the public Total

Specific loan loss reserves 1) 2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015

Opening balance 0 –2 –775 –1,384 –775 –1,386
Reversals for utilisation 2 60 695 60 697
Provisions –407 –431 –407 –431
Reversals 102 360 102 360
Exchange rate differences –24 –15 –24 –15

Closing balance 0 0 –1,044 –775 –1,044 –775

1) Specific reserves for individually appraised loans.

Collective loan loss reserves 2)

Opening balance –8 –7 –962 –785 –970 –792
Net provisions 7 –195 –165 –188 –165
Exchange rate differences 1 –1 –9 –12 –8 –13

Closing balance 0 –8 –1,166 –962 –1 166 –970

2) Collective reserves for individually appraised loans, reserves for loans
assessed on a portfolio basis and country risk reserves.

Contingent liabilities reserves

Opening balance –22 0 –22 0
Net provisions 22 –22 22 –22

Closing balance 0 –22 0 –22

TOTAL 0 –8 –2,210 –1,759 –2 210 –1,767

Forborne loans

Group Parent company

2016 2015 2016 2015

Total forborne loans 11,990 11,980 6,927 5,399
ofwhich performing1) 6,327 5,096 3,883 2,031

1) According to EBA definition.
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20 Capital adequacy
Capital management
SEB takes various types of risks in line with the bank’s strategy and business plan.
In order to sustain these risks and guarantee SEB’s longterm survival, the bank
must maintain satisfactory capital strength. At the same time, SEBmust balance
the tradeoff between financial reward and overall risk tolerance. In particular,
SEB’s capital management balances the following dimensions:
1. regulatory: theminimum capital levels, and the supervisory expectation that

banks operate safely above this minimum level, established by the EU directives
through Swedish law on capital adequacy,

2. access to debt investors: the capitalisation level required to support a certain
rating level in order to reach a debt investor base necessary for conducting SEB’s
business activities,

3. access to financial products: the capital level required by corporate clients and
other counterparties to facilitate the bank’s activity in the capital markets,
including derivatives and foreign exchange, and

4. optimal return on equity: the balance between the shareholders’ expected return
on capital and risks taken.

Tomeet expectations of shareholders, supervisors andmarket participants, SEB’s
capitalisation is based on an assessment of all risks incurred in SEB’s business,
and forwardlooking, aligned with long and shortterm business plans and with
expectedmacroeconomic developments. Furthermore, the capitalisation is stress
tested to identify the potential effect of adverse changes to SEB’s financial situation.

Internal capital adequacy assessment process
The internal capital adequacy assessment process (ICAAP) encompasses SEB’s
internal views onmaterial risks and their development as well as risk measurement
models, risk governance and risk mitigants. It is linked to overall business planning
and establishes a strategy for maintaining appropriate capital levels. Together with
continuous monitoring and reporting of the capital adequacy to the Board, this
ensures that the relationship between shareholders’ equity, economic capital, regu
latory and ratingbased requirements aremanaged so that the bank’s survival is not
jeopardised. Thus, the ICAAP is integrated with SEB’s business planning, internal
governance framework and internal control systems.

SEB’s capital plan covers the strategic planning horizon and projects economic
and legal capital requirements, as well as available capital resources and relevant
ratios. It is forwardlooking, taking into account current and planned business vol
umes as well as strategic initiatives. The capital plan is stress tested to potential
downturns in themacroeconomic environment, to strategic risk factors identified
in the business planning, and to other relevant scenarios. The capital plan is estab
lished annually, and updated as needs arise during the year.

Economic capital constitutes an important part of capital adequacy assessment.
It is an internal measurement of risk, similar to the rules for capital adequacy in that
many of the underlying risk components are the same. The economic capital calcu
lation is based on a confidence level of 99.97 per cent, which is equivalent to the
capital requirement for a very high rating. The economic capital or internally
assessed capital requirement for SEB Group including insurance risk amounted
to SEK 63bn (59).

SEB employs an internal capital allocation framework for measuring return on
risk, named business equity. It is similar to regulatory capital models including
Pillar 2 requirements and is calibrated with SEB’s capital targets.

The regulatory supervisors annually assess SEB and its ICAAP in accordance
with the parameters of the Supervisory Review and Evaluation Process (SREP).
The assessment covers SEB’s capital adequacy, risk measurementmodels and risk
governance, among other things, and in the SREP 2016 it was concluded that SEB
is sufficiently capitalised and adequately measures andmanages risks.

Regulatory requirements
The requirements have evolved in the last few years, both in terms of which risks
that are covered and in terms of the capital base components. The regulatory capi
tal requirements are split in to Pillar 1 (general minimum requirements for all insti
tutions) and Pillar 2 (requirements based on an individual assessment of each
institution).

Pillar 1 requirements for CET1 is expressed as a REA ratio requirement and
consists of the following components:
i) a legal minimum requirement of 4.5 per cent,
ii) a capital conservation buffer of 2.5 per cent,
iii) a systemic risk buffer of 3.0 per cent, and
iv) countercyclical buffers applied by the regulators in Sweden and Norway,

together amounting to around 0.7 per cent for SEB.With effect fromMarch
2017 the countercyclical buffer on Swedish exposures will be increased to
2 per cent.

The total Pillar 1 CET1 capital requirement for SEB is at present 10.7 per cent.

As opposed to Pillar 1, the Pillar 2 requirements for CET1 are not calculated as a per
centage of the total REA. As a result, the Pillar 2 requirements, expressed as capital
ratio requirements (except the systemic risk requirement), are likely to vary in rela
tion to REA over time. The Pillar 2 requirements consist of the following components:
v) specific own funds requirement for systemic risk (“Systemic risk requirement”)

expressed as a pure CET1 ratio requirement of 2.0 per cent;
vi) risk weight floor for Swedish residential mortgages. The requirement corre

sponds to a capital requirement on the difference between REA using a 25 per
cent risk weight on residential mortgage loans and actual Pillar 1 REA for these
loans (where the risk weight for SEB is around 5 per cent, based on internal
models), and

vii) other specific risks. The risks currently identified by the Swedish FSA that apply
to all Swedish banks are a) credit concentration risks, b) interest rate risk in the
banking book, c) pension risk, d) sovereign credit risk and e) risks related to
corporate exposure. In addition to this, SEBspecific requirements for other
risks can be added as part of the SREP.

Together with the Pillar 2 CET1 capital requirements SEB’s total CET1 capital
requirements currently amounts to 16.9 per cent.

Ratio requirement (explicit or implicit)

Pillar 1 CET1 AT1 Tier 2 Total

Minimum requirement 4.5% 1.5% 2.0% 8.0%
Capital conservation buffer 2.5% 2.5%
Systemic risk buffer 3.0% 3.0%

Subtotal 10.0% 1.5% 2.0% 13.5%

Countercyclical buffer 0.7% 0.7%

TOTAL 10.7% 1.5% 2.0% 14.2%

Pillar 2 CET1 AT1 Tier 2 Total

Systemic risk requirement 2.0% 2.0%
Mortgage floor 1.9% 0.2% 0.3% 2.4%
Credit concentration risk 0.4% 0.0% 0.1% 0.5%
Interest rate risk in the banking book 0.4% 0.1% 0.1% 0.6%
Pension risk 0.6% 0.1% 0.1% 0.8%
Sovereign risk 0.1% 0.0% 0.0% 0.1%
Corporate exposures – PD scale 0.4% 0.1% 0.1% 0.6%
Corporate exposures –maturity floor 0.4% 0.0% 0.0% 0.4%

TOTAL 6.2% 0.5% 0.7% 7.4%

Total requirement 16.9% 2.0% 2.7% 21.6%
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Capital adequacy analysis

Consolidated situation Parent company

2016 2015 2016 2015

Own funds
Common Equity Tier 1 capital 114,419 107,535 97,144 91,951
Tier 1 capital 129,157 121,391 111,882 105,806
Total own funds 151,491 135,782 134,384 119,472

Own funds requirement
Risk exposure amount 609,959 570,840 515,826 478,376
Expressed as own funds requirement 48,797 45,667 41,266 38,270
Common Equity Tier 1 capital ratio 18.8% 18.8% 18.8% 19.2%
Tier 1 capital ratio 21.2% 21.3% 21.7% 22.1%
Total capital ratio 24.8% 23.8% 26.1% 25.0%

Own funds in relation to own funds requirement 3.10 2.97 3.26 3.12

Regulatory Common Equity Tier 1 capital requirement including buffer 10.7% 10.5% 7.9% 7.6%
ofwhich capital conservation buffer requirement 2.5% 2.5% 2.5% 2.5%
ofwhich systemic risk buffer requirement 3.0% 3.0%
ofwhich countercyclical capital buffer requirement 0.7% 0.5% 0.9% 0.6%

Common Equity Tier 1 capital available tomeet buffer 1) 14.3% 14.3% 14.3% 14.7%

Transitional floor 80%of capital requirement according to Basel I
Minimumfloor own funds requirement according to Basel I 86,884 79,123 69,864 63,167
Own funds according to Basel I 151,814 135,478 134,158 119,322
Own funds in relation to own funds requirement Basel I 1.75 1.71 1.92 1.89

Leverage ratio
Exposuremeasure for leverage ratio calculation 2,549,149 2,463,479
ofwhich on balance sheet items 2,120,587 2,094,445
ofwhich off balance sheet items 428,562 369,034

Leverage ratio 5.1% 4.9%

1) CET1 ratio lessminimum capital requirement of 4.5 per cent excluding buffers. In addition to the CET1 requirements there is a total capital requirement of an additional 3.5 per cent.

Own funds

Consolidated situation Parent company

2016 2015 2016 2015

Shareholders’ equity 21,942 21,942 21,942 21,942
Retained earnings 65,190 53,458 52,443 42,648
Accumulated other comprehensive income and other reserves 43,226 50,817 31,485 34,055
Independently reviewed profit for the year 10,618 16,581 12,477 17,439
Minority interests

Total equity according to balance sheet1) 140,976 142,798 118,347 116,084

Deductions related to the consolidated situation and other foreseeable charges –14,303 –14,808 –11,929 –11,515

CommonEquity Tier 1 capital before regulatory adjustments2) 126,673 127,990 106,418 104,569

Additional value adjustments –1,169 –937 –1,136 –866
Intangible assets –6,835 –11,942 –5,381 –8,145
Deferred tax assets that rely on future profitability –208 –501
Fair value reserves related to gains or losses on cash flowhedges –2,400 –3,210 –2,400 –3,210
Negative amounts resulting from the calculation of expected loss amounts –381 –571
Gains or losses on liabilities valued at fair value resulting from changes in
own credit standing –115 –145 –131 –175
Definedbenefit pension fund assets –920 –2,927
Direct and indirect holdings of ownCET1 instruments –191 –179 –191 –179
Securitisation positionswith 1.250% riskweight –35 –43 –35 –43

Total regulatory adjustments to CommonEquity Tier 1 –12,254 –20,455 –9,274 –12,618

CommonEquity Tier 1 capital 114,419 107,535 97,144 91,951

Additional Tier I instruments 9,959 9,258 9,959 9,258
Grandfathered additional Tier 1 instruments 4,779 4,598 4,779 4,597

Tier 1 capital 129,157 121,391 111,882 105,806

Tier 2 instruments 24,851 16,091 24,850 16,091
Net provisioning amount for IRBreported exposures 58 875 227 150
Holdings of Tier 2 instruments in financial sector entities –2,575 –2,575 –2,575 –2,575

Tier 2 capital 22,334 14,391 22,502 13,666

TOTAL 151,491 135,782 134,384 119,472

1) For parent bank Total equity includes Untaxed reserves net of tax.
2) The Common Equity Tier 1 capital is presented on a consolidated basis, and differs from total equity according to IFRS. The insurance business contribution to equity is excluded and there is a dividend

deduction calculated according to Regulation (EU) No 575/2013 (CRR).
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Note 20 continued Capital adequacy

Risk exposure amount

Consolidated situation Parent company

2016 2015 2016 2015

Credit risk IRB approach

Risk
exposure
amount

Own funds
requirement1)

Risk
exposure
amount

Own funds
requirement1)

Risk
exposure
amount

Own funds
requirement1)

Risk
exposure
amount

Own funds
requirement1)

Exposures to institutions 26,254 2,100 22,701 1,816 23,868 1,909 19,566 1,565
Exposures to corporates 335,413 26,833 307,618 24,609 226,254 18,100 202,710 16,217
Retail exposures 55,617 4,449 53,163 4,253 30,660 2,453 30,533 2,443
ofwhich secured by immovable property 34,079 2,726 32,784 2,623 25,622 2,050 24,394 1,952
ofwhich qualifying revolving retail exposures 248 20
ofwhich retail SME 4,723 378 3,255 260
ofwhich other retail exposures 16,815 1,345 16,876 1,350 5,038 403 6,139 491

Securitisation positions 3,066 246 4,114 329 2,984 239 3,975 318

Total IRB approach 420,350 33,628 387,596 31,007 283,766 22,701 256,784 20,543

Credit risk standardised approach
Exposures to central governments or central banks 1,801 144 1,425 114 333 27 537 43
Exposures to regional governments or local authorities 51 4 51 4
Exposures to public sector entities 29 2 5
Exposures to institutions 1,316 105 1,062 85 50,231 4,018 39,884 3,191
Exposures to corporates 16,422 1,314 15,568 1,245 7,428 594 7,994 640
Retail exposures 16,186 1,295 14,821 1,186 12,135 971 10,914 873
Exposures secured bymortgages on immovable property 3,803 304 4,159 333 2,081 166 2,391 191
Exposures in default 384 31 520 42 304 24 442 35
Exposures associatedwith particularly high risk 1,477 118 1,823 146 1,477 118 1,823 146
Securitisation positions 216 17 208 17
Exposures in the form of collective investment
undertakings (CIU) 66 5 56 4
Equity exposures 2,119 170 2,182 175 40,807 3,264 40,962 3,277
Other items 8,880 711 6,364 509 6,390 511 3,824 306

Total standardised approach 52,750 4,220 48,244 3,860 121,186 9,693 108,771 8,702

Market risk
Trading book exposureswhere internal models
are applied 30,042 2,403 34,233 2,739 29,994 2,399 34,216 2,737
Trading book exposures applying standardised
approaches 9,398 752 11,608 929 8,884 711 11,160 893
Foreign exchange rate risk 3,773 302 4,778 382 3,756 301 4,749 380

Totalmarket risk 43,213 3,457 50,619 4,050 42,634 3,411 50,125 4,010

Other own funds requirements
Operational risk advancedmeasurement approach 47,901 3,832 47,804 3,824 33,696 2,697 32,685 2,615
Settlement risk 0 0 1 1 0 1
Credit value adjustment 7,818 625 6,910 553 6,534 523 5,780 462
Investment in insurance business 16,633 1,331 15,525 1,242 16,633 1,331 15,525 1,242
Other exposures 6,547 524 5,243 419
Additional risk exposure amount2) 14,747 1,180 8,898 712 11,376 910 8,705 696

Total other own funds requirements 93,646 7,492 84,381 6,750 68,240 5,461 62,696 5,015

TOTAL 609,959 48,797 570,840 45,667 515,826 41,266 478,376 38,270

1) Own fund requirement is 8 per cent of risk exposure amount according to Regulation (EU) No 575/2013 (CRR).
2) Regulation (EU) No 575/2013 (CRR) Article 3.

Average risk-weight

Consolidated situation Parent company

2016 2015 2016 2015

Exposures to institutions 25.1% 24.4% 22.5% 23.5%
Exposures to corporates 31.4% 32.3% 26.6% 27.2%
Retail exposures 9.9% 9.8% 6.6% 6.8%
ofwhich secured by immovable property 6.9% 6.9% 5.7% 5.6%
ofwhich qualifying revolving retail exposures 42.4%
ofwhich retail SME 73.4% 62.9%
ofwhich other retail exposures 28.0% 28.4% 29.2% 32.2%

Securitisation positions 50.6% 46.5% 58.6% 55.5%

The consolidated SEB Groupmust also comply with capital requirements concern
ing combined banking and insurance groups, i.e. financial conglomerates. The com
bined capital requirement for the SEB financial conglomerate was SEK 82.5bn while

the own funds amounted to 195.1bn. In these total figures, SEB Life and Pension
Holding AB has contributed with Solvency II figures from September 30, 2016.
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21 Fair value measurement of assets and liabilities
2016 Group Parent company

Assets

Quoted
prices in
active

markets
(Level 1)

Valuation
technique using

observable
inputs (Level 2)

Valuation
technique using
non-observable
inputs (Level 3) Total

Quoted
prices in
active

markets
(Level 1)

Valuation
technique using

observable
inputs (Level 2)

Valuation
technique using
non-observable
inputs (Level 3) Total

Financial assets – policyholders
bearing the risk 275,894 15,589 4,425 295,908
Equity instruments at fair value
through profit and loss 49,978 11,445 9,701 71,124 35,373 4,782 256 40,411
Debt securities at fair value
through profit and loss 86,584 117,276 1,779 205,639 25,347 96,665 122,012
Derivatives – Interest related 1,212 112,133 6,680 120,025 1,211 84,128 832 86,171
Derivatives – Equity related 192 4,790 7 4,989 192 3,536 6 3,734
Derivatives – Currency related 1,076 63,980 65,056 97 63,047 63,144
Derivatives – Credit related 918 918 918 918
Derivatives – Commodities related 5,805 5,805 5,805 5,805
Derivatives –Other related 113 241 1,454 1,808
Derivatives –Hedge accounting 13,754 13,754
Equity instruments availableforsale 172 1,770 611 2,553 100 1,735 432 2,267
Debt securities availableforsale 16,310 16,388 32,698 6,461 2,848 9,309
Noncurrent assets classified as held for sale 587 587
Investment in associates 1) 181 789 970 182 753 935
Investment properties 7,401 7,401

TOTAL 431,712 364,676 32,847 829,235 68,963 263,464 2,279 334,706

Liabilities

Liabilities to policyholders
– investment contracts 276,666 15,542 4,410 296,618
Equity instruments at fair value
through profit and loss 9,798 2 271 10,071 9,798 2 271 10,071
Debt securities at fair value
through profit and loss 7,027 2,522 9,549 7,027 2,521 9,548
Derivatives – Interest related 1,375 93,804 1,774 96,953 1,375 60,451 941 62,767
Derivatives – Equity related 91 1,919 2,010 91 1,764 1,855
Derivatives – Currency related 1,229 63,192 64,421 75 61,339 61,414
Derivatives – Credit related 1,352 1,352 1,352 1,352
Derivatives – Commodities related 6,445 6,445 6,445 6,445
Derivatives –Other related 113 192 1,862 2,167
Derivatives –Hedge accounting 1,303 1,303
Other financial liabilities 19,225 19,225 19,225 19,225
Debt securities at fair value
through profit and loss2) 30,992 30,992 28,940 28,940

TOTAL 296,299 236,490 8,317 541,106 18,366 182,039 1,212 201,617
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Note 21 continued Fair valuemeasurement of assets and liabilities

2015 Group Parent company

Assets

Quoted
prices in
active

markets
(Level 1)

Valuation
technique using

observable
inputs (Level 2)

Valuation
technique using
non-observable
inputs (Level 3) Total

Quoted
prices in
active

markets
(Level 1)

Valuation
technique using

observable
inputs (Level 2)

Valuation
technique using
non-observable
inputs (Level 3) Total

Financial assets under pooled schemes
and unitlinked investment contracts 255,175 13,831 2,607 271,613
Equity instruments at fair value
through profit and loss 75,226 10,290 10,286 95,802 58,243 4,394 298 62,935
Debt securities at fair value
through profit and loss 114,903 127,872 1,204 243,979 62,321 109,059 171,380
Derivatives – Interest related 1,037 110,843 10,383 122,263 1,359 178,728 903 180,990
Derivatives – Equity related 391 5,556 91 6,038 15 15
Derivatives – Currency related 482 59,371 59,853
Derivatives – Credit related 1,199 1,199
Derivatives – Commodities related 9,207 9,207
Derivatives –Other related 151 159 755 1,065
Derivatives –Hedge accounting 15,926 15,926
Equity instruments availableforsale 128 1,179 648 1,955 67 1,153 507 1,727
Debt securities availableforsale 17,886 17,076 34,962 6,324 4,530 10,854
Noncurrent assets classified as held for sale 801 801
Investment in associates 1) 211 4 743 958 211 712 923
Investment properties 7,169 7,169

TOTAL 465,590 373,314 33,886 872,790 128,525 297,864 2,435 428,824

Liabilities

Liabilities to policyholders
– investment contracts 255,581 13,812 2,602 271,995
Equity instruments at fair value
through profit and loss 12,445 37 445 12,927 12,349 37 445 12,831
Debt securities at fair value
through profit and loss 7,025 3,417 10,442 6,862 3,417 10,279
Derivatives – Interest related 1,150 100,669 10,159 111,978 1,452 160,039 813 162,304
Derivatives – Equity related 184 4,938 5,122
Derivatives – Currency related 1,049 57,088 58,137
Derivatives – Credit related 1,630 1,630
Derivatives – Commodities related 10,023 10,023
Derivatives –Other related 151 105 1,242 1,498
Derivatives –Hedge accounting 1,650 1,650
Other financial liabilities 17,377 17,377 17,377 17,377
Debt securities at fair value
through profit and loss2) 34,774 34,774 32,315 32,315

TOTAL 277,585 245,520 14,448 537,553 20,663 213,185 1,258 235,106

1) Venture capital activities designated at fair value through profit and loss.
2) Equity index link bonds designated at fair value through profit and loss.
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Note 21 continued Fair valuemeasurement of assets and liabilities

Fair value measurement
The objective of the fair valuemeasurement is to arrive at the price at which an
orderly transaction would take place betweenmarket participants at themeasure
ment date under current market conditions.

TheGroup has an established control environment for the determination of fair val
ues of financial instruments that includes a review, independent from the business, of
valuationmodels and prices. If the validation principles are not adhered to, theHead
of Group Finance shall be informed. Exceptions ofmaterial and principal importance
require approval from theGRMC (GroupRiskMeasurement Committee) and the ASC
(Accounting Standards Committee).

In order to arrive at the fair value of a financial instrument SEB uses differentmeth
ods; quoted prices in activemarkets, valuation techniques incorporating observable
data and valuation techniques based on internalmodels. For disclosure purposes,
financial instruments carried at fair value are classified in a fair value hierarchy
according to the level ofmarket observability of the inputs. Risk Control classifies and
continuously reviews the classification of financial instruments in the fair value hierar
chy. The valuation process is the same for financial instruments in all levels.

An activemarket is one in which transactions occur with sufficient volume and
frequency to provide pricing information on an ongoing basis. The objective is
to arrive at a price at which a transactionwithoutmodification or repackagingwould
occur in the principal market for the instrument to which SEB has immediate access.

Fair value is generallymeasured for individual financial instruments, in addition
portfolio adjustments aremade to cover the credit risk. To reflect counterparty risk
and own credit risk inOTCderivatives, adjustments aremade based on the net expo
sure towards each counterpart. These adjustments are calculated on a counterparty
level based on estimates of exposure at default, probability of default and recovery
rates. Probability of default and recovery rate information is generally sourced from
theCDSmarkets. For counterpartieswhere this information is not available, or consid
ered unreliable due to the nature of the exposure, alternative approaches are taken
where the the probability of default is based on generic credit indices for specific
industry and/or rating. The impact from these adjustments are shown inNote 6 and
Note 17f.

When valuing financial liabilities at fair value own credit standing is reflected.
Fair values of financial assets and liabilities by class can be found in note 39.

In order to arrive at the fair value of investment properties amarket participant’s
ability to generate economic benefit by using the asset in its highest and best use
are taken into account. The highest and best use takes into account the use of the
asset that is physically possible, legally permissible and financially feasible. The cur
rent use of the investment properties in SEB is in accordance with the highest and
best use. The valuation of investment properties is described in the accounting poli
cies in note 1. The valuation of the investment properties is performed semiannu
ally, they are presented and approved by the board in each real estate company. The
valuation principles used in all entities are in accordance with regulations provided
by the local Financial Supervisory Authorities (FSA) which is in accordance with
international valuation principles and in accordance with IFRS.

Level 1: Quoted market prices
Valuations in Level 1 are determined by reference to unadjusted quotedmarket
prices for identical instruments in activemarkets where the quoted prices are read
ily available and the prices represent actual and regularly occurringmarket transac
tions on an arm’s length basis.

Examples of Level 1 financial instruments are listed equity securities, debt securi
ties, and exchangetraded derivatives. Instruments traded in an activemarket for
which one ormoremarket participants provide a binding price quotation on the bal
ance sheet date are also examples of Level 1 financial instruments.

Level 2: Valuation techniques with observable inputs
In Level 2 valuation techniques, all significant inputs to the valuationmodels are
observable either directly or indirectly. Level 2 valuation techniques include using
discounted cash flows, option pricingmodels, recent transactions and the price of
another instrument that is substantially the same.

Examples of observable inputs are foreign currency exchange rates, binding
securities price quotations, market interest rates (Stibor, Libor, etc.), volatilities
implied from observable option prices for the same term and actual transactions
with one or more external counterparts executed by SEB. An input can transfer from
being observable to being unobservable during the holding period due to e.g. illi
quidity of the instrument.

Examples of Level 2 financial instruments aremost OTC derivatives such as
options and interest rate swaps based on the Libor swap rate or a foreigndenomi
nated yield curve. Other examples are instruments for which SEB recently entered
into transactions with third parties and instruments for which SEB interpolates
between observable variables.

Level 3: Valuation techniques with significant unobservable inputs
Level 3 valuation techniques incorporate significant inputs that are unobservable.
These techniques are generally based on extrapolating from observable inputs for
similar instruments, analysing historical data or other analytical techniques. Exam
ples of Level 3 financial instruments aremore complex OTC derivatives, long dated
options for which the volatility is extrapolated or derivatives that depend on an
unobservable correlation. Other examples are instruments for which there is cur
rently no activemarket or binding quotes, such as unlisted equity instruments and
Private Equity holdings.

If the fair value of financial instruments includesmore than one unobservable
input, the unobservable inputs are aggregated in order to determine the classifica
tion of the entire instrument. The level in the fair value hierarchy within which a
financial instrument is classified is determined on the basis of the lowest level of
input that is significant to the fair value in its entirety.

Significant transfers and reclassifications between levels
Transfers between levels may occur when there are indications that market condi
tions have changed, e.g. a change in liquidity. The Valuation/Pricing committe of
each relevant division decides onmaterial shifts between levels. The decrease in all
levels is mainly due to an decrease in business volumes.

At the end of Q2 2016Derivative liabilities (European Swaptions), within the insur
ance holdings, at the amount of SEK 5.3bn have been transferred from Level 3 into
Level 2. The availability ofmarket datamotivates the transfer.
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Note 21 continued Fair valuemeasurement of assets and liabilities

Changes in level 3

Group, 2016

Assets
Opening
balance

Gain/loss
in Income

statement 1) 2)

Gain/loss in
Other com-
prehensive

income4) Purchases Sales
Settle-
ments

Transfers
into

Level 3

Transfers
out of

Level 3 3)
Reclassi-
fication

Exchange
rate

differences Total

Financial assets – policyholders
bearing the risk 2,607 –51 3,868 –2,128 129 4,425
Equity instruments at fair value
through profit and loss 10,286 224 1,631 –2,799 –46 405 9,701
Debt securities at fair value through
profit and loss 1,204 –130 871 –199 –8 41 1,779
Derivatives – Interest related 10,383 –4,292 231 –36 14 380 6,680
Derivatives – Equity related 90 –9 1 –74 –1 7
Derivatives –Other related 756 732 –73 39 1,454
Equity instruments availableforsale 648 –190 318 81 –217 –52 23 611
Investment in associates 743 120 123 –188 –9 789
Investment properties 7,169 204 3 –287 312 7,401

TOTAL 33,886 –3,392 318 6,809 –5,927 14 –180 1,319 32,847

Liabilities

Liabilities to policyholders
– investment contracts 2,602 –51 3,854 –2,124 129 4,410
Equity instruments at fair value
through profit and loss 445 90 –267 3 271
Derivatives – Interest related 10,159 –3,388 41 41 –5,299 220 1,774
Derivatives –Other related 1,242 541 84 –65 60 1,862

TOTAL 14,448 –2,808 3,712 –2,189 41 –5,299 412 8,317

Group, 2015

Assets
Opening
balance

Gain/loss
in Income

statement 1) 2)

Gain/loss in
Other com-
prehensive

income4) Purchases Sales
Settle-
ments

Transfers
into

Level 3

Transfers
out of

Level 3 3)
Reclassi-
fication

Exchange
rate

differences Total

Financial assets – policyholders
bearing the risk 2,067 38 2,100 –1,606 81 –73 2,607
Equity instruments at fair value
through profit and loss 10,948 –302 2,451 –2,510 –301 10,286
Debt securities at fair value
through profit and loss 1,198 117 641 –723 –29 1,204
Derivatives – Interest related 9,971 598 769 –618 –32 –305 10,383
Derivatives – Equity related –88 178 90
Derivatives –Other related 756 756
Equity instruments availableforsale 638 62 –156 69 –217 12 247 –7 648
Investment in associates 1,049 51 91 –332 –117 1 743
Investment properties 7,497 170 64 –339 –223 7,169

TOTAL 33,368 1,402 –156 6,363 –6,345 –32 93 –117 247 –937 33,886

Liabilities

Liabilities to policyholders
– investment contracts 2,056 38 2,094 –1,596 81 –71 2,602
Equity instruments at fair value
through profit and loss 475 90 –114 –6 445
Derivatives – Interest related 9,660 13 937 –162 19 –308 10,159
Derivatives –Other related 1,247 17 –22 1,242

TOTAL 12,191 1,388 2,934 –1,780 19 81 –385 14,448

1) Fair value gains and losses recognised in the income statement are included in Net financial income andNet other income.
2) Gains/losses recognised in the income statement relating to instruments held as of 31 December are SEK –321m (746).
3) Issued structured notes have beenmoved from level 3 to level 2 due to amore granular approach to fair value hierarchy classification and since the unobservable input is not a significant part of the value

of these instrument.
4) Fair value gains and losses recognised in other comprehensive income are included as available for sale.
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Note 21 continued Fair valuemeasurement of assets and liabilities

Changes in level 3

Parent company, 2016

Assets
Opening
balance

Gain/loss
in Income

statement 1) 2)

Gain/loss in
Other

comprehen-
sive income Purchases Sales

Settle-
ments

Transfers
into

Level 3

Transfers
out of

Level 3 3)
Reclassi-
fication

Exchange
rate

differences Total

Equity instruments at fair value
through profit and loss 298 96 –148 10 256
Derivatives – Interest related 903 –72 –23 15 9 832
Derivatives – Equity related 15 –9 6
Equity instruments availableforsale 507 –1 3 29 –71 –52 17 432
Investment in associates 712 114 122 –185 –10 753

TOTAL 2,435 128 3 151 –427 15 –52 26 2,279

Liabilities

Equity instruments at fair value
through profit and loss 445 90 –267 3 271
Derivatives – Interest related 813 87 –8 41 8 941

TOTAL 1,258 177 –275 41 11 1,212

Parent company, 2015

Assets
Opening
balance

Gain/loss
in Income

statement 1) 2)

Gain/loss in
Other

comprehen-
sive income Purchases Sales

Settle-
ments

Transfers
into

Level 3

Transfers
out of

Level 3 3)
Reclassi-
fication

Exchange
rate

differences Total

Equity instruments at fair value
through profit and loss 467 67 –228 –8 298
Derivatives – Interest related 1,143 –117 –84 –32 –7 903
Derivatives – Equity related 15 15
Equity instruments availableforsale 634 62 –158 69 –217 12 109 –4 507
Investment in associates 853 51 88 –169 –113 2 712

TOTAL 3,097 63 –158 172 –698 –32 –101 109 –17 2,435

Liabilities

Equity instruments at fair value
through profit and loss 475 90 –114 –6 445
Derivatives – Interest related 983 –98 –84 19 –7 813

TOTAL 1,458 –8 –198 19 –13 1,258

1) Fair value gains and losses recognised in the income statement are included in Net financial income andNet other income.
2) Gains/losses recognised in the income statement relating to instruments held as of 31 December are SEK –322m (–15).
3) Issued structured notes have beenmoved from level 3 to level 2 due to amore granular approach of fair value hierarchy classification and the unobservable input not being a significant part of the value of

these instrument.

Sensitivity of Level 3 financial instruments to unobservable inputs
The table below illustrates the potential profit or loss impact of the relative uncer
tainty in the fair value of assets and liabilities that for their valuation are dependent
on unobservable inputs. The sensitivity to unobservable inputs is assessed by alter
ing the assumptions to the valuation techniques, illustrated below by changes in
indexlinked swap spreads, implied volatilities, credit spreads or comparator multi

ples. It is unlikely that all unobservable inputs would be simultaneously at the
extremes of their ranges of reasonably possible alternatives. At the end of Q1 2016,
basis for calculating sensitivities for Interest Rate Swaptions, within Insurance
Holdings – Financial instruments, have changed from stressing themarket value to
stressing the implied volatility. The largest openmarket risk within Level 3 financial
instruments is found within the insurance business.

2016 2015

Group Assets Liabilities Net Sensitivity Assets Liabilities Net Sensitivity

Derivative instruments AFV 1) 2) 4) 780 –940 –160 49 919 –813 106 97
Equity instruments AFV 3) 256 –271 –15 298 –445 –147
Equity instruments AFS 3) 6) 432 432 78 507 507 91
Investments in associates 3) 753 753 151 712 712 142
Insurance holdings – Financial instruments 5) 7) 18,477 –2,695 15,782 1,807 21,415 –10,595 10,820 1,539
Insurance holdings – Investment properties 6) 7) 7,401 7,401 740 7,169 7,169 717

1) Sensitivity from a shift of inflation linked swap spreads by 16 basis points (5) and implied volatilities by 5 percentage points (5).
2) Sensitivity from a shift of swap spreads by 5 basis points (5) .
3) Valuation is estimated in a range of reasonable outcomes. Sensitivity analysis is based on 20 per cent (20) shift inmarket values.
4) Shift in implied volatility down by 10 percentage points (10).
5) Sensitivity analysis is based on a shift in private equity of 20 per cent (20), structured credits 10 per cent (10) and derivativemarket values of 10 per cent (10).
6) Sensitivity from a shift of investment properties/real estate fundsmarket values of 10 per cent (10).
7) The sensitivity shows changes in the value of the insurance holdings which do not at all times affect the P/L of the Group since any surplus in the traditional life portfolios are consumed first.
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22 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Group Parent company

2016 2015 2016 2015

Securities held for trading 162,516 239,906 162,335 234,106
Derivatives held for trading 198,271 199,085 147,124 165,964

Held for trading 360,787 438,991 309,459 400,070

Financial assets – policyholders bearing the risk 295,908 271,613
Financial assets under insurance contracts 107,667 95,506
Other financial assets at fair value 6,580 4,369 87 209

Designated at fair value through profit or loss 410,155 371,488 87 209

Derivatives held for hedging 14,084 16,466 12,649 15,042

TOTAL 785,026 826,945 322,195 415,321

The category Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss comprises finan
cial instruments either classified as held for trading or financial assets designated to

this category upon initial recognition. These financial assets are recognised at fair
value and the value change is recognised through profit and loss.

Securities held for trading

Equity instruments 40,324 67,538 40,323 62,726
Eligible debt securities1) 33,991 68,732 33,811 68,315
Other debt securities1) 87,653 102,805 87,653 102,239
Accrued interest 548 831 548 826

TOTAL 162,516 239,906 162,335 234,106

1) See note 41 for issuers.

Derivatives held for trading

Positive replacement values of interestrelated derivatives 119,694 121,724 73,523 93,492
Positive replacement values of currencyrelated derivatives 65,056 59,852 63,144 57,308
Positive replacement values of equityrelated derivatives 4,990 6,037 3,734 4,758
Positive replacement values of other derivatives 8,531 11,472 6,723 10,406

TOTAL 198,271 199,085 147,124 165,964

Insurance assets at fair value

Equity instruments 30,712 28,054
Eligible debt securities1) 43,805 38,992
Other debt securities1) 32,587 27,879
Accrued interest 563 581

TOTAL 107,667 95,506

1) See note 41 for issuers.

Other financial assets at fair value

Equity instruments 88 209 87 209
Eligible debt securities1) 6,169 3,850
Other debt securities1) 301 292
Accrued interest 22 18

TOTAL 6,580 4,369 87 209

1) See note 41 for issuers.

Derivatives held for hedging

Fair value hedges 8,777 9,530 8,763 9,492
Cash flowhedges 3,884 5,550 3,884 5,550
Portfolio hedges for interest rate risk 1,423 1,386 2

TOTAL 14,084 16,466 12,649 15,042

To eliminate to the extent possible inconsistency inmeasurement and accounting
the Group has chosen to designate financial assets and financial liabilities, which
the unit linked insurance business give rise to, at fair value through profit or loss.
This implies that changes in fair value on those investment assets (preferably

funds), where the policyholders bear the risk and the corresponding liabilities,
are recognised in profit or loss. Fair value on those assets and liabilities are set by
quotedmarket price in an activemarket.
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23 Availableforsale financial assets
Group Parent company

2016 2015 2016 2015

Equity instruments at cost 496 413 487 404
Equity instruments at fair value 2,507 1,916 2,256 1,714
Eligible debt securities1) 31,426 19,558 6,588 6,477
Other debt securities1) 1,021 15,073 2,608 4,224
Seized shares 46 39 11 13
Accrued interest 251 332 113 153

TOTAL 35,747 37,331 12,063 12,985

1) See note 41 for issuers.

Equity instruments measured at cost do not have a quoted market price in an active
market. Further, it has not been possible to reliably measure the fair values of those

equity instruments. Most of these investments are held for strategic reasons and are
not intended to be sold in the near future.

24 Investments in associates
Group Parent company

2016 2015 2016 2015

Strategic investments 229 223 90 78
Venture capital holdings 970 958 935 923

TOTAL 1,199 1,181 1,025 1,001

Strategic investments Assets1) Liabilities1) Revenues1) Profit or loss1) Book value Ownership,%

Bankomat AB, Stockholm 4,341 4,075 809 20 66 20
Bankomatcentralen AB, Stockholm 1 0 28
BDB Bankernas DepåAB, Stockholm 2,035 1,978 85 7 0 20
BGCHolding AB, Stockholm 428 112 789 51 4 33
Getswish AB, Stockholm 92 53 22 –2 19 20
UCAB, Stockholm 274 117 642 63 1 28

Parent company holdings 90

Holdings of subsidiaries 12

Group adjustments 127

GROUPHOLDINGS 229

1) Retrieved from respective Annual report 2015.

2016 2015

Venture capital holdings Book value Ownership,% Book value Ownership,%

Actiwave, Linköping 4 42 31 37
Airsonett AB,Ängelholm 95 34 80 32
Apica AB, Stockholm 41 20 36 20
Avaj International Holding AB, Stockholm 60 18 39 18
Avidicare Holding AB (former AORIABHolding AB),Ängelholm 17 38 13 36
Capres A/S,Copenhagen 15 40 35 40
Coinify ApS,Herlev 7 9 0 0
Diakrit International Ltd,Hong Kong 0 0 46 40
Donya Labs AB, Linköping 118 22 16 22
ExitramAB, Stockholm 0 0 0 44
Fält Communications AB,Umeå 64 46 42 46
InDex Pharmaceuticals AB, Stockholm 0 0 73 35
InDex Pharmaceuticals Holding AB, Stockholm 90 23 0 0
Innometrics AB, Stockholm 0 0 24 26
Leasify AB, Stockholm 10 17 0 0
Neoventa Holding AB,Gothenburg 0 0 0 24
NomadHoldings Ltd,Newcastle 45 22 98 22
Now Interact Nordic AB, Stockholm 15 10 0 0
NuEvolution AB, Stockholm 146 24 152 24
OssDsign AB,Uppsala 25 20 25 20
ProdacapoAB,Örnsköldsvik 4 22 7 22
Scandinova SystemsAB,Uppsala 48 29 48 29
Scibase AB, Stockholm 0 0 0 0
Scibase Holding AB, Stockholm 36 23 58 23
SenionAB, Linköping 15 27 15 27
Signal Processing Devices SwedenAB, Linköping 0 0 34 48
TSSHolding AB, Stockholm 80 43 51 43

Parent company holdings 935 923

Holdings of subsidiaries 35 35

GROUPHOLDINGS 970 958

Information about the corporate registration numbers and numbers of shares of the associates is available upon request.
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Note 24 continued Investments in associates

Strategic investments in associates in the Group are accounted for using the equity
method.

Investments in associates held by the venture capital organisation of the Group
have, in accordance with IAS 28, been designated as at fair value through profit and
loss. Therefore, these holdings are accounted for in accordance with IAS 39.

Some entities, in which the Bank has an ownership of less than 20 per cent, has
been classified as investments in associates. The reason is that the Bank is repre
sented in the board of directors and participates in the policy making processes of
those entities.

All financial assets within the Group’s venture capital business aremanaged and
its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis in accordance with documented
risk management and investment strategies.

Fair values for investments listed in an activemarket are based on quotedmarket
prices. If themarket for a financial instrument is not active, fair value is established
by using valuation techniques based on discounted cash flow analysis, valuation
with reference to financial instruments that is substantially the same, and valuation
with reference to observablemarket transactions in the same financial instrument.

25 Shares in subsidiaries
Group Parent company

2016 2015 2016 2015

Swedish subsidiaries 14,128 16,148
Foreign subsidiaries 1) 39 37 36,483 36,250

TOTAL 39 37 50,611 52,398
of which holdings in credit institutions 33,384 32,768

2016 2015

Swedish subsidiaries Country Book value Dividend Ownership,% Book value Dividend Ownership,%

Aktiv Placering AB, Stockholm Sweden 38 100 38 100
Enskilda Kapitalförvaltning SEBAB, Stockholm Sweden 0 100 0 100
Försäkringsaktiebolaget Skandinaviska Enskilda Captive, Stockholm Sweden 100 100 100 100
Parkeringshuset Lasarettet HGB KB, Stockholm Sweden 0 99 0 99
ReponoHolding AB, Stockholm Sweden 3,227 100 5,406 100
SEB Förvaltnings AB, Stockholm Sweden 5 100 5 100
SEB Internal Supplier AB, Stockholm Sweden 12 100 12 100
SEB InvestmentManagement AB, Stockholm Sweden 523 100 763 100
SEB Kort Bank AB, Stockholm Sweden 2,260 769 100 2,260 3,759 100
SEB Life and Pension Holding AB, Stockholm Sweden 6,424 2,800 100 6,425 1,000 100
SEB Portföljförvaltning AB, Stockholm Sweden 1,115 100 1,115 100
SEB Strategic Investments AB, Stockholm Sweden 424 100 24 1,175 100
Skandinaviska Kreditaktiebolaget, Stockholm Sweden 0 100 0 100

TOTAL 14,128 3,569 16,148 5,934

Foreign subsidiaries

Baltectus B.V.,Amsterdam Netherland 252 100 538 100
Domena Property Sp. Z o.o.,Warsaw Poland 120 100 119 100
KeyAssetManagement (UK) Limited, London Great Britain 0 0 0 100
Möller Bilfinans AS,Oslo Norway 0 4 0 0 11 0
Postep Property Sp. Z o.o.,Warsaw Poland 51 100 50 100
SEBAG, Frankfurt amMain Germany 19,313 832 100 19,420 918 100
SEBAssetManagement America Inc, Stamford USA 0 0 0 100
SEBAssetManagement S.A., Luxembourg Luxembourg 0 74 0 5 101 100
SEB Bank JSC, St Petersburg Russia 458 100 457 100
SEB Banka,AS,Riga Latvia 1,586 604 100 1,455 216 100
SEB bankas,AB,Vilnius Lithuania 6,239 819 100 6,027 607 100
SEB Corporate Bank,PJSC,Kiev Ukraine 138 100 138 100
SEB do Brasil Representacões LTDA,Sao Paulo Brazil 0 100 0 100
SEB Fondbolag FinlandAb,Helsinki Finland 18 100 18 100
SEB Fund Services S.A., Luxembourg Luxembourg 97 100 94 100
SEBHong Kong Trade Services Ltd,Hong Kong China 0 100 0 100
SEB Kapitalförvaltning FinlandAb,Helsinki Finland 248 100 500 100
SEB LeasingOy,Helsinki Finland 4,124 177 100 3,915 100
SEBNjord AS,Oslo Norway 0 100 0 100
SEB Pank,AS,Tallinn Estonia 2,014 186 100 1,700 93 100
SEB Securities Inc,NewYork USA 48 100 42 100
Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken S.A., Luxembourg Luxembourg 1,376 195 100 1,311 84 100
Skandinaviska Enskilda Ltd, London Great Britain 401 100 461 100

TOTAL 36,483 2,891 36,250 2,030

Information about the corporate registration numbers and numbers of shares of the subsidiaries is available upon request.

1) Some dormant subsidiaries in the Group are consolidated using the equitymethod.

Significant restrictions on the ability to use assets and settle liabilities
of the Group
Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB Publ can obtain distributions of capital, use
assets and settle liabilities of members of the Group within the limitation of some
regulatory, statutory and contractual restrictions. These restrictions are:

Regulatory requirements
Regulated subsidiaries are subject to prudential regulatory capital requirements in
the countries in which they are regulated. These subsidiaries are required tomain
tain a certain level of own funds in relation to their exposures, restricting their abil
ity to distribute cash or other assets to the parent company. Tomeet these require

ments the subsidiaries hold capital instruments and other forms of subordinated
liabilities.

Statutory requirements
Subsidiaries are required to have a certain level of solvency and are restricted to
make distributions of capital and profits leading to a solvency below that level.

Contractual requirements
TheGroup pledges some of its financial assets as collateral for financing and liquidity
purposes. Encumbered assets can’t be transferredwithin the Group. Such assets are
described further in the note Pledged assets, contingent liabilities and commitments.
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26 Interest in unconsolidated structured entities
Group Parent company

Assets , 2016
Special purpose

entities
Asset

management1) Total
Special purpose

entities
Asset

management1) Total

Loans to the public 8,939 12 8,951 7,440 12 7,452
Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss 1,950 263,815 265,765 1,950 94 2,044
ofwhich: securities held for trading 1,946 88 2,034 1,946 88 2,034
ofwhich: derivatives 4 7 11 4 7 11

Availableforsale financial assets 127 1,292 1,419 127 1,226 1,353

TOTAL 11,016 265,119 276,135 9,517 1,333 10,850

Liabilities

Deposits and borrowings from the public 218 887 1,105 93 887 980
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 1 63 64 1 63 64
ofwhich: derivatives 1 63 64 1 63 64

TOTAL 219 950 1,169 94 950 1,044

Offbalance sheet exposures 312 312 193 193

TheGroup’smaximumexposure to loss 11,328 24,113 35,441 9,710 1,333 11,043

1) Investments in SEB and nonSEBmanaged funds

Assets, 2015

Loans to the public 8,869 20 8,889 7,329 20 7,349
Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss 4,008 245,179 249,187 4,008 97 4,105
ofwhich: securities held for trading 4,002 82 4,084 4,002 83 4,085
ofwhich: derivatives 6 14 20 6 14 20

Availableforsale financial assets 153 1,313 1,466 153 1,257 1,410

TOTAL 13,030 246,512 259,542 11,490 1,374 12,864

Liabilities

Deposits and borrowings from the public 374 71 445 73 71 144
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 36 36 36 36
ofwhich: derivatives 36 36 36 36

TOTAL 374 107 481 73 107 180

Offbalance sheet exposures 623 623 380 380

TheGroup'smaximumexposure to loss 13,653 19,418 33,071 11,870 1,374 13,244

1) Investments in SEB and nonSEBmanaged funds

Interests in unconsolidated structured entities refers to cases when the Group has
interests in structured entities which it does not control. A structured entity is an
entity that is designed so that voting or similar rights are not the dominant factor in
deciding who controls the entity, such as when any voting rights relate to adminis
trative tasks only and the relevant activities are directed bymeans of contractual
arrangements.

The Group enters into transactions with structured entities in the normal cause
of business for various reasons. Depending on the type of structured entity the
purpose is to support customer transactions, to engage in specific investment
opportunities and to facilitate the startup of certain entities.

The Group has interests in the following types of structured entities:

Interests in funds
The Group establishes andmanages funds to provide customers with investment
opportunities, SEB is considered to be the sponsor of those funds. Total assets
under management represent the size of a fund. Total assets under management of
fundsmanaged by SEB are SEK 531bn (543). The total assets of NonSEBmanaged
funds are not publically available and not consideredmeaningful for understanding
related risks, and have therefore not been presented. In some cases the Group facil
itates the startup of funds by holding units and it may hold units in fundsmanaged
by the Group or by a third party for investment purposes within the life business.
The fundsmanaged by the Group generate income in the form ofmanagement fees
and performance fees based on the assets under management. The income from
asset management is presented in note 5. Themaximum exposure to loss is limited

to the carrying amount of units held by the Group. This amount does not reflect
the probable loss.

Interests in other structured entities
The Group has had a role in establishing structured entities to support customer
transactions. The purpose of these entities is to provide alternative funding and
liquidity improvement to the sellers and investment opportunities to investors by
purchasing assets and obtain funding for the purchases with the assets as collat
eral. The Group provides senior revolving credit facilities and administrative ser
vices to the entities and earn fee and interest income onmarket based conditions.

The Group holds themost senior investments in debt instruments issued by
banks, through securitisation vehicles (SPV) whose purpose is to provide alternative
funding to the issuers and investment opportunities to investors. The SPVs pur
chase pools of asset from the originating banks balance sheet, e.g. credit card
loans, residential mortgage loans, loans to small andmedium sized enterprises
and fund these purchases by issuing debt securities with the assets as collateral.
The securities havemultiple tranches of subordination.

Themaximum exposure to loss regarding investments in other structured
entities is limited to the carrying amount of the investments andmay occur only
after losses by creditors with junior exposures. Themaximum exposure to loss does
not reflect the probability of loss and hedging or collateral arrangements are not
considered. The total assets for these entities are not consideredmeaningful infor
mation for the purpose of understanding the related risks and therefore have not
been presented.
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27 Related parties
Group

Associated companies Keymanagement Other related parties

2016
Assets/

Liabilities Interest
Assets/

Liabilities Interest
Assets/

Liabilities Interest

Loans to the public 101 13 219 3 62 1
Notional amount of derivatives 12 911
Deposits and borrowings from the public 226 131 1,251
Offbalance sheet items 1

2015

Loans to the public 796 21 212 3 75 4
Notional amount of derivatives 12 322
Deposits and borrowings from the public 336 79 569

Parent company

Associated companies Group companies

2016
Assets/

Liabilities Interest
Assets/

Liabilities Interest

Loans to credit institutions 173,291 412
Loans to the public 1 7 15,281 62
Interestbearing securities 2,616 53
Positive replacement values of derivatives 10,984
Other assets 16,853

TOTAL 1 7 219,025 527

Deposits from credit institutions 66,849 –433
Deposits and borrowings from the public 4 11,040 –18
Issued securities 21
Negative replacement values of derivatives 12,393
Other liabilities 165

TOTAL 4 90,468 –451

2015

Loans to credit institutions 90,620 551
Loans to the public 692 28 20,003 112
Interestbearing securities 2,613 56
Positive replacement values of derivatives 10,890
Other assets 16,173

TOTAL 692 28 140,299 719

Deposits from credit institutions 26,574 –568
Deposits and borrowings from the public 4 12,171 –34
Issued securities 19
Negative replacement values of derivatives 14,976
Other liabilities 362 –7

TOTAL 4 54,102 –609

Keymanagement above refers to the Board of Directors and the Group Executive
Committee. Entities with significant influence or significantly influenced by key
management in the Group, and postemployment benefit plans are presented as
other related parties. Investor AB and the pension foundation SEBstiftelsen are
within this category as well as close family members to keymanagement. In addi
tion the Group has insurance administration and asset management agreements
with Gamla Livförsäkringsbolaget SEB Trygg Liv based on conditions on themarket.

SEB has received SEK 129m (125) under the insurance administration agreement
and SEK 361m (329) under the asset management agreement. For more information
on Gamla Livförsäkringsbolaget SEB Trygg Liv, see note 46.

The parent company is a related party to its subsidiaries and associates. See note
24 Investments in associates and note 25 Shares in subsidiaries for disclosures of
investments.
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28 Tangible and intangible assets
Group Parent company

2016 2015 2016 2015

Goodwill 4,760 10,003 243
Deferred acquisition costs 4,044 4,249
Internally developed ITsystems 1,925 1,995 1,755 1,834
Other intangible assets 676 822 268 347

Intangible assets 1) 11,405 17,069 2,023 2,424

Equipment 853 771 492 408
Equipment leased to clients 2) 34,669 37,743
Properties for own operations 55 54 2 2

Property and equipment 908 825 35,163 38,153

Investment properties recognised at cost 31 38
Investment properties recognised at fair value 7,401 7,169
Properties taken over for protection of claims 413 1,102

Investment properties 7,845 8,309

TOTAL 20,158 26,203 37,186 40,577

1) Goodwill has an indefinite useful life. All other intangible assets have a definite useful life. Amortisationmethods are described in note 1.
2) Equipment leased to clients are recognised as financial leases and presented as loans in the Group. See note 44.

Intangible assets

Group Parent company

2016 Goodwill

Deferred
acquisition

costs

Internally
developed
IT-systems

Other
intangible

assets Total Goodwill

Internally
developed
IT-systems

Other
intangible

assets Total

Opening balance 10,003 12,163 3,700 3,839 29,705 1,444 3,478 820 5,742
Additions from acquisitions and capitalisations 859 567 86 1,512 507 55 562
Reclassifications –394 –5 –399
Retirements and disposals –5,334 –6 –363 –170 –5,873 –67 –320 –127 –514
Exchange rate differences 91 73 7 95 266 3 1 4

Acquisition value 4,760 12,695 3,911 3,845 25,211 1,377 3,668 749 5,794

Opening balance –7,914 –1,705 –3,017 –12,636 –1,201 –1,644 –473 –3,318
Current year’s amortisations –943 –354 –135 –1,432 –43 –340 –27 –410
Current year’s impairments –200 –200
Reclassifications 234 2 –3 233
Retirements and disposals 6 70 65 141 67 71 20 158
Exchange rate differences –34 1 –79 –112 –1 –1

Accumulated depreciations –8,651 –1,986 –3,169 –13,806 –1,377 –1,913 –481 –3,771

TOTAL 4,760 4,044 1,925 676 11,405 0 1,755 268 2,023

2015

Opening balance 10,287 11,189 3,044 3,838 28,358 1,444 3,094 759 5,297
Additions from acquisitions and capitalisations 1,027 618 103 1,748 577 89 666
Reclassifications 41 176 217
Retirements and disposals –187 –9 –188 –384 –202 –28 –230
Exchange rate differences –97 –53 6 –90 –234 9 9

Acquisition value 10,003 12,163 3,700 3,839 29,705 1,444 3,478 820 5,742

Opening balance –6,958 –1,308 –2,858 –11,124 –1,030 –1,308 –428 –2,766
Current year’s amortisations –981 –365 –194 –1,540 –362 –66 –428
Current year’s impairments –17 –17 –171 –171
Reclassifications –33 –180 –213
Retirements and disposals 147 147 26 3 29
Exchange rate differences 25 1 85 111 18 18

Accumulated depreciations –7,914 –1,705 –3,017 –12,636 –1,201 –1,644 –473 –3,318

TOTAL 10,003 4,249 1,995 822 17,069 243 1,834 347 2,424
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Note 28 continued Tangible and intangible assets

Event triggering reallocation of goodwill
In conjunction with SEB ś reorganisation as of 1 January 2016 goodwill has been
reallocated to appropriate Cash Generating Units (CGUs). The CGU structure for
impairment testing purposes before the reorganisation was to a large extent aligned
with operating segments, except for Card and Life. The new customer centric organ
isation will be fundamental for management in steering andmeasuring the business
going forward. Management ś focus on different customer segments will increase
and therefore the change of CGU to be aligned with the business unit (BU) com
bined with geography to reflect the importance of steering andmeasuring the new
customer centric organisation.

Principle for allocation of goodwill
The new andmore customer centric organisation leads to that the formerWealth
division is integrated into the current customeroriented divisions and the support
ing division Life & InvestmentManagement. The reorganisation triggers the realloca
tion of goodwill. The guiding principle for the allocation of goodwill has been to iden
tify the original acquisition fromwhere the goodwill derives andmatch that with the
newCGU (BU and geography). The appropriate CGUs have been deemed to be the
CGUs at the time of the acquisitionsmade between 1996 and 2008. In total 104
CGUs have been identified and goodwill has been allocated to 14 as presented in the
table below. Until yearend 2015 there were six CGUs presented in the table below.
The CGUs equalled the operating segments with the exception of Card and Life.

Group business segment CGUs
Old allocation

2015

Merchant Banking Merchant Banking 1,020
Retail Banking Retail Sweden 929

Card 826
Wealth Management Wealth Management 4,595
Life Life Sweden 2,334

Life Denmark 299

TOTAL 10,003

CGUs Acquisition year
Newallocation

2016
Exchange rate

differences
Impairment

2016
Closing

balance 2016
Remaining

book value2)

Equities & Corp, Sweden &Norway1) 2000 879 –879 645
Transaction Services Poland 2008 141 –141 373
Internet/Telephone Sweden 1997 929 –929
Retail Norway 2005 406 –406
Card, Norway &Denmark1) 2002/2004 826 87 913
Life Sweden 1996/1997 2,334 9 2,343
Life Denmark 2004 299 –5 –294 3,056
Investment Management Sweden 1997/1998 3,117 –1,613 1,504 1,919
Investment Management, Finland &Denmark1) 1997/2002 340 –340 9
Investment Management, UK & BVI1) 2008 732 –732

TOTAL 10,003 91 –5,334 4,760

1) In the table some of the 14 CGU:s are presented together due to that the acquisitions are related. The Equities and Corporate business in Sweden andNorwaywere acquired in a linked transaction and the
InvestmentManagement activities in UK and BVI as well. Card in Norway and Sweden is related to the Eurocard business and InvestmentManagement in Finland andDenmark represents the same type of
business and the amounts areminor.

2) Internally assessed remaining book value of CGU’s only when impairment has occured.

Impairment test in the first quarter
CGUs with no future cash flow
For four of the new CGUs that had an original goodwill allocated there is no future
cash flow due to changes in strategy for Internet/Telephone bank in Sweden, Retail
Norway and Investment Management based in UK and British Virgin Islands and
therefore the goodwill is impaired.

Result of impairment test
Impairment test results in six units where the goodwill is fully impaired and one unit
where it is partially impaired. Three units have goodwill with no need of impairment.
The impairment is reported as Depreciation, amortisation and impairment of tangi
ble and intangible assets within Other in the income statement.

Estimates and assumptions used: future cash flows
The impairment test on goodwill is based on value in use and builds on the business
plan for 2016–2018 and projected cash flows for 2019–2020. The long term growth
in all geographies is based on expectations on inflation 1.5 per cent. The allocated
capital is derived from the Group’s internal capital allocationmodel that has been
aligned with the regulatory capital requirements including themanagement buffer.
The cash flows in the business plan starts with the assumptions from themost
recent Nordic outlook published at the commencement of this business plan pro
cess. In addition to the assumptions financial effects from specific actions accord
ing to SEB’s long term strategy are added. Projections for 2019–2020 includes regu
latory uncertainties like assumed increase in capital needs derived from the Basel III
regulation.

Estimates and assumptions used: Cost of Equity (CoE) – discount rate
The associated risk in each specific business unit and geography has been reflected
in the respective CoE for each CGU. Investment Management ś discount rate is
higher, 11.5 per cent than the SEB Group ś average due to regulatory uncertainty
related to limitations to retrocessions, possible further margin squeeze and the cur
rent negative interest environment that can create squeezed asset prices and vola
tility. For Life Denmark discount rate is higher, 11.5 per cent, than the SEB Group ś
average due to the distributionmodel might bemore dependent on own channels
and uncertainty related to limitations in retrocessions. The base discount rate used
in the impairment test at the end of 2015 is unchanged at 9.5 per cent posttax for
SEB Group and is determined based on information from external sources.

Yearly impairment test in the fourth quarter
Result of impairment test
The yearly impairment test for 2016 was performed in the fourth quarter covering
the four remaining CGUs with allocated goodwill. The impairment test did not result
in any indication of impairment.

Estimates and assumptions used: future cash flows
This test is based on the business plan for 2017–2019, including changed assump
tions compared to the preceding business plan for the concerned CGUs, and pro
jected cash flows for 2020–2021. The longterm growth is based on expectations
on inflation 1.5 per cent. The allocated capital is derived from the Group’s internal
capital allocationmodel that has been aligned with the regulatory capital require
ments including themanagement buffer. Certain regulatory uncertainties included
in previous impairment test has been eliminated since potential impact from these
will not occur within the projection period. The cash flows in the business plan
starts with the assumptions from themost recent Nordic outlook published at the
commencement of this business plan process. Themain assumptions are; GDP
growth in Sweden from 2.8 per cent to 2.2 per cent over three years and other
Nordic countries excluding Sweden from 1.5 per cent to 2.0 per cent; inflation in
Sweden from 1.2 per cent to 2.2 per cent and in Other Nordic countries from 1.6 per
cent to 1.7 per cent. The repo rate in Sweden is assumed to be 0.25 per cent end
of 2018.

Estimates and assumptions used: Cost of Equity (CoE) – discount rate
The discount rate used is 9.0 per cent posttax for SEB Group and is determined
based on information from external sources and applied on all CGUs except Invest
ment Management. The higher discount rate for Investment Management, 11.0 per
cent, is applied due to remaining uncertainty as described for in the impairment test
in the first quarter.

Sensitivities
An increase of one percentage of the discount rate (CoE), a decrease of the average
growth rates by one percentage point for earnings before amortisations during the
projection period and a decrease of one percentage point of the long term growth
was applied in the sensitivity analysis. The sensitivity analysis carried out did not
result in any indication of impairment.
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Note 28 continued Tangible and intangible assets

Property and equipment

Group Parent company

2016 Equipment

Properties
for own

operations Total Equipment

Equipment
leased to
clients1)

Properties
for own

operations Total

Opening balance 3,105 97 3,202 1,888 50,388 2 52,278
Additions from acquisitions and capitalisations 297 8 305 190 5,437 5,627
Reclassifications –52 1 –51
Retirements and disposals –189 –8 –197 –28 –7,121 –7,149
Exchange rate differences 87 8 95 24 24

Acquisition value 3,248 106 3,354 2,074 48,704 2 50,780

Opening balance –2,334 –43 –2,377 –1,480 –12,645 –14,125
Current year’s depreciations –261 –5 –266 –106 –4,704 –4,810
Current year’s impairments –1 –2 –3
Reclassifications 91 91
Retirements and disposals 180 8 188 26 2,822 2,848
Exchange rate differences –70 –9 –79 –22 492 470

Accumulated depreciations –2,395 –51 –2,446 –1,582 –14,035 –15,617

TOTAL 853 55 908 492 34,669 2 35,163

2015

Opening balance 3,316 120 3,436 1,934 50,761 2 52,697
Additions from acquisitions and capitalisations 244 10 254 156 5,960 6,116
Reclassifications 77 –17 60
Retirements and disposals –531 –2 –533 –252 –6,333 –6,585
Exchange rate differences –1 –14 –15 50 50

Acquisition value 3,105 97 3,202 1,888 50,388 2 52,278

Opening balance –2,554 –52 –2,606 –1,597 –12,160 –13,757
Current year’s depreciations –393 –10 –403 –165 –4,598 –4,763
Current year’s impairments –1 –1
Reclassifications 25 8 33
Retirements and disposals 517 2 519 252 4,463 4,715
Exchange rate differences 72 9 81 30 –350 –320

Accumulated depreciations –2,334 –43 –2,377 –1,480 –12,645 –14,125

TOTAL 771 54 825 408 37,743 2 38,153

1) Equipment leased to clients are recognised as financial leases and presented as loans in the Group. See note 44.

Investment properties, Group

2016 2015

Investment
properties

at cost

Investment
properties
at fair value

Properties
taken over for

protection
of claims Total

Investment
properties

at cost

Investment
properties at

fair value

Properties
taken over for

protection
of claims Total

Opening balance 43 7,169 1,248 8,460 35 7,497 2,024 9,556
Additions from acquisitions and capitalisations 5 73 52 130 27 326 85 438
Reclassifications –494 –494 1 –616 –615
Retirements and disposals –13 –236 –343 –592 –18 –332 –171 –521
Exchange rate differences 2 312 36 350 –2 –223 –74 –299

Acquisition value 37 7,318 499 7,854 43 7,268 1,248 8,559

Opening balance –5 –146 –151 –5 –91 –96
Current year’s depreciations –1 –4 –5 –1 –6 –7
Current year’s impairments –127 –127 –148 –148
Reclassifications 174 174 89 89
Retirements and disposals 23 23 1 5 6
Exchange rate differences –6 –6 5 5

Accumulated depreciations –6 –86 –92 –5 –146 –151

Fair value changes 83 83 –99 –99

TOTAL 31 7,401 413 7,845 38 7,169 1,102 8,309
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Note 28 continued Tangible and intangible assets

Net operating earnings from investment properties

Group

2016 2015

External income 556 548
Operating costs 1) –170 –182

TOTAL 386 366

1) Direct operating expenses arising from investment property that did not generate rental income amounts to SEK 12m (12).

Net operating earnings fromproperties taken over for protection of claims

External income 54 49
Operating costs –88 –83

TOTAL –34 –34

SEBmay in specific cases acquire assets used as collateral when the loan is in default and the customer can no longer meet its
obligations towards SEB. Properties are held andmanaged during a period with the intention to divest the assets when deemed
appropriate.

29 Other assets
Group Parent company

2016 2015 2016 2015

Trade and client receivables 7,635 13,124 7,234 12,871
Margin collateral paid 29,177 22,132 29,177 22,132
Other assets 12,306 14,045 7,538 5,260

TOTAL 49,118 49,301 43,949 40,263

Trade and client receivables

Group Parent company

2016 2015 2016 2015

Trade receivables 1,773 1,370 1,678 1,262
Client receivables 5,862 11,754 5,556 11,609

TOTAL 7,635 13,124 7,234 12,871

Other assets

Pension plan assets, net 3,914 5,558
Reinsurers share of insurance provisions 539 499
Accrued interest income 62 66
Other accrued income 1,654 1,477 1,448 1,408
Prepaid expenses 635 485
Other 5,502 5,960 6,090 3,852

TOTAL 12,306 14,045 7,538 5,260

30 Liabilities to policyholders
Group

2016 2015

Liabilities to policyholders – investment contracts 296,618 271,995
Liabilities to policyholders – insurance contracts 107,213 98,714

TOTAL 403,831 370,709

Liabilities to policyholders – investment contracts*

Opening balance 271,995 259,275
Reclassification from/to insurance contracts 1,316 –114
Change in investment contract provisions 1) 14,987 15,340
Exchange rate differences 8,320 –2,506

TOTAL 296,618 271,995

1) The net of premiums received during the year, return on investment funds less payments to the policyholders and deduction of fees and policyholders’ tax.
* Insurance provisions where the policyholders are carrying the risk. The liabilities and the underlying assets are designated at fair value through profit or loss
(fair value option).

Liabilities to policyholders – insurance contracts

Opening balance 98,714 105,079
Transfer of portfolios through divestments 355
Reclassification to/from investment contracts –1,316 114
Change in collective bonus provisions –578
Change in other insurance contract provisions 1) 5,622 –3,138
Exchange rate differences 3,838 –2,763

TOTAL 107,213 98,714

1) The net of premiums received during the year, allocated return on investment funds less payments to the policyholders and deduction of fees and policyholders’ tax.
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31 Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Group Parent company

2016 2015 2016 2015

Liabilities held for trading 38,845 40,746 38,845 40,487
Derivatives held for trading 173,348 188,062 132,861 160,619

Held for trading 212,193 228,808 171,706 201,106

Derivatives held for hedging 1,303 1,977 972 1,685

Designated at fair value through profit or loss 1,303 1,977 972 1,685

TOTAL 213,496 230,785 172,678 202,791

Liabilities held for trading

Short positions in equity instruments 10,072 12,927 10,072 12,831
Short positions in debt securities 9,527 10,419 9,527 10,262
Other financial liabilities 19,224 17,377 19,224 17,377
Accrued interest 22 23 22 17

TOTAL 38,845 40,746 38,845 40,487

Derivatives held for trading

Negative replacement values of interestrelated derivatives 96,955 111,651 61,795 87,718
Negative replacement values of currencyrelated derivatives 64,420 58,137 61,415 56,475
Negative replacement values of equityrelated derivatives 2,010 5,123 1,855 4,773
Negative replacement values of other derivatives 9,963 13,151 7,796 11,653

TOTAL 173,348 188,062 132,861 160,619

Derivatives held for hedging

Fair value hedges 12 475 12 475
Cash flowhedges 957 1,210 957 1,210
Portfolio hedges for interest rate risk 334 292 3

TOTAL 1,303 1,977 972 1,685

32 Other liabilities
Group Parent company

2016 2015 2016 2015

Trade and client payables 8,926 11,496 7,945 11,011
Margin collateral received 29,922 28,044 29,922 28,044
Other liabilities 17,576 23,994 8,211 12,736

TOTAL 56,424 63,534 46,078 51,791

Trade and client payables

Trade payables 1,882 1,684 1,703 1,361
Client payables 7,044 9,812 6,242 9,650

TOTAL 8,926 11,496 7,945 11,011

Other liabilities

Accrued interest expense 4 2
Other accrued expense 3,986 3,595 2,623 2,357
Prepaid income 1,477 1,673
Other 12,109 18,724 5,588 10,379

TOTAL 17,576 23,994 8,211 12,736
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33 Provisions
Group Parent company

2016 2015 2016 2015

Other restructuring and redundancy reserves 642 515 35 42
Reserve for offbalance sheet items 44 81 0 22
Pensions (note 9b) 1) 718 384
Other provisions 829 893 45 80

TOTAL 2,233 1,873 80 144

1) Part of the net (asset) amount recognised in balance sheet amounting to SEK 3,196m (5,175) in note 9b.

Other restructuring and redundancy reserves

Opening balance 515 588 42 50
Additions 308 45
Amounts used –186 –101 –9 –8
Unused amounts reversed –19 –2
Othermovements 3 1
Exchange differences 21 –16 2

TOTAL 642 515 35 42

Themain part of the reserve will cover redundancy costs to be used within five years.

Reserve for off-balance-sheet items

Opening balance 81 87 22
Additions 24 62 19 22
Amounts used –34 –5 –34
Unused amounts reversed –33 –33 –7
Othermovements 4 –26
Exchange differences 2 –4

TOTAL 44 81 0 22

Other provisions

Opening balance 893 1,198 80 123
Additions 53 67 –43
Amounts used –91 –60 –35
Unused amounts reversed –33 –305
Othermovements 5
Exchange differences 7 –12

TOTAL 829 893 45 80

Other provisionmainly consists of costs for reorganisation within the Group to be used within three years and unsettled claims covering all operating segments; among
others in the divested German retail business to be settled within three years and tax returns within Life U.K. branch under decommission.

34 Subordinated liabilities
Group Parent company

2016 2015 2016 2015

Debenture loans 24,851 16,092 24,851 16,092
Debenture loans, perpetual 14,738 13,855 14,738 13,855
Debenture loans, hedged positions 625 960 625 960
Accrued interest 505 465 505 465

TOTAL 40,719 31,372 40,719 31,372

Debenture loans

Currency
Original nom.

amount Book value
Rate of

interest,%

2012/2022 EUR 750 7,169 4.000
2014/2026 EUR 1,000 9,558 2.500
2016/2028 EUR 850 8,124 1.380

TOTAL 24,851

Debenture loans, perpetual

Currency
Original nom.

amount Book value
Rate of

interest,%

2007 EUR 500 4,779 7.092
2014 USD 1,100 9,959 5.750

TOTAL 14,738
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35 Untaxed reserves 1)

Parent company

2016 2015

Depreciation in excess of plan on office equipment/leased assets 21,755 23,460
Other untaxed reserves 6 6

TOTAL 21,761 23,466

1) In the balance sheet of the Group untaxed reserves are reclassified partly as deferred tax liability and partly as restricted equity.

Parent company

Excess
depreciation

Other untaxed
reserves Total

Opening balance 23,097 6 23,103
Appropriations 363 363

Closing balance 2015 23,460 6 23,466

Reversals –1,705 –1,705

CLOSINGBALANCE 2016 21,755 6 21,761

36 Pledged assets
Group Parent company

2016 2015 2016 2015

Pledged assets and comparable securities for own liabilities 478,998 496,825 392,227 399,047
Pledged assets for own liabilities to insurance policyholders 403,831 370,709
Other pledged assets and comparable securities 154,518 146,521 152,317 135,864

TOTAL 1,037,347 1,014,055 544,544 534,911

Pledged assets and comparable securities for own liabilities*

Repos 3,901 8,733 3,783 8,733
Assets collateralised for issuedmortgage covered bonds 335,094 339,652 318,412 319,392
Assets collateralised for issued public covered bonds 11,491 14,999
Other collateral 128,512 133,441 70,032 70,922
ofwhich group internal 18,723 10,080

TOTAL 478,998 496,825 392,227 399,047

* Transfers that do not qualify for derecognition.

Pledged assets for own liabilities to insurance policyholders

Assets pledged for insurance contracts 107,213 98,714
Assets pledged for investment contracts1) 296,618 271,995

TOTAL 403,831 370,709

1) Shares in funds.

Other pledged assets and comparable collateral

Bonds1) 80,718 73,781 80,718 73,782
Securities lending 61,498 63,528 59,297 52,870
Other 12,302 9,212 12,302 9,212

TOTAL 154,518 146,521 152,317 135,864

1) Pledged but unencumbered bonds.

Transferred financial assets entirely recognized1)

Transferred assets Associated liabilities
Associated

collateral received 2)

Group, 2016
Securities
lending

Repurchase
agreements Other3) Total

Securities
lending

Repurchase
agreements Other3) Total Securities lending

Equity instruments 9,029 4,495 13,524 864 4,050 4,914 7,668
Debt securities 6,769 1,283 1,258 9,310 410 1,101 806 2,317 5,986

Financial assets held for trading 15,798 1,283 5,753 22,834 1,274 1,101 4,856 7,231 13,654

Debt securities 118 118 118 118

Financial assets designated at fair value
through profit or loss

118 118 118 118

2015

Equity instruments 17,719 13,968 31,687 1,852 13,667 15,519 15,249
Debt securities 12,396 7,588 949 20,933 625 7,090 7,715 11,099

Financial assets held for trading 30,115 7,588 14,917 52,620 2,477 7,090 13,667 23,234 26,348
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Note 36 continued Pledged assets

Transferred assets Associated liabilities
Associated

collateral received 2)

Parent company, 2016
Securities
lending

Repurchase
agreements Other3) Total

Securities
lending

Repurchase
agreements Other3) Total Securities lending

Equity instruments 9,258 4,451 13,709 1,078 3,992 5,070 7,400
Debt securities 6,734 1,283 1,217 9,234 316 1,101 810 2,227 5,849

Financial assets held for trading 15,992 1,283 5,668 22,943 1,394 1,101 4,802 7,297 13,249

2015

Equity instruments 14,232 13,520 27,752 2,182 13,220 15,402 11,288
Debt securities 11,230 7,588 901 19,719 171 7,090 7,261 10,439

Financial assets held for trading 25,462 7,588 14,421 47,471 2,353 7,090 13,220 22,663 21,727

1) Carrying amount and fair value are the same.
2) Other than cash collateral.
3) Assets provided as collateral for derivatives trading, clearing etc.

Pledged assets
Assets are transferred for repurchase agreements and securities lending agreements.
The counterpart has the right to sell or repledge the assets. Other transferred assets
refer to assets provided as collateral for derivatives trading, clearing etc., where the
title to the instrument has been transferred to the counterparty. The assets continue
to be recognised on SEB’s balance sheet since SEB is still exposed to changes in the
fair value of the assets. The carrying value and fair value of the assets transferred as
collateral for liabilities or contingent liabilities are shown in the table above.

SEB issues covered bonds secured bymortgage loans pledged as security
according to the local legislation. The pledged securities aremainly residential
mortgages in single family homes, tenant owned homes or other residential apart

ment buildings. The loantovalue ratio does not exceed 75 per cent. In the event of
SEB’s insolvency, the holders of the covered bonds have priority to the assets regis
tered as collateral.

Obtained collateral
SEB obtains collateral under reverse repurchase agreements and securities borrow
ing agreements. Under the terms of standard financial market agreements SEB has
the right to sell or repledge the collateral, subject to returning equivalent securities
on settlement of the transactions.

More information about the accounting of repurchase agreements and securities
lending can be found in the accounting principles.

37 Obligations
Group Parent company

2016 2015 2016 2015

Contingent liabilities 120,231 109,297 97,642 87,798
Commitments 655,350 609,872 468,953 434,656

TOTAL 775,581 719,169 566,595 522,454

Contingent liabilities1)

Ownacceptances 1,318 746 1,274 701

Financial guarantees given2) 25,203 43,739 26,035 18,494
ofwhich group internal 8,831 6,986

Other guarantees given 93,710 64,812 70,333 68,603
ofwhich group internal 2,220 2,170

Guarantees given 118,913 108,551 96,368 87,097

TOTAL 120,231 109,297 97,642 87,798

1) Pledged assets for own or third party obligations
2) SEB does not regularly securitise its assets and has no outstanding own issues. For liquidity facilities and other facilities to conduits see note 27.

Other contingent liabilities
The parent company has undertaken to theMonetary Authority of Singapore to
ensure that its subsidiary in Luxembourg’s branch in Singapore is able to fulfil its
commitments.

The parent company has issued a deposit guarantee for SEB AG in Germany to
the Bundesverband deutscher Banken e.V.

Legal proceedings
Within the ordinary course of business SEB is engaged in various legal proceedings,
both in Sweden and in other jurisdictions. SEB does not expect these current legal
proceedings to have a significant adverse effect on the financial position of the
Group.

Group Parent company

Commitments1) 2016 2015 2016 2015

Granted undrawn credit facilities 347,273 319,045 275,157 237,292
ofwhich group internal 250 791

Unutilised part of overdraft facilities 143,041 135,809 78,077 70,039
ofwhich group internal 8,495 9,362

Repledged collaterals 120,486 125,314 102,933 102,190
ofwhich group internal 20,473 17,226

Other commitments given 44,550 29,704 12,786 25,135

Other commitments 655,350 609,872 468,953 434,656

TOTAL 655,350 609,872 468,953 434,656

1) Pledged assets for own or third party obligations

Discretionary managed assets
Discretionary managed assets in the parent company amounted to SEK 528 bn (446).
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38 Current and noncurrent assets and liabilities
Group

Assets

2016 2015

Current assets
Non-current

assets Total Current assets
Non-current

assets Total

Cash and cash balanceswith central banks 151,078 151,078 101,429 101,429
Other lending to central banks 66,730 66,730 32,222 32,222
Loans to credit institutions 42,080 8,447 50,527 46,188 12,354 58,542
Loans to the public 598,919 854,100 1,453,019 581,376 772,010 1,353,386
Securities held for trading 162,516 162,516 239,906 239,906
Derivatives held for trading 198,271 198,271 199,085 199,085
Derivatives held for hedging 14,084 14,084 16,466 16,466
Financial assets – designated at fair value through profit or loss 410,155 410,155 371,488 371,488

Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss 785,026 785,026 826,945 826,945
Fair value changes of hedged items in a portfolio hedge 111 111 104 104
Availableforsale financial assets 35,747 35,747 37,331 37,331
Investment accounted for using the equitymethod 268 268 260 260
Other investments in associates 970 970 958 958

Investments in subsidiaries and associates 1,238 1,238 1,218 1,218
Intangible assets 1,432 9,973 11,405 1,540 15,529 17,069
Property and equipment 271 637 908 410 415 825
Investment properties 7,845 7,845 8,309 8,309

Tangible and intangible assets 9,548 10,610 20,158 10,259 15,944 26,203
Current tax assets 5,978 5,978 6,966 6,966
Deferred tax assets 1,329 1,329 1,516 1,516

Tax assets 5,978 1,329 7,307 6,966 1,516 8,482
Trade and client receivables 7,635 7,635 13,124 13,124
Other financial assets 29,239 29,239 22,363 22,363
Other non-financial assets 12,244 12,244 13,814 13,814

Other assets 49,118 49,118 49,301 49,301
Noncurrent assets classified as held for sale 587 587 801 801

TOTAL 1,744,922 875,724 2,620,646 1,692,922 803,042 2,495,964

2016 2015

Liabilities
Current

liabilities
Non-current

liabilities Total
Current

liabilities
Non-current

liabilities Total

Deposits from central banks and credit institutions 106,600 13,264 119,864 112,509 5,997 118,506
Deposits and borrowing from the public 916,562 45,466 962,028 832,331 51,454 883,785
Liabilities to policyholders – investment contracts 16,719 279,899 296,618 9,100 262,895 271,995
Liabilities to policyholders – insurance contracts 8,403 98,810 107,213 10,100 88,614 98,714

Pooled schemes and liabilities to policyholders 25,122 378,709 403,831 19,200 351,509 370,709
Debt securities issued 198,709 470,171 668,880 232,310 407,134 639,444
Liabilities held for trading 38,845 38,845 40,746 40,746
Derivatives held for trading 173,348 173,348 188,062 188,062
Derivatives held for hedging 1,303 1,303 1,977 1,977

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit and loss 213,496 213,496 230,785 230,785
Fair value changes of hedged items in portfolio hedge 1,537 1,537 1,608 1,608
Current tax liabilities 2,184 2,184 2,082 2,082
Deferred tax liabilities 8,474 8,474 9,468 9,468

Tax liabilities 2,184 8,474 10,658 2,082 9,468 11,550
Trade and client payables 8,926 8,926 11,496 11,496
Other financial liabilities 30,609 30,609 29,138 29,138
Other non-financial liabilities 16,889 16,889 22,900 22,900

Other liabilities 56,424 56,424 63,534 63,534
Provisions 2,233 2,233 1,873 1,873
Subordinated liabilities 505 40,214 40,719 793 30,579 31,372

TOTAL 1,521,139 958,531 2,479,670 1,495,152 858,014 2,353,166

Assets and liabilities are classified as current assets and current liabilities when they
are cash or cash equivalents, are hold for trading purposes, are expected to be sold,

settled or consumed in normal business, and are expected to be realised within
twelvemonths. All other assets and liabilities are classified as noncurrent.
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39 Financial assets and liabilities by class
Group Book value Fair value

Assets, 2016
Held for
trading

Designated at fair
value through p/l

/ Hedge
instruments

Available-
for-sale

Loans and
receivables Total

Quoted prices
in active
markets
(Level 1)

Valuation
technique using

observable
inputs (Level 2)

Valuation
technique using
non-observable
inputs (Level 3) Total

Loans 1,704,291 1,704,291 49,975 533 1,665,293 1,715,801
Equity instruments 40,324 30,800 3,049 74,173 50,254 13,215 10,704 74,173
Debt securities 122,192 83,447 32,698 15,106 253,443 102,894 147,427 3,332 253,653
Derivative instruments 198,271 14,084 212,355 2,593 201,621 8,141 212,355
Financial assets
– policyholders bearing the risk 295,908 295,908 275,894 15,589 4,425 295,908
Other 111 38,831 38,942 1,957 36,985 38,942

Financial assets 360,787 424,350 35,747 1,758,228 2,579,112 483,567 378,385 1,728,880 2,590,832

Other assets (nonfinancial) 41,534

TOTAL 360,787 424,350 35,747 1,758,228 2,620,646

2015

Loans 1,522,503 1,522,503 42,955 290 1,485,907 1,529,152
Equity instruments 67,538 28,264 2,368 98,170 75,354 11,469 11,347 98,170
Debt securities 172,368 71,611 34,963 21,001 299,943 134,826 159,177 6,103 300,106
Derivative instruments 199,085 16,466 215,551 2,061 202,261 11,229 215,551
Financial assets
– policyholders bearing the risk 271,613 271,613 255,175 13,831 2,607 271,613
Other 104 37,562 37,666 2,075 35,591 37,666

Financial assets 438,991 388,058 37,331 1,581,066 2,445,446 512,446 387,028 1,552,784 2,452,258

Other assets (nonfinancial) 50,518

TOTAL 438,991 388,058 37,331 1,581,066 2,495,964

Book value Fair value

Liabilities, 2016
Held for
trading

Designated at fair
value through p/l

/ Hedge
instruments

Other
financial
liabilitie Total

Quoted prices
in active
markets
(Level 1)

Valuation
technique using

observable
inputs (Level 2)

Valuation
technique using
non-observable
inputs (Level 3) Total

Deposits 1,045,056 1,045,056 30,491 325 1,016,048 1,046,864
Equity instruments 10,071 10,071 9,798 2 271 10,071
Debt securities 9,549 30,992 715,443 755,984 7,074 727,440 34,099 768,613
Derivative instruments 173,348 1,303 174,651 2,808 168,207 3,636 174,651
Liabilities to policyholders
– investment contracts 296,618 296,618 276,666 15,542 4,410 296,618
Other 19,225 1,537 39,535 60,297 10 19,244 41,043 60,297

Financial liabilities 212,193 330,450 1,800,034 2,342,677 326,847 930,760 1,099,507 2,357,114

Other liabilities (nonfinancial) 136,993
Total equity 140,976

TOTAL 212,193 330,450 1,800,034 2,620,646

2015

Deposits 957,599 957,599 26,908 182 930,805 957,895
Equity instruments 12,927 12,927 12,445 37 445 12,927
Debt securities 10,442 34,774 680,734 725,950 7,071 693,674 44,625 745,370
Derivative instruments 188,062 1,977 190,039 2,534 176,104 11,401 190,039
Liabilities to policyholders
– investment contracts 271,995 271,995 255,581 13,812 2,602 271,995
Other 17,377 1,608 40,634 59,619 408 17,413 41,798 59,619

Financial liabilities 228,808 310,354 1,678,967 2,218,129 304,947 901,222 1,031,676 2,237,845

Other liabilities (nonfinancial) 135,037
Total equity 142,798

TOTAL 228,808 310,354 1,678,967 2,495,964
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Note 39 continued Financial assets and liabilities by class

Parent company Book value

Assets, 2016
Held for
trading

Designated at fair
value through p/l

/ Hedge
instruments

Available-
for-sale

Loans and
receivables Total

Loans 1,520,966 1,520,966
Equity instruments 40,323 87 53,365 93,775
Debt securities 122,012 9,309 8,703 140,024
Derivative instruments 147,124 12,649 159,773
Other 37,592 37,592

Financial assets 309,459 12,736 62,674 1,567,261 1,952,130

Other assets (nonfinancial) 47,714

TOTAL 309,459 12,736 62,674 1,567,261 1,999,844

2015

Loans 1,288,753 1,288,753
Equity instruments 62,726 209 54,529 117,464
Debt securities 171,380 10,702 13,496 195,578
Derivative instruments 165,964 15,042 181,006
Other 36,324 36,324

Financial assets 400,070 15,251 65,231 1,338,573 1,819,125

Other assets (nonfinancial) 47,480

TOTAL 400,070 15,251 65,231 1,338,573 1,866,605

Book value

Liabilities, 2016
Held for
trading

Designated at fair
value through p/l

/ Hedge
instruments

Other
financial
liabilities Total

Deposits 951,436 951,436
Equity instruments 10,072 10,072
Debt securities 28,773 704,905 733,678
Derivative instruments 132,861 972 133,833
Other 37,867 37,867

Financial liabilities 171,706 972 1,694,208 1,866,886

Other liabilities (nonfinancial) 9,823
Total equity 123,135

TOTAL 171,706 972 1,694,208 1,999,844

2015

Deposits 825,117 825,117
Equity instruments 12,831 12,831
Debt securities 27,656 663,775 691,431
Derivative instruments 160,619 1,685 162,304
Other 39,055 39,055

Financial liabilities 201,106 1,685 1,527,947 1,730,738

Other liabilities (nonfinancial) 14,621
Total equity 121,246

TOTAL 201,106 1,685 1,527,947 1,866,605

SEB has grouped its financial instruments by class taking into account the characte
ristics of the instruments:

Loans and deposits includes financial assets and liabilities with fixed or determina
ble payments that are not quoted in an active market. Loans are further specified in
note 17a and 19.

Equity instruments includes shares, rights issues and similar contractual rights of
other entities.

Debt instruments includes contractual rights to receive or obligations to deliver
cash on a predetermined date. These are further specified in note 17f and 41.

Derivative instruments includes options, futures, swaps and other derived pro
ducts held for trading and hedging purposes. These are further specified in notes 22,
31 and 42.

Investment contracts include those assets and liabilities in the Life insurance opera
tions where the policyholder is carrying the risk of the contractual agreement (is not
qualified as an insurance contract under IFRS 4). The Life insurance operations are
further specified in note 46.

Insurance contracts includes those assets and liabilities in the Life insurance
operations where SEB is carrying the insurance risk of a contractual agreement
(is qualified as an insurance contract under IFRS 4). The Life insurance operations
are further specified in note 46.

Other includes other financial assets and liabilities recognised in accordance
with IAS 39, i.e. Trade and client receivables/payables andWithheld/paid margins
of safety.



144

Financial statements Notes

SEB Annual Report 2016

40 Financial assets and liabilities subject to offsetting or netting arrangements
Financial assets and liabilities subject to offsetting or netting arrangements

Related arrangements
Other instruments

in balance sheet not
subject to netting

arrangementsGroup, 2016
Gross

amounts Offset
Net amounts in
balance sheet

Master netting
arrangements

Collaterals
received/
pledged

Net
amounts

Total in
balance sheet

Derivatives 215,367 –4,447 210,920 –123,698 –34,841 52,381 1,435 212,355
Reversed repo receivables 99,828 –35,332 64,496 –682 –63,612 202 1 64,497
Securities borrowing 25,265 25,265 –7,616 –17,649 5,525 30,790
Client receivables 43 –42 1 1 5,861 5,862

ASSETS 340,503 –39,821 300,682 –131,996 –116,102 52,584 12,822 313,504

Derivatives 176,773 –4,447 172,326 –123,698 –31,547 17,081 2,325 174,651
Repo payables 36,926 –35,332 1,594 –682 –795 117 1,594
Securities lending 25,155 25,155 –7,616 –8,765 8,774 6 25,161
Client payables 42 –42 7,044 7,044

LIABILITIES 238,896 –39,821 199,075 –131,996 –41,107 25,972 9,375 208,450

2015

Derivatives 219,186 –4,514 214,672 –133,854 –33,135 47,683 879 215,551
Reversed repo receivables 71,161 –10,850 60,311 –4,604 –55,468 239 5 60,316
Securities borrowing 22,582 –75 22,507 –5,976 –16,531 5,984 28,491
Client receivables 335 –333 2 2 11,752 11,754

ASSETS 313,264 –15,772 297,492 –144,434 –105,134 47,924 18,620 316,112

Derivatives 192,675 –4,514 188,161 –133,854 –49,311 4,996 1,878 190,039
Repo payables 20,459 –10,850 9,609 –4,604 –4,128 877 9,609
Securities lending 17,538 –75 17,463 –5,976 –11,260 227 6 17,469
Client payables 333 –333 9,812 9,812

LIABILITIES 231,005 –15,772 215,233 –144,434 –64,699 6,100 11,696 226,929

Financial assets and liabilities subject to offsetting or netting arrangements

Related arrangements
Other instruments
in balance sheet not
subject to netting
arrangementsParent company, 2016

Gross
amounts Offset

Net amounts in
balance sheet

Master netting
arrangements

Collaterals
received/
pledged

Net
amounts

Total in
balance sheet

Derivatives 159,773 159,773 –80,887 –19,811 59,075 159,773
Reversed repo receivables 100,150 –35,332 64,818 –682 –63,612 524 64,818
Securities borrowing 24,396 24,396 –7,616 –11,642 5,138 5,423 29,819
Client receivables 42 –42 5,556 5,556

ASSETS 284,361 –35,374 248,987 –89,185 –95,065 64,737 10,979 259,966

Derivatives 133,833 133,833 –80,887 –43,422 9,524 133,833
Repo payables 36,808 –35,332 1,476 –682 –4,128 –3,334 1,476
Securities lending 14,431 14,431 –7,616 –9,051 –2,236 14,431
Client payables 42 –42 6,242 6,242

LIABILITIES 185,114 –35,374 149,740 –89,185 –56,601 3,954 6,242 155,982

2015

Derivatives 181,006 181,006 –103,579 –23,757 53,670 181,006
Reversed repo receivables 70,844 –10,850 59,994 –4,604 –55,058 332 59,994
Securities borrowing 11,308 11,308 –5,976 –5,332 22,103 33,411
Client receivables 333 –333 11,609 11,609

ASSETS 263,491 –11,183 252,308 –114,159 –84,147 54,002 33,712 286,020

Derivatives 162,304 162,304 –103,579 –43,422 15,303 162,304
Repo payables 19,582 –10,850 8,732 –4,604 –4,128 8,732
Securities lending 15,027 15,027 –5,976 –9,051 15,027
Client payables 333 –333 9,650 9,650

LIABILITIES 197,246 –11,183 186,063 –114,159 –56,601 15,303 9,650 195,713

The table shows financial assets and liabilities that are presented net in the balance
sheet or with potential rights to offset associated with enforceable master netting
arrangements or similar arrangements, together with related collateral.

Financial assets and liabilities are presented net in the balance sheet when SEB
has legally enforceable rights to setoff, in the ordinary cause of business and in the
case of bankruptcy, and intends to settle on a net basis or to realize the assets and
settle the liabilities simultaneously. Repos with central counterparty clearing
houses that SEB has agreements with and client receivables and client payables are
examples of instruments that are presented net in the balance sheet.

Financial assets and liabilities subject to enforceablemaster netting arrange
ments or similar arrangements that are not presented net in the balance sheet are
arrangements that are usually enforceable in the case of bankruptcy or default but
not in the ordinary course of business or arrangements where SEB does not have the
intention to settle the instruments simultaneously.

Assets and liabilities that are not subject to offsetting or netting arrangements,
i.e those that are only subject to collateral agreements, are presented as Other
instruments in balance sheet not subject to netting arrangements.
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41 Debt securities by issuers
Eligible debt securities*

Group, 2016
Swedish

Government
Swedish

municipalities

Other Swedish
issuers – non-

financial companies

Other Swedish
issuers – other

financial companies
Foreign

Government

Other
foreign
issuers Total

Loans to credit institutions 382 382
Loans to the public 6,690 6,006 12,696
Securities held for trading 10,088 4,528 19,374 1 33,991
Insurance assets at fair value 1,437 453 3,285 7,635 30,995 43,805
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 5,340 829 6,169
Availableforsale financial assets 299 27,437 3,690 31,426

TOTAL 11,824 4,981 3,285 66,476 41,903 128,469

2015

Loans to credit institutions 1,415 1,415
Loans to the public 8,248 5,563 13,811
Securities held for trading 8,832 5,374 54,382 144 68,732
Insurance assets at fair value 1,385 517 1 2,974 4,859 29,256 38,992
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 3,850 3,850
Availableforsale financial assets 99 17,596 1,863 19,558

TOTAL 10,316 5,891 1 2,974 88,935 38,241 146,358

Parent company, 2016

Loans to the public 6,690 6,690
Securities held for trading 10,088 4,528 19,195 33,811
Availableforsale financial assets 6,588 6,588

TOTAL 10,088 4,528 32,473 47,089

2015

Loans to the public 7,816 7,816
Securities held for trading 8,832 5,374 41,002 13,107 68,315
Availableforsale financial assets 6,477 6,477

TOTAL 8,832 5,374 41,002 27,400 82,608

* Accrued interest excluded.

Eligible papers are considered as such if they, according to national legislation, are accepted by the Central bank in the country in which SEB is located.

Other debt securities*

Group, 2016

Swedish
Government and
municipalities

Swedish
mortgage

institutions

Other Swedish
issuers – non-

financial companies

Other Swedish
issuers – other

financial companies
Foreign

Government

Other
foreign
issuers Total

Loans to the public 1,896 1,896
Securities held for trading 26,683 1,368 5,525 7 54,070 87,653
Insurance assets at fair value 306 1,094 1,132 2,168 27,887 32,587
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 301 301
Availableforsale financial assets 1,021 1,021

TOTAL 306 26,683 2,462 6,657 3,497 83,853 123,458

2015

Loans to credit institutions 1,386 1,386
Loans to the public 191 3,947 4,138
Securities held for trading 40,071 3,030 7,790 569 51,345 102,805
Insurance assets at fair value 339 34 1,037 1,203 1,640 23,626 27,879
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 292 292
Availableforsale financial assets 217 11,821 3,035 15,073

TOTAL 556 40,105 4,258 8,993 14,322 83,339 151,573

Parent company, 2016

Loans to the public 1,881 1,881
Securities held for trading 26,683 1,293 5,600 54,077 87,653
Availableforsale financial assets 2,608 2,608

TOTAL 26,683 1,293 5,600 58,566 92,142

2015

Loans to credit institutions 1,386 1,386
Loans to the public 191 3,920 4,111
Securities held for trading 40,071 3,030 7,789 51,349 102,239
Availableforsale financial assets 4,224 4,224

TOTAL 40,071 3,221 7,789 60,879 111,960

* Accrued interest excluded.
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42 Derivative instruments
Group Parent company

2016 2015 2016 2015

Interestrelated 133,778 138,190 86,172 108,534
Currencyrelated 65,056 59,852 63,144 57,308
Equityrelated 4,990 6,037 3,734 4,758
Other 8,531 11,472 6,723 10,406

Positive replacement values 212,355 215,551 159,773 181,006

Interestrelated 98,258 113,628 62,767 89,403
Currencyrelated 64,420 58,137 61,415 56,475
Equityrelated 2,010 5,123 1,855 4,773
Other 9,963 13,151 7,796 11,653

Negative replacement values 174,651 190,039 133,833 162,304

Positive replacement values Negative replacement values

Group, 2016 Nom. amount Book value Nom. amount Book value

Options 574,200 32,326 1,004,430 25,284
Futures 2,648,672 1,211 2,466,844 2,170
Swaps 3,848,336 100,241 2,735,011 70,804

Interest-related 7,071,208 133,778 6,206,285 98,258
ofwhich, cleared 259,062 16 178,790 9

Options 163,012 4,461 140,597 4,534
Futures 459,163 15,694 388,388 10,389
Swaps 1,533,842 44,901 1,647,949 49,497

Currency-related 2,156,017 65,056 2,176,934 64,420
ofwhich, cleared 2 34

Options 31,059 2,415 19,841 780
Futures 5 17 2 35
Swaps 691,265 2,558 40,115 1,195

Equity-related 722,329 4,990 59,958 2,010
ofwhich, cleared 5 203 95 123

Options 47,860 2,017 40,998 2,315
Futures 35,653 3,896 19,309 4,218
Swaps 6,139 2,618 33,719 3,430

Other 89,652 8,531 94,026 9,963
ofwhich, cleared 30,670 3,159 6,571 3,330

TOTAL 10,039,206 212,355 8,537,203 174,651
ofwhich, cleared 289,737 3,380 185,456 3,496

2015

Options 481,062 20,357 655,165 21,674
Futures 1,467,441 1,036 4,650,862 1,150
Swaps 3,438,368 116,797 3,197,944 90,804

Interest-related 5,386,871 138,190 8,503,971 113,628
ofwhich, cleared 1,467,033 1,045 4,650,787 1,150

Options 193,854 5,839 168,689 4,585
Futures 389,474 14,841 480,267 10,819
Swaps 1,630,730 39,172 1,563,932 42,733

Currency-related 2,214,058 59,852 2,212,888 58,137
ofwhich, cleared 2 24

Options 29,889 3,603 28,128 1,528
Futures 3,022 14 1,495 23
Swaps 92,927 2,420 94,972 3,572

Equity-related 125,838 6,037 124,595 5,123
ofwhich, cleared 3,130 635 1,654 269

Options 54,401 2,851 57,336 2,895
Futures 39,887 6,506 25,952 7,280
Swaps 16,974 2,115 37,762 2,976

Other 111,262 11,472 121,050 13,151
ofwhich, cleared 29,774 735 7,329 3,543

TOTAL 7,838,029 215,551 10,962,504 190,039
ofwhich, cleared 1,499,937 2,417 4,659,770 4,986
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Note 42 continued Derivative instruments

Positive replacement values Negative replacement values

Parent company, 2016 Nom. amount Book value Nom. amount Book value

Options 96,395 4,106 87,081 4,302
Futures 2,648,610 1,212 2,452,956 1,375
Swaps 3,251,815 80,854 2,718,139 57,090

Interest-related 5,996,820 86,172 5,258,176 62,767
ofwhich, cleared 259,000 178,500

Options 147,641 2,991 123,246 2,977
Futures 336,700 13,097 261,143 9,901
Swaps 1,608,724 47,056 1,786,265 48,537

Currency-related 2,093,065 63,144 2,170,654 61,415
ofwhich, cleared

Options 31,059 2,378 19,808 756
Futures 17 35
Swaps 667,259 1,339 32,271 1,064

Equity-related 698,318 3,734 52,079 1,855
ofwhich, cleared 15

Options 33,201 1,905 66,174 2,203
Futures 35,642 3,896 19,298 4,217
Swaps 13,395 922 117 1,376

Other 82,238 6,723 85,589 7,796
ofwhich, cleared 29,209 5,111

TOTAL 8,870,441 159,773 7,566,498 133,833
ofwhich, cleared 288,209 183,626

2015

Options 96,923 4,046 86,809 4,140
Futures 1,467,272 1,035 4,650,470 1,150
Swaps 3,395,516 103,453 3,294,071 84,113

Interest-related 4,959,711 108,534 8,031,350 89,403
ofwhich, cleared 1,466,794 1,035 4,650,470 1,150

Options 194,702 4,544 165,845 3,838
Futures 440,758 12,071 475,683 10,342
Swaps 1,857,531 40,693 1,751,853 42,295

Currency-related 2,492,991 57,308 2,393,381 56,475
ofwhich, cleared 2 24

Options 30,149 2,876 28,430 1,325
Futures 14 19
Swaps 76,952 1,868 87,901 3,429

Equity-related 107,101 4,758 116,331 4,773
ofwhich, cleared 206 180

Options 51,945 2,701 54,867 2,745
Futures 39,870 6,504 25,935 7,279
Swaps 15,442 1,201 26,930 1,629

Other 107,257 10,406 107,732 11,653
ofwhich, cleared 27,287 584 4,843 3,392

TOTAL 7,667,060 181,006 10,648,794 162,304
ofwhich, cleared 1,494,081 1,827 4,655,313 4,746
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43 Future minimum lease payments for operational leases*
Group Parent company

2016 2015 2016 2015

Year 2016 1,218 821
Year 2017 1,274 1,259 885 912
Year 2018 1,048 1,232 721 936
Year 2019 791 715 549 445
Year 2020 683 644 465 387
Year 2021 and later1) 5,439 4,855 4,914 4,150

TOTAL 9,235 9,923 7,534 7,651

* Leases for premises and other operational leases.
1) In 2014 SEB signed a longterm rental agreement for new premises in Stockholm replacing several agreements expiring shortly.

44 Finance leases*
Group

2016 2015

Book value 61,039 62,097
Gross investment 65,924 67,126
Present value ofminimum lease payment receivables 60,074 60,153
Unearned finance income 4,668 4,881
The unguaranteed residual value 463 431
Reserve for impaired uncollectableminimum lease payments –199 –187

* Financial leases where SEB is the lessor.

Group 2016 Group 2015

Book value
Gross

investment
Present
value Book value

Gross
investment

Present
value

Remainingmaturity
–maximum1 year 6,240 6,983 6,740 7,162 7,968 7,153
–more than 1 year butmaximum5 years 27,666 28,830 27,151 25,528 26,481 25,273
–more than 5 years 27,133 30,111 26,183 29,407 32,677 27,727

TOTAL 61,039 65,924 60,074 62,097 67,126 60,153

The leased assets mainly comprise transport vehicles, machinery and facilities. The largest lease engagement amounts to SEK 7.5 billion (7.9).
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45 Assets and liabilities distributed by main currencies
Group, 2016 SEK EUR USD GBP DKK NOK Other Total

Cash and cash balances and loans to central banks 61,808 83,837 55,755 126 5,595 124 10,563 217,808
Loans to credit institutions 1,410 13,101 26,444 2,565 1,572 557 4,878 50,527
Loans to the public 842,883 318,592 134,739 18,311 54,365 62,143 21,986 1,453,019
Other financial assets 396,970 210,719 101,198 10,483 105,136 23,214 10,038 857,758
Other assets 19,983 9,333 975 598 9,558 451 636 41,534

TOTALASSETS 1,323,054 635,582 319,111 32,083 176,226 86,489 48,101 2,620,646

Deposits from central banks 304 21,323 26,398 2,301 0 0 4,066 54,392
Deposits from credit institutions 18,265 23,594 6,969 134 10,313 2,663 3,534 65,472
Deposits and borrowing from the public 483,722 249,599 143,092 26,381 15,839 27,388 16,007 962,028
Other financial liabilities 563,111 355,529 259,103 23,351 46,240 9,030 4,421 1,260,785
Other liabilities 27,976 8,863 2,411 1,058 93,783 1,680 1,222 136,993
Total equity 140,976 140,976

TOTAL LIABILITIESANDEQUITY 1,234,354 658,908 437,973 53,225 166,175 40,761 29,250 2,620,646

2015

Cash and cash balances and loans to central banks 25,135 53,378 46,678 145 3 6,703 1,609 133,651
Loans to credit institutions 4,464 21,928 21,441 2,798 4,163 394 3,354 58,542
Loans to the public 776,912 302,968 121,115 18,924 70,616 43,636 19,215 1,353,386
Other financial assets 444,596 211,477 86,389 21,924 102,974 17,502 15,005 899,867
Other assets 26,801 12,029 754 360 9,909 249 416 50,518

TOTALASSETS 1,277,908 601,780 276,377 44,151 187,665 68,484 39,599 2,495,964

Deposits from central banks 880 1,534 49,347 1,254 942 3,532 783 58,272
Deposits from credit institutions 14,512 15,387 11,892 440 8,877 5,630 3,496 60,234
Deposits and borrowing from the public 448,094 257,489 105,192 20,726 15,520 24,116 12,648 883,785
Other financial liabilities 566,395 331,523 223,726 32,250 48,239 10,540 3,165 1,215,838
Other liabilities 34,172 3,529 4,749 1,841 87,845 1,194 1,707 135,037
Total equity 142,798 142,798

TOTAL LIABILITIESANDEQUITY 1,206,851 609,462 394,906 56,511 161,423 45,012 21,799 2,495,964

Parent company, 2016 SEK EUR USD GBP DKK NOK Other Total

Cash and cash balanceswith central banks 154 3,505 55,659 1,656 65 9,632 70,671
Loans to credit institutions 74,309 156,123 30,507 4,938 8,308 5,260 7,614 287,059
Loans to the public 802,335 103,325 126,832 13,018 53,500 54,893 18,192 1,172,095
Other financial assets 175,607 112,558 66,908 8,326 27,588 23,073 8,245 422,305
Other assets 18,312 21,193 1,391 1,848 1,509 3,036 425 47,714

TOTALASSETS 1,070,717 396,704 281,297 28,130 92,561 86,327 44,108 1,999,844

Deposits from central banks 304 21,153 26,377 2,301 4,065 54,200
Deposits from credit institutions 33,038 47,667 14,693 1,041 10,297 4,453 3,463 114,652
Deposits and borrowing from the public 475,728 95,457 131,139 24,710 16,228 25,648 13,674 782,584
Other financial liabilities 368,972 245,943 253,462 20,842 13,751 8,992 3,488 915,450
Other liabilities 4,071 247 1,929 870 453 1,100 1,153 9,823
Shareholders’ equity and untaxed reserves 123,135 123,135

TOTAL LIABILITIESANDEQUITY 1,005,248 410,467 427,600 49,764 40,729 40,193 25,843 1,999,844

2015

Cash and cash balanceswith central banks 171 7,688 46,594 3 1,256 55,712
Loans to credit institutions 32,290 94,102 17,465 1,615 4,707 11,530 4,558 166,267
Loans to the public 735,993 95,456 113,708 13,106 69,754 36,476 15,945 1,080,438
Other financial assets 241,826 125,893 59,786 19,333 37,933 17,425 14,512 516,708
Other assets 20,460 19,959 898 1,771 1,166 2,918 308 47,480

TOTALASSETS 1,030,740 343,098 238,451 35,825 113,560 68,352 36,579 1,866,605

Deposits from central banks 879 1,521 49,346 1,254 942 3,532 784 58,258
Deposits from credit institutions 19,871 25,365 12,941 541 8,051 6,703 3,086 76,558
Deposits and borrowing from the public 439,284 86,280 94,163 19,197 17,673 22,692 11,012 690,301
Other financial liabilities 386,022 235,157 220,115 31,017 20,335 10,286 2,689 905,621
Other liabilities 4,589 3,734 1,752 442 1,352 1,302 1,450 14,621
Shareholders’ equity and untaxed reserves 121,246 121,246

TOTAL LIABILITIESANDEQUITY 971,891 352,057 378,317 52,451 48,353 44,515 19,021 1,866,605
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46 Life insurance operations
Group

INCOMESTATEMENT 2016 2015

Premium income,net 9,268 7,244
Income investment contracts
–Own fees including risk gain/loss 1,499 1,556
– Commissions from fund companies 1,735 1,811

3,234 3,367

Net investment income 6,704 1,876
Other operating income 473 516

Total income, gross 19,679 13,003

Claims paid, net –8,949 –11,228
Change in insurance contract provisions –5,534 3,170

Total income, net 5,196 4,945
Ofwhich from other units within the SEB group 1,521 1,645

Expenses for acquisition of investment and insurance contracts
– Acquisition costs –1,670 –1,765
– Change in deferred acquisition costs –84 46

–1,754 –1,719

Administrative expenses –1,052 –1,028

Total expenses –2,806 –2,747

OPERATINGPROFIT 2,390 2,198

CHANGE IN SURPLUSVALUES INDIVISION LIFE

Present value of new sales 1) 1,208 950
Return on existing policies 1,781 1,655
Realised surplus value in existing policies –2,915 –2,907
Actual outcome compared to assumptions 2) 371 402

Change in surplus values fromongoing business, gross 445 100

Capitalisation of acquisition costs –859 –1,027
Amortisation of capitalised acquisition costs 943 981
Change in deferred front end fees –45 16

Change in surplus values fromongoing business, net 3) 484 70

Financial effects due to shorttermmarket fluctuations 4) 531 42
Change in assumptions 5) 202 571

TOTALCHANGE IN SURPLUSVALUES 6) 1,217 683

Calculations of surplus value in the life insurance operations are based on assumptions of the future development of existing insurance contracts and a riskadjusted discount rate. Themost important
assumptions (Swedish unitlinked –which represent 65 per cent (71) of the total surplus value).

Discount rate 7.0% 7.0%
Surrender of endowment insurance contracts: contracts signedwithin 1 year / 1–4 years / 5 years / 6 years / thereafter 2%/6%/20%/15%/10% 1%/7%/22%/18%/11%
Lapse rate of regular premiums, unitlinked 8.1% 8.2%
Growth in fund units, gross before fees and taxes 5.0% 5.0%
Inflation CPI / Inflation expenses 2% / 3% 2%/ 3%
Expected return on solvencymargin 3% 3%
Right to transfer policy, unitlinked 3.0% 3.2%
Mortality The Group's experience TheGroup's experience

1) Sales defined as new contracts and extra premiums in existing contracts.
2) The actual outcome of previously signed contracts is comparedwith previous assumptions and deviations are calculated. Important components are the duration of contracts and cancellations.
3) Acquisition costs are capitalised and amortised according to plan. Certain front end fees are also recorded on the balance sheet and recognized as revenue in the income statement during several years.

The reported change in surplus values is adjusted by the net effect of changes in deferred acquisition costs and front end fees during the period.
4) Assumed investment return (growth in fund values) is 5.0 per cent gross before fees and taxes. Actual returns results in positive or negative financial effects.
5) Effect of changes in assumptions such as frequency of surrenders, transfers out and assumed expenses.
6) The calculated surplus value is not included in the SEBGroup's consolidated accounts. The surplus value is net of capitalised acquisition costs and deferred front end fees.
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Note 46 continued Life insurance operations

SUMMARISED FINANCIAL INFORMATIONFORGAMLA LIVFÖRSÄKRINGSBOLAGET SEBTRYGGLIV*

Income statement, condensed 2016 2015

Life insurance technical result 8,384 7,511
Other costs and appropriations 95
Taxes –210 –501

NETRESULT 8,174 7,105

Balance sheet, condensed

Total assets 179,769 177,100

TOTALASSETS 179,769 177,100

Total liabilities 87,666 87,481
Consolidation fund / equity 91,919 89,435
Untaxed reserves 184 184

TOTAL LIABILITIESANDEQUITY 179,769 177,100

* SEB owns all shares of Gamla Livförsäkringsbolaget SEB Trygg Liv except for a golden share owned by TryggStiftelsen. Gamla Livförsäkringsbolaget SEB Trygg Liv is not consolidated as subsidiary of the
Group, since the ownership of SEB in Gamla Livförsäkringsbolaget SEB Trygg Liv does not result in control. Current year figures are unaudited.

47 Assets in unitlinked operations

Within the unitlinked business SEB holds, for its customers’ account, a share of
more than 50 per cent in 23 (29) funds, where SEB is the investmentmanager.

The total value of those funds amounted to SEK 104,003m (100,879) of which SEB,
for its customers’ account, holds SEK 74,944m (70,777).

48 Assets held for sale
Group

2016 2015

Other assets 587 801

TOTALASSETSHELD FORSALE 587 801

The Baltic division has a divestment plan for investment properties. Through the
continuation of the plan, additional properties were reclassified as assets held for

sale until the derecognition at concluded sales agreement. The impairment loss
recognised in association with the reclassifications amounted to SEK 200m (174).
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The SEBGroup

Income Statement
SEKm 2016 20151) 20141) 20131) 20121)

Net interest income 18,738 18,938 19,943 18,827 17,635
Net fee and commission income 16,628 18,345 17,547 15,835 14,602
Net financial income 7,056 5,478 4,473 5,581 6,309
Net other income 1,349 1,002 4,534 840 –341

Total operating income 43,771 43,763 46,497 41,083 38,205

Staff costs –14,562 –14,436 –13,760 –14,029 –14,596
Other expenses –6,703 –6,355 –6,815 –6,720 –6,663
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment
of tangible and intangible assets –6,496 –1,011 –1,129 –1,068 –1,775

Total operating expenses –27,761 –21,802 –21,704 –21,817 –23,034

Gains less losses on disposals of tangible and intangible assets –150 –213 –121 16 1
Net credit losses –993 –883 –1,324 –1,155 –937

Operating profit 14,867 20,865 23,348 18,127 14,235

Income tax expense –4,249 –4,284 –4,129 –3,338 –2,093

Net profit fromcontinuing operations 10,618 16,581 19,219 14,789 12,142

Discontinued operations –11 –488

NETPROFIT 10,618 16,581 19,219 14,778 11,654

Attributable tominority interests 1 7 22
Attributable to equity holders 10,618 16,581 19,218 14,771 11,632

1) Comparable figures for 2014 and 2015 restated and comparable figures for 2012 and 2013 recalculated pro forma in line with changed reporting of life insurance business.

Balance sheet statement
SEKm 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012

Cash and cash balances and loans to central banks 217,808 133,651 119,915 183,611 209,163
Loans to credit institutions 50,527 58,542 90,945 102,623 126,023
Loans to the public 1,453,019 1,353,386 1,355,680 1,302,568 1,236,088
Other financial assets 857,758 899,867 1,024,466 845,788 831,512
Other assets 41,534 50,518 50,240 50,244 50,670

TOTALASSETS 2,620,646 2,495,964 2,641,246 2,484,834 2,453,456

Deposits from central banks and credit institutions 119,864 118,506 115,186 176,191 170,656
Deposits and borrowing from the public 962,028 883,785 943,114 849,475 862,260
Other financial liabilities 1,260,785 1,215,838 1,303,584 1,204,991 1,173,414
Other liabilities 136,993 135,037 144,786 131,363 137,613
Total equity 140,976 142,798 134,576 122,814 109,513

TOTAL LIABILITIESANDEQUITY 2,620,646 2,495,964 2,641,246 2,484,834 2,453,456

Key figures
2016 2015 2014 2013 2012

Return on equity,% 7.80 12.24 15.25 13.11 11.06
Basic earnings per share, SEK 4.88 7.57 8.79 6.74 5.31
Cost/Income ratio 0.63 0.50 0.47 0.54 0.61
Credit loss level,% 0.07 0.06 0.09 0.09 0.08
Total reserve ratio for individually impaired loans,% 68.8 68.3 62.2 86.9 74.4
Gross level of impaired loans,% 0.33 0.35 0.49 0.35 0.58
Common Equity Tier 1 capital ratio1),% 18.8 18.8 16.3 15.0
Tier 1 capital ratio1),% 21.2 21.3 19.5 17.1
Total capital ratio1),% 24.8 23.8 22.2 18.1

1) Basel III.
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Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken

Income Statement
SEKm 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012

Net interest income 19,242 19,488 19,783 18,872 17,478
Net fee and commission income 8,843 9,200 9,235 8,283 7,439
Net financial income 4,642 3,428 2,121 3,547 4,046
Other income 7,398 9,165 5,089 6,838 2,374

Total operating income 40,125 41,281 36,228 37,540 31,337

Administrative expenses –15,039 –13,458 –13,909 –14,062 –15,077
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment
of tangible and intangible assets –5,775 –5,447 –5,157 –5,024 –5,446

Total operating costs –20,814 –18,905 –19,066 –19,086 –20,523

Profit before credit losses 19,311 22,376 17,162 18,454 10,814

Net credit losses –789 –520 –1,065 –451 –385
Impairment of financial assets –3,841 –775 –2,721 –1,691 –1,114

Operating profit 14,681 21,081 13,376 16,312 9,315

Appropriations including pension compensation 2,437 781 966 3,432 –3,175
Taxes –2,740 –3,817 –2,053 –2,805 –1,375

NETPROFIT 14,378 18,045 12,289 16,939 4,765

Balance sheet statement
SEKm 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012

Cash and cash balanceswith central banks 70,671 55,712 59,170 135,309 165,994
Loans to credit institutions 287,059 166,267 194,285 183,312 200,189
Loans to the public 1,172,095 1,080,438 1,056,807 1,013,188 937,734
Other financial assets 422,305 516,708 623,920 523,970 551,544
Other assets 47,714 47,480 51,960 48,379 53,592

TOTALASSETS 1,999,844 1,866,605 1,986,142 1,904,158 1,909,053

Deposits from central banks and credit institutions 168,852 134,816 144,776 210,237 199,711
Deposits and borrowing from the public 782,584 690,301 706,452 611,234 637,721
Other financial liabilities 915,450 905,621 1,002,762 958,231 951,307
Other liabilities 9,823 14,621 17,587 17,006 20,638
Shareholders’ equity and untaxed reserves 123,135 121,246 114,565 107,450 99,676

TOTAL LIABILITIES,UNTAXEDRESERVESANDSHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 1,999,844 1,866,605 1,986,142 1,904,158 1,909,053

Key figures
2016 2015 2014 2013 2012

Return on equity,% 12.6 16.5 11.8 17.7 5.2
Cost/Income ratio 0.52 0.46 0.53 0.51 0.65
Credit loss level,% 0.06 0.04 0.09 0.04 0.03
Gross level of impaired loans,% 0.22 0.17 0.31 0.08 0.09
Common Equity Tier 1 capital ratio1),% 18.8 19.2 16.2 16.3
Tier 1 capital ratio1),% 21.7 22.1 20.0 18.9
Total capital ratio1),% 26.1 25.0 23.1 20.0

1) Basel III.



Standing at thedisposal of theAnnualGeneralMeeting in accor-
dancewith thebalance sheet of SkandinaviskaEnskildaBankenAB:

SEK
Other reserves 3,571,697,073
Retained earnings 48,782,509,686
Net profit for the year 14,377,501,699
Total 66,731,708,458 1)

TheBoard proposes that, following approval of the balance sheet of
SkandinaviskaEnskildaBankenAB for the financial year 2016, the
AnnualGeneralMeeting should distribute the earnings as follows:

Dividend to shareholders: SEK
– SEK5.50 per Series A share 11,935,106,117
– SEK5.50 per Series C share 132,838,794

To be carried forward to:
– retained earnings 54,663,763,547

Total 66,731,708,458

It is the assessment of the Board of Directors that the proposed divi-
dend is justifiable considering the demandswhich are imposed by
the nature, scope, and risks associatedwith the business and the
size of the Parent company’s and theGroup’s equity and need for
consolidation, liquidity and financial position in general.

The Board of Directors and the President declare that the consoli-
dated financial statements have been prepared in accordancewith
IFRS as adopted by the EU and give a relevant and faithful represen-
tation of theGroup’s financial position and results of operations.

The financial statements of the Parent Company have been
prepared in accordancewith generally accepted accounting
principles in Sweden and give a true and fair viewof the Parent
Company’s financial position and results of operations.

TheReport of theDirectors for theGroup and the Parent
company provides a fair reviewof the development of theGroup’s
and the Parent company’s operations, financial position and results
of operations and describesmaterial risks and uncertainties facing
the Parent company and companies included in theGroup.

1) The Parent Company’s equitywould have been SEK 16,203m lower if assets and
liabilities had not beenmeasured at fair value in accordancewith Chapter 4,
Section 14 of the Swedish Annual Accounts Act.

Annika Falkengren
President and Chief Executive Officer

Director

Stockholm21 February 2017

Proposal for the
distribution of profit

Helena Saxon
Director

SaraÖhrvall
Director

Anna-KarinGlimström
Director

Appointed by the employees

HåkanWesterberg
Director

Appointed by the employees

Winnie Fok
Director

Birgitta Kantola
Director

TomasNicolin
Director

SvenNyman
Director

JohanH. Andresen
Director

Signhild ArnegårdHansen
Director

Samir Brikho
Director

Urban Jansson
Deputy chairman

Jesper Ovesen
Deputy chairman

MarcusWallenberg
Chairman
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Report on the annual accounts
and consolidated accounts

Opinions
Wehave audited the annual accounts and consolidated accounts of
Skandinaviska Enskilda BankenAB (SEB) for the year 2016. The
annual accounts and consolidated accounts of the company are
included on pages 29–154 in this document.

In our opinion, the annual accounts and consolidated accounts
have been prepared in accordancewith the Annual Accounts Act for
Credit Institutions and Securities Companies and present fairly, in
allmaterial respects, the financial position of the parent company
as of 31December 2016 and its financial performance and cash flow
for the year then ended in accordancewith the Annual Accounts Act
for Credit Institutions and Securities Companies. The consolidated
accounts have been prepared in accordancewith the Annual
Accounts Act for Credit Institutions and Securities Companies and
present fairly, in allmaterial respects, the financial position of the
group as of 31December 2016 and their financial performance and
cash flow for the year then ended in accordancewith International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), as adopted by the EU, and
the Annual Accounts Act for Credit Institutions and Securities
Companies. The statutory administration report is consistentwith
the other parts of the annual accounts and consolidated accounts. A
CorporateGovernanceReport has been prepared. The information
provided in this CorporateGovernanceReport and in the statutory
administration report is consistentwith the other parts of the
annual accounts and consolidated accounts. The information in the
CorporateGovernanceReport is in accordancewith the stipulations
of the Annual Accounts Act for Credit Institutions and Securities
Companies.

We therefore recommend that the generalmeeting of sharehold-
ers adopts the income statement and balance sheet for the parent
company and the group.

Basis for opinions
Weconducted our audit in accordancewith International Standards
onAuditing (ISA) and generally accepted auditing standards in
Sweden. Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities section.We are indepen-
dent of the parent company and the group in accordancewith
professional ethics for accountants in Sweden and have otherwise
fulfilled our ethical responsibilities in accordancewith these
requirements.

We believe that the audit evidencewe have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinions.

Our audit approach
Wedesigned our audit by determiningmateriality and assessing the
risks ofmaterialmisstatement in the consolidated financial state-
ments. In particular, we consideredwheremanagementmade
subjective judgements; for example, in respect of significant
accounting estimates that involvedmaking assumptions and
considering future events that are inherently uncertain. As in all of
our audits, we also addressed the risk ofmanagement override of

internal controls, including among othermatters consideration of
whether therewas evidence of bias that represented a risk ofmate-
rialmisstatement due to fraud.

We tailored the scope of our audit in order to perform sufficient
work to enable us to provide an opinion on the consolidated finan-
cial statements as awhole, taking into account the structure of the
group, the accounting processes and controls, and the industry in
which the group operates.

The SEB group has centralized service centers, systems and
processes and has a centralized finance function for its Swedish
entities and branches in theNordic countries and theUK.Wehave
organized the auditwork by having our central audit team to carry
out the testing of all centralized systems and processes and the local
audit teams to carry out additional testing based on our instruc-
tions.

Full scope audit is performed at entitieswith high significance
and risk to the group. The audit is carried out in accordancewith
International Standards onAudit and local audit requirements.
The procedures applied generally include an assessment and testing
of controls over key business processes, analytical procedures of
individual account balances, tests of accounting records through
inspection, observation or confirmation, and obtaining corrobo-
rating evidentialmatter in response to inquiries.

For some entities, even though not considered to have high signif-
icance or risk, it is required froma group audit perspective to obtain
assurance on certain accounting areas. In these cases, local audit
teams are instructed to perform certain procedures and report back
to us. The procedures applied generally include a detailed analytical
review, reconciliation to underlying sub-ledgers, substantive testing
for specific processes, areas and accounts, discussionwithmanage-
ment regarding accounting, tax and internal control aswell as
follow-ups on known issues fromprevious periods.

As part of our auditwe place reliance on internal controls for the
applications/systems and related platforms that support SEB’s
accounting and financial reporting. Therefore,we perform audit
procedures to determine that systems and processes are designed,
maintained, operated and kept secure in such away as to provide
assurance that the risk of error isminimized. The audit procedures
includewalk-throughs of processes and evaluation of design and
test of effectiveness of controls. Substantive testing has also been
performed.Where possiblewe have relied onmanagement’s own
evaluation activities and audits performed by SEB Internal Audit.

Our audit is carried out continuously during the yearwith special
attention at each quarter end. In connectionwith the SEB group’s
issuance of interim reports, we report our observations to the Audit
Committee of the Board of Directors and issue interim review
reports. At the end of the year,we also report ourmain observations
to the full Board of Directors.

The scope of our auditwas influenced by our application ofmate-
riality. An audit is designed to obtain reasonable assurancewhether
the financial statements are free frommaterialmisstatement.
Misstatementsmay arise due to fraud or error. They are considered
material if individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of the consolidated financial statements.

Based on our professional judgement,we determined certain
quantitative thresholds formateriality, including the overall group
materiality for the consolidated financial statements as awhole as
set out in the table below. These, togetherwith qualitative consider-
ations, helped us to determine the scope of our audit and the nature,
timing and extent of our audit procedures and to evaluate the effect
ofmisstatements, both individually and in the aggregate on the
financial statements as awhole.

Auditor’s report
To the annual general meeting of the shareholders of Skandinaviska
Enskilda Banken AB (publ), Corporate Identity Number 502032-9081
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Key audit matters
Key auditmatters of the audit are thosematters that, in our
professional judgement,were ofmost significance in our audit of
the annual accounts and consolidated accounts of the current
period. Thesematterswere addressed in the context of our audit of,

and in forming our opinion thereon, the annual accounts and
consolidated accounts as awhole, butwe do not provide a separate
opinion on thesematters.

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the Key audit matter

Impairment of loans to customers

Accounting for impairment of loans to customers require subjec-
tive judgement over both timing of recognition of impairment and
the size of any such impairment.

SEBmakes provisions for incurred credit losses on individually
assessed loans and for portfolio assessed loans. Loans to corpo-
rate, real estate and institutional counterparties are primarily
individually assessed and specific provisions aremade for identi-
fied impaired loans (individually assessed impaired loans). Loans
that have not been deemed to be impaired on an individual basis
andwhich have similar credit risk characteristics are grouped
together and assessed collectively for impairment. Valuations of
loans to private individuals and small businesses are to a large
extentmade on a portfolio basis (portfolio assessed loans).
Refer to the Annual Report Note 17a – Credit risk andNote 19 –
Loans.

Our audit included a combination of testing of internal controls over
financial reporting and substantive testing. The testing of internal
controls included procedures relating to the governance structure,
segregation of duties and key controls in the lending processes.
Substantive testing wasmade of a sample of provisioningmodels used,
larger credits and higher risk portfolios. In 2016, we had a special focus
on loans to customers in the oil, gas and offshore as well as shipping
industries.We also reviewed SEB’s back testing of collective provisions.

Based on our work, we had nomaterial observations for the overall audit
on the level of loan loss provisions as at 31 December 2016.

Valuation of financial instruments held at fair value

The valuation of financial instruments held at fair valuewas an
area of audit focus due to their significance in presenting both
financial position and performance.

Determining fair value of financial instruments is inherently
complex asmany instruments are complex and as risks and
market prices are ever changing. For some instruments there is
also limited availability of observable prices or rates. Because of
these factors, the valuation of some instruments involves signifi-
cantmanagement judgement.

Themajority of SEB’s assets and liabilitiesmeasured at fair
value are held for client facilitation, liquidity or hedging purposes.
Between 97-98%of the positions are fair valued based on observ-
able prices or rates traded in activemarkets. The remaining 2-3%
of the positions are valued based onmodels and aremainly
venture capital holdings and certain derivatives held for hedging
purposes.
Refer to the Annual Report Note 21 – Fair valuemeasurement of
assets and liabilities, Note 22 –Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss, Note 23 –Available-for-sale financial assets, Note 24–
Investments in associates andNote 31 – Financial liabilities at fair value
through profit and loss.

In our audit, we assessed the design and tested the operating effective-
ness of key controls supporting the identification, measurement and
oversight of valuation risk of financial instruments.
In addition to test appropriate segregation of duties, we examined

SEB’s independent price verification process, model validation and
approval processes, controls over data feeds and valuation inputs as
well as SEB’s governance and reporting processes and controls.We
paid particular attention to controls relating to complex instruments.
For valuations dependent on unobservable inputs or which involved a

higher degree of judgement for other reasons, we used our valuation
specialists to evaluate the assumptions, methodologies andmodels used
by SEB.We performed independent valuations of a sample of positions.
Based on our work, we had nomaterial observations for the overall

audit on the valuation of financial instruments held at market value as
at 31 December 2016.

SEB Annual Report 2016156

Auditor’s report



Key audit matter How our audit addressed the Key audit matter

Provision for uncertain tax positions

SEB is subject to taxation inmany jurisdictions and, inmany
cases, the final tax treatment is uncertain and not determined
until resolvedwith the relevant tax authority. Consequently, SEB
make judgements about the probability and amount of tax liabili-
tieswhich are subject to assessments by tax authorities and poten-
tially associatedwith legal processes.

Additionally, tax legislation is under significant and rapid
changewhichwhen becoming effective affect both current period
tax costs and the valuation of tax assets.
Refer to the Annual report Note 15 – Taxes andNote 32 –Other
liabilities.

In our audit of tax costs and valuation of tax assets and liabilities, we
have tested internal controls and performed substantive testing. The
testing of internal controls included procedures relating to the gover-
nance structure, segregation of duties and key controls in the tax
process.
In the substantive testing we have used our tax specialists to examine

potential implications of ongoing tax audits and legal processes.We
have followed correspondence with tax authorities and opinions SEB
received from its external legal advisers.We have also independently
examined thematters in dispute and the provisionsmade by SEB.
Based on our work, we had nomaterial observations for the overall

audit on the level of provisions for uncertain tax positions as at 31
December 2016.

Impairment of goodwill

SEB has as of 1 January 2016 reorganised into customer segments.
After the reorganisation, goodwill ismonitored on the level of
business unit per geography (previously divisions).

The allocation of goodwill fromdivisions to business units per
geography (the new cash-generating units, CGUs) has been based
on the original acquisitionswhere the goodwill was originated.

Impairment tests have been performed for the goodwill in the
newCGUs, respectively. The definition of newCGUs and realloca-
tion of goodwill aswell as subsequent impairment tests have
involved significantmanagement judgement.
Refer to the Annual Report Note 28 –Tangible and Intangible Assets
and the Annual Report’s Report of the Directors.

Our audit of the goodwill impairment has included the following proce-
dures:
• Review of compliance with IFRS for the new structure of CGUs
• Review of compliance with IFRS for themethod used for realloca-

tion of goodwill from old to new CGUs
• Reconciliation of book value per CGU to general ledger
• Reconciliation of projections used for 2016-2018 to the business

plan for SEB approved by the Board of Directors.

Based on our work, we had nomaterial observations for the overall
audit on SEB’s impairment of goodwill.

dated accounts, our responsibility is to read the information identi-
fied above and considerwhether the information ismaterially
inconsistentwith the annual accounts and consolidated accounts.
In this procedurewe also take into account our knowledge other-
wise obtained in the audit and assesswhether the information
otherwise appears to bemateriallymisstated.

Ifwe, based on thework performed concerning this information,
conclude that there is amaterialmisstatement of this other informa-
tion,we are required to report that fact.We have nothing to report
in this regard.

Other Information than the annual
accounts and consolidated accounts
This document also contains other information than the annual
accounts and consolidated accountswhich is found on pages 1-28.
The Board of Directors and the President are responsible for this
other information.

Our opinion on the annual accounts and consolidated accounts
does not cover this other information andwe do not express any
formof assurance conclusion regarding this other information.

In connectionwith our audit of the annual accounts and consoli-
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Webelieve that the audit evidencewe have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinions.

Responsibilities of the Board of Directors and the President
The Board of Directors is responsible for the proposal for appropria-
tions of the company’s profit or loss. At the proposal of a dividend,
this includes an assessment ofwhether the dividend is justifiable
considering the requirementswhich the company’s and the group’s
type of operations, size and risks place on the size of the parent
company’s and the group’s equity, consolidation requirements,
liquidity and position in general.

The Board of Directors is responsible for the company’s organisa-
tion and the administration of the company’s affairs. This includes
among other things continuous assessment of the company’s and
the group’s financial situation and ensuring that the company’s
organisation is designed so that the accounting,management of
assets and the company’s financial affairs otherwise are controlled
in a reassuringmanner. The President shallmanage the ongoing
administration according to the Board of Directors’ guidelines and
instructions and among othermatters takemeasures that are neces-
sary to fulfil the company’s accounting in accordancewith law and
handle themanagement of assets in a reassuringmanner.

Auditor’s responsibility
Our objective concerning the audit of the administration, and
thereby our opinion about discharge from liability, is to obtain audit
evidence to assesswith a reasonable degree of assurancewhether
anymember of the Board of Directors or the President in anymate-
rial respect:
• has undertaken any action or been guilty of any omissionwhich

can give rise to liability to the company, or
• in any otherway has acted in contravention of the Companies

Act, the Banking and Financing Business Act, the Annual
Accounts Act for Credit Institutions and Securities Companies
or the Articles of Association.

Our objective concerning the audit of the proposed appropriations
of the company’s profit or loss, and thereby our opinion about this,
is to assesswith reasonable degree of assurancewhether the
proposal is in accordancewith the Companies Act.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordancewith generally
accepted auditing standards in Swedenwill always detect actions
or omissions that can give rise to liability to the company, or that the
proposed appropriations of the company’s profit or loss are not in
accordancewith the Companies Act.

A further description of our responsibility for the audit of the
administration is available onRevisorsnämnden’swebsite:www.
revisorsinspektionen.se/rn/showdocument/documents/rev_dok/
revisors_ansvar.pdf. This description is part of the auditoŕ s report.

Stockholm21 February 2017
PricewaterhouseCoopers AB

Peter Nyllinge
Authorised Public Accountant
Partner in charge

Responsibilities of the Board of Directors and the President
The Board of Directors and the President are responsible for the
preparation of the annual accounts and consolidated accounts and
that they give a fair presentation in accordancewith the Annual
Accounts Act for Credit Institutions and Securities Companies and,
concerning the consolidated accounts, in accordancewith Interna-
tional Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU and the
Annual Accounts Act for Credit Institutions and Securities Compa-
nies. The Board of Directors and the President are also responsible
for such internal control as they determine is necessary to enable
the preparation of annual accounts and consolidated accounts that
are free frommaterialmisstatement,whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the annual accounts and consolidated accounts,
The Board of Directors and the President are responsible for the
assessment of the company’s and the group’s ability to continue as
a going concern. They disclose, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting.
The going concern basis of accounting is however not applied if
the Board of Directors and the President intends to liquidate the
company, to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but
to do so.

TheAudit Committee shall, without prejudice to the Board of
Director’s responsibilities and tasks in general, among other things
oversee the company’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s responsibility
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance aboutwhether
the annual accounts and consolidated accounts as awhole are free
frommaterialmisstatement,whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinions. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordancewith ISAs and generally accepted
auditing standards in Swedenwill always detect amaterial
misstatementwhen it exists.Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are consideredmaterial if, individually or in the aggre-
gate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these annual accounts and
consolidated accounts.

A further description of our responsibility for the audit of the
annual accounts and consolidated accounts is available onRevi-
sorsnämnden’swebsite:www.revisorsinspektionen.se/rn/show-
document/documents/rev_dok/revisors_ansvar.pdf. This descrip-
tion is part of the auditoŕ s report.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

Opinions
In addition to our audit of the annual accounts and consolidated
accounts, we have also audited the administration of the Board of
Directors and the President of Skandinaviska Enskilda BankenAB
for the year 2016 and the proposed appropriations of the company’s
profit or loss.

We recommend to the generalmeeting of shareholders that the
profit be appropriated in accordancewith the proposal in the statu-
tory administration report and that themembers of the Board of
Directors and the President be discharged from liability for the
financial year.

Basis for Opinions
Weconducted the audit in accordancewith generally accepted
auditing standards in Sweden. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities
section.We are independent of the parent company and the group
in accordancewith professional ethics for accountants in Sweden
and have otherwise fulfilled our ethical responsibilities in accor-
dancewith these requirements.
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Alternative PerformanceMeasures

Return on equity
Net profit attributable to shareholders in
relation to average 1) shareholders’ equity.

Return on equity excluding items
affecting comparability
Net profit attributable to shareholders,
excluding items effecting comparability and
their related taxeffect, in relation toaverage 1)

shareholders’ equity.

Return on business equity
Operating profit by division, reduced by a
standard tax rate, in relation to the divi-
sions’ average 1) business equity.

Return on total assets
Net profit attributable to shareholders, in
relation to average 1) total assets.

Return on risk exposure amount
Net profit attributable to shareholders in
relation to average 1) risk exposure amount.

Cost/income ratio
Total operating expenses in relation to total
operating income.

Cost/income ratio excluding items
affecting comparability
Total operating expenses excluding items
affecting comparability in relation to total
operating income excluding items affecting
comparability.

Basic earnings per share
Net profit attributable to shareholders in
relation to theweighted average 2) number
of shares outstanding.

Diluted earnings per share
Net profit attributable to shareholders in
relation to theweighted average 2) diluted
number of shares. The calculated dilution is
based on the estimated economic value of
the long-term incentive programmes.

Net worth per share
Shareholders’ equity plus the equity portion
of any surplus values in the holdings of
interest-bearing securities and the surplus
value in life insurance operations in relation
to the number of shares outstanding.

Equity per share
Shareholders’ equity divided by the number
of shares outstanding.

Credit loss level
Net credit losses as a percentage of the open-
ing balance of loans to the public, loans to
credit institutions and loan guarantees less
specific, collective and offbalance sheet
reserves.

Gross level of impaired loans
Individually assessed impaired loans, gross,
as a percentage of loans to the public and
loans to credit institutions before reduction
of reserves.

Net level of impaired loans
Individually assessed impaired loans, net
(less specific reserves), as a percentage of
net loans to the public and loans to credit
institutions less specific reserves and collec-
tive reserves.

Specific reserve ratio for individually
assessed impaired loans
Specific reserves as a percentage of individu-
ally assessed impaired loans.

Total reserve ratio for individually
assessed impaired loans
Total reserves (specific reserves and collec-
tive reserves for individually assessed
impaired loans) as a percentage of individu-
ally assessed impaired loans.

Reserve ratio for portfolio assessed
loans
Collective reserves for portfolio assessed
loans as a percentage of portfolio assessed
loans past duemore than 60 days or restruc-
tured.

Non-performing loans (NPL)
SEB’s term for loans that are either impaired
or not performingaccording to the loan
contract. Includes individually assessed
impaired loans, portfolio assessed loans,
past due>60days and restructuredportfolio
assessed loans (basedon IFRS concessions).

NPL coverage ratio
Total reserves (specific, collective and off
balance sheet reserves) as a percentage of
non-performing loans.

NPL per cent of lending
Non-performing loans as a percentage of
loans to the public and loans to credit insti-
tutions before reduction of reserves.

Items affecting comparability
To facilitate the comparison of SEB’s operat-
ing profit; items thatmanagement considers
reduce comparability, are identified and
separately described, e.g. impairment of
goodwill, restructuring and net profit from
divestments.

Alternative Performance Measures, APMs, are financial measures of historical or future financial performance, financial position, or cash flows, other than those defined in the applicable financial reporting
framework (IFRS) or in the EU Capital Requirements Regulation and Directive CRR/CRD IV. APMs are used by SEB when relevant to assess and describe the performance of SEB and provide additional relevant
information and tools to enable a view on SEB’s performance. APMs on basic earnings per share, diluted earnings per share, net worth per share, equity per share, return on equity, return on total assets and
return on risk exposure amount provide relevant information on the performance in relation to different investment measurements. The cost/income ratio provides information on SEB’s cost efficiency. APMs
related to lending provide information on provisions in relation to credit risk. All these measures may not be comparable to similarly titled measures used by other companies.
 See sebgroup.com/ir for the document entitled Alternative PerformanceMeasures which includes information on the calculation of alternative performancemeasures.

1) Average year to date, calculated onmonth-end figures.

2) Average, calculated on a daily basis.

Definitions
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According to the EUCapital Requirements
Regulation no 575/2013 (CRR)

Risk exposure amount
Total assets and offbalance sheet items,
risk-weighted in accordancewith capital
adequacy regulations for credit risk and
market risk. The operational risks are
measured and added as risk exposure
amount. Risk exposure amounts are only
defined for the consolidated situation,
excluding insurance entities and exposures
deducted fromown funds.

Common Equity Tier 1 capital
Shareholders’ equity excluding proposed
dividend, deferred tax assets, intangible
assets and certain other regulatory adjust-
ments defined in EURegulation no
575/2013 (CRR).

Tier 1 capital
CommonEquity Tier 1 capital plus qualify-
ing forms of subordinated loans, so-called
additional tier 1 instruments.

Tier 2 capital
Mainly subordinated loans not qualifying as
Tier 1 capital contribution.

Own funds
The sumof Tier 1 and Tier 2 capital.

Common Equity Tier 1 capital ratio
CommonEquity Tier 1 capital as a percent-
age of risk exposure amount.

Tier 1 capital ratio
Tier 1 capital as a percentage of risk expo-
sure amount.

Total capital ratio
Total own funds as a percentage of risk
exposure amount.

Leverage ratio
Tier 1 capital as a percentage of total assets
including off balance sheet itemswith
conversion factors according to the stan-
dardised approach.

Liquidity Coverage Ratio (LCR)
High-quality liquid assets in relation to the
estimated net cash outflows over the next 30
calendar days.

Definitions
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Calendar
2016Annual Accounts Publication 1 February 2017
Annual Report Publication on SEB’s homepage 7 March 2017
AnnualGeneralMeeting 28 March 2017
Interim report January–March 27 April 2017
Interim report January–June 14 July 2017
Interim report January–September 25 October 2017
2017Annual Accounts Publication 31 January 2018

Customer andmarket opinions – SEB’s most important rankings
SEB’s performancewithin different areas is regularly evaluated and ranked by numerous companies and financial magazines.

Area 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012 Organisation / publication etc.

Best Nordic bank for large corporations 1) 2 2 1 2 1 Prospera

Best Nordic bank for financial institutions 2) 1 4 3 2 7 Prospera

Best Corporate bank in Sweden 1 1 1 2 1 Prospera

Best private bank in Sweden 1 1 1 1 Euromoney

SME bank of the year in Sweden 1 1 Privata affärer

Best Stockbroker in the Nordic region 3 2 1 1 1 Prospera

Best Corporate Finance house, Nordic region 3) 5 4 4 3 N/A Prospera

Best Corporate Bank in the Baltic region 4) 5) 1 6) 1 The Banker

1) Survey of Nordic large corporations. 2) Survey of Nordic financial institutions. 3) Global investment banks are included as from 2013.
4) Best bank in Estonia. 5) Best bank in Estonia and Lithuania. 6) Best bank in Estonia and Latvia.

ANNUAL REPORT
Information on SEB’s
business, strategy,
risk management and
corporate governance.
Detailed information
on SEB’s financial
position and results.

ANNUAL REVIEW
An abbreviated version
of the Annual Report.

SUSTAINABILITY
REPORT
Annual report on
SEB’s performance
and future ambitions
within Responsible
Business, People and
Community as well as
Environment.

SUSTAINABILITY
FACT BOOK
AND GRI INDEX
TheGlobal Reporting
Initiative (GRI) Index
and key non-financial
data for the same areas
as in the Sustainability
Report.

CAPITALADEQUACY
ANDRISK
MANAGEMENT
REPORT (PILLAR3)
Disclosure on capital
adequacy and risk
management in accor-
dance with regulatory
requirements.

INTERIMREPORTSANDFACTBOOKS
Quarterly reports on SEB’s financial performance.
Detailed information on SEB’s financial position
and results in fact books.

New shareholders are automatically offered a subscription of the Annual Report or the Annual Review.
Order printed copies of the Annual Report and the Annual Review atwww.sebgroup.com/ir
Subscribe to a digital version of the interim reports and the fact book (pdf) atwww.sebgroup.com/press

Financial information and publications

CORPORATEWEBSITE
Financial information, publications
and other information regarding
SEB is available at sebgroup.com
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“We have supported our customers all
through a year marked by uncertainty.
Business sentiment and customer
activity grew more positive in the
fourth quarter. One year into our
business plan, SEB has a robust
financial position, a growing customer
base and a clear strategy set on
delivering world-class service.”

Annika Falkengren
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Annual General Meeting
TheAnnual GeneralMeetingwill be held on Tuesday 28March 2017 at 1 pm (CET)
at StockholmConcert Hall, Hötorget.

Anotice convening the Annual GeneralMeeting, including an agenda, is available on
www.sebgroup.com

Shareholderswhowish to attend theAnnual GeneralMeeting shall at the latest on
Wednesday22March2017:
– be registered in the shareholders’ register kept byEuroclear SwedenAB, and
– notify the bank in either of the followingways:
 by telephone 0771 23 18 18 (+46 771 23 18 18 fromoutside Sweden) between

9 amand4.30 pm (CET) or
 via the internet onwww.sebgroup.comor
 inwriting to the following address: Skandinaviska Enskilda BankenAB,

AGM, Box 7832, SE-103 98 Stockholm, Sweden.

Dividend
The Board proposes a dividend of SEK5.50 per share for 2016.

Thursday 30March 2017, is proposed as record date for the dividend payments. If the
Annual GeneralMeeting resolves in accordancewith the proposal, the sharewill be
traded ex-dividend onWednesday 29March 2017 and dividend payments are expected
to be distributed by Euroclear SwedenABonTuesday 4April 2017.

Head office
Postal address: SEB, SE-10640 Stockholm
Visiting address: Kungsträdgårdsgatan 8, Stockholm
Telephone: +46 771 62 10 00

+468221900 (management)

Contacts
JanErik Back
Chief Financial Officer
Telephone: +46822 19 00
E-mail: janerik.back@seb.se

Jonas Söderberg
Head of Investor Relations
Telephone: +4687638319
E-mail: jonas.soderberg@seb.se

VivekaHirdman-Ryrberg
Head ofGroupCommunications
Telephone: +468 763 85 77
E-mail: viveka.hirdman-ryrberg@seb.se

Malin Schenkenberg
Financial InformationOfficer
Telephone: +468 763 95 31
E-mail:malin.schenkenberg@seb.se

Skandinaviska Enskilda BankenAB’s corporate registration number: 502032-9081
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